
 
 

  Town of Paradise 
Town Council Meeting Agenda 

 

 April 12, 2016 
 

                                   Date/Time:    2nd Tuesday of each month at 6:00 p.m. 
                                   Location:       Town Hall Council Chamber, 5555 Skyway, Paradise, CA 
  
   

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Meeting Procedures 
 

I. The Mayor is the Presiding Chair and is responsible for maintaining an orderly 
meeting.  The Mayor calls the meeting to order and introduces each item on the 
agenda. 

 
II. The Town staff then provides a report to Council and answers questions from the 

Council.     
 
III. Citizens are encouraged to participate in the meeting process and are provided 

several opportunities to address Council.  Any speaker addressing the Council is 
limited to three minutes per speaker - fifteen minutes per agenda item 

 
A. If you wish to address the Council regarding a specific agenda item, 

please complete a “Request to Address Council” card and give it to the 
Town Clerk prior to the beginning of the meeting.  This process is 
voluntary and allows for citizens to be called to the speaker podium in 
alphabetical order.  Comments and questions from the public must be 
directed to the Presiding Chair and Town Council Members (please do not 
address staff.)  Town staff is available to address citizen concerns Monday 
through Thursday at Town Hall between the hours of 8am and 5pm.   

 
B. If you wish to address Council regarding an item not on the agenda, you 

may do so under Item 6, “Public Communication.” Again, please fill out a 
card and give it to the Town Clerk before the meeting.  State Law prohibits 
Council action on items not listed on a public agenda.   

 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Compliance, persons who 
need special accommodations to participate in the Town Council meeting may contact 
the Town Clerk at least three business days prior to the date of the meeting to provide 

time for any such accommodation. 
  

Town Manager, Lauren Gill 
Town Attorney, Dwight L. Moore 
Town Clerk, Joanna Gutierrez 
Community Development Director, Craig Baker 
Finance Director/Town Treasurer, Gina Will 
Public Works Director/Town Engineer, Marc Mattox 
Division Chief, CAL FIRE/Paradise Fire, David Hawks 
Chief of Police, Gabriela Tazzari-Dineen 
 

Mayor, Jody Jones 
Vice Mayor, Scott Lotter 
Council Member, Greg Bolin 
Council Member, Steve “Woody” Culleton 
Council Member, John J. Rawlings 

1



1.        OPENING 
 

           a.      Call to Order 
           b.      Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States of America 
           c.      Invocation 
           d.      Roll Call 
 

Proclamations:  p5 

 National Library Week 

 Paradise Rotary - 70th Anniversary 

 Child Abuse and Sexual Assault Awareness Month 
 

Presentation: 
 

 211 Services - Free & Low-cost Community Resources in Butte 

 County- By Lynn Haskell (Butte211.org) 

2.        CONSENT CALENDAR  
           One roll call vote is taken for all items.  Consent items are considered to be 
           routine business that does not call for discussion. 

 
2a. p8 Approve the Minutes of the February 25, 2016 Special Council Meeting 

and March 8, 2016 Regular Council Meeting.  

2b. p16 Approve cash disbursements for March 2016 in the amount of 
$1,584,332.97. 

2c. p25 Adopt Resolution No. 16-07, A Resolution Authorizing Submittal of 
Applications for CalRecycle Payment Programs. (CalRecycle has 
established procedures that require an Applicant’s governing body to 
adopt by resolution certain authorizations related to the administration of 
the payment program.) 

2d. p29 Acknowledge receipt of the 2nd Quarter Investment Report for the 
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2016 and approve the Investment Policy. 

2e. p42 Acknowledge receipt of the annual Northern California Cities Self 
Insurance Fund report. 

2f. p74 Adopt Resolution No. 16-08, A Resolution declaring the 1989 Pierce 
Dash fire engine (E-281) as surplus property and authorizing sale of the 
vehicle by the Town Manager to either 1) the Butte College Fire Academy 
at a cost of not less than $8,000 or, 2) sell the 1989 Pierce Dash fire 
engine (E-281) on the fire apparatus open market.  

2g. p76 1) Review and approve amended job description for the 
Building/Onsite Permit Technician; and, 2) Amend position control and 
budget appropriation for Building/Onsite Permit Technician position.  

2h. p80 Waive the second reading of entire Ordinance No. 560 and approve 
reading by title only and adopt Ordinance No. 560, "An Ordinance of the 
Town of Paradise Amending Section 1.09.050 Relating to Administrative 
Civil Citations." 

 
2



3 

 

3.        ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT CALENDAR 

4.        PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 

           For matters that are not on the Council business agenda, speakers are allowed 
           three (3) minutes to address the Council.  The Town Council is prohibited from 
           taking action on matters that are not listed on the public agenda.  The Council 
           may briefly respond for clarification and may refer the matter to the Town staff.  
 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS - None. 

     
6.        COUNCIL CONSIDERATION   
 

           Action items are presented by staff and the vote of each Council Member must 
           be announced.   A roll call vote is taken for each item on the action calendar.  
           Citizens are allowed three (3) minutes to comment on agenda items. 
 

6a. p83 Consider (1) Adopting the 2016-17 Subrecipient funding 
recommendations regarding grant funding for local organizations; (2) 
Adopting the FINAL 2016-2017 Annual Plan as submitted; or, (3) Revising 
the FINAL 2016-2017 Annual Plan; and, (4) Authorizing staff to submit the 
adopted 2016-2017 Annual Plan to the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development. (ROLL CALL VOTE) (CDBG funds are awarded for 
the purpose of community development activities that are directed toward 
revitalizing neighborhoods, for economic development and providing 
improved community facilities and services) 

6b. p111 Consider (1) Concurring with staff’s recommendation of Bennett 
Engineering Services to perform Alternatives Analysis, Feasibility Report 
and Special District Formation Services for the Paradise Sewer Project, 
and (2)  Approving the attached Professional Services Agreement with 
Bennett Engineering Services and authorize the Town Manager and Town 
Mayor to execute, and (3) Authorizing the Town Manager to execute 
additional work orders up to 15% of the contract amount. (ROLL CALL 
VOTE) 

6c. p136 Consider Adopting Resolution No. 16-__, A Resolution of the Town 
Council of the Town of Paradise approving a partial budget for the Town of 
Paradise temporary transaction and use tax (Measure C) funds for the 
2016-2017 fiscal year ending June 30, 2017.  (ROLL CALL VOTE) 

6d. p139 Consider Adopting Resolution No. 16-__, A Resolution rejecting bids 
dated April 5, 2016 and approving the revised plans and specifications for 
the Measure C Road Rehabilitation Project 2016 and authorizing re-
advertisement for bids on the project. (ROLL CALL VOTE) 

6e. p143 Consider Adopting Resolution No. 16-__,  A Resolution rejecting bid 
dated March 29, 2016 and approving the revised plans and specifications 
for the Measure “C” Pearson Rd Improvements Project and authorizing re-
advertisement for bids on the project. (ROLL CALL VOTE) 

 

3



6f. p148 Consider Adopting Resolution No. 16-__, to (1) Approve the 
Program Supplement Agreement No. F016 to Administering Agency-State 
Agreement No. 03-5425F15 for Federal-Aid Project HSIPL-5425 (035) to 
assure receipt of $470,900 in federal funds and authorize the Town 
Manager to execute; and (2) Adopting Resolution No. 16-__, A Resolution 
to Approve Administering Agency-State Agreement for Federal-Aid 
Projects, Agreement No. 03-5425F15 and authorize the Town Manager to 
execute.  (ROLL CALL VOTE) 

6g. p186 Consider Adopting Resolution No. 16-__, A Resolution of the Town 
Council of the Town of Paradise, California, Reporting Unexpended 
Development Impact Fees in Accordance with Government Code Section  
66006.  (ROLL CALL VOTE) 

6h. p194 Consider Adopting Resolution No. 16-__, A Resolution Amending 
Multiple Chapters of the Town of Paradise Manual for the Onsite 
Treatment of Wastewater in Accordance with State Requirements known 
as Tier II Local Agency Management Program (LAMP) Which shall take 
effect immediately.  (ROLL CALL VOTE) 

7.        COUNCIL INITIATED ITEMS AND REPORTS 
 

                a.  Council initiated agenda items 
                b.  Council reports on committee representation 
                c.  Future Agenda Items 
 

8.        STAFF COMMUNICATION 
 

               a.  Town Manager Report 
               b.  Community Development Director 

 
9.        CLOSED SESSION 

9a. Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6, the Town Council will 
hold a closed session to meet with Lauren Gill, Gina Will and Crystal 
Peters, its designated representatives, regarding labor relations between 
the Town of Paradise and the Confidential/Mid-Management Association, 
General Employees Unit, Management Group, Police Mid-Management 
and the Paradise Police Officers Association. 

9b. Pursuant to Government Code section 54956.9(a), the Town Council will 
meet in closed session with Town Attorney Dwight Moore and Town 
Manager Lauren Gill relating to existing ligation as follows:  Town of 
Paradise vs. Brandy L. Braun, Butte County Superior Court Case No. 
164611. 

9c. Pursuant to Government Code section 54956.9 (d)(4), the Town Council 
will meet in closed session with Town Attorney Dwight Moore and Town 
Manager Lauren Gill relating to initiation of litigation: one potential case. 

10.       ADJOURNMENT 

  

4



5



6



7



MINUTES 

PARADISE TOWN COUNCIL 

SPECIAL MEETING – 3:00 PM – February 25, 2016 

1. OPENING 

Mayor Jody Jones called the February 25, 2016 Special Town Council Meeting to order 
at 3:04 p.m. in the Council Chamber located at 5555 Skyway, Paradise, California and 
led the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States of America. 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Greg Bolin, Steve “Woody” Culleton, Scott Lotter 
and Jody Jones, Mayor. 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT: John Rawlings 
 
STAFF PRESENT: Assistant Town Clerk Dina Volenski, Town Manager Lauren Gill, 
Town Attorney Dwight Moore, Finance Director/Town Treasurer Gina Will, Community 
Development Services Director Craig Baker, Public Works Director Marc Mattox, 
Administrative Assistant Colette Curtis, Police Chief Gabriela Tazzari-Dineen, North 
Division Chief David Hawks, CAL FIRE/Paradise Fire and Human Resources Manager 
Crystal Peters. 

  
2. COUNCIL CONSIDERATION - ACTION CALENDAR 

Town Manager Gill reported to Council regarding the purpose of this special meeting 
which is for the Council to discuss their town-wide priorities and expectations for the 
2016/2017 fiscal year, provide general direction on where to focus limited staff time and 
resources and provide direction for the 2016 Measure C funding priorities.  

Manager Gill stated that she is requesting general guidelines and direction from the 
Council today and displayed a PowerPoint that outlined the budget process and 
timeline/schedule.  

Manager Gill shared all of the 2015/2016 department accomplishments that have been 
met and the 2016/2017 department goals for CALFIRE, the Police Department, Animal 
Control, Development Services and Engineering/Public Works. 

Town Engineer Marc Mattox provided information on the several Grants that have been 
awarded for road projects and where they are in the process.  The Town does not have 
adequate revenues to maintain critical roadways and the current projected need 
exceeds $32,000,000.  Mr. Mattox shared that the road maintenance done since 2009 
has barely scratched the surface and that regular road maintenance is needed to 
reduce overall costs.  An annual investment of $500,000 - $800,000 is needed just to 
maintain current road conditions and there is a unique opportunity with the low cost of 
oil prices to receive reduced costs on surface treatments for the roads.  Mr. Mattox 
presented two options for Council to consider: Option One included micro-surface, new 
striping and recessed markers and Option Two included micro-surface, new striping and 
recessed markers with an additional section that was only new striping and recessed 

8



markers. The $500,000 in funding could come from Measure C funding. Council 
discussed the options and requested staff to bring a project for formal consideration to 
the March Council meeting. 

Manager Gill discussed the past budget without the voter approved Measure C funding 
and the draconian cuts that were made to all department budgets, that Measure C is a 
short-term solution and the Town needs to continue to think long term to become self-
sustaining and have a good savings plan/reserves in place.   

Council Member Rawlings was not in attendance, but requested that the Town Manager 
include an Animal Shelter addition for $175,000 from the Measure C funding on the 
priority list. 

The Town Council discussed their individual goals and overall desire to restore 
necessary services and established the following general priorities for the upcoming 
year.   Some of the priorities were considered to be essential and were all rated number 
one.  

1. Paradise Sewer Project 
1. CALFIRE Contract 
1. Town-wide Personnel Structure 
1. NRWS Franchise Agreement 
2. Business Identification/License 
3. Master Fee Schedule 
4. Facilities Best Use / Deferred Maintenance  
5. Tourism/Economic Development 
6. Increased Traffic Enforcement 
7. Review of Code Enforcement/AC Processes 
8. $175,000 for Animal Shelter Addition 

 

3.  ADJOURNMENT 

 Mayor Jones adjourned the Council meeting at 4:34 p.m. 

Date Approved: 

 

By: __________________________ 
 Jody Jones, Mayor 

 

 __________________________ 
 Dina Volenski, CMC, Assistant Town Clerk 

 

 

9



1 
 

MINUTES 

PARADISE TOWN COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING – 6:00 PM – March 08, 2016 

1.        OPENING 

 
           a.       Called to order by Mayor Jody Jones at 6:01 p.m. 
           b.       Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States of America 
           c.       Invocation by Council Member John J. Rawlings. 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT:  Greg Bolin, Steve “Woody” Culleton, Scott Lotter, 
John J. Rawlings and Jody Jones, Mayor.    
 
COUNCIL MEMBER ABSENT:   None. 
   

STAFF PRESENT:  Town Clerk Joanna Gutierrez, Town Manager Lauren Gill, Town 
Attorney Dwight L. Moore, Finance Director/Town Treasurer Gina Will, Human 
Resources Manager Crystal Peters, Administrative Assistant  

 

e. Town Council Recognitions of Employee Service to the Town 
Presented by Mayor Jody Jones (630-20-22)) 

 

20 Years 

Stephen Rowe - Police Lieutenant 

15 Years 

Robert Nichols - Police Sergeant 

5 Years 

Crystal Peters - Human Resources Manager 
Gabriela Tazzari-Dineen - Police Chief 
Anthony Lindsey - Fire Marshal/Building Official 
Jake Smith - Police Sergeant 
 

f. Town of Paradise Employees of the Year 
 Presented by Town Manager Lauren Gill   
 

 Susan Hartman, Assistant Planner 

 Anthony Lindsey, Fire Marshal/Building Official  
 

g. Volunteers in Police Services (VIPS) 2015 Annual Report –  
 Presented by Community Services Officer Charlie Rollo. (480-60-09) 

 
 
 

 

10



2 
 

2.        CONSENT CALENDAR  
 
MOTION by Bolin, seconded by Culleton, approved the following consent calendar 
items as presented.  Roll call vote was unanimous.  One roll call vote is taken for all 
items.   

 
2a. Approved Minutes of the January 25 and February 9, 2016 Regular 

Council meetings. 

2b. Approved February 2016 Cash Disbursements in the amount of 
$1,732,375.12. (310-10-31) 

2c. Waived reading of entire Ordinance No. 559 and approved reading by title 
only; and, adopted Ordinance No. 559, An Ordinance Amending Paradise 
Municipal Code Sections 13.04.05, 13.04.040, 13.04.070, 13.04.080, 
13.04.110 and 13.04.112 Relating to Onsite Sewage Disposal 
Regulations.  The revisions to the Paradise Municipal Code contained in 
the ordinance were necessary to put the Town in a position to submit 
Town regulations (PMC & Onsite Manual) relating to onsite wastewater 
treatment to the State Water Resources Control Board pursuant to State 
Policy to consider authorizing Town establishment of a Local Agency 
Management Program (LAMP) for the Town of Paradise. (540-16-128) 

3.        ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT CALENDAR – None. 

4.        PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 

           1.  Claudia Benike spoke about hydraulic fracturing to inform the Council of its 
negative effects to the environment. 

 2.  Ward Habriel believes that the Town could influence motorist behavior by 
parking an empty police vehicle with flashing lights at various places on Skyway to slow 
down the speeders, especially those that are diverting to Clark Road to avoid Skyway.  

 3.  Michael Ledbetter asked the Town Council to refund the fines that are on his 
tax bill as a result of his not having garbage service, that he does not need garbage 
service and that he had been granted an exception by the previous Community 
Development Director as a self-hauler. 

 4.  Jon Remalia stated that the Cobblestone Pharmacy in Paradise is closing, 
that he understands they were bought out by a big-box store and asked the Town 
Council to do something to stop big-box stores from taking over the smaller businesses 
in Paradise.  

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

           5a. Following a report from Town Manager Gill, Mayor Jones opened the 
public hearing at 6:38 p.m. regarding the proposed ordinance and resolution relating to 
the administrative civil citation penalty process and establishment of a temporary 
amnesty program relating to payment of administrative civil citation penalties and liens.  

11



3 
 

1. Ward Habriel spoke in favor of the proposed program and that he believes it will 
help to address issues of blight in the Town and bring up the property values for 
all residents. 
 

2. Jon Remalia thinks this is a step in the right direction, that the 75% reduction is 
too much, that there is a constitutional issue when the punishment does not fit 
the crime, that fines should be assessed based on an individual’s ability to pay 
and that there should be a hearing process. 
 
Mayor Jones closed the public hearing at 6:45 p.m. 
 
MOTION by Bolin, seconded by Culleton, adopted Resolution No. 16-05, A 
Resolution of the Town Council of the Town of Paradise Establishing a 
Temporary Amnesty Relating to the Payment of Administrative Civil Citation 
Penalties and Liens.  Roll call vote was unanimous.  
 
Council directed staff to bring back a report on the amnesty program in six 
months for review.  
 
MOTION by Culleton, seconded by Rawlings, concurred with the California 
Environmental Quality Act 9CEQA) determination signed by the Town Planning 
Director, waived the reading of entire Ordinance No. 560 and approved reading 
by title only, and introduced Ordinance No. 560, An Ordinance Amending Section 
1.09.050 of Paradise Municipal Code Chapter 1.09 Relating to Administrative 
Civil Citation Penalties.  Roll call vote was unanimous.  (540-16-129) 

 
Council concurred to direct staff to bring this matter back to Council on a future 
agenda for further discussion of issues related to the administrative civil citation 
process, including but not limited to how property owners are billed for 
outstanding, unpaid fines for code violations, hearing and appeal processes, and 
other mechanisms to address public nuisances and to gain compliance by 
property owners. 

 
6.        COUNCIL CONSIDERATION   
 

6a. MOTION by Bolin, seconded by Culleton, approved the Professional 
Services Agreement with CSU Chico Research Foundation, on behalf of 
the Center for Healthy Communities related to the Pearson Road SR2S 
Connectivity Project Education and Outreach Services (Non-Infrastructure 
Component) for an estimated amount of $71,289 and authorized the Town 
Manager to execute the agreement.  Roll call vote was unanimous.  (540-20-

120 & 950-40-25) 

 The services for this effort will be 100% funded by the State Active 
Transportation Program. The budgeted grant amount for the Non-
Infrastructure phase of the project is $91,000. The estimated total contract 
cost is $71,189.   

12



4 
 

6b. MOTION by Bolin, seconded by Rawlings, (1) Concurred with staff’s 
recommendation of Rolls Anderson & Rolls to perform engineering 
services for the Maxwell Drive Safe Routes to School Project; (2) 
Approved the Professional Services Agreement with Rolls Anderson & 
Rolls and authorized the Town Manager to execute; and, (3) Authorized 
the Town Manager to execute additional work orders up to 10% of the 
contract amount.  Roll call vote was unanimous.  (510-20-121 & 950-40-26) 

 The professional services agreement and respective services will be 
100% funded by the State Active Transportation Program. The budgeted 
grant amount for the Preliminary Engineering phase of the project is 
$98,000.  The estimated total contract cost is $59,856.00. 

6c. Following a report from Public Works Director/Town Engineer Mattox, 
Mayor Jones called for public comment cards.   

1. Ward Habriel stated that he would like to see more law enforcement 
and that he thinks people remember that Measure C monies are for 
police and fire. 

 MOTION by Lotter, seconded by Rawlings, adopted Resolution No. 16-
06, A Resolution Approving the Plans and Specifications for the Measure 
C Road Rehabilitation Project 2016 for an estimated construction cost of 
$500,000 with 10% contingency from local transportation/transit and 
authorized advertisement for bids on the project. Roll call vote was 
unanimous.  (950-40-029 & 395-70-17) 

 Council concurred to direct staff to include an addendum within the 
contract that would allow for a contractor to rehabilitate additional priority 
roadways including Oliver, Elliott, Wagstaff and Pentz south of Pearson if 
the project came in under the $500,000 budget. The proposed project 
includes micro-surfacing, re-striping and placing recessed markers to 
maintain and extend the life of critical roadways. 

6d. MOTION by Lotter, seconded by Bolin, (1) Authorized staff to award a 
contract Chrisp Company of Woodland, CA to perform striping 
modifications at the intersection of Skyway at Elliott Road at a cost not to 
exceed $7,335.00; and, (2) Authorized in-house public works staff to make 
structural changes to the Skyway/Elliott triangle, permitting two 
northbound lanes to proceed straight through intersection.  Roll call vote 
was unanimous. (510-20-122 & 950-40-19) 

6e. MOTION by Lotter, seconded by Culleton, reinstated the Community 
Development Block Grant Small Business Assistance Program to offer 
loans and grants to small businesses for start up and expansion.   The 
proposed total budget for the program in its first year 2016-2017 would be 
$153,000.  Roll call vote was unanimous. (710-05-20) 

 

13



5 
 

7.        COUNCIL INITIATED ITEMS AND REPORTS 

 
            7a.   Council concurred to oppose Measure SB876 (Liu), a measure that would  
  preempt local authority to address important issues affecting public health  
  and safety and approved sending a letter in opposition of SB 876 (Liu).  
  (550-40-18) 

  
7b. Council Member Rawlings stated that he would like the Council to 

consider a specific allocation of Measure C Funds for the Animal Control 
shelter to build a 900’ building next to the existing Animal Control facility 
that would be dedicated to the care and keeping of cats, that he has met 
with PASH members and other community volunteers and that he believes 
the cost of such a building would be $200 per square foot for a cost of 
$180,000.   

1. Dan Wentland stated that he and other members of PASH realize that this 
type of facility is not a funding priority for Measure C funds, that PASH 
anticipates holding fund raisers for the project and that he thinks there will be 
volunteers for the construction with the exception of the masonry work. 
 
Council concurred to request that Council Member Rawlings and the PASH 
committee keep the Council informed on how to participate in the community 
fundraising efforts for this proposed facility. 
 
7c.  Council Reports on Committee Representation 
 
Council Member Rawlings participated in the CDBG Sub-recipient review 
process, attended Destination Downtown meetings and a PASH committee 
meeting.  
 
Council Member Lotter attended the Local Area Formation Commission 
(LAFCo) meeting. 
 
Council Member Culleton attended the Local Task Force (LTF) meeting on 
February 18, 2016 and a Fire Pals presentation at the Paradise Intermediate 
School. 
 
Mayor Jones attended Butte County Association of Governments and Air 
Quality Management District meetings, presented sewer information to the 
Lions Service Group, that the Downtown Destination Committee has 
scheduled a Wine Walk in Paradise on September 16, 2016, and that the 
assistant pastor of the Seventh Day Adventist Church has informed her that 
they would like to assist the Town with any projects in any way that they can. 
 
7d.  Future Agenda Items:  Vice Mayor Lotter requested that a Butane Control 
Ordinance similar to the City of Anderson’s be brought to the Council for 
consideration.   

14



6 
 

8.        STAFF COMMUNICATION 

 
a. Town Manager Gill reported that development of apartments on the site of the 

form Carousel Motel is in progress, that there will a hearing regarding tree 
removal from the construction site of the Eye Life Institute, DRP opened up in 
the Liberty Plaza on Skyway, and a mattress clearance business and a Priced 
Right Chair and Sofa shop are also open in Paradise. 

 

9.        CLOSED SESSION 

At 8:30 p.m. Town Attorney Moore announced that the Town Council would meet 
in closed session for the following matters: 

9a. Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6, the Town Council will 
hold a closed session to meet with Lauren Gill, Gina Will and Crystal 
Peters, its designated representatives, regarding labor relations between 
the Town of Paradise and the Confidential/Mid-Management Association, 
General Employees Unit, Management Group, Police Mid-Management 
and the Paradise Police Officers Association; and,  

9b. Pursuant to Government Code section 54956.9(a), the Town Council will 
meet in closed session with Town Attorney Dwight Moore and Town 
Manager Lauren Gill relating to existing litigation as follows:  Town of 
Paradise vs. Brandy L. Braun, Butte County Superior Court Case No. 
164611. 

Mayor Jones reconvened the Council meeting at 9:08 p.m.  Town Attorney 
Moore reported that direction was given to staff regarding labor relations matters 
and that Council concurred unanimously to approve a stipulation relating to the 
sale of property located at 1433 Bille Road, the property that is the subject of 
existing litigation, Town of Paradise vs. Brandy L. Braun. 

10.       ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Jones adjourned the Council Meeting at 9:10 p.m. 

 

Date Approved: 

 

By:   _________________________________________ 
 Jody Jones, Mayor 
 
Attest:  _____________________________________ 
 Joanna Gutierrez, CMC, Town Clerk   

 

15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



TOWN OF PARADISE 

Council Agenda Summary 

Date:  April 12, 2016  

 

AGENDA NO. 2(c) 

ORIGINATED BY:  Susan Hartman, Assistant Planner 

 

REVIEWED BY:  Lauren Gill, Town Manager 

    Craig Baker, Community Development Director 

 

SUBJECT: Adopt Resolution Authorizing Submittal of Applications for 

CalRecycle Payment Programs    

 

 

COUNCIL ACTION REQUESTED:  Adopt a MOTION TO: 

 

1.  Adopt Town of Paradise Resolution No. 16- , “A Resolution of the Town of Paradise 

Authorizing Submittal of Application for CalRecycle Payment Programs and Related 

Authorizations” 

 

2.  Adopt an alternative directive to town staff concerning this agenda item.  

 

NOTE: Town staff recommends Town Council approval of item no. 1 above.  

 

BACKGROUND: The state adopted Public Resources Code authorizes CalRecycle to 

establish and administer various payment programs to make payments to qualifying jurisdictions.  

 

In furtherance of its authority, CalRecycle has established procedures that require an Applicant’s 

governing body to adopt by resolution certain authorizations related to the administration of the 

payment program.  

 

Currently the Town of Paradise participates in a payment program which provides opportunities 

for beverage container recycling to help reach and maintain an 80 percent recycling rate for all 

California refund value beverage containers.  

 

DISCUSSION: The Town of Paradise has an existing and current franchise agreement 

with  Northern Recycling & Waste Services [NRWS] whereby NRWS is not only obligated to 

provide solid waste and recycling materials collection services but is also required to prepare on 

behalf of the Town of Paradise annual waste management reports and related fund applications 

for submittal to funding agencies, etc.  

 

However, at the request of CalRecycle, town staff has prepared a revised resolution document 

relative only to payment programs that is attached to this council agenda summary and is 

recommended for Town Council consideration and adoption. If adopted by the Town Council, 

this resolution specifically authorizes NRWS to prepare and the Town Manager, or his/her 

 

25



Payment Programs 2                April 12, 2016 

designee, to execute and submit payment program applications to CalRecycle for which the 

Town of Paradise is eligible.  

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: Approval of this agenda item as recommended will not result in any 

financial impact upon the town's general fund. 

 

 

Attachments 

 

26



 
 

1 
 

TOWN OF PARADISE 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-__ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF PARADISE AUTHORIZING SUBMITTAL OF 

APPLICATION FOR CALRECYCLE PAYMENT PROGRAMS AND RELATED 

AUTHORIZATIONS 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 48000 et seq., 14581, and 42023.1(g), 

the Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle), has established various 

payment programs to make payments to qualifying jurisdictions; and  

 

WHEREAS, in furtherance of this authority CalRecycle is required to establish procedures 

governing the administration of the payment programs; and  

 

WHEREAS, CalRecycle’s procedures for administering payment programs require, among 

other things, an applicant’s governing body to declare by resolution certain authorizations related 

to the administration of the payment program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Paradise has an existing and duly executed franchise agreement with 

Northern Recycling &Waste Services (NRWS) whereby NRWS is obligated to prepare on behalf 

of the Town of Paradise, annual waste management reports and related fund applications for 

submittal to CalRecycle. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN 

OF PARADISE AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1.  The Town Council authorizes NRWS to prepare and the Town Manager, or her 

designee, to execute and submit a payment program application to CalRecycle; and  

 

Section 2.  The Town Manager, or her designee, is hereby authorized and empowered to execute 

on behalf of the Town of Paradise all documents, including but not limited to: applications, 

agreements, annual reports including expenditure reports and amendments necessary to secure 

said payments; and  

 

Section 3.  This authorization is effective until rescinded by the Town Council of the Town of 

Paradise. 

 

/ 

/ 

/ 

/ 

/ 

/ 

/ 

/ 

/ 

27



 
 

2 
 

TOWN OF PARADISE 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-  
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise, State of California, 

this 12
th

 day of April, 2016 by the following vote: 

 

AYES: 

 

NOES: 

 

ABSENT: 

 

NOT VOTING: 

 

      

                    Jody Jones, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

      

Joanna Gutierrez, Town Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

      

Dwight Moore, Town Attorney 

28



 

 

 

Town of Paradise 
Council Agenda Summary 

Date: April 12, 2016 
Agenda Item: 2(d) 

 
Originated by: 
 

Gina S. Will, Finance Director/Town Treasurer 

Reviewed by: Lauren Gill, Town Manager 
 

Subject: 
 

Quarterly Investment Report 

 
Council Action Requested: 
 

1. Review and file the 2nd Quarter Investment Report for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 
2016; and,  

2. Review and approve the attached Investment Policy; or, 

Alternatives: 
 
Refer the matter back to staff for further development and consideration. 

Background: 
 
Attached is a report on the Town’s cash and investments for the quarter ended December 31, 
2015.  
 
A US Bank checking account is currently being used for payroll, accounts payable and other 
operating purposes.  Most accounts payable disbursements are drawn through checks, and 
most payroll disbursements are processed through direct deposit. Deposits are fully 
collateralized and after reserve requirements, provide an earnings credit rate of 0.50% up to the 
amount of monthly fees. As the earnings credit rate is currently higher than the yield provided by 
LAIF, staff maximized the earnings potential in this account.    
 
The Town uses the State of California managed Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) for 
investment of cash in excess of immediately needed operating capital. With same day liquidity 
and comparable yields, LAIF is currently the best investment option for the Town. Funds are 
able to be transferred electronically through phone authorization between LAIF and the Town 
checking account. The Town will continue to research other investment options that match 
LAIF’s liquidity and security in order to improve investment yield.  
 
In June of 2011, the Town established an irrevocable trust to begin funding the future 
obligations associated with retiree health as required by GASB 45. The funds are being 
managed by Self-Insured Schools of California (SISC) and can only be used for the payment of 
retiree health benefits.  
 
The Town establishes escrow funds at the start of each new lease. The escrow fund is drawn 
down to zero through the process of purchasing equipment against the lease. Interest is 
accrued on any unspent escrow balance. The “other” investment type represents these 
available escrow funds as well as petty cash balances. As of December 31, 2015, there were no 
unspent escrow funds.  

29



Quarterly Investment Report 

April 12, 2016 

2 
 

Discussion 
 
The increased investment balance as of December 31, 2015 as compared to December 31, 
2014 is an improvement to the Town’s overall cash liquidity. Last fiscal year the Town needed a 
$2.7 million TRAN which was funded October 10, 2014. This year the Town funded a TRAN of 
$2.5 million as of September 18, 2015. The TRAN will be repaid in May 2016 after the second 
annual property tax payment is received in April 2016. As of December 31, 2015, the General 
Fund has used all of its cash flow reserve and has used most of the TRAN. The General Fund 
cash was restored in January 2016 with the first installment of property tax payments. There will 
be sufficient to funds for operations and payroll for the remainder of the 2015/16 fiscal year.  
 
The GASB 45 trust investment managed by SISC experienced a 4.39% return on investment 
during the 2nd quarter of 2015/16. The economy is picking up but interest rates remain 
historically low and the stock market volatile. Long term, SISC has been successful with its 
allocation model of approximately 60% equity and 40% fixed income. 
 
The Town Treasurer has directed the Trustee, Wells Fargo Bank, to invest the reserve funds of 
the Paradise Redevelopment 2009 Bond and the Pension Obligation Bond in accordance with 
the Town’s investment policy. The reserve funds had been yielding less than 0.01% in mutual 
funds. The reserve funds are now invested in CD’s which will yield between 0.50% and 0.75% 
over three months to a one year period. While these investments and balances are not part of 
the Town’s idle or operating cash, the yield will ultimately lessen the amount the Town will be 
required to contribute in future debt service payments.  
 
Finally, staff is submitting an Investment Policy for Town Council’s review and approval. The 
investment policy has not changed as the laws governing the local agency investment of funds 
had very minor changes; however, Government Code Section 53646 requires that this policy be 
reviewed and approved annually.  
 

Fiscal Impact Analysis: 
 
Isolating the gain from the GASB 45 trust, the Town earned $4,077.66 for the quarter ended 
December 31, 2015. That is compared to $2,953.16 for the quarter ended December 31, 2014. 
Again, isolating the GASB 45 return, the Town realized about three basis points more in yield 
compared to a year ago, and had more average balances invested. Year to date this fiscal year, 
the Town earned $7,540.57 after isolating the GASB 45 return. Last fiscal year to date, the 
Town had earned $4,904.81.   

 
 

30



TOWN OF PARADISE

QUARTERLY SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS 

For Quarter Ended December 31, 2015

Investment Type Yield Book Value Market Value* Yield Book Value Market Value* Net Change

US Bank Checking 0.50% 554,364.29     554,364.29          0.50% 1,513,824.97  1,513,824.97       (959,460.68)     

Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) Savings 0.38% 2,956,553.48  2,954,149.69       0.26% 1,708,370.25  1,708,336.73       1,248,183.23   

SISC GASB 45 Trust B Various 4.39% 64,924.36       64,924.36            2.92% 66,533.03       66,533.03            (1,608.67)         

Fiscal Agents & Petty Cash Other 0.00% 1,750.00         1,750.00              0.08% 86,302.78       86,302.78            (84,552.78)       

Totals 3,577,592.13  3,575,188.34       3,375,031.03  3,374,997.51       202,561.10      

Total Quarterly Earnings on accrual basis 6,810.94         4,842.07         

Year-to-Date Earnings (July 1st - December 31st) 4,859.79         5,510.47         

* Market Value determined by LAIF

Reserve Funds Invested

Pension Obligation Bond 925,000.00$                    

Paradise RDA Bond 2009 340,000.00$                    

1,265,000.00$                 

Issuer FDIC Number Yield Settlement Date Maturity Date Type Investment Earnings

Apple Bank 16068 0.500% 12/30/15 03/30/16 CD 249,000.00     310.40                 

Bank of Baroda 33681 0.500% 12/18/15 03/18/16 CD 249,000.00     310.40                 

Berkshire Bank 23621 0.500% 12/23/15 03/23/16 CD 249,000.00     310.40                 

Mizrahi Tefahot 33661 0.500% 12/22/15 03/22/16 CD 178,000.00     221.89                 

Goldman Sachs 33124 0.750% 12/18/15 12/16/16 CD 248,000.00     1,854.90              

BMW Bank 35141 0.750% 12/18/15 12/16/16 CD 92,000.00       688.11                 

1,265,000.00  3,696.10              

For Quarter Ended Dec. 31, 2015 For Quarter Ended Dec. 31, 2014

In compliance with the California Code Section 53646; the Treasurer of the Town of Paradise herby certifies that sufficient 
investment liquidity and anticipated revenues are available to meet the Town's budgeted expenditure requirements for the 
next six months. 
 
Investments in the report meet the requirements of the Town of Paradise's adopted investment policy. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ 
 
Gina S. Will 
Finance Director/Town Treasurer 

31



 -    

 1,000  

 2,000  

 3,000  

 4,000  

 5,000  

 6,000  

Sep-12 Dec-12 Mar-13 Jun-13 Sep-13 Dec-13 Mar-14 Jun-14 Sep-14 Dec-14 Mar-15 Jun-15 Sep-15 Dec-15 

In
 T

h
o

u
s
a

n
d

s
 

Sep-12 Dec-12 Mar-13 Jun-13 Sep-13 Dec-13 Mar-14 Jun-14 Sep-14 Dec-14 Mar-15 Jun-15 Sep-15 Dec-15 

Series1 2,701  357  3,274  2,890  1,390  2,371  4,373  4,023  2,030  3,375  5,762  4,665  3,406  3,578  

Town of Paradise 
Investment Balances with Trendline 
September 2012 - December 2015 

32



Sept. 30th Dec. 31st March 31st June 30th 

2011/12 3,446,611  1,952,141  3,852,176  2,591,170  

2012/13 2,701,104  357,101  3,274,156  2,890,429  

2013/14 1,389,733  2,370,880  4,372,599  4,022,638  

2014/15 2,029,885  3,375,031  5,764,007  4,665,263  

2015/16 3,406,433  3,577,592      

 -    

 1,000,000  

 2,000,000  

 3,000,000  

 4,000,000  

 5,000,000  

 6,000,000  

Town of Paradise 
Investment Balances 
2011/12 - 2015/16 

33



 

 

Town of Paradise 
 

 

 
 

140 

Investment Policy 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Approved by Town Council  

April 12, 2016

34



 

Town of Paradise – 140 Investment Policy Page 2 
 

 

I. TABLE OF CONTENTS………………………………………………………………………………………………..…………………2 

 

II. PURPOSE ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

III. SCOPE ................................................................................................................................................. 3 

IV. OBJECTIVES ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

A. Safety ......................................................................................................................................... 3 

B. Liquidity ...................................................................................................................................... 3 

C. Yield ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

D. Maturity ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

E. Diversification .............................................................................................................................. 4 

F. Prudence .................................................................................................................................... 4 

G. Public Trust ................................................................................................................................. 4 

H. Non-Discriminatory .................................................................................................................. 4 

V. AUTHORITY TO INVEST ................................................................................................................... 4 

VI. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS ...................................................................................................... 4 

A. Annually .................................................................................................................................... 4 

B. Quarterly ................................................................................................................................... 5 

VII. INTERNAL CONTROLS........................................................................................................................ 5 

VIII. EXTERNAL CONTROLS ....................................................................................................................... 6 

IX. QUALIFIED DEALERS AND INSTITUTIONS......................................................................................... 6 

X. COLLATERAL REQUIREMENTS ......................................................................................................... 6 

XI. AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS AND DIVERSIFICATION ................................................................... 6 

XII. PROHIBITED I N V E S T M E N T S  ..................................................................................................... 8 

XIII. SAFEKEEPING AND CUSTODY........................................................................................................... 8 

XIV. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY ........................................................................................................... 8 

XV. ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST ............................................................................................... 8 

 

35



 

Town of Paradise – 140 Investment Policy Page 3 
 

II. PURPOSE 
 
This investment policy is intended to provide guidelines for the prudent investment of the 
temporary idle cash of the Town of Paradise and to outline the policies for maximizing the 
efficiency of the Town's cash management system. The ultimate goal is to enhance the financial 
status of the Town of Paradise, while protecting its pooled cash. 
 
III. SCOPE 
 
The Town of Paradise cash management system is designed to accurately monitor and forecast 
revenues and expenditures, thus enabling the Town of Paradise to invest funds to the fullest 
extent possible. The Town of Paradise will attempt to obtain the highest yield obtainable, as 
long as investments meet the criteria established for safety and liquidity. 
 
The Town of Paradise operates its pooled cash investments under the ''Prudent Investor" 
standard pursuant to California Government Code Section 53600.3, and within the specific terms 
governing investments for municipal governments as set forth in California Government Code 
Sections 53600 through 53659. 
 
The Town of Paradise shall strive to maintain the level of investment of all idle funds as near 100% 
as possible, through projected cash flow determinations. Idle cash management and investment 
transactions are the responsibility of the Town Treasurer, and the Town of Paradise Investment 
Committee. 
 
IV. OBJECTIVES 
 
Criteria for selecting investments and the order of priority are: 
 

A. Safety 
The safety and risk associated with an investment refers to the potential loss of principal, 
interest or a combination of these amounts. All "allowable investments" are of a very high 
quality and would be considered extremely safe and conservative.  
 
B. Liquidity 
An adequate percentage of the portfolio will be maintained in liquid short term securities 
that can be converted to cash as necessary to meet disbursement requirements. The 
liquidity percentage will be determined from time to time from projected cash flow reports. 
Investments will be made in securities with active secondary and resale markets. 

 
C. Yield 
Within the constraints of safety and liquidity, the highest and best return will be sought. 
The investment portfolio will be designed to attain a market average rate of return, taking 
into account the Town's risk constraints, the cash flow characteristics of the portfolio, and 
state law. 

36



 

Town of Paradise – 140 Investment Policy Page 4 
 

 
D. Maturity 
The maturity of each investment shall not exceed a period of five years. Maturities shall be 
selected to anticipate cash needs, thus avoiding forced liquidations. 

 
E. Diversification 
The portfolio will be diversified to avoid incurring unreasonable and unavoidable risks 
regarding specific security types or individual financial institutions.  

 
F. Prudence 
Person(s) authorized to make investment decisions on behalf of local agencies are 
trustees and therefore, fiduciaries subject to the prudent investor standard. When investing, 
reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring, exchanging, selling and managing public funds, a trustee 
shall act with care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing, 
that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiarity with those matters would use 
in the conduct of funds of a like character and with like aims, to safeguard the principal and 
maintain the liquidity needs of the agency. Within the limitations of this section and 
considering individual investments as part of an overall strategy, a trustee is authorized to 
acquire investments as authorized by law. 
 
G. Public Trust 
All participants in the investment process shall act as custodians of the public trust. 
Investment officials shall recognize that the investment portfolio is subject to public review 
and evaluation. The overall program shall be designed and managed with a degree of 
professionalism that is worthy of the public trust. In a diversified portfolio it must be 
recognized that occasional measured losses are inevitable and must be considered within 
the context of the overall investment return. 
 
H. Non-Discriminatory 

The Town of Paradise shall not knowingly make or allow investments in any 
institution, company, corporation, subsidiary or affiliate that practices or supports, 
directly or indirectly through its actions, discrimination on the basis of race, religion, 
creed, national or ethnic origin, age, sex, sexual preference or physical disability. 

 
V. AUTHORITY TO INVEST 
 
California Government Code Section 53600 et seq. provides legal authorization for 
investment of funds of local agencies. All investments of the Town of Paradise shall 
conform to the provisions of those laws. 
 
VI. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

 
A. Annually 

In accordance with the California Government Code Section 53646, the Town 
Treasurer will annually submit to the Town Council and the Investment Committee 

37



 

Town of Paradise – 140 Investment Policy Page 5 
 

(consisting of the Town Manager, Finance Director/Town Treasurer, a n d  one 
member of Town Council,) a statement of investment policy which the Town Council 
shall consider at a public meeting. The policy shall be reviewed on an annual basis by 
the Treasurer and the Investment Committee. Any investment held at the time this 
Investment Policy is adopted that does not meet the guidelines of this policy shall be 
exempted from the requirements of this policy. At maturity or liquidation, however, 
such monies shall be reinvested only as provided by this policy. 

 
B. Quarterly 

Pursuant to California Government Code Sections 53607 and 53646, the Town 

Treasurer shall submit a quarterly report (the "Report") detailing the performance 

of the investment portfolio to the Town Council and the Investment Committee. The 

Report will be submitted to the Town Council within 30 days following the end of 

the quarter. The Report will contain the following: 

1. Type of investment 
2. Issuer 
3. Date of maturity 
4. The par value  
5. The cost of all funds invested subject to this policy 
6. The current market value of securities with the source of the market 

valuation for all securities held by the Town, and under management 
of any outside party that is not also a local agency, or the State of 
California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 

7. Rate of interest 
8. A statement of compliance with the investment policy 
9. Accrued interest 
10. Interest earned to date 
11. Average weighted book yield 
12. Average term to maturity 
13. Transactions 
14. Percentage distribution of investment types 
15. Modified duration 
16. Total rate of return 

 
VII. INTERNAL CONTROLS 
 
The Town Treasurer, in cooperation with the Investment Committee, shall develop a 

system of internal investment control procedures and a segregation of responsibilities of 

investment functions in order to assure an adequate system of internal control over the 

investment function. Internal control procedures shall address wire controls, separation 
of duties, delivery of securities to a third party for custodial safekeeping, and written 

procedures for placing investment transactions. 

 

38



 

Town of Paradise – 140 Investment Policy Page 6 
 

VIII. EXTERNAL CONTROLS 
 
The Town's external auditor will review and verify the Town's investment activity, 
holdings and compliance with this Investment Policy on an annual basis, and submit a 
report to the Town Council relating thereto. The external auditor shall maintain errors 
and omissions insurance coverage. 

 
IX. QUALIFIED DEALERS AND INSTITUTIONS 
 
The Town shall transact business only with banks, savings and loans, and registered 
investment securities dealers. The purchase of any investment, other than those purchased 
directly from the issuer, shall be purchased either from an institution licensed by the State as 
a broker-dealer, as defined  in Corporation Code Section 25004, or from a member of a 
f ederally regulated securities exchange,  from a national  or state charted bank, f rom a 

savings association or federal  association (as defined by Financial Code Section 
5102), or a brokerage firm designated as a Primary Government Dealer by the Federal 
Reserve Bank. 

 

The Town Treasurer and the Investment Committee shall investigate all institutions that wish 
to do business with the Town, in order to determine if they are adequately capitalized, make 
markets in securities appropriate to the Town's needs, and agree to abide by the conditions set 
forth in this Investment Policy. All financial institutions and broker-dealers who desire to 
become qualified bidders for investment transactions must provide a current audited financial 
statement, sign a statement that they have received a copy of this Investment Policy and will 
abide by its conditions, and document that they are properly regulated as indicated 
above. 
 
X. COLLATERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
California Government Code, Sections 53652 through 53667 requires depositories to post 
certain types and levels of collateral for public funds above the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation ("FDIC") insurance amounts. The collateral requirements apply to bank deposits, 
both active (checking and savings accounts) and inactive (non-negotiable time certificates of 
deposit). 
 
Collateral is also required for repurchase agreements. The collateral level shall be valued 
daily and must be maintained at a level of 102% for the life of the repurchase agreement. 
 
XI. AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS AND DIVERSIFICATION 
 
Securities purchased will be maintained within the statutory r e q u i r e m e n t s  imposed by 
California Government Code Section 53601. The Government Code currently allows for the 
following: 
 

39



 

Town of Paradise – 140 Investment Policy Page 7 
 

  Maximum % of 
Portfolio 

Minimum 
Quality 

Maximum 
Maturity 

A. Asset Backed Securities 20% Rated “AA” or 
better by 
NRSRO 

5 Years 

B. Bankers Acceptances 40% (30% of 
any one bank) 

N/A 180 Days 

C. Collateralized Bank 
Deposits 

Unlimited N/A 5 Years 

D. Commercial Paper 25% (10% of 
single issuer) 

Highest ranking 
of NRSRO 

270 Days 

E. Local Agency Investment 
Fund  

Unlimited Assets exceed 
$500 million 

5 Years 

F. Medium Term Notes 30% Rated “A” or 
better by 
NRSRO 

5 Years 

G. Mutual Funds 20% (10% of 
any one fund) 

Highest rating 
by two NRSRO 

5 Years 

H. Certificates of Deposit 30% N/A 5 Years 

I. Repurchase Agreements 20% Primary dealers 1 Year 

J. Subranationals: IBRD, 
IFC, IADB 

30% Rated “AA” or 
better by 
NRSRO 

5 Years 

K. Treasury Bills and Notes Unlimited N/A 5 Years 

L. US Government, State(s) 
and Agency Securities 

Unlimited N/A 5 Years 

 
If the California Government Code adopts more restrictive investment restrictions, then 
those restrictions will have precedence over those listed above. 
 
Funds deposited with a trustee for the purpose of debt reserve or future payment of 
indebtedness may be invested in accordance with the covenant of the trust agreement. 
 

Investments shall be purchased according to the minimum credit standards listed above. In 
the event of a downgrade in credit after the date of purchase, the T own Treasurer shall 
advise the Investment Committee and will make a recommendation as to the disposition of 
the security. 

40



 

Town of Paradise – 140 Investment Policy Page 8 
 

 
XII. PROHIBITED I N V E S T M E N T S  
 
The following investments are prohibited under this Investment Policy: 
 

A. Investments not specifically stated under "authorized investments". 
 

B. The Town will not invest in inverse floaters, range notes, or mortgage derived, 
interest-only strips.  

 
C. The Town will not invest in any security that could result in zero interest 

accrual if held to maturity.  
 
XIII. SAFEKEEPING AND CUSTODY 
 
Securities purchased from broker/dealer will be held in a third-party custodian/safekeeping 
account except the collateral for time deposits in banks and savings and loans. Collateral for 
time deposits shall be held in accordance with California law. 
 
XIV. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY 
 
The Town Treasurer is authorized to invest the Town’s idle funds in accordance with 
California Government Code Sections 53600 et seq., 16429.1 and 53684. In the absence of 
the Town Treasurer the investment of the funds will be delegated to the Town Manager. 
Investments made by the Town Manager will be restricted to the State managed California 
Local Agency Investment Fund (“LAIF”) or to securities maturing within six months. Prior to 
investing in securities, the Town Manager will consider the cash flow requirements of the 
Town and may invest in securities maturing over six months if directed by the Treasurer in 
writing or verbally, if confirmed in writing within 30 days. 
 
XV. ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
 

The Town Treasurer and other officers, officials, and/or employees involved in the investment 

process shall refrain from personal business activity that could conflict with the proper execution 

of the investment program or which could impair their ability to make impartial investment 

decisions. The Treasurer, other officers, officials and/or employees involved in the investment 

process shall disclose to the Town Council any material interest in financial institutions with 

which they conduct business. They shall further disclose to the Town Council any personal 

financial/investment positions that could be related to the performance of the investment portfolio 

and shall refrain from undertaking personal investment transactions with the same individual with 

whom business is conducted on behalf of their entity. The Treasurer, other officers, officials, 

and/or investment employees are required to file annual disclosure statements as required by the 

Fair Political Practices Commission (“FPPC”). During the course of the year, if there is an event 

subject to disclosure that could impair impartial decisions, the Town Council will be notified in 

writing within ten (10) days of the event.  

41



 

Town of Paradise 
Council Agenda Summary 

Date: April 12, 2016 
Agenda Item: 2(e) 

 
Originated by: 
 

Gina S. Will, Finance Director/Town Treasurer 

Reviewed by: Lauren Gill, Town Manager 
 

Subject: 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund (NCCSIF) Annual 
Report 

 
Council Action Requested: 
 

1. Receive and file the 2016 NCCSIF report, or  

Alternatives: 
 
Refer the matter back to staff for further development and consideration. 

Background: 

The Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund (NCCSIF) is an association of 
municipalities joined together in 1979 to protect Member resources by stabilizing risk 
costs in a reliable, economical and beneficial manner while providing members with broad 
coverage and quality services in risk management and claims management.  There were 
eight founding members, and today the membership is twenty-two strong with its newest 
addition in 2013.  

Each member has a representative and an alternate that serves on the JPA Board. The 
Finance Director/Town Treasurer and the HR/Risk Manager are the Town’s current 
representatives. Members take turns rotating through the executive committee.   

The Town of Paradise joined the NCCSIF Liability Program in 1985 and the Workers 
Compensation program in 1987. Today, the Town participates in the following NCCSIF 
programs: 

Liability Program 

The Liability Program provides coverage for losses Member Entities become legally 
obligated to pay as damages because of bodily injury, property damage, employment 
practices liability, personal injury and public officials’ errors or omissions. Coverage is 
provided through three layers: 
 

Banking Fund $0 - $50,000 

Shared Risk $50,001 - $500,000 

Excess Coverage $500,001 - $40,000,000 

  
42



NCCSIF Annual Report  

April 12, 2016 

 

2 
 

Workers’ Compensation 

California Workers’ Compensation laws require every employer to provide benefits to 
employees for injury and/or illness arising out of, or in the course of, employment. 
Statutory benefits prescribed by law include: 

 Medical Treatment 

 Temporary Disability Payments 

 Permanent Disability Compensation 

 Rehabilitation 

 Death Benefits 
 
Coverage is provided through three layers: 

Banking Fund $0 - $100,000 

Shared Risk $100,001 - $500,000 

Excess Coverage $500,001 – Statutory Limit (Workers’ 
Comp) 

$500,001 - $5,000,000 (Employer’s 
Liability) 

 
Property Program 
 
This year NCCSIF renewed coverage through the Alliant Property Insurance Program. 
The program provides replacement cost coverage for all building and contents, subject 
to a $1 billion limit per occurrence and a $5,000 deductible per claim. 
 
Physical Damage Program 
 
This program designed especially for public agencies and rural cities, provides vehicle 
and mobile equipment protection. It replaces property on a like kind and quality basis. 
The Town covers vehicles still obligated under lease purchase agreements, fire engines 
and equipment and other large and expensive vehicles and equipment. 
 
Crime Program 
 
The NCCSIF Crime Program provides for coverage of employee theft through the 
National Union Insurance Company, A.M. Best Rated A++ XV.  It covers theft, forgery 
and computer fraud up to $1,000,000 and has a $5,000 deductible. 
 
Employee Assistance Program 
 
An Employee Assistance Program (EAP) is a worksite-based program designed to 
assist City employees in identifying and resolving personal concerns, including, but not 

43



NCCSIF Annual Report  

April 12, 2016 

 

3 
 

limited to, health, marital, family, financial, alcohol, drug, legal, emotional, stress, or 
other personal issues that may affect job performance.  
 
Identity Fraud Protection 
 
New this year is a program to protect Member employees from the impact of identity 
fraud. Employees have access to $25,000 worth of coverage to reimburse for the costs 
and expenses related to identity recovery, including lost wages and attorney fees. 

Discussion: 
 
NCCSIF is a well managed and fiscally conservative JPA. For several years the JPA 
released over $15 million in dividends to members to help ease the strain of the 
recession. The Town received over $1.1 million in dividends from 2008/09 through 
2012/13. Even with such release of dividends, the JPA has maintained a healthy cash 
reserve and equity. 
 
The Liability Program rates were at historic lows in 2012, and while still historically low 
are climbing due to decreases in payroll and increased claims. The program is currently 
in the process of rebuilding equity. The Board has voted not to approve any dividends 
from the program until equity is rebuilt. 
 
The Workers’ Compensation program is currently healthy with adequate equity. The 
rates are competitive and are actually a little less than the State Fund. The rates and 
payroll went down for several years in alignment with the recession, but are now 
climbing back up. Fortunately, unlike traditional insurance coverage, the Town has the 
opportunity to build equity, earn interest on its banking layers, and to receive dividends.       
 
Fiscal Analysis: 
 
There is no fiscal impact to receiving this report. 
 
 

44



 

  
 

 
    

NCCSIF Program Administrators 

 
Alliant Insurance Services, Inc. 
2180 Harvard Street, Suite 460 
Sacramento, California 95815 
Main: (916) 643-2700 – Fax: (916) 643-2750 
www.alliantinsurance.com 
Corporate License No. 0C36861 

NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Powers Authority 

2016 Annual Report 

 

45



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

www.nccsif.org   

46



NCCSIF 2016 Annual Report 
Table of Contents 

 
Letter to Our Members ........................................................................................................ 1 

Mission Statement ............................................................................................................... 2 

History of the JPA ............................................................................................................... 3 

Organizational Profile 

Board of Directors ................................................................................................... 5 

Executive Committee .............................................................................................. 6 

Claims Committee ................................................................................................... 7 

Finance Committee ................................................................................................. 8 

Risk Management Committee ................................................................................. 9 

Police Risk Management Committee .................................................................... 11 

Member Programs and Services 

Liability Program .................................................................................................... 12 

Workers’ Compensation Program ........................................................................... 14 

Property Program .................................................................................................... 16 

Public Entity Physical Damage Program ................................................................ 18 

Crime Program ........................................................................................................ 18 

Other Programs ....................................................................................................... 19 

Financial Overview ........................................................................................................... 20 

Service Providers and Consultants .................................................................................... 24 

47



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

1 

  

 2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Letter to Our Members 
 
Dear Members, 
 
I am pleased to present the 2016 NCCSIF Annual Report at a 
time when the group is seeing improved results because of a 
renewed focus on risk management practices. 
 
Over the last three years NCCSIF has focused on expanding 
the Risk Management services and training programs available 
to Members. This began with a baseline assessment of each 
Member’s operations and continues with customized service 
plans to meet their needs. The Police Risk Management 
Committee has seen increased participation and ideas for 
training and equipment, including funding for body-worn 
cameras that have reduced the frequency and severity of 
claims, paying dividends almost immediately after their use. 
 
These changes have contributed to NCCSIF’s ability to return 
over $1.5 million to members in the last year, and almost $3 
million the last two years. Assets increased to over $51 million 
and the Net Position increased by $800,000, prior to dividends. 
 
While NCCSIF continues to be financially strong, the Liability 
Program experienced a number of large losses in the 2011 year 
that decreased reserves in the Shared Risk Layer. Members 
responded by reducing the Self-Insured Retention from 
$1,000,000 to $500,000 and providing additional funding to 
replenish reserves. Losses have since been trending down. 

The Workers’ Compensation Program has seen claims 
frequency stabilize and severity has improved since 2012’s 
historically bad year. However, medical costs continue to rise 
in spite of Member efforts to control them, and an increase in 
disability rates has contributed to continued pressure on rates. 
Members’ continued focus on risk management techniques, 
including return to work and ergonomic programs, have kept 
rate increases modest. 
 
NCCSIF Members will continue to face challenges in 
managing their operations. NCCSIF has proven itself a 
valuable partner and resource by combining resources and 
pooling risks, enabling each Member to access broader 
coverage, lower rates, and more risk management services than 
they could receive on their own. I am proud to serve as 
NCCSIF President to support the continued success of the 
group through pooling and sound risk management practices. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Russell Hildebrand 
NCCSIF President 
City Attorney - City of Rocklin

48



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

2 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Mission Statement 
 

The Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund (NCCSIF) is an 
association of municipalities joined together in 1979 to protect 
Member resources by stabilizing risk costs in a reliable, economical 
and beneficial manner while providing members with broad coverage 
and quality services in risk management and claims management. 
 

49



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

3 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

History of the JPA 
The Northern California Cities Workers' Compensation Fund, 
a Joint Powers Authority, was formed in early 1979. It is one 
of the first pooled municipal insurance programs in the State. 
The JPA's original purpose was to provide medium-sized 
Northern California cities a mechanism to self-insure most of 
their Workers' Compensation benefits and obtain the 
advantages of group purchasing excess insurance for the rest. 
 
In 1981, a number of members formed the Liability Program to 
apply the same concepts of pooling to coverage for General 
Liability, Automobile Liability, Errors and Omissions, and 
Employment Practices Liability. Since then the group has 
grown to twenty-two cities that pool coverage to a limit of 
$500,000 for both Workers’ Compensation and Liability. 
 
Where originally the JPA relied upon excess coverage from the 
Commercial Insurance Marketplace, the excess coverage for 
both Workers’ Compensation and Liability are now provided 
by excess Joint Powers Authorities. These are Joint Powers 
Authorities and larger individual entities grouped together to 
pool coverages and reduce the need for commercial coverage. 
 
In 1987, the name of the Joint Powers Authority was changed 
to Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund (NCCSIF). 
The same year, NCCSIF began offering group purchase of 
Property and Crime coverage and an Employee Assistance 

Program. These are insurance programs since the cost to group 
purchase coverage continues to be less than self-insurance. 
 
In 2008, NCCSIF started providing Wellness services to 
Members. During 2009, NCCSIF enhanced its risk 
management services through partnerships with Target Safety 
and Risk Management Solutions to provide online loss 
prevention services to the membership. 
 
In 2012, NCCSIF hired Bickmore Risk Services as their Risk 
Control Services Vendor and expanded the number of risk 
management resources available to members. 
 
In 2013, the City of Elk Grove joined NCCSIF’s Workers’ 
Compensation program, bringing the total number of members 
in the JPA to twenty-two. 
 
In 2014, the Police Risk Management Committee 
recommended the use of body-worn cameras, and NCCSIF 
grant funds were provided for their purchase. Members 
realized the benefits of the cameras through fewer claims, so 
additional grants were approved by the Board for 2015/16. 
 
In 2015, the members implemented a Scorecard system to 
effectively assess their risk control efforts, and the pool is 
continuing to expand and update the Risk Management Policies 
and Procedures to keep pace with current risk exposures. 

50



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

4 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

NCCSIF Historical Timeline 
1979 1980 1981 1982 1983 1984 1985 

The Northern California Cities 
Workers' Compensation Fund, 
a Joint Powers Authority, was 
formed in early 1979. It is one 
of the oldest pooled municipal 

insurance programs in the 
State. 

 
Members who joined the pool: 
Anderson, Corning, Folsom, 

Galt, Jackson, Placerville, Rio 
Vista and Willows 

Additional members join the 
WC JPA: 

 
Gridley 
Rocklin 

A number of the member cities 
desired to apply the same 

concepts of pooling to 
Automobile and General 

Liability coverage. 
 

LIABILITY 
Anderson 
Corning 
Folsom 

Galt 
Gridley 
Rocklin 
Willows 

 
WC 

Auburn 

City of Nevada City joins the 
WC JPA 

Additional members join the 
WC JPA: 

 
Dixon 

Red Bluff 

City of Lincoln 
 joins the WC JPA 

A number of the member 
cities join the Liability JPA: 

 
Lincoln 
Oroville 
Paradise 
Rio Vista 

1986 1987 1988 1990 1991 1992 1993 
Additional members join the 

Liability JPA: 
 

Auburn 
Red Bluff 

The name of the Joint Powers 
Authority was changed to 

Northern California Cities Self 
Insurance Fund (NCCSIF). 

 
NCCSIF offers group purchase 

of Property, Crime & EAP 
programs. 

 
The following members joined 

the JPA: 
 

LIABILITY 
City of Jackson 

 
WC - Town of Paradise 

Additional members join the 
Liability JPA: 

 
Colusa 
Dixon 

The City of Oroville joins the 
WC JPA 

The City of Marysville joins 
the Liability JPA 

 
NCCSIF begins shared risk 
program for Liability and 
Workers' Compensation 

 
NCCSIF begins a Risk 

Management Committee 
 

Alliant - Marylin Kelley 
joins and becomes Program 

Administrator 

The City of Yuba City joins 
the Liability JPA  

 
Additional members join the 

WC JPA: 
Colusa 

Marysville 
Yuba City 

NCCSIF is one of the first 
JPAs to achieve 

CAJPA Accreditation with 
Excellence 

1996 2003 2007 2008 2009 2010-2013 2014-2015 
NCCSIF joins CJPRMA for 
Excess Liability Coverage 

NCCSIF joins CPEIA for 
Excess Workers' 

Compensation Coverage 

NCCSIF's Shared Risk 
Liability Layer changes from 

$500,000 to $1,000,000. 
 

NCCSIF joins CSAC-EIA 
for Excess Workers' 

Compensation Coverage 

NCCSIF Revises its Dividend 
Formula and Distributes $6M 

to Members 
 

Multiple risk management 
services are paid for by an 

administrative surplus: 
BackSafe for Fire and Public 
Works, Wellness Programs, 

Lexipol Daily Training Bulletin 
for PDs 

NCCSIF is once again 
awarded the CAJPA 

Accreditation with Excellence 
 

Online risk management 
services are enhanced through 
partnerships with TargetSafety 

and Risk Control Online. 

2010 
City of Ione joins Liability 

and Workers’ Compensation 
JPA 

 
2013 

City of Elk Grove joins 
Workers’ Compensation JPA 

2014 
Identity Fraud Coverage 

 
2015 

 
CAJPA Accreditation with 

Excellence 
 

Review and Revision of 
Policies and Procedures 

51



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

5 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Board of Directors 
 
The Board of Directors of NCCSIF is composed of a 
representative appointed by the City Council of each member 
agency. An Alternate Member is also appointed to serve in the 

absence of the appointed representative. Only the Board 
Member - or in the Board Member’s absence the Alternate 
Member - has voting authority. 

 
Current Members are as follows: 
 
Member Board Director Alternate Member Board Director Alternate 
City of Anderson* Jeff Kiser Liz Cottrell City of Lincoln Astrida Trupovnieks Sheila VanZandt 
City of Auburn Shari Harris Tim Rundel City of Marysville Satwant Takhar Walter Muncheimer 
City of Colusa Toni Benson Vacant City of Nevada City Corey Shaver Catrina Olson 
City of Corning* Kristina Miller Tom Watson City of Oroville Liz Ehrenstrom Vacant 
City of Dixon Michelle Pellegrino Kim Stalie City of Placerville* Dave Warren Cleve Morris 
City of Elk Grove Brad Koehn Jonathan Hobbs City of Red Bluff Sandy Ryan Cheryl Smith 
City of Folsom* Bruce Cline Elaine Andersen City of Rio Vista* Donna Lee Marni Rittburg 
City of Galt* Paula Islas Vacant City of Rocklin Russell Hildebrand Kimberly Sarkovich 
City of Gridley Matt Michaelis Elisa Arteaga City of Willows* Tim Sailsbery Scott Taylor 
City of Ione Jon Hanken Anna Daneri City of Yuba City Natalie Springer Robin Bertagna 
City of Jackson* Michael Daly Dalacie Blankenship Town of Paradise Gina Will Crystal Peters 

 
 
 
 

*Founding Members 

52



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

6 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Executive Committee 
 

The Executive Committee is a standing committee of the Board 
that acts as a steering committee for overall operation of the 
Joint Powers Authority and has been delegated certain duties as 
enumerated in the Bylaws. The Committee is composed of 
seven-to-nine voting members and two non-voting members, 
all selected by the Board. The President of the Board serves as 

the Chair of the Committee, while the Vice President and the 
Secretary are voting members of the Committee. Remaining 
voting seats are selected on a rotating geographical basis. The 
Treasurer and CJPRMA Board Representative are non-voting 
members of the Committee.  

 

Members are as follows: 
January 1, 2015 January 1, 2016 

City of Dixon Michelle Pellegrino, Secretary City of Colusa Toni Benson 
City of Elk Grove Brad Koehn City of Folsom Bruce Cline 
City of Folsom Bruce Cline, Vice President City of Ione Jon Hanken 
City of Galt Paula Islas, CJPRMA Representative City of Jackson Michael Daly 
City of Ione Jon Hanken City of Marysville Satwant Takhar 
City of Jackson Michael Daly City of Nevada City Corey Shaver, Secretary 
City of Placerville Dave Warren City of Placerville Dave Warren, Vice President 
City of Rio Vista Tim Chapa City of Rocklin Russell Hildebrand, President 
City of Rocklin Russell Hildebrand, President City of Yuba City Natalie Springer 

 
Non-Voting Members: 
Treasurer Tim Sailsbery, City of Willows 
CJPRMA Representative Paula Islas, City of Galt 

53



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

7 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Claims Committee 
 
The Claims Committee reviews claims in the Shared Risk 
Layer, authorizes settlements and makes determinations on 
coverage. Authority is granted to the Executive Committee to 
act as or appoint members of the Claims Committee. All claims 
are reported to the Claims Administrator regardless of the 
claim values. The Claims Committee meets as necessary to 
review all open reported claims likely to involve the 
Authority’s shared risk portion of the Liability and Workers’ 
Compensation Programs. 
 
NCCSIF has retained York Risk Services Group, Inc. as 
Claims Administrator, and they are responsible for managing 
claims to conclusion, including investigation, negotiation, 
assignment of legal counsel, and litigation management. They 
also provide reports regarding claim status, reserves, and 
settlement recommendations to the Claims Committee.  

Members have authority to settle claims in their Banking Layer 
up to $50,000 ($100,000 for Folsom) for Liability and 
$100,000 for Workers’ Compensation. The Claims Committee 
has authority up to $250,000. The Board of Directors has 
authority to settle claims over $250,000 up to the SIR of 
$500,000 for both Liability and Workers’ Compensation. The 
Claims Committee is also granted authority to deny claims and 
to refer claims to counsel for coverage opinions. 
 
NCCSIF hires an independent claims auditor to perform an 
audit for the Liability Program every odd-numbered year and 
an audit for the Workers’ Compensation Program every even-
numbered year. 
 

 
 
Claims Committee members are selected from the Executive Committee annually at the spring meeting. 

54



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

8 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Finance Committee 
 
The NCCSIF Board of Directors has delegated financial 
investment authority and other duties to the Executive 
Committee.  The Executive Committee delegates these duties 
to the Finance Committee on an as-needed basis.  Finance 
Committee members are appointed by the Executive 
Committee as follows: 
 

The Treasurer and other Board members or 
Alternates are appointed by the Executive 
Committee. It is desired that one member of 
the committee shall be a finance or assistant 
finance director of an NCCSIF member. 
 

A Treasurer is annually elected by the Board of Directors and 
serves as the Chair of the Finance Committee. 
 
Finance Committee Chair & Treasurer: 
Tim Sailsbery, City of Willows 
 
 
 

Duties delegated to the Finance Committee may include: 
 
1. Discuss strategies with the Investment Advisors in 

accordance with the Investment Policy and direct overall 
investment strategy. 

2. Review cash management requirements on an annual basis 
and give direction to the accountant to make adjustments. 

3. Review the independent auditor’s proposed audit scope and 
approach. 

4. Review the performance of the independent auditor. 

5. Recommend the appointment to the Executive Committee 
of the independent auditor and review audit fees. 

6. At the direction of the Board or the Executive Committee, 
review with counsel any legal matters that could have 
significant impact on the financial statements. 

7. Review and make recommendations to the Board or the 
Executive Committee to maintain or change the Investment 
Policy in accordance with California Government Code. 

8. Advise the Board and the Executive Committee on 
other financial matters. 

55



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

9 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Risk Management Committee 
 
NCCSIF established a formal Risk Management Committee in 1991. 
The Committee is comprised of one member from each City, and 
over the years it has been enriched by participation from employees 
from Public Works, Finance, Human Resources, Police, Fire, and 
City Management who have all worked to provide a broad range of 
ideas and risk management services to the members. 
 
It is the JPA’s philosophy that the consideration of worker safety, 
and the safety of the general public, bears as high a priority as the 
decision to commit funds or to complete a task. Our goal is to foster 
loss control programs to guard against all types of accidents and 
incidents wherever possible. 
 
Recognizing the above goal, the Committee annually recommends 
and administers a Risk Management Budget as approved by the 
Board of Directors. That budget represents 50% of the total program 
administration expenses, not including claims management. These 
services include: 
 
Contract Risk Management Services 
 
NCCSIF hired Bickmore in 2012 as their Risk Control Services 
provider to perform a Hazard and Risk Assessment for each 
member and recommend policies, procedures, and training to 
address their individual needs. As a result, members are 

receiving more direct assistance in managing their operations in 
ways that reduce the frequency and severity of claims. 

 
Consulting by Bickmore Risk Services includes: 
 

• Hotline Services – one of the most popular services provided 

• Hazard & Safety Assessments 

• Program/Policy Development 

• On-site Training 

• Safety Materials 

• Webinars – WC and Liability Risk Management Topics 

• Training Matrix 

 
Safety Library 
On-line Video Libraries are available through the Bickmore website, 
riskcontrol.brsrisk.com as well as the CSAC- EIA website, csac-
eia.org. 
 
Conference Attendance 
Sponsorship of members for attendance at the Annual PARMA or 
CAJPA Risk Management Conference. 
 
 

56



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

10 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Seminars and Training Sessions 
Selection of topics determined annually by the Committee 
including: 
• Bickmore: on-site sessions covering employment 

issues such as Harassment, Skills for Supervisors, 
and e-mail communications  

• TargetSolutions: online training services on a variety 
of topics including OSHA Compliance and 
Employment Practices 

• My Safety Officer and Risk Control Online: online 
programs to assist in the management and 
employment and safety training requirements for 
employees 

• Wastewater Services Safety: updates wastewater 
safety policies at the City level on an as needed basis 

• Regional Workshops: NCCSIF conducts regional 
workshops on pertinent safety topics. Topics for 
2016 consisted of AB 1825: Prevention of Sexual 
Harassment & Abusive Conduct Training, Traffic 
Control/Flagger & Excavation Competent Person. 

 
Website 
NCCSIF website maintenance, including a “Risk Management” tab 
where members can access Risk Management information. 
 
Additionally, the Committee has adopted and frequently reviews 
policies and procedures on various topics: 
 
 

P & P 
NUMBER 

SUBJECT 
LAST 

REVISION 
TYPE 

RM-1 
Compliance with Risk Management 

Standards 
06/14/1996 Mandatory 

RM-2 Driving Standards 04/24/2009 Mandatory 

RM-3 
Sidewalk Inspection and 

Maintenance 
11/19/2015 Advisory 

RM-4 Use of Public Facilities 01/11/2008 Advisory 

RM-5 Unlawful Harassment Policy 04/15/2010 Mandatory 

RM-6 
Approval of Coverage for 

Skateboard Parks 
12/19/2008 Mandatory 

RM-7 
Pool Operation 

(Aquatics Programs  - under 
review) 

01/14/2010 Advisory 

RM-8 
Development and Operation of 

Bicycle Parks 
10/24/2003 Mandatory 

RM-9 
Sewer Overflow and Backup 

Response 
11/19/2015 Advisory 

RM-10 
Risk Management Committee 

Composition & Duties 
09/02/2010 Mandatory 

RM-11 
Review of Member Risk 

Assessments 
06/23/2011 Mandatory 

RM-12 Risk Management Reserve program 11/19/2015 Optional 

RM-13 
ADA Compliance and Transition 

Plans 
11/19/2015 Mandatory 

RM-14 
Urban Forest Management 

(Draft form – currently under 
review) 

Pending  

57



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

11 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Police Risk Management Committee 
 
The Police Risk Management Committee (PRMC) is a 
subcommittee of the Risk Management Committee. Given the 
importance of managing public safety risks and the unique 
nature of their operations, members agreed to form a separate 
Risk Management Committee for police departments. 
 
All members who have police departments are encouraged to 
participate in the Police Risk Management Committee. One of 
their first recommendations upon formation was to contract 
with Lexipol to develop and annually update member police 
procedure manuals. Lexipol also provides interested police 
departments with their Daily Training Bulletin, an online 
service developed to keep officers apprised of their 
department’s various policies and procedures. 
 
The Police Risk Management Committee is working with 
Bickmore to coordinate and organize training seminars by 
leading law enforcement professionals, designed to reduce the 
various risk exposures generated by the performance of police 
duties in the current legal environment. 
 

A training session is held at each Police Risk Management 
Committee meeting. Topics for 2015 included: 
 

• Wellness and Fitness in Law Enforcement: The Tactical Athlete 
• Critical Incident Command: Leading in the Edge of Chaos 
• 21st Century Policing – Lessons Learned: The Case for Change 
• Managing Your Message Social Media Style 
 
The Committee also reviews major claims for risk management 
practices that can be shared or improved and evaluates 
equipment that can prevent or minimize losses. 
 
In 2014 participating members began using body-worn 
cameras to reduce the frequency and severity of police claims. 
 
In 2015 the Board continued their commitment to the PRMC 
by authorizing another $50,000 in grant funds to meet the 
ongoing risk management needs of the members including: 
 

- Body Cameras 
- Storage Solutions 
- Fitness Programs 

58



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

12 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Liability Program 
 
The Liability Program provides coverage for losses Member 
Entities become legally obligated to pay as damages because of 
bodily injury, property damage, employment practices liability, 
personal injury and public officials’ errors or omissions. 
Coverage is included for the Member Entity and its 
commissions, agencies, districts, authorities, boards, or similar 
entities coming under the Member Entity's direction or control. 
There are nineteen (19) members in the Liability Program. 
 
The total limit of liability provided under the Liability Program 
is $40,000,000 per occurrence, with a sublimit of $10,000 for 
employment practices liability. The program is divided into 
three separate coverage layers - Banking, Shared Risk and 
Excess Coverage - as noted below: 
 

Excess Layer  
 

Excess Insurance: $5,000,000 to $40,000,000 
CJPRMA Members: $500,000 to $5,000,000 

Shared Risk Layer  
 

Member Banking Layer Limit to $500,000 
Banking Layer  

 
Folsom: $0 to $100,000 

All Other Members: $0 to $50,000 

All three coverage layers include self-insurance. The Banking 
Layer is funded to pay for each Member’s own claims, similar 
to a deductible. The Shared Risk Layer is funded to pay for 
claims that are shared by all NCCSIF Members. The Excess 
Layer is funded through the California Joint Powers Risk 
Management Authority (CJPRMA). Since 1994 NCCSIF has 
participated in CJPRMA, which shares risk up to $5,000,000 
with three other JPAs and 17 larger individual cities. CJPRMA 
purchases excess reinsurance for total limits of $40,000,000 
inclusive of NCCSIF’s retained limit of $500,000 per 
occurrence. 
 
As a result of sharing risk to $5,000,000, CJPRMA is largely 
removed from the impact of insurance market conditions. In 
addition, members share in dividends declared when CJPRMA 
exceeds its funding goals. In 2015 NCCSIF received dividends 
from CJPRMA of $251,186 which were credited to the liability 
shared risk assessments. 
 
Total funding for the Liability Program in 2015/16 is 
$4,598,242. This represents a 7.5% increase, though at a higher 
funding confidence level from the prior year. The Banking 
Fund returned $99,287 to Members who exceeded their target 
funding levels. The Shared Risk Layer Fund was assessed 
$348,814 this year after application of the CJPRMA refund. 
 

59



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

13 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

The members increased the funding confidence level from 65% 
to 67.5% with a goal of funding at a 70% confidence level in 
the future. 
 
The Board of Directors annually reviews the Banking and 
Shared Risk financial status to evaluate the appropriateness of 
declaring either a refund or an assessment. The following chart 
shows the historical rates with and without the impact of 
refunds and assessments. 
 

 
 
Eight years ago the Liability Program net rates reached historic 
lows due to large dividends that continued for several years. 
The gross rate hit a low of $2.26 in 2012 before climbing the 
last three years, due to an increase in anticipated losses and 

decreases in payroll. The increase in the net rate is due to the 
Shared Risk Layer Assessments for the last three years. 
 
Due to the fact that NCCSIF doubled the size of the Shared 
Risk Layer from $500,000 to $1,000,000, the claims cost 
obligations for that layer have increased since 2007. Due to 
unfavorable claims development in 2012, NCCSIF made the 
decision to lower the Shared Risk Layer from $1,000,000 back 
to $500,000. 
 
The following chart shows historical claims performance and 
illustrates that liability claims tend to be volatile. 
 

 

$3.52 

$2.83 $2.62 

$2.39 
$2.25 

$2.45 $2.67 
$2.92 $2.85 

$3.01 

$1.39 $1.46 
$1.65 

$2.05 

$1.36 

$2.30 

$3.07 
$3.18 

$2.98 

$3.24 

$1.00

$1.50

$2.00

$2.50

$3.00

$3.50

$4.00

Historical Rate and Rate with Refunds & Assessments 
Rate per $100 of Payroll Net Rate

 $2.21  
 $1.97  

 $1.35  
 $1.57  

 $5.09  

 $2.16  
 $2.29  

 $1.56  
 $1.65  

 $1.98  

 $7,705  
 $8,951  

 $6,917  

 $8,896  
 $26,134  

 $75,662  

 $67,105  
 $51,495  

 $53,985  
 $48,060  

 $-

 $10,000

 $20,000

 $30,000

 $40,000

 $50,000

 $60,000

 $70,000

 $80,000

 $-

 $1.00

 $2.00

 $3.00

 $4.00

 $5.00

 $6.00

NCCSIF Liability Claims Costs by Fiscal Year 
valued as of 12/31/2015 

Cost per $100 of Payroll Cost per Claim

60



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

14 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Workers' Compensation 
 

California Workers' Compensation laws require every 
employer to provide benefits to employees for injury and/or 
illness arising out of, or in the course of, employment. 
Statutory benefits prescribed by law include: 
 

• Medical Treatment 
• Temporary Disability Payments 
• Permanent Disability Compensation 
• Rehabilitation 
• Death Benefits 

 
The total amount of benefits provided under the Workers' 
Compensation Program is limited only by State Law, also 
known as Statutory Limits, with a $5,000,000 limit for 
Employers' Liability. The program is divided into three 
separate coverage layers, Banking, Shared Risk (which are 
self-funded) and Excess Coverage as illustrated in the chart 
below: 
 

Excess Coverage 
 $500,000 – Statutory/Workers’ Compensation 
$500,000 - $5,000,000 – Employer’s Liability 

Shared Risk Layer 
Banking Layer Limit to   $500,000 

Banking Layer 
$0 to $100,000 

 

This program has seen a reduction in the number of claims 
from a high of 458 in 2003 to 378 in 2015. Average claim costs 
have gone from a high of $21,346 in 2012 to $14,034 in 2014. 
Part of this reduction is due to the fact that the severity of 
claims in 2012 was well above average, but this also reflects a 
reduction in the number of employees, legislative reforms and 
more proactive claims management. 
 
In spite of these reductions there is still an increase in claims 
medical costs. The CPI index for Medical costs continues to 
outpace the CPI index as whole. This means that medical costs 
will continue to have a major impact on total NCCSIF loss 
costs. They currently represent 39% of total paid claims for 
2015. 
 
The total cost of the program for 2015 was $9,958,106, before 
dividends, an increase of 7.8% over the prior year. The rate 
remained steady with the increase attributable to increase in 
confidence level from 65% to 67.5% and increase in payroll. 
 
All twenty-two members participate in the program. The 
following chart on the next page shows the historical Workers’ 

61



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

15 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Compensation payrolls and reflects the addition of Elk Grove 
in FYE 2014. 
 
The Excess Coverage is provided through a joint powers 
authority, the CSAC Excess Insurance Authority (EIA). Since 
joining this group in 2003, the cost of Excess Insurance has 
stabilized, though rates increased in 2015 due to the impact of 
above average losses in 2010 and 2012. 
 
Annually, the Board of Directors reviews the Program’s 
financial status to evaluate the appropriateness of declaring 
either a refund or an assessment. In spring of 2015, NCCSIF 
returned $566,413 in Shared Layer dividends to its members 
and $365,738 dividends in the Banking Layer. 
 
The following chart shows Workers’ Compensation costs by 
claim and payroll. 

 

 
The following chart shows the historical rates with and without 
the impact of refunds and assessments. The rates were 
decreasing beginning 2006 until 2014 however, the rates 
increased slightly in the past three years. 

 
 
These excellent financial results are due to a combination of 
NCCSIF cost containment strategies, including encouraging 
return to work modified duty placement for injured workers, 
increased loss control training for the members, and quality 
claims management from York Risk Services. 
 
The York claims examiner is responsible for advising the 
member on the merits of each claim and the appropriate action 
to be taken, as well as providing for necessary investigation of 
claims and oversight of legal defense. 

$3.99 

$4.49 

$2.72 
$3.28 $3.38 

$2.45 

$5.13 

$2.97 

$4.50 
$3.78 

$13,618  
$17,157  

$10,892  

$12,130  
$14,152  

$10,205  

$21,346  

$14,618  

$17,263  

$18,478  

$0

$5,000

$10,000

$15,000

$20,000

$25,000

$0.00

$1.00

$2.00

$3.00

$4.00

$5.00

$6.00

06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 14 15

NCCSIF WC Claims Costs by Fiscal Year as of 12/31/2015 
Cost per $100 of Payroll Cost per Claim

$5.25 $5.05 
$4.88 $4.79 $4.67 $4.69 $4.43 

$4.91 $5.00 $5.38 

$3.29 
$2.85 $2.43 

$3.00 
$2.01 

$2.80 

$4.15 
$4.91 $5.00 $5.38 

$1.50

$2.50

$3.50

$4.50

$5.50

$6.50

$7.50

$8.50

$9.50

Historical Rate and Rate with Refunds & Assessments 
Rate per $100 of Payroll Net Rate

NOTE: Years 09/10 and 10/11 have dividends in both Banking and Shared Risk Layers 

62



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

16 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Property Program 
 

This year NCCSIF renewed coverage through the Alliant 
Property Insurance Program (APIP). This Program provides 
broad replacement cost coverage for all buildings and contents, 
subject to a $1 billion limit per occurrence and a $5,000 
deductible per claim. NCCSIF members purchase Boiler & 
Machinery Coverage at a $100,000,000 limit per occurrence at 
a $2,500 deductible per claim. Selected members also insure 
for auto physical damage and flood coverage through the 
program excess of a flood deductible of $100,000 or $250,000 
for Flood Zones A & V. 
 
The Property Program also includes a number of coverages 
tailored to NCCSIF members, including Pollution Liability, 
Cyber Liability, Course of Construction, and Rental Income 
and Tax Interruption. The coverage also provides sub-limits for 
unscheduled property, new acquisitions, and Increased Cost of 
Construction. 
 
NCCSIF continues to approve funding for property appraisals 
to be completed for its members as needed to maintain accurate 
valuations. 
 

NCCSIF increased the total values insured from $852 million 
in 2014 to $984 million in 2015, while the rate decreased from 
$0.10 to $0.075 per $100 in values. 
 

The chart below shows the Total Insured Values in the program 
along with the coverage rate per $100 of values. 

 
Membership in APIP has grown to fifteen NCCSIF members.  
Program participants are: Cities of Anderson, Auburn, Colusa, 
Dixon, Folsom, Galt, Gridley, Ione, Lincoln, Marysville, 
Oroville, Red Bluff, Rocklin, Yuba City and Town of Paradise. 

$338 
$395 

$547 
$630 $638 

$726 $750 $780 
$823 $853 $943  0.11  

 0.08  

 0.06  

 0.06   0.07  
 0.08  

 0.08  
 0.08  

 0.10  
 0.10  

 0.10  

 -

 0.02

 0.04

 0.06

 0.08

 0.10

 0.12

$0

$200

$400

$600

$800

$1,000

Va
lu

es
 M

ill
io

ns
 

NCCSIF Total Insured Value and Rates 
Values Rate

63



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

17 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

 

Physical Damage Program 
 

Selected Members are enrolled in the Alliant Physical Damage 
Program. The program was initially designed specifically for 
public agencies – including rural cities, sanitation districts, and 
wastewater districts – with a limited number of higher-valued 
vehicles. The program has expanded to include other types of 
vehicles and mobile equipment. 
 
It provides an All Risk Equipment Floater including earthquake 
and flood for scheduled equipment on file with the Company 
through AGCS Marine Insurance Services, Inc. Claims 

valuation is on a replacement cost basis if desired for vehicles 
or equipment less than four years old, otherwise the policy will 
pay to replace damaged property on a like kind and quality 
basis (not new for old). 
 
Currently eleven of the twenty-two NCCSIF Members are 
enrolled in this program. The deductible varies for each 
member as selected annually and covers all risks of direct 
physical loss or damage from any external cause, including 
general average and salvage charges, except perils excluded. 

64



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

18 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Historical Crime Rate Compared to # of Employees 

Crime Program 
 

The NCCSIF Crime Program provides for coverage of 
employee theft through the National Union Insurance 
Company, A.M. Best Rated A++ XV. 
 
Fifteen of the twenty-two NCCSIF members participate in the 
Crime program. The per-occurrence limit was increased to 
$1,000,000 in 2007. Coverage is subject to a $5,000 deductible. 
 
Program 15 participants are Cities of Anderson, Auburn, 
Colusa, Corning, Dixon, Galt, Gridley, Ione, Lincoln, 
Marysville, Oroville, Red Bluff, Rocklin, Yuba City and Town 
of Paradise.   
 
Program Highlights: 
 

• Includes volunteer workers other than fund solicitors as 
employees 

• Includes specified directors and trustees on committees 
as employees 

• Includes chairperson and members of committees as 
employees 

• Deletes Treasurer/Tax Collector and Bonded 
Employees exclusions 

• Includes specified non-compensated officers as employees 

• Specified City Officials Coverage Endorsement (for 
cities that are required by their city charter to 
individually bond certain employee or officer positions) 

Insuring Agreements Limits of Insurance 
Employee Theft – Per Loss Coverage 
Including Faithful Performance of Duty 

$1,000,000 

Forgery or Alteration including Credit, Debit or 
Charge Card Forgery 

$1,000,000 

Computer Fraud $1,000,000 
Investigative Expenses $50,000 

Limits of Insurance are subject to a $5,000 Deductible  
 

 

 1,296  

 1,618  

 1,595  

 2,032  

 1,665  

 1,607  
 1,559  

 1,398  
 1,534   1,616  $12.27 

$8.18 

$8.82 
$6.92 

$9.72 

$12.46 
$13.28 

$16.97 

$15.58 
$15.23 

$0.00
$2.00
$4.00
$6.00
$8.00
$10.00
$12.00
$14.00
$16.00
$18.00

 -

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

# 
of

 E
m

pl
oy

ee
s 

# of EE Rate

65



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

19 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Other Programs 
 

Employee Assistance Program (EAP) 
 
Eighteen NCCSIF members participate in the group purchase 
of an Employee Assistance Program. An Employee Assistance 
Program (EAP) is a worksite-based program designed to assist 
City employees in identifying and resolving personal concerns, 
including, but not limited to, health, marital, family, financial, 
alcohol, drug, legal, emotional, stress, or other personal issues 
that may affect job performance. 
 
NCCSIF’s current EAP carrier, ACI, has provided services for 
NCCSIF’s participating cities since 2002. ACI Specialty 
Benefits offers EAP, Work life and Wellness models. The 
program NCCSIF participates in features an unlimited EAP 
benefit package which includes consultation, training, (Critical 
Incident Stress Debriefing (CISD) response, childcare, and 
eldercare, legal and financial consultation. ACI’s EAP always 
includes employees and ALL of their family members – 
whether or no they live in the home. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
In 2008 NCCSIF’s Risk Management Committee approved 
free participation for all interested members in ACI’s 
AppleCore Wellness program. Members recently participated 
in Walking Challenges as part of the Wellness Program. 
 
Identity Fraud Protection 
 
New this year is a program to protect Member employees from 
the impact of identity fraud. Identity Fraud Reimbursement 
Coverage and Resolution Services are offered through 
Travelers Insurance Company, with a limit of up to $25,000 to 
reimburse many of the costs and expenses associated with 
identity recovery, including lost wages, attorney fees, and 
document replacement fees. 
 
Employees have access to a fraud specialist who will provide 
unlimited assistance to restore a victim’s identity. They also 
have access to exclusive online educational resources 
providing tips, information and steps to avoid becoming a 
victim of identity theft. 
 
 

66



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

20 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Financial Overview 
 
The following report reflects on the financial condition of Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund (NCCSIF) for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2015. It is provided to highlight the information in the financial audit and should be reviewed in concert with that 
report.  
 

NCCSIF Statements of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets 
 

 
2015 2014 

Percentage 
Change 2014 2013 

Percentage 
Change 

Operating Revenues  $        15,802,553   $         15,798,109  0%  $         15,798,109   $         13,099,676  21% 

       Provisions for Claims             10,879,465                7,773,183  40%               7,773,183              10,464,233  -26% 
Dividends               1,506,568                1,445,334  4%               1,445,334                4,236,073  -66% 
Insurance Premiums               2,654,843                2,735,852  -3%               2,735,852                2,042,806  34% 
Administration               2,089,957                1,950,718  7%               1,950,718                2,056,880  -5% 
     Total Expenses             17,130,833              13,905,087  23%             13,905,087              18,799,992  -26% 

       Non-operating: 
           Investment Income                  644,473                   777,402  -17%                  777,402                   (70,118) 1209% 

       Net Income (Loss)                (683,807)               2,670,424  -126%               2,670,424              (5,770,434) 146% 

       Beginning Net Assets             10,063,932                7,393,508  36%               7,393,508              13,163,942  -44% 
       
Ending Net Assets  $           9,380,125   $         10,063,932  -7%  $         10,063,932   $           7,393,508  36% 

67



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

21 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

 
 

 
Financial Highlights, FYE June 30, 2014 and 2015 

 
• The net loss for the fiscal year ending 2015 was 

$683,807. Expenses during the year included dividends to 
members totaling $1,506,568. Without the dividend to 
members the program would have shown change in net 
position of $822,761. 

• The change in net position for the fiscal year ending 2014 
was $2,670,424. A decrease in prior years’ claims 
liabilities for the workers’ compensation fund totaled 
$2,141,057, due principally to a change in management’s 
estimate of ultimate losses in that program. Expenses 
during the year included dividends to members totaling 
$1,445,334. Without the dividends to members the 
program would have shown an increase in net position of 
$4,115,758. 

• Total operating revenues for fiscal year ending 2015 were 
$15,802,553, net of dividends, an increase of 0.03%, or 
$4,444, as compared to fiscal year 2014. 

• Total operating revenues for fiscal year ending 2014 were 
$15,798,109, net of dividends, an increase of 21%, or 

$2,698,433, as compared to fiscal year 2013. This 
increase is primarily due to the City of Elk Grove joining 
NCCSIF during 2013 and an increase in excess insurance 
premiums. 

• Non-operating revenues increased from ($70,118) in 
2013 to $777,402 in 2004. The increase was related to 
market value adjustments. Non-operating revenues 
decreased by $132,929 in fiscal year 2015, to $644,473. 

• Operating expenses increased in 2015 by $3.2 million 
from the total of $17,130,833 in 2014. This increase 
resulted from increases to the provisions for claims for 
the 2015 fiscal year.  

• Operating expenses, including the provision for claims, 
decreased by 26% in 2014 to $13,905,087. This decrease 
was due to lower dividends and a decrease in claims 
expenses related to a change in management’s method for 
estimating total losses in the workers’ compensation 
program. 

 

 
 

 

68



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

22 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Pool-Wide Financial Analysis 
 

 June 30, 2015 Percent June 30, 2014 Percent June 30, 2013 Percent 
Current Assets $   8,038,589 16% $   10,237,879 28% $   10,237,879 23% 
Noncurrent Assets 42,988,439 84% 33,984,221 72% 34,380,597 78% 
     Total Assets 51,027,028 100% 46,940,001 100% 44,618,476 100% 
       
Current Liabilities 900,740 2% 448,980 1% 1,763,450 4% 
Claim Liabilities 40,746,163 80% 36,427,089 78% 35,461,518 79% 
      Total Liabilities 41,646,903 82% 36,876,069 79% 37,224,968 83% 
       
Net Position 9,380,125 18% 10,063,932 21% 7,393,508 17% 
      Total Liabilities and Net Position 51,027,028 100% 46,940,001 100% 44,618,476 100% 

        
Total Assets by Type at June 30, 2014 and June 30, 2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cash 
5% 

Receivables 
2% 

Investments 
93% 

June 30, 2015 

 

Cash 
7% 

Receivables 
5% 

Prepaid 
Expense  

0% 

Investments 
88% 

June 30, 2014 

69



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

23 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

 

Investment revenues are used to offset program costs wherever 
possible and reduce the required member contributions. The 
overall investments of the pool increased in 2015 from 
$41,302,609 to $47,284,612. NCCSIF invests funds not 
immediately necessary for the payment of claims in order to 
optimize the rate of return.  Funds are invested in a manner that 
will protect principal, allow for cash flow needs and optimize 
returns, in conformity with all federal, state, and local statutes 
governing investment of public funds. The assets needed for 
current operations are maintained by the Local Agency 
Investment Fund (LAIF), administered by the State Treasurer’s 
Office. 

Interest rates have remained low the last three years, for 
example, the average rate of return for funds invested in LAIF 
during the fiscal year 2013 was 0.298%, in 2014 it was 
0.243%, and in 2015 it was 0.316%. However, the effective 
rate of return for the JPA investment portfolio increased to 
1.94% for the short-term fund and 3.86% for the long-term 
fund. The ability of these funds to earn investment income has 
a direct effect on program rates, as this income is used to 
discount future liabilities. When investments fall short of 
projections, additional funding may be required to meet 
actuarial estimates.   
 

 
Components of NCCSIF Portfolio at June 30, 2014 and June 30, 2015 

  

 

Agency 
39% 

US Treasury 
22% 

Cash 
1% 

LAIF 
4% 

Money 
Market 

0% 

Asset Back 
Securities US 

Corporate 
Commercial 

Paper 
10% 

Collateralized 
Mortgage 
Obligation 

24% 

June 30, 2015 

 

Agency, 
37.5% 

US Treasury, 
20.4% 

Cash, 0.4% 
LAIF, 6.6% Money 

Market, 0.9% 

Asset Back 
Securities US 

Corporate 
Commercial 

Paper, 33.4% 

Collateralized 
Mortgage 

Obligation, 
0.7% 

June 30, 2014 

70



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

24 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

Service Providers and Consultants 
PROGRAM ADMINISTRATORS: 

 
Alliant Insurance Services, Inc. 
Michael Simmons, Vice Chair (Peer Review) 
Marcus Beverly, First-Vice President 
Raychelle Maranan, Account Representative 
Joan Crossley, Account Executive 
 

ACCOUNTING SERVICE PROVIDER: 

 
James Marta & Company 
Jim Marta, CPA, ARM 
Alana, Theiss, CPA 
 

THIRD PARTY CLAIMS ADMINISTRATION: 

 
York Risk Services Group, Inc. 
Dori Zumwalt, Account Manager 
Cameron Dewey, Claims Manager - GL 
Ben Burg, Claims Manager - WC 

INVESTMENT CONSULTANTS: 

 
 

Chandler Asset Management, Inc. 
Kay Chandler, CFA, President and CEO 
Martin Cassell, CFA, EVP and Chief Investment Officer 
Scott Prickett, CFA, SVP, Portfolio Strategist 
 

INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL AUDITING SERVICES: 

 
Crowe Horwath LLP 
Matthew Nethaway, Financial Audit 
 

RISK CONTROL AND ACTUARIAL SERVICES: 

   

Bickmore Risk Services 
 Henri Castro, Risk Control Consultant 
 Tom Kline, Risk Control Consultant 
 Jeff Johnston, Director, Risk Control Services 

Mike Harrington, Director, Property & Casualty Actuarial 
Services 

71



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

25 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

 
Please see our website at www.nccsif.org 

 

  

72



 
 
 
 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
A California Joint Powers Authority 

26 

  

2016 Annual Report NCCSIF 
 

Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
A Joint Power Authority 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

        NCCSIF     Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
                                      A Joint Powers Authority
  

 
 
 
 

The Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund (NCCSIF) is an association of 
municipalities joined together in 1979 to protect Member resources by stabilizing risk 
costs in a reliable, economical and beneficial manner while providing members with 
broad coverage and quality services in risk management and claims management. 
 

73



 TOWN OF PARADISE 
 Council Agenda Summary 
 April 12, 2016 

 
 

 AGENDA NO.  2(f)    
ORIGINATED BY: David Hawks, Division Chief    
 
REVIEWED BY: Lauren Gill, Town Manager     
 
SUBJECT:     Sale of 1989 Pierce Dash Fire Engine (E-281) 
___________________________________________________________________  
 

COUNCIL ACTION REQUESTED: Adopt a resolution declaring the 1989 Pierce Dash 
fire engine (E-281) as surplus property and authorizing sale of the vehicle by the Town 
Manager to either 1) the Butte College Fire Academy at a cost of not less than $8,000 
or, 2) sell the 1989 Pierce Dash fire engine (E-281) on the fire apparatus open market.  
 

BACKGROUND:  
 

The Paradise Fire Department has declared the 1989 Pierce Dash fire engine (E-281) 
to be excess to the Department’s needs.  In April of 2013 the Town sold the sister 
engine to E-281 on the open market for $8,200.    
 

DISCUSSION 
 

The Fire Department has been in contact with Butte College and they have verbally 
expressed an interest in purchasing the engine for the Butte College Fire Academy. The 
Department is requesting that the Council authorize Town staff to negotiate the sale of 
the engine to the Butte College Fire Academy at a cost not less than $8,000.  If an 
agreement with the college cannot be reached, the Department requests that the 
Council approve seeking bids relating to the purchase of the engine on the fire 
apparatus open market.  The Department also requests that funds received from the 
sale of the engine be placed in to a fire apparatus replacement fund designated to the 
future purchase of fire apparatus for the Department. 
 

  
 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: Additional funding to the fire apparatus fund for future needs of the 
Fire Department.  

 

74



 
TOWN OF PARADISE 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-__ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF PARADISE DECLARING 

A CERTAIN FIRE VEHICLE TO BE SURPLUS PROPERTY AND AUTHORIZING SALE OF 

THE FIRE ENGINE 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Paradise wishes to dispose of a certain fire department vehicle that 
is no longer functional or necessary to the Town’s operations through public auction, internet 
sale, salvage or other legal method. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise as 
follows: 
 
Section l.  Pursuant to Paradise Municipal Code Section 2.45.130, the Town hereby declares 
the following vehicle as surplus property: 
 

 1989 Pierce Dash Fire Engine (E-281)  VIN: 1P9CT01D7KA040763 
 
Section 2.  Pursuant to Paradise Municipal Code Section 2.45.130, the Town Manager is 
hereby authorized to dispose of the property set forth in Section 1 through sale to Butte 
College for the Fire Academy for not less than $8,000.  If Butte College does not agree to the 
purchase, the Town Manager is authorized to seek bids to sell the fire apparatus on the open 
market.   
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise this 12th day of April, 
2016, by the following votes: 
 
AYES:    
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
NOT VOTING:          
       ___________________________ 
                                                                                              Jody Jones, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
BY: ____________________________ 
Joanna Gutierrez, CMC, Town Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
BY: _____________________________ 
        Dwight L. Moore, Town Attorney 
 
                

75



 

Town of Paradise 
Council Agenda Summary 

Date: April 12, 2016 
Agenda Item: 2(g) 

 
Originated by: 
 
Reviewed by: 
 

Crystal Peters, Human Resources & Risk Manager 
 
Lauren Gill, Town Manager 
 

Subject: 
 

Job Description Update and Position Control Amendment 

 
Council Action Requested: 
 
1. Review and approve amended job description for the Building/Onsite Permit Technician; 

and, 
2. Amend position control and budget appropriation for Building/Onsite Permit Technician 

position as attached to this agenda summary; or,  

Alternatives: 
 
Refer the matter back to staff for further development and consideration. 

Background: 
 
We have two employees performing substantially similar tasks, interacting with the same 
customers, backing each other up during set office hours, yet the current salary schedule has the 
two positions with significant discrepancy in pay, as exemplified in the  A step to A step illustration  
below. 
 

 Building / Onsite permit Technician A Step 13.50 

 Environmental Services Specialist A Step 15.53 
 
We have been aware of this issue and desired to resolve it, but with the most recent resignation 
from the Building / Onsite Permit Technician, it has become evident that we must expedite the 
request for resolution on this item.   
 

Discussion: 
 
Staff proposes increasing the Building/Onsite Permit Technician position to an equivalent salary 
pay plan level as the only other counter staff position, Environmental Services Specialist.  

Fiscal Impact Analysis: 
 
This recommended proposal adds no expense to the general fund. The total cost is minimal, 
estimated full FY16/17 cost would be $216 to the Building Safety and Waste Management Fund 
due to placement on the salary pay plan.    

 
 

76



JOB TITLE:  Building/Onsite Permit Technician 

DEPARTMENT:  Building Safety & Waste Management 

DIVISION:  Building 

REVISION DATE: April 12, 2016 

HOURS:  Full-Time (40 hrs per wk) 

CLASSIFICATION: Non-exempt 

UNIT:   General Employees 

REPORTS TO:  Building Official / Fire Marshal 

   WORKS WITH:  Citizens, Contractors, Town Staff  

SUPERVISES:                   None 

 

 

 

 

BASIC PURPOSE: 

Under supervision of the Building Official / Fire Marshal, performs technical assistance 

concerning the receipt, tracking, and processing of various land use, land development and 

sanitation permit applications, in accordance with the Paradise Municipal Code and town adopted 

development standards; provides information of a general and technical nature to interested 

parties; and performs a wide variety of clerical work. 

 

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES, INCLUDING ESSENTIAL DUTIES: 

Depending upon assignment, duties may include, but are not limited to:  Receive, review and 

track processing of community development and land use applications such as building permits, 

encroachment permits, home occupations, signs, landscape plans, lot mergers, use permits, 

variances, site plan reviews, lot line adjustments, land divisions, zone changes; calculate required 

fees and issue permits; provide information on the permit application process and requirements; 

discuss problems and answer questions with parties involved; maintain a variety of records and 

files on current permit applications; prepare written correspondence; check permit applications 

for required information; confer with builders, contractors, architects, engineers, realtors, land 

surveyors, and the general public concerning Paradise Municipal Code and permit requirements; 

act as liaison between divisions; design development information and permit application forms, 

and perform related duties as assigned. 

 

KNOWLEDGE OF:   

Standard clerical experience, computers, modern office procedures, equipment, related software 

applications; community development regulations, standards, and development permit processing 

procedures; engineering maps and records; methods and techniques of problem resolution and 

public contact; basic organization and services of local government; procedures regarding the 

receiving and recording of cash payments. 

 

ABILITY TO: 

Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing; deal effectively with builders, 

contractors, engineers, etc., and the general public; read and interpret maps and site development 

drawings; learn and apply a variety of land use and land development requirements and municipal 

code provisions; type at a rate of speed sufficient to meet the needs of the position; maintain 

confidential information; and respond tactfully to a variety of questions, inquiries and complaints.  

Employee must understand the purpose and functioning of a community development 

department, and must understand the structure and importance of local policies, ordinances and 

regulations associated with development. 

 

 

77



EXPERIENCE: 
Minimum of two years of public contact experience / customer service, preferably gained while working in 

the capacity of technical or responsible clerical support in building, sanitation and/or land development 

industries. 

 

EDUCATION:    
Graduation from high school or equivalent.  Additional college level courses in map reading, 

building, construction, engineering, business, and/or office management is highly desirable. 

 

LICENSE:  

Valid Class C California Driver's License in conformance with established Town employee 

driving standards.   

 

PHYSICAL DEMANDS: 
Must possess ability to work in a standard office setting and to use standard office equipment, 

including a computer and ability to communicate clearly in person and over the telephone.  The 

following lists physical demands an employee will perform on a regular basis: Standing at 

counter, sitting, viewing a computer monitor, typing/keyboarding, handwriting, reading, 

calculator/10-Key, on the phone. 

 

The following lists physical demands an employee may perform on an occasional basis: lifting; 

average weight: 15 lbs. (large binders), walking, standing, stoop, kneel, crouch or crawl, reach 

with hands and arms. 95% of duties are performed inside with climate control. 

 

This position requires being able to work at close vision (clear vision at 20 inches or less) and to 

adjust focus (ability to adjust the eye to bring an object into sharp focus) for the purpose of data 

entry. 

 

The typical noise level in the work environment of this position is of moderate notice (examples: 

business office with computers, printers and light traffic.) 

78



Hours/

Week

 A 

Step 

 B 

Step 

 C 

Step 

 D 

Step 

 E 

Step 

 F 

Step 

BUILDING / ON-SITE PERMIT TECHNICIAN

HOURLY 40 16.30          17.12          17.98          18.88          19.82          

BIWEEKLY 80 1,304.00    1,369.60    1,438.40    1,510.40    1,585.60    

MONTHLY 173.33 2,825.33    2,967.47    3,116.53    3,272.53    3,435.47    

ANNUAL 2080 33,904.00  35,609.60  37,398.40  39,270.40  41,225.60  

 

TOWN OF PARADISE

FY 2015/16
Position 

Title

79



TOWN OF PARADISE 
Council Agenda Summary 

Date:  April 12, 2016 
Agenda No. 2(h) 

ORIGINATED BY: Craig Baker, Community Development Director 
 
REVIEWED BY: Lauren Gill, Town Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Adoption of Town Ordinance No. 560    
 
 
COUNCIL ACTION REQUESTED:  Adopt a MOTION TO: 
 
 
1. Waive second reading of the entire Town Ordinance No. 560 and approve reading by title 
only (roll call vote); AND 
 
2.  Adopt Town Ordinance No. 560, "An Ordinance of the Town of Paradise Amending Section 
1.09.050 Relating to Administrative Civil Citations " 
 
BACKGROUND: On March 8, 2016, the Town Council introduced the above-noted Town 
ordinance for purposes of eventual adoption. The intent of the proposed ordinance is to 
shorten the warning period for Paradise Municipal Code (PMC) violations related to zoning and 
building codes from 15 to 3 days in order to provide for a more expedient approach to seeking 
abatement on serious, dangerous or time-sensitive PMC violations (cultivation of medical 
marijuana, fire/ life safety, etc.). 
 
DISCUSSION: Town staff recommends that the Town Council waive the second reading of this 
entire ordinance; read it by title only; and formally adopt Town Ordinance No. 560 (copy 
attached). Once adopted, the provisions of this ordinance will be effective thirty days 
thereafter.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: A nominal cost for publication of the ordinance within the local newspaper 
and for codification will be borne by the Town of Paradise. 
 
Attachment 

 

80



1 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE 
ORDINANCE NO.  560 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF PARADISE  
AMENDING SECTION 1.09.050 RELATING TO  

ADMINISTRATIVE CIVIL CITATIONS 
 

The Town Council of the Town of Paradise, State of California, does ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

SECTION 1.       Paradise Municipal Code section 1.09.050 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 

1.09.050 - Procedures of Issuance of Administrative Citations.  

(a)  After a three (3) day written warning for a continuous zoning or building violation, the 
enforcement officer may issue an administrative citation to the violator or property owner for 
any violation of this Code, in the manner prescribed in this Chapter. The administrative citation 
shall be issued on a form prescribed by the Town Manager.  

(b) The enforcement officer shall identify the responsible party. Once the person responsible 
for the violation is identified, the enforcement officer may obtain the signature of that person 
on the administrative citation for the purpose of establishing personal service of the citation. 
The failure to obtain the signature of the responsible party on the administrative citation shall 
in no way affect the validity of the citation and proceedings taken thereunder.  

(c) If the enforcement officer is unable to locate the responsible party, or the responsible party 
refuses or otherwise fails to sign the administrative citation, the administrative citation shall be 
served on the responsible party as follows: 

(1) Personal delivery of the administrative citation without the violator’s signature. 

(2) A copy of the administrative citation shall be mailed to the responsible party by first class 
U.S. mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the responsible party at his or her last known mailing 
address, together with a copy of a declaration of service signed under penalty of perjury by the 
person mailing such documents.  

(3) The declaration of service shall show the date and manner of service by mail and shall recite 
the name and address of the person to whom it is addressed.  

(4) When so mailed as set forth above, the administrative citation shall be deemed received on 
the date it is deposited in the U.S. mail. The failure of any responsible party to receive an 
administrative citation that is mailed in accordance with the provisions of this Chapter shall not 
affect the validity of any proceeding taken under this Chapter.  

 

81



2 

 

       
SECTION 3. This ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after the date of its passage.  
Before the expiration of fifteen (15) days after its passage, this ordinance or a summary thereof 
shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation published and circulated within the Town 
of Paradise along with the names of the members of the Town Council of Paradise voting for and 
against same. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise, County of Butte, State 
of California, on this 12th day of April, 2016, by the following vote: 

 
 

AYES:    

NOES:    

ABSENT:   

ABSTAIN:  

    
          ____________________________ 
                       Jody Jones, Mayor 
 

 
ATTEST:   ATTEST:        APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 
_________________________   _____________________________ 
Joanna Gutierrez, Town Clerk   Dwight L. Moore, Town Attorney 

82



1 
 

 

Town of Paradise 
Council Agenda Summary 

Date: April 12, 2016 
Agenda Item: 6(a) 

 
Originated by: 
 
 Reviewed by: 
 

Colette Curtis, Administrative Analyst 
 
Lauren Gill, Town Manager 

Subject: 
 

Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG) 
Approval of Annual Action Plan and Subrecipient Funding 
Recommendations 
 

 
Council Action Requested: 
 
1. Adopt the 2016-17 Subrecipient funding recommendations regarding grant 

funding for local organizations; and 
2. Adopt the FINAL 2016-2017 Annual Plan as submitted; or  
3. Revise the FINAL 2016-2017 Annual Plan; and 
4. Authorize staff to submit the adopted 2016-2017 Annual Plan to the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development.  

Background: 
 
On February 9, 2016 Council held the second of two public hearings on the 2016-2017 
Annual Action Plan.  The Annual Action Plan has been available for public comment 
during a mandatory 30-day public notice period from February 9 through March 8, 2016. 
The Action Plan was available for viewing and comment at Town Hall, The Family 
Resource Center, the Public Library and the Senior Center, and posted on the Town’s 
website for comment.  Residents were encouraged to participate in the plan’s 
development through the public hearing process or by submitting comments to staff by 
the end of the Council meeting on March 8, 2016.  Today’s meeting is the final approval 
of the Annual Plan.  Staff will submit the plan to the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development for review and approval before the next funding cycle begins July 
1, 2016. 
 
This year the Town has been allocated $172,295, a slight decrease from our allocation 
last year. 
 
Subrecipient Funding: 

In January, non-profit organizations doing business in Paradise were given 30-days to 
submit applications for grant funding to the Town.  Eight applications were submitted 
and scheduled to interview with the subrecipient funding sub-committee.  The funding 
Committee, consisting of Councilmember’s Rawlings and Culleton, along with the 
Administrative Analyst, met with each of the applicants on February 24, 2016.    
 
  

83



2 
 

Although all of the organizations that submitted applications were deserving of the 
funding, the Town’s allotment was much smaller than the requests for funding.  The 
Town will receive $25,844 this program year. The sub-committee’s recommendation to 
Council is depicted in the funding chart below. 
 

Applicant Name 
Requested 

Amount 
Final 

Recommendation Proposed Program 

Butte Baby Steps $1,500 $0 
Provides baby proofing equipment 
for low income residents. 

Boys and Girls Club $5,000 $3,000 

Provide weekly workforce 
readiness program services and 
support.  Help at risk teens 
develop their leadership skills and 
strive for academic achievement 
and a future career path. 

Catalyst $10,000 $8,000 

Provides services to meet the 
needs of domestic violence victims 
and children, provide shelters, 
hotlines, counseling and 
restraining orders. 

Paradise Junior Football $7,250 $0 
Provide scholarships for low 
income youth to participate in 
football /cheerleading programs. 

PRPD $4,000 $3,000 
Provide scholarships for low 
income youth to participate in 
PRPD sports programs. 

Salvation Army $4,000 $2,000 
Provide short-term rental 
assistance for low income 
residents. 

SHOR $2,467 $844 
Provide bus passes and case 
management services for ridge 
homeless. 

Youth 4 Change $10,000 $9,000 
Assistance to low income families 
to pay for emergency needs and 
bills. 

Total Requested $44,217  $25,844.00 
  Funds Available $25,844 

   
 

84



3 
 

In forming its recommendation, the Committee focused on funding organizations that 
served those in need of critical emergency services.  The Committee also voted to 
support organizations that were requesting initial funding to assist them in growing and 
sustaining programs and services for at risk youth.   
 
Annual Plan 2016-17 Proposed Funding Allocation: 
 
This year, the Town will continue to support low and moderate income homeowners 
who need repairs to their home, and low income first-time homebuyers who are seeking 
down-payment assistance to purchase a home.  The reinstated Small Business 
Assistance Program will offer loans to qualifying low income business owners.  The 
town will also be allocating funding for public services through our subrecipient funding 
process and allocate funds for the program’s planning and administrative activities.  
 
2016-2017  Staff Recommended Funding Breakdown: 
 

Program Administration $34,459 

Housing $71,992 

Small Business Assistance  $40,000 

Public Services $25,844 

TOTAL: $172,295 

 
 
Financial Impact: 
 
The impact of this agenda item and subsequent actions related to the CDBG Program is 
positive, as it will result in the award of $172,295 in federal funds. There is no impact to 
the General Fund. 
 
Staff Recommendation:  
 
Adopt the 2016-2017 Subrecipient funding recommendations regarding grant funding 
for local organizations and adopt the 2016-2017 Annual Action Plan. Authorize staff to 
submit the adopted 2016-2017 Annual Plan to the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development. 
 
 
 
 
 

85



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

1 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

 

Executive Summary  

AP-05 Executive Summary - 24 CFR 91.200(c), 91.220(b) 

1. Introduction 

The Town of Paradise, through its Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program, has developed 

a strategy that focuses on cultivating Paradise as a viable community by providing decent housing, a 

suitable living environment, and by expanding economic opportunities, principally for low and moderate 

income persons.   

This year, the Town will continue to support low and moderate income homeowners who need repairs 

to their home, and low income first-time homebuyers who are seeking down payment assistance to 

purchase a home.  Loans for small, low income businesses will be offered tihs year as well. The Town will 

continue funding public services through our subrecipient funding process and allocate funds for the 

program’s planning and administrative activities. 

2. Summarize the objectives and outcomes identified in the Plan   

This could be a restatement of items or a table listed elsewhere in the plan or a reference to 

another location. It may also contain any essential items from the housing and homeless needs 

assessment, the housing market analysis or the strategic plan. 

The objectives for the 2016-17 program year are as follows: 

1.  Housing Assistance - Continue First Time Home Buyer Loans and Owner Occupied Rehabilitation 

Loans 

2.  Code Enforcement - Continue proactive code enforcement activities in deteriorating and deteriorated 

areas 

3.  Business Assistance - Renew program offering low income business owners loans to start or improve 

their business (code corrections, facade improvements, septic etc).   

4.  Public Services - Continue offering grants to non-profit community groups to provide services to the 

community.  Previously funded programs include:  Services for battered women and children, 

emergency overnight shelter to prevent homelessness, work training programs for at risk youth, college 

preparation for at risk youth, sesrvices for low income families, scholarships for low income youth to 

participate in sports. 

86



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

2 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

3. Evaluation of past performance  

This is an evaluation of past performance that helped lead the grantee to choose its goals or 

projects. 

The Town's past experience with CDBG funds has shown a great need in our community for affordable 

housing and services for low income residents.  As a result, the Town continues to provide low income 

first time home buyers with assistance.  The Town also continues to provide help to low income 

homeowners who need assistance with repairs and code corrections.  Our past experience with 

subrecipients has also shown that there is a great need in our community for services for battered 

women, children, the elderly and low income families.  The funding we grant to subrecipients is focused 

on providing for these needs. 

4. Summary of Citizen Participation Process and consultation process  

Summary from citizen participation section of plan. 

A public notice was published in the Paradise Post on December 26, 2015 outlining the noticing 

requirements of the Citizen Participation Plan and Annual Plan.  The public notice announced the two 

public hearings that allowed citizens the opportunity to comment and make suggestions on the 

development of the 2016-2017 Annual Action Plan.  

 1st Public Hearing: Tuesday, January 12, 2016 at 6:00 p.m.  This public hearing was used to 

solicit suggestions and/or comments from the public regarding the 2016-2017 Annual Plan 

funding priorities.  

 2nd Public Hearing: Tuesday, February 9, 2016 at 6:00 p.m., in the Town Hall Council Chambers 

at 5555 Skyway, Paradise, California.  The Draft Consolidated Plan and Draft Annual Action plan 

was available for review by the Council and the public.  This public hearing initiated a 30-day 

public comment period.  

 30-Day Public Comment Period: February 9th-March 8th, 2016.  The Draft Consolidated Plan 

and Annual Action Plan was available for public review at the following locations, Paradise Public 

Library, Senior Center, Family Resource Center, Paradise Chamber of Commerce, Town Hall and 

could be downloaded via the Town’s website. 

 Council Meeting: Tuesday, April 12th, 2016, at 6:00 p.m., in the Town Hall Council Chambers at 

5555 Skyway, Paradise, California.  The Council reviewed the final draft of the 2016-2017 Annual 

Plan.  Council adopted the drafts and approved submission of the documents to HUD. 

5. Summary of public comments 

This could be a brief narrative summary or reference an attached document from the Citizen 

Participation section of the Con Plan. 

87



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

3 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

No public comments were received for the 2016-2017 plan. 

6. Summary of comments or views not accepted and the reasons for not accepting them 

NA 

7. Summary 

The Town posted the public hearing notice in the Paradise Post and made it available on the Town’s 

website.  Community Service organizations were given information about the Annual Plan process and 

were encouraged to discuss these projects with individuals who visit their organizations.  The draft plan 

was made available for review at the above mentioned locations, all of which are accessible to persons 

with disabilities. 

88



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

4 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

PR-05 Lead & Responsible Agencies – 91.200(b) 

1. Agency/entity responsible for preparing/administering the Consolidated Plan 

Describe the agency/entity responsible for preparing the Consolidated Plan and those responsible for administration of each grant 

program and funding source. 

Agency Role Name Department/Agency 

   

CDBG Administrator   Town of Paradise 

Table 1 – Responsible Agencies 

 
Narrative (optional) 

 

Consolidated Plan Public Contact Information 

Colette Curtis 

Administrative Analyst 

5555 Skyway 

Paradise CA 95969 

(530) 872-6291 ext 112 

ccurtis@townofparadise.com 

89



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

5 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

AP-10 Consultation – 91.100, 91.200(b), 91.215(l) 

1. Introduction 

 

Provide a concise summary of the jurisdiction’s activities to enhance coordination between 

public and assisted housing providers and private and governmental health, mental health 

and service agencies (91.215(l)) 

 

Describe coordination with the Continuum of Care and efforts to address the needs of 

homeless persons (particularly chronically homeless individuals and families, families with 

children, veterans, and unaccompanied youth) and persons at risk of homelessness. 

The town’s involvement with the Butte County Continuum of Care (CoC), which compiles an annual 

survey of the homeless population in Paradise, has provided the town with actual data regarding 

homelessness in the Town.  The survey report which was provided to the town only counted the actual 

surveys filled out by homeless persons.  

The Town provides assistance to non-profit organizations, which provide services to the homeless 

population.  Through CDBG funding, the Town assists these organizations to find solutions and 

additional funding that can support this population.  The town is working on a rental assistance program 

to assist individuals who are unable to rent on their own. 

Describe consultation with the Continuum(s) of Care that serves the jurisdiction's area in 

determining how to allocate ESG funds, develop performance standards for and evaluate 

outcomes of projects and activities assisted by ESG funds, and develop funding, policies and 

procedures for the operation and administration of HMIS 

NA 

2. Describe Agencies, groups, organizations and others who participated in the process 

and describe the jurisdiction’s consultations with housing, social service agencies and other 

entities 

90



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

6 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

Table 2 – Agencies, groups, organizations who participated 

1 Agency/Group/Organization Butte County Continuum of Care 

Agency/Group/Organization Type Services-Children 

Services-Elderly Persons 

Services-Persons with 

Disabilities 

Services-Persons with HIV/AIDS 

Services-homeless 

Services-Health 

What section of the Plan was addressed by Consultation? Housing Need Assessment 

Public Housing Needs 

Homeless Needs - Chronically 

homeless 

Homeless Needs - Families with 

children 

Homelessness Needs - Veterans 

Homelessness Needs - 

Unaccompanied youth 

Homelessness Strategy 

Briefly describe how the Agency/Group/Organization was consulted. What are the anticipated 

outcomes of the consultation or areas for improved coordination? 

  

 

Identify any Agency Types not consulted and provide rationale for not consulting 

 

 

91



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

7 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

Other local/regional/state/federal planning efforts considered when preparing the Plan 

Name of Plan Lead Organization How do the goals of your Strategic Plan 
overlap with the goals of each plan? 

Continuum of Care     

Table 3 – Other local / regional / federal planning efforts 

 

Narrative (optional) 

 

92



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

8 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

AP-12 Participation – 91.105, 91.200(c) 

1. Summary of citizen participation process/Efforts made to broaden citizen participation 
Summarize citizen participation process and how it impacted goal-setting 
 

The Town held two public hearings to solicit public comment on goals for the 2016-17 plan.  Town staff also met with community groups to 

discuss the Town's goals and needs of the community. 

 

Citizen Participation Outreach 

Sort Order Mode of Outreach Target of Outreach Summary of  
response/attendance 

Summary of  
comments received 

Summary of comments 
not accepted 
and reasons 

URL (If 
applicable) 

1 Public Meeting 

Non-

targeted/broad 

community 

A public hearing was 

held during a 

formally noticed 

Council Meeting on 

two separate dates.  

Attendance was 

moderate. 

There were no 

public comments 

received. 

NA   

2 Newspaper Ad 

Non-

targeted/broad 

community 

Public Notice 

published in the 

Paradise Post 

Newspaper with 

public participation 

process and dates for 

comments. 

No comments were 

received. 
NA   

Table 4 – Citizen Participation Outreach 

93



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

9 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

94



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

10 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

Expected Resources  

AP-15 Expected Resources – 91.220(c) (1, 2) 

Introduction 

Based on last year's allocation, we expect to receive approximately $175,000.  Approximately $95,000 from the 2015-16 year will be carried over 

to the 2016-17 year,  These funds are budged for Housing Assistance and Code Enforcement.   

Priority Table 

Program Source of 
Funds 

Uses of Funds Expected Amount Available Year 1 Expected 
Amount 
Available 
Reminder 
of ConPlan  

$ 

Narrative Description 
Annual 

Allocation: 
$ 

Program 
Income: $ 

Prior Year 
Resources: 

$ 

Total: 
$ 

CDBG public - 

federal 

Acquisition 

Admin and Planning 

Economic 

Development 

Housing 

Public Improvements 

Public Services 172,295 0 95,000 267,295 0 

   

Other public - 

federal 

Housing 

0 0 0 0 0 

   

Table 5 - Expected Resources – Priority Table 

 
Explain how federal funds will leverage those additional resources (private, state and local funds), including a description of how 

matching requirements will be satisfied 

 

95



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

11 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

If appropriate, describe publically owned land or property located within the jurisdiction that may be used to address the needs 

identified in the plan 

 

Discussion 

 

96



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

12 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

Annual Goals and Objectives 

 

AP-20 Annual Goals and Objectives - 91.420, 91.220(c)(3)&(e) 

Goals Summary Information  

No Goals Found 

Sort Order Goal Name Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Category Geographic 
Area 

Needs 
Addressed 

Funding Goal Outcome Indicator 

1 Public Services 2015 2020 Homeless 

Non-Homeless Special 

Needs 

Non-Housing 

Community 

Development 

    CDBG: $26,250   

2 Code 

Enforcement 

2015 2020 Code Enforcement         

3 Housing 

Assistance 

2015 2020 Affordable Housing     CDBG: $73,750 Homeowner Housing Rehabilitated: 

10 Household Housing Unit 

Direct Financial Assistance to 

Homebuyers: 10 Households Assisted 

Table 6 – Goals Summary 

 

Goal Descriptions 

 

97



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

13 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

1 Goal Name Public Services 

Goal 

Description 

The Town of Paradise will continue to offer grants to community groups to offer public services to the  community.  Examples 

of previously awarded programs inlcude services for victims of domestic violence, emergency overnight shelter to prevent 

homelessness, services for senior citizens, a community garden located at an elementary school, services for low income 

children and families. 

2 Goal Name Code Enforcement 

Goal 

Description 

The Town of Paradise will continue it's Code Enforcement Program in conjunction with the Rehabilitation Program for low 

income homeowners.   

3 Goal Name Housing Assistance 

Goal 

Description 

The Town of Paradise will continue to offer assistance to low income individuals and families through two housing programs: 

 First Time Home Buyer Assistance and Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation.   

Table 7 – Goal Descriptions 

 

Estimate the number of extremely low-income, low-income, and moderate-income families to whom the jurisdiction will provide 

affordable housing as defined by HOME 91.215(b): 

It is estimated we will assist 20 families in the 2016-17 year. 

98



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

14 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

AP-35 Projects – 91.220(d) 

Introduction  

# Project Name 

  
Table 8 – Project Information 

 
Describe the reasons for allocation priorities and any obstacles to addressing underserved 
needs 

99



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

15 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

 

Projects  

AP-38 Projects Summary 

Project Summary Information 

Table 9 – Project  Summary 

100



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

16 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

AP-50 Geographic Distribution – 91.220(f) 

Description of the geographic areas of the entitlement (including areas of low-income and 

minority concentration) where assistance will be directed  

 

Geographic Distribution 

Target Area Percentage of Funds 

Paradise 100 

Table 10 - Geographic Distribution  

 
Rationale for the priorities for allocating investments geographically  

 

Discussion 

 

 

101



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

17 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

Affordable Housing  

AP-55 Affordable Housing – 91.220(g) 

Introduction 

The Town of Paradise worked with local non-profits to complete the first stage of the Paradise 

Community Village housing development.  This development which was completed in 2013 provides 36 

affordable housing rental units.    

Along with the affordable rental housing component, the Paradise Community Village project is a shared 

vision of a developed multi-use educational, recreational and community facility for the Ridge 

communities that meet the individual and collective mission and needs of the project’s partners.  

Agencies involved in the planning and construction of this project include: Boys & Girls Club of the North 

Valley, Ridge Family Resource Center, Town of Paradise, Paradise Recreation and Park District, Paradise 

Unified School District, Paradise Charter Middle School, Paradise Ridge Youth Soccer Club. 

One Year Goals for the Number of Households to be Supported 

Homeless 4 

Non-Homeless 20 

Special-Needs 0 

Total 24 

Table 11 - One Year Goals for Affordable Housing by Support Requirement 
 

One Year Goals for the Number of Households Supported Through 

Rental Assistance 0 

The Production of New Units 0 

Rehab of Existing Units 10 

Acquisition of Existing Units 0 

Total 10 

Table 12 - One Year Goals for Affordable Housing by Support Type 

 

Discussion 

 

 

 

102



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

18 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

AP-60 Public Housing – 91.220(h) 

Introduction 

Actions planned during the next year to address the needs to public housing 

Actions to encourage public housing residents to become more involved in management and 

participate in homeownership 

If the PHA is designated as troubled, describe the manner in which financial assistance will be 

provided or other assistance  

Discussion 

 

 

103



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

19 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

AP-65 Homeless and Other Special Needs Activities – 91.220(i) 

Introduction 

Although the Town has approximately 27,000 residents, it is by no means an urban center in the North 

state, and with the lack of efficient public transportation, Paradise has not become a destination for 

homeless individuals such as other communities in our area- as seen in Chico and Oroville.  The lack of 

social services and shelters, coupled with the fact that these services have been available in neighboring 

cities has lessened both the homeless population and urgency to address these needs in Paradise. 

The Butte County Housing Authority is working with the Butte Continuum of Care, which is a 

conglomeration of public agencies and local nonprofits, who work together to hold an annual census of 

homelessness in Butte County.  This survey was completed on January 30, 2013.  The data is a point in 

time survey which makes it very hard to assess the actual homeless count, since it is only a one-day 

juncture and may not capture the whole picture or actual homelessness in Paradise.  These parameters 

of the survey were kept in mind as the Town decided among priority needs in this category. 

Describe the jurisdictions one-year goals and actions for reducing and ending homelessness 

including 

Reaching out to homeless persons (especially unsheltered persons) and assessing their 

individual needs 

2013 Homeless Survey (Completed by Continuum of Care staff and volunteers) 

                       

The 2013 survey data was complied, and the following information, provides us with an overview of 

homelessness in Paradise.  Over 1,553 surveys were given out in Butte County, 89 or 6% were 

completed in Paradise.  The survey results show that 29% of respondents from Paradise were adults, 

38% were adults in families and 29% were children.  The report did state that approximately 10% of 

homeless youth are or have been part of the foster care system.  The high number of homeless youth 

that came out of the survey could be justified because Paradise has a very high number of foster care 

youth and youth in group homes.  HUD does not current define foster youth as ‘chronically homeless.’ 

  

Table – 9 Homeless Demographics 

                             Source: Butte County Homeless Continuum of Care, 2013 

  

104



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

20 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

The report cited that 9 or 18% of the homeless individuals in Paradise fell under HUD’s definition of 

‘chronically homeless.”   19% of the respondents in Paradise stated that employment/financial reasons 

were the common reason why they were currently homeless and 25% stated that family problems were 

the reason why they were homeless (Butte County Homeless Continuum of Care, 2013). 

  

The racial breakdown for homelessness in Paradise shows that 67% of the homeless population is white, 

31% are multi-racial, 1% unknown, and no respondents were Black/African American, Native 

Hawaiian/other Pacific Islander, American Indian/Alaskan Native, or Asian.  After reviewing this data, it 

is determined that there is not a high incidence of minority individuals who are homeless in Paradise 

(Butte County Homeless Continuum of Care, 2013). 

Addressing the emergency shelter and transitional housing needs of homeless persons 

The Town will continue to work with local non-profits and the homeless shelter in Chico (Torres Shelter) 

to make sure that the chronically homeless population in Paradise will be able to seek out services from 

these agencies and to also make sure that agencies are able to service this population.   The Torres 

shelter accepts individuals from around the area, and Paradise homeless individuals are encouraged to 

seek shelter there if needed.  Sojourner House on the Ridge (SHOR) operates a nomadic shelter in 

Paradise with churches providing rotating shelter for homeless in the winter.  There is no central 

location other than an intake center, and individuals are then transported to the rotating shelter for the 

night.  There are non-profits in town that provide hot meals to residents of Paradise and they also help 

with emergency shelters if needed.  

Helping homeless persons (especially chronically homeless individuals and families, families 

with children, veterans and their families, and unaccompanied youth) make the transition to 

permanent housing and independent living, including shortening the period of time that 

individuals and families experience homelessness, facilitating access for homeless individuals 

and families to affordable housing units, and preventing individuals and families who were 

recently homeless from becoming homeless again 

The town currently works with the local Continuum of Care program to prevent chronic homelessness 

within our jurisdiction.  The Family Resource Center also provides services to homeless individuals and 

youth in foster and group homes.  These programs focus on transitioning individuals from homelessness 

to permanent housing and independent living.  The FRC also has partnered with Butte County to provide 

rental apartments for young adults who grew up in foster care and youth homes.  This program provides 

young adults with assistance and guidance to becoming self sufficient and able to find a job, go to school 

and live on their own.   The town will continue funding organizations that provide case management and 

credit counseling services to the homeless population to encourage and teach them how to be 

successful in their jobs and living situation. 

105



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

21 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

Helping low-income individuals and families avoid becoming homeless, especially extremely 

low-income individuals and families and those who are: being discharged from publicly 

funded institutions and systems of care (such as health care facilities, mental health facilities, 

foster care and other youth facilities, and corrections programs and institutions); or, receiving 

assistance from public or private agencies that address housing, health, social services, 

employment, education, or youth needs. 

 

Discussion 

 

One year goals for the number of households to be provided housing through the use of HOPWA for: 

Short-term rent, mortgage, and utility assistance to prevent homelessness of the 
individual or family 

 

Tenant-based rental assistance  

Units provided in housing facilities (transitional or permanent) that are being 
developed, leased, or operated 

 

Units provided in transitional short-term housing facilities developed, leased, or 
operated with HOPWA funds 

 

Total  

 

106



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

22 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

AP-75 Barriers to affordable housing – 91.220(j) 

Introduction 

The Town encourages the development of affordable housing by initiating the following goals.  The goals 

are used as incentives to assist with options of affordable housing construction.  These bonuses and 

incentives are intended to contribute to the economic feasibility of affordable housing in developments 

proposed within the town. 

 Softened the zoning requirements associated with secondary housing units to encourage 

development.  

 The Paradise Zoning Ordinance Chapter 17.44 includes provisions about affordable housing 

incentives and residential density bonuses (Paradise Housing Element, 2014).   

Actions it planned to remove or ameliorate the negative effects of public policies that serve 

as barriers to affordable housing such as land use controls, tax policies affecting land, zoning 

ordinances, building codes, fees and charges, growth limitations, and policies affecting the 

return on residential investment 

The Town of has an adopted Fair Housing Impediments Analysis that provides an overview of the public 

policies which are in place to serve as barriers to affordable housing.  

One of the barriers to affordable housing is the Town of Paradise’s lack of a municipal wastewater 

treatment facility.  Typical septic tanks and leach lines are adequate for single family development but 

this is not a viable alternative for new housing developments which are at higher densities.  Typically, 

affordable housing units are built in clusters and would require a more advanced wastewater treatment 

system, which typically is very expensive and may lead to costs being passed on to the developer or 

whomever is financing the project.   

The Town is currently exploring options for a sewer to service the more developed areas of Town.   

Discussion 

 

107



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

23 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

AP-85 Other Actions – 91.220(k) 

Introduction 

Actions planned to address obstacles to meeting underserved needs 

Actions planned to foster and maintain affordable housing 

Actions planned to reduce lead-based paint hazards 

Actions planned to reduce the number of poverty-level families 

Actions planned to develop institutional structure  

Actions planned to enhance coordination between public and private housing and social 

service agencies 

Discussion 

108



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

24 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

Program Specific Requirements 

AP-90 Program Specific Requirements – 91.220(l)(1,2,4) 

Introduction 

Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG)  
Reference 24 CFR 91.220(l)(1)  

Projects planned with all CDBG funds expected to be available during the year are identified in the 
Projects Table. The following identifies program income that is available for use that is included in 
projects to be carried out.  
 

 
1. The total amount of program income that will have been received before  
the start of the next program year and that has not yet been reprogrammed 

 

2. The amount of proceeds from section 108 loan guarantees that will be  
used during the year to address the priority needs and specific objectives  
identified in the grantee's strategic plan 

 

3. The amount of surplus funds from urban renewal settlements  
4. The amount of any grant funds returned to the line of credit for which the  
planned use has not been included in a prior statement or plan. 

 

5. The amount of income from float-funded activities  
Total Program Income  

 

Other CDBG Requirements  
 
1. The amount of urgent need activities  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Discussion 

109



 Annual Action Plan 
2016 

25 

OMB Control No: 2506-0117 (exp. 07/31/2015) 

 

110



 

 

 

1 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE 
Council Agenda Summary 

Date: April 12, 2016 
 

Agenda No. 6(b) 
 

ORIGINATED BY:  Marc Mattox, Public Works Director / Town Engineer 
 
REVIEWED BY:  Lauren Gill, Town Manager 
                                                 
SUBJECT:   Paradise Sewer Project Consultant Contract Award 

 
COUNCIL ACTION REQUESTED:  
  

1. Concur with staff’s recommendation of Bennett Engineering Services to perform 
Alternatives Analysis, Feasibility Report and Special District Formation Services for the 
Paradise Sewer Project, and 

2. Approve the attached Professional Services Agreement with Bennett Engineering 
Services and authorize the Town Manager and Town Mayor to execute, and 

3. Authorize the Town Manager to execute additional work orders up to 15% of the contract 
amount. 

 
Background:  
 
The Town of Paradise currently relies upon over 11,000 individual septic systems to treat and 
disperse wastewater generated by residential and commercial land uses. The degree and 
intensity of use for each property in the community is limited to the capacity to safely dispose of 
wastewater on site. 
 
As the Town has grown and evolved, the need for a better means of wastewater collection and 
treatment, especially in the commercial areas, has become more urgent. This is particularly true 
within the Town’s more developed downtown and other commercial areas where septic system 
failures are increasing and available land for replacement leach fields is constrained, or non-
existent.  
 
The lack of a sewer system in the downtown has a twofold impact—both are very important 
local/regional drivers.  The first is an impact on the area’s economy and the second is on the 
environment.    
 
If the economy in Paradise suffers, the regional economy suffers as well.  Regional economic 
hubs, like the City of Chico, depend upon profitable local economies to be successful.  Even in a 
healthy economy, many of the businesses in Paradise cannot afford the high cost of septic 
system repairs or replacement.  There are many limitations imposed on businesses that affect 
their ability to increase their bottom line or create jobs.  The creation of jobs provides regional 
cash flow and the potential for a better quality of life for area residents. 
 
The lack of a viable sewer infrastructure is not only a detriment to the local and regional 
economy, but also poses an environmental threat to ground water-- another precious regional 
resource.  
 
Over the last four decades - even before the Town’s incorporation - the effects of wastewater 
from the Town’s onsite septic systems have been studied as to their impacts on local streams. 
The early reports indicated that when carefully monitored and repaired onsite septic systems 
may represent a permanent solution for residential wastewater needs, but for the Town’s more 

 

111



 

 

 

2 

 

densely populated areas onsite septic systems would because severe limitations and negatively 
affect streams.  Several independent studies and reports have supported these claims and set 
the foundation for current and ongoing wastewater treatment and disposal solutions. 
 
Based on these past reports and updated information, the Paradise Town Council considered 
three primary conceptual options for providing a community wastewater system for the 
downtown area and other commercial corridors within the Town of Paradise.   The main 
purpose was to identify the most preferable wastewater solution and provide direction to staff 
regarding additional research and identification of steps toward the eventual establishment of a 
community wastewater system.   
 
The economic recession and all of its ancillary effects deferred all progress on the proposed 
project.  With economic indicators improving, and the Town’s septic situation continually 
worsening, the Town has no choice but to move ahead with a wastewater solution for a special 
district.  
 
On January 13, 2016, staff issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) utilizing formal consultant 
selection procedures per the California Government Code. The RFP state the scope of work for 
the Alternatives Analysis, Feasibility Report and Special District Formation Services which are 
needed, summarized below: 
 

- Extensive public outreach efforts 
- Formation of a Technical Advisory Committee 
- Alternatives Analysis for the following potential wastewater solution 

o Option A – Localized wastewater treatment plant(s) 
o Option B – Surface water discharge location(s) 
o Option C – Direct Connection to the City of Chico Water Pollution Control 

Plant (WPCP) 
o Option D – Beneficial Reuse/Innovative Technology Solution 
o Option E – No Project 

- Prepare a final feasibility report with extensive details on a preferred alternative, to 
be determined 

- Assist the Town of Paradise in preparing a Special Assessment District 
- Assist the Town of Paradise in securing funding for the environmental, design and 

construction of the preferred alternative 
 
A full listing of the scope of work is included in the proposed Professional Services Agreement 
attached to this staff report. 
 
Analysis:  
 
By 4:00 PM on March 15, 2016, Town staff had received two responses to the RFP. The 
proposers and their sub-consultants are listed below: 
 

1. Bennett Engineering Services 
a. Circlepoint – Public Outreach 
b. Holdrege & Kull – Geotechnical 
c. ICF – Environmental Services 
d. Cascade Economics – Socio-Economic Study 
e. Public Financial Management – District Formation and Financial Planning 
f. Jones Hall – Municipal Finance 

 
2. Provost & Pritchard 

a. NorthStar Engineering  
b. Kearns & West – Public Outreach 

112



 

 

 

3 

 

c. Strategy Driver – Public Outreach 
d. Holdrege & Kull – Geotechnical 
e. Bartle Wells – District Formation and Financial Planning 
f. CSU, Chico GIC – Geographic Information Systems 
g. Carollo – City of Chico WPCP Capacity Analysis 

 
Proposals received included cost estimates in a separate, sealed envelope to allow for a fair 
and objective evaluation of the submittals. A five-member evaluation committee was formed 
with to evaluate the proposals, including the following members: 
 
 Jody Jones, Town of Paradise, Town Mayor 
 Steve Culleton, Town of Paradise, Town Councilmember 
 Lauren Gill, Town of Paradise, Town Manager 
 Marc Mattox, Town of Paradise, Town Engineer 
 Ray Leftwich, City of Lincoln, City Engineer 
 
The Committee received and ranked the proposals according to the criteria provided in the RFP 
and shown in Table 1, below. 
 

Table 1: Criteria Weighting Table 

No. Evaluation Criteria Total 

1 Completeness of Response Pass/Fail 

2 Qualifications & Experience 75 

3 Organization & Approach 75 

4 Project Understanding 75 

4 Scope of Services to be Provided 175 

5 Detailed Schedule of Work 100 

6 Conflict of Interest Statement Pass/Fail 

7 Contract Agreement Pass/Fail 

8 Cost Estimate (Separately Sealed) Pass/Fail 

9 Interviews 100 

TOTAL 600 

 
Committee review of the proposals was performed independently. Average of the five proposal 
rankings are shown in Table 2.  
 

Table 2: Average Proposal Scores 

No. Evaluation Criteria 
Bennett 

Engineering 

Provost & 
Pritchard 

1 Completeness of Response Pass/Fail Pass/Fail 

2 Qualifications & Experience 75 67.5 

3 Organization & Approach 75 55.5 

4 Project Understanding 72 69 

5 Scope of Services to be Provided 157.5 161 

6 Detailed Schedule of Work 88 96 

7 Conflict of Interest Statement Pass/Fail Pass/Fail 

8 Contract Agreement Pass/Fail Pass/Fail 

9 Interviews 97.4 82.6 

TOTAL 564.9 531.6 

113



 

 

 

4 

 

After deliberations, the Evaluation Committee came to a consensus selection of Bennett 
Engineering Services for the proposed scope of work.  
 
Cost proposals were unsealed with the following results: 
 
 Bennett Engineering Services  $299,158 
 Provost & Pritchard Consulting Group $449,620 
 
Evaluation of the cost proposals further justified the Committee’s selection of Bennett 
Engineering Services. Their approach to the project perfectly aligns with the intention and 
objectives of the scope of work. 
 
Following selection, staff negotiated an optional Project Implementation Plan with Bennett 
Engineering Services. This plan will further position the Town to advance whichever alternative 
is selected to the next phase of development. The final negotiated contract amount is $325,050. 
 
Staff recommends Council consider awarding the contract, Attachment A, to Bennett 
Engineering Services to perform the specified Alternatives Analysis, Feasibility Report and 
Special District Formation Services.  
 
Financial Impact:  
 
Funding for this contract will be provided by a Small Community Wastewater Grant from the 
State Water Resources Control Board.  Proposition 1, or the Water Quality, Supply, and 
Infrastructure Improvement Act of 2014 authorized $7.545 billion in general obligation bonds for 
water projects.  The State Water Board administers Prop 1 funds for programs including 
wastewater.  The Town has been awarded a grant of up to $500,000 for the Alternatives 
Analysis, Feasibility Report and Special District Formation services to be provided by our 
selected contractor.  The proposed contract amount is $325,050 and staff recommends 
budgeting a 15% contingency for the contract to address potential changes and scope needs. 
The total contract plus contingency for this project is $373,807. 
 
Since this is 100% grant funded, there will be no direct impact to the General Fund.  Timing of 
reimbursements will be managed closely to minimize impacts to available resources. 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Contract 16-09, Bennett Engineering Services Professional Services Agreement 
 

114



AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES FOR 04-06-2016

PARADISE SEWER PROJECT 

THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into this 13th day of April 2016, by and 

between the TOWN OF PARADISE (herein “Town”), a municipal corporation and Bennett Engineering 

Services (“Consultant”).  The parties hereto agree as follows: 

1.0 SERVICES OF CONSULTANT 

1.1    Scope of Services.  In compliance with all terms and conditions of this Agreement, the 

Consultant shall provide those services specified in the “Scope of Services” attached hereto as Exhibit 

“A” and incorporated herein by this reference.  As a material inducement to the Town entering into this 

Agreement, Consultant represents and warrants that Consultant is a provider of first-class work and 

services and that Consultant is experienced in performing all the professional services set forth in the 

Scope of Services and the environmental review work and services contemplated herein as required by the 

California Environmental Quality Act (Pub Res. Code §21000-21178.1) (“CEQA”). Consultant covenants 

that it shall use its best efforts in performing the work and services required hereunder and that all work 

product will be of good quality, fit for the purpose intended.   

1.2  Consultant’s Proposal.  The Scope of Services shall include Consultant’s proposal 

(“Proposal”) which shall be incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth herein.  In the 

event of any inconsistency between the terms of the Proposal and this Agreement, the terms of this 

Agreement shall govern. 

1.3  Compliance with Law.  All Consultant’s services rendered under this Agreement shall be 

provided in accordance with all ordinances, resolutions, statutes, rules and regulations of the Town and 

any federal, state, or local governmental agency having jurisdiction in effect at the time service is 

performed. 

1.4    Licenses, Permits, Fees & Assessment.    Consultant and its subconsultants shall obtain at 

their sole cost and expense any licenses, permits, and approvals as may be required by law for the 

performance of the services required by this Agreement.  Consultant and its subconsultants shall have the 

sole obligation to pay for any fees, assessments and taxes, plus applicable penalties and interest, which 

may be imposed by law and arise from or are necessary for their performance of the services required by 

this Agreement. Consultant shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Town against any such fees, 

assessments, taxes, penalties, or interest levied, assessed, or imposed against Town. 

1.5    Familiarity with Work.  By executing this Agreement, Consultant warrants that Consultant 

(a) has thoroughly investigated and considered the Scope of Services, (b) has carefully considered how

the services should be performed, and (c) fully understands the scope of the activities necessary to provide

the services under this Agreement for the proposed Paradise Sewer Project (“Project”).  Consultant

warrants that Consultant will investigate the locations of the proposed Project and is or will be fully

acquainted with the existing conditions of such locations as necessary for the services under this

Agreement. Should Consultant discover any latent or unknown conditions, which will materially affect

the performance of the services under this Agreement, Consultant shall immediately inform the Town of

such fact and shall not proceed, except at Consultant’s risk until written instructions are received from the

Town Engineer and the Town Manager.

Page 1 of 21
115



1.6  Further Responsibilities of Parties.    Both parties agree to use reasonable care and diligence 

to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement. Both parties agree to use their best efforts to 

execute all instruments, prepare all documents, and take all actions as may be reasonably necessary to 

carry out the purposes of this Agreement. Unless hereafter specified, neither party shall be responsible for 

the services of the other. 

1.7  Additional Services.   The Town shall have the right at any time during the Consultant’s 

performance of the services, without invalidating this Agreement, to order extra work or make changes by 

altering, adding to or deducting from Consultant’s services.  No such extra work may be undertaken 

unless a written order is first given by the Public Works Director/Town Engineer and the Town Manager 

to the Consultant, incorporating therein any adjustment in (i) the Contract Sum, and/or (ii) the time to 

perform this Agreement, which said adjustments are subject to the written approval of the Consultant.  

Any change in compensation of the Contract Sum, or in the time to perform, shall be first approved in 

writing by the Town Manager.  It is expressly understood by Consultant that the provisions of this section 

shall not apply to services specifically set forth in the Scope of Services or reasonably contemplated 

therein.  Consultant hereby acknowledges that it accepts the risk that the services to be provided pursuant 

to the Scope of Services may be more costly or time consuming than Consultant anticipates and that 

Consultant shall not be entitled to additional compensation therefor except for additional meetings at 

Town’s request. 

2.0  COMPENSATION. 

2.1  Contract Sum.   For the services rendered pursuant to this Agreement, the Consultant shall 

be compensated in accordance with the “Schedule of Compensation” attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and 

incorporated herein by this reference.  Total compensation of Consultant shall not exceed 

three hundred twenty-five thousand fifty dollars ($325,050.00) (the “Contract Sum”), except as provided 

in Section 1.7. 

Consultant’s compensation and its subconsultants’ compensation shall not exceed the amounts set forth in 

Exhibit “B” for each task.  Consultant shall submit a monthly status report and billing to Public Works 

Director/Town Engineer. 

3.0 PERFORMANCE SCHEDULE 

3.1 Time of Essence.    Time is of the essence in the performance of this Agreement. 

3.2 Schedule of Performance.   Consultant shall commence the services pursuant to this 

Agreement upon receipt of a written notice to proceed from the Town and shall perform all services 

within the time period(s) established in the “Schedule of Performance” attached hereto as Exhibit “C” and 

incorporated herein by this reference. 

3.3    Force Majeure.   The time period(s) specified in the Schedule of Performance for 

performance of the services rendered pursuant to this Agreement shall be extended as a result of any 

delays due to unforeseeable causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the 

Consultant, including, but not restricted to, acts of God or nature or of the public enemy, fires, 

earthquakes, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, riots, wars, litigation, and/or acts of any 

governmental agency, including Town only if Consultant shall within ten (10) days of the commencement 

of such delay notify Town in writing of the causes of the delay.  Town shall ascertain the facts and the 

extent of delay, and extend the time for performing the services for the period of the enforced delay when 

and if in the reasonable judgment of Town such delay is justified.  Town’s determination shall be final 

Page 2 of 21
116



and conclusive upon the parties to this Agreement. In no event shall Consultant be entitled to recover 

damages against Town for any delay in the performance of this Agreement, however caused, Consultant’s 

sole remedy being extension of the Agreement pursuant to this Section 3.3. 

3.4 Term.   Unless earlier terminated in accordance with Section 7.6 of this Agreement, this 

Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until completion of the services, but in no event 

exceeding two (2) years from the date of this Agreement. 

4.0 COORDINATION OF WORK 

4.1 Representative of Consultant. Only the persons or entities designated in Exhibit “A” 

shall perform the services described with their names. The foregoing persons or entities shall not be 

replaced by Consultant without the prior written approval of Town. 

4.2 Contract Officers. The Contract Officers shall be the Public Works Director/Town 

Engineer and the Town Manager.  It shall be Consultant’s responsibility to assure that the Contract 

Officers are kept informed of the progress of the performance of the services, and Consultant shall refer 

any decisions which must be made by Town to the Contract Officers. 

4.3 Prohibition Against Subcontracting or Assignment. The experience, knowledge, 

capability, and reputation of Consultant, its principals, and employees and subconsultants were a 

substantial inducement for Town to enter into this Agreement.  Therefore, Consultant shall not contract 

with any other person or entity, other than those shown in Exhibit “A”, to perform in whole or in part the 

services required under this Agreement without the prior written approval of Town.  In addition, neither 

this Agreement nor any interest herein may be transferred, assigned, conveyed, hypothecated, or 

encumbered voluntarily or by operation of law, whether for the benefit of creditors or otherwise, without 

the prior written approval of Town. Transfers restricted hereunder shall include the transfer to any person 

or group of persons acting in concert of more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the present ownership 

and/or control of Consultant, taking all transfers into account on a cumulative basis.  In the event of any 

such unapproved transfer, including any bankruptcy proceeding, this Agreement shall, at Town’s sole 

election, be void.  No approved transfer shall release Consultant of any liability hereunder without the 

prior written approval of Town. 

4.4 Independent Consultant. Consultant shall perform all services required herein as an 

independent contractor of Town and shall remain at all times as to Town an independent contractor with 

only such obligations as are consistent with that role.  Consultant shall not at any time or in any manner 

represent that it or any of its agents, employees or subconsultants are agents or employees of Town.  

Town shall not in any way or for any purpose become or be deemed to be a partner of Consultant in its 

business or otherwise or a joint venturer or a member of any joint enterprise with Consultant. 

5.0 INSURANCE, INDEMNIFICATION AND BONDS 

5.1 Insurance.   In accordance with Exhibit “D” Insurance Requirements, Consultant shall 

procure and maintain insurance, at its sole cost and expense, in a form and content satisfactory to Town, 

during the entire term of this Agreement. 

5.2 Indemnification.   Consultant agrees to indemnify Town, its officers, volunteers, agents, 

and employees against, and shall hold them and each of them harmless from any and all actions, suits, 

claims, damages to persons or property, losses, costs, penalties, obligations, errors, omissions, or 

liabilities (herein “claims or liabilities”) that may be asserted or claimed by any person, firm, or entity 

Page 3 of 21
117



arising out of or in connection with the  negligent performance of the work, services, operations, or 

activities of Consultant, its agents, employees, subconsultants, or invitees relating to this Agreement, or 

arising from the misconduct, negligent acts or omissions of Consultant hereunder, or arising from 

Consultant’s negligent performance of or failure to perform any term, provision, covenant, or condition of 

this Agreement, whether or not there is concurrent passive negligence of Town, its officers, agents or 

employees, who are directly responsible to Town and in connection with such indemnification: 

(a) Consultant shall defend any legal action or actions filed in connection with any of such 
claims or liabilities and shall pay all costs and expenses, including legal costs and attorneys’ fees incurred 

in connection with such defense. 

(b) Consultant shall promptly pay any court judgment against Town, its officers, agents, or 
employees for any such claims or liabilities arising out of or in connection with the negligent performance 

of or failure to perform such work, operations, or activities of Consultant hereunder; and Consultant 

agrees to save and hold Town, its officers, agents, and employees harmless therefrom. 

(c) In the event Town, its officers, agents, or employees are made a party to any action 

or proceeding filed or prosecuted against Consultant for such damages or other claims arising out of or 

in connection with the negligent performance of or failure to perform the work operation, or activities 

of Consultant hereunder, Consultant agrees to pay to Town, its officers, agents or employees any and 

all costs and expenses incurred by Town, its officers or employees in such action or proceeding. 

(d) Although Town has a duty to the public to independently review any consultant prepared 
negative declaration or environmental impact report (EIR), that duty to the public, or the breach thereof, 

shall not relieve Consultant of  the duties under this section nor of the warranties set forth in Section 1.1. 

5.3 Sufficiency of Insurer. Insurance required by this Agreement shall be satisfactory 

only if issued by companies qualified to do business in California, rated “A” or better in the most recent 

edition of Best Rating Guide, the Key Rating Guide or in the Federal Register and only if they are of a 

financial category Class VII or better. 

6.0 RECORDS AND REPORTS 

6.1 Reports.   Consultant shall prepare and submit to the Contract Officers a monthly report 

concerning the performance of the services required by this Agreement or more often if the Contract 

Officers deem it necessary.  Consultant acknowledges that the Town is greatly concerned about the cost 

of work and services to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  For this reason, Consultant agrees that 

if Consultant becomes aware of any facts, circumstances, techniques, or events that may or will materially 

increase or decrease the cost of the work or services under this Agreement, Consultant shall promptly 

notify the Contract Officers in writing of such fact, circumstance, technique or event. 

6.2 Records.     Consultant shall keep, and require subconsultants to keep, such books and 

records as shall be necessary to perform the services required by this Agreement and enable the Contract 

Officers to evaluate the performance of such services. The Contract Officers shall have full and free 

access to such books and records at all times during normal business hours of Town, including the right to 

inspect, copy, audit, and make records and transcripts from such records. Such records shall be 

maintained for a period of three (3) years following completion of the services hereunder, and the Town 

shall have access to such records in the event any audit is required. 

Page 4 of 21
118



 6.3 Ownership of Documents.  All studies, drawings, specifications, reports, records, 

documents and other materials prepared by Consultant, Consultant’s employees, subconsultants, and 

agents in the performance of this Agreement shall be the property of Town and shall be delivered to Town 

upon request of the Consultant Officers or upon the termination of this Agreement, and Consultant shall  

have no claim for further employment or additional compensation as a result of the exercise by Town of 

its full rights of ownership of the documents and materials hereunder.  Any use of such complete 

documents for other projects and/or use of uncompleted documents without specific written authorization 

by the Consultant shall be at Town’s sole risk and without liability to Consultant.  Consultant and 

Consultant’s subconsultants may retain copies of such documents for their own use.  Consultant shall 

have an unrestricted right to use the concepts embodied therein. All subconsultants shall provide for 

assignment to Town of any documents or materials prepared by them, and in the event Consultant fails to 

secure such assignment, Consultant shall indemnify Town for all damages resulting therefrom. 

 

 6.4 Release of Documents.     The studies, drawings, specifications, reports, records, 

documents, and other materials prepared by Consultant in the performance of services under this 

Agreement shall not be released publicly without the prior written approval of the Contract Officers. 

 

7.0 ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT 

 

7.1 California Law.     This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted both as to validity 

and to performance of the parties in accordance with the laws of the State of California.  Legal actions 

concerning any dispute, claim, or matter arising out of or in relation to this Agreement shall be instituted 

in the Superior Court of the County of Butte, State of California, or another appropriate court in such 

county, and Consultant covenants and agrees to submit to the personal jurisdiction of such court in the 

event of such action.  

 

 7.2 Retention of Funds.     Consultant hereby authorizes Town to retain from any amount 

payable to Consultant (whether or not arising out of this Agreement) (i) any amounts the payment of 

which may be in dispute hereunder or which are necessary to compensate Town for any losses, costs, 

liabilities, or damages suffered by Town, and (ii) all amounts for which Town may be liable to third 

parties, by reason of Consultant’s acts or omissions in performing or failing to perform Consultant’s 

obligation under this Agreement.  In the event that any claim is made by third party, the amount or 

validity of which is disputed by Consultant, or any indebtedness shall exist which shall appear to be the 

basis for a claim of lien, Town may withhold from any payment due, without liability for interest because 

of such withholding, an amount sufficient to cover such claim.  The failure of Town to exercise such right 

to retain or to withhold shall not, however, affect the obligations of the Consultant to insure, indemnify, 

and protect Town as elsewhere provided herein. 

 

 7.3 Waiver.     No delay or omission in the exercise of the right or remedy by a non-defaulting 

party on any default shall impair such right or remedy or be construed as a waiver.  Any waiver by either 

party of any default shall be in writing and shall not be a waiver of any other default concerning the same 

and any other provision of this Agreement. 

 

 7.4 Rights and Remedies are Cumulative.     Except with respect to rights and remedies 

expressly declared to be exclusive in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the parties are cumulative 

and the exercise by either party of one or more of such rights and remedies shall not preclude the exercise 

by it, at the same or different times, of any other rights or remedies for the same default or any other 

default by the other party. 

 

Page 5 of 21
119



 7.5 Legal Action.     In addition to any other rights or remedies, either party may take legal 

action, in law or in equity, to cure, correct, or remedy any default, to recover damages for any default, to 

compel specific performance of this Agreement, to obtain declaratory or injunctive relief, or to obtain any 

other remedy consistent with the purposes of this Agreement. 

 

 7.6 Termination Prior to Expiration of Term.     This section shall govern any termination 

of this Agreement except as specifically provided in the following section for termination for cause.  

Town reserves the right to terminate this Agreement at any time, with or without cause, upon thirty (30) 

days written notice to Consultant, except that where termination is due to the fault of the Consultant, the 

period of notice may be such shorter time as may be determined by the Contract Officers.  Upon receipt of 

any notice of termination Consultant shall immediately cease all services hereunder, except such as may 

be specifically approved by the Contract Officers. Consultant shall be entitled to compensation for all 

services rendered prior to receipt of the notice of termination and for any services authorized by the 

Contract Officers thereafter in accordance with the Schedule of Compensation or such as may be 

approved by the Contract Officers, except as provided in Section 7.2. 

 

 7.7 Termination for Default of Consultant.     If termination of this Agreement is due to the 

failure of the Consultant to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement, Town may take over the work and 

perform the same to completion by contract or otherwise, and the Consultant shall be liable to the extent 

that the total cost for completion of the services required hereunder exceeds the compensation herein 

stipulated (provided that the Town shall use reasonable efforts to mitigate such damages), and Town may 

withhold any payments to the Consultant for the purpose of setoff or partial payment of the amounts owed 

Town. 

 

 7.8 Attorneys’ Fees.     If either party to this Agreement is required to initiate or defend or is 

made a party to any action or proceeding in any way connected with this Agreement, the prevailing party 

in such action or proceeding, in addition to any other relief which may be granted, whether legal or 

equitable, shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees. Attorneys’ fees shall include attorneys’ fees on 

any appeal, and in addition a party entitled to attorney’s fees shall be entitled to all other reasonable costs 

for investigating such action, taking depositions and discovery, and all other necessary costs the court 

allows which are incurred in such litigation.  All such fees shall be deemed to have accrued on 

commencement of such action and shall be enforceable whether or not such action is prosecuted to 

judgment. 

 

8.0 TOWN OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES: NON-DISCRIMINATION 

 

8.1 Non-Liability of Town Officers and Employees.   No officer or employee of the Town 

shall be personally liable to the Consultant, or any successor in interest, in the event of any default or 

breach by the Town or for any amount that may become due to the Consultant or to its successor, or for 

breach of any obligation of the terms of this Agreement. 

 

 8.2 Conflict of Interest. No officer or employee of the Town shall have any financial 

interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement nor shall any such officer or employee participate in any 

decision relating to the Agreement which effects his or her financial interest or the financial interest of 

any corporation, partnership or association in which he or she is, directly or indirectly, interested, in 

violation of any state statute or regulation.  The Consultant warrants that it has not paid or given and will 

not pay or give any third party any money or other consideration for obtaining this Agreement. 

 

 

 

Page 6 of 21
120



 

 9.0 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 

 9.1 Notice.      Any notice, demand, request, document, consent, approval, or communication 

either party desires or is required to give to the other party or any other person shall be in writing and 

either served personally or sent by prepaid, first class mail, in the case of Town, to the Public Works 

Director/Town Engineer, Town of Paradise, 5555 Skyway, Paradise, CA 95969, phone number (530) 

872-6291, and in the case of Consultant to Trin Campos, Bennett Engineering Services, 1082 Sunrise 

Avenue, Suite 100, Roseville, CA 95661. Either party shall notify the other party of any change of 

address in writing.  Notice shall be deemed communicated at the time personally delivered or in seventy-

two (72) hours from the time of mailing if mailed as provided in this Section. 

 

 9.2 Interpretation.     The terms of this Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the 

meaning of the language used and shall not be construed for or against either party by reason of the 

authorship of this Agreement or any other rule of construction which might otherwise apply. 

 

 9.3 Integration:  Amendment.   It is understood that there are no oral agreements between the 

parties hereto affecting this Agreement and this Agreement supersedes and cancels any and all previous 

negotiations, arrangements, agreements, and understandings, if any, between the parties, and none shall be 

used to interpret this Agreement. This Agreement may be amended at any time by the mutual consent of 

the parties by an instrument in writing. 

 

 9.4 Severability.    In the event that any one or more of the phrases, sentences, clauses, 

paragraphs, or sections contained in this Agreement shall be declared invalid or unenforceable by a valid 

judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect 

any of the remaining phrases, sentences, clauses, paragraphs or sections of this Agreement which are 

hereby declared as severable and shall be interpreted to carry out the intent of the parties hereunder unless 

the invalid provision is so material that its validity deprives either party of the basic benefit of their 

bargain or renders this Agreement meaningless. 

 

 9.5 Corporate Authority.     The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of the parties 

hereto warrant that (i) such party is duly organized and existing, (ii) they are duly authorized to execute 

and deliver this Agreement on behalf of such party, (iii) by so executing this Agreement, such party is 

formally bound to the provisions of this Agreement, and (iv) the entering into this Agreement does not 

violate any provision of any other Agreement to which such party is bound. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and entered into this Agreement as the date 

first written above. 

 

 CONSULTANT     TOWN OF PARADISE 

         

         

By: ________________________________  By:___________________________ 

                     Lauren M. Gill, Town Manager 

 Title:_______________________________    

 

Address: ____________________________    

    

   ____________________________ 

 

Page 7 of 21
121



  

APPROVED AS TO FORM:   ATTEST: 

 

 

 

 By:________________________________  By:____________________________ 

  Dwight L. Moore, Town Attorney   Joanna Gutierrez, Town Clerk 

         : 

Page 8 of 21
122



EXHIBIT “A” SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9 of 21
123



 

   
N:\Proposals\p16200‐Paradise‐Sewer Feasibility\p16200‐Prelim Scope & Fee\p16200‐ExA‐Scope‐20160406_ver6.docx  Page 1 of 5 

EXHIBIT A:  Scope of Services 
 

To:  AGREEMENT BETWEEN CLIENT AND CONSULTANT 

Client:  Town of Paradise   
Consultant:  Bennett Engineering Services Inc   

Project: 
Paradise Sewer Project – Alternatives Analysis, Feasibility Report, and 
Special District Formation Services    

Date:  April 5, 2016   
 

 
Services to be provided:  
BEN|EN will provide all services to complete Alternatives Analysis, Feasibility Report, and Special 
District Formation Services for the Paradise Sewer Project.  
Key Assumptions: 

1. A Technical Advisory Committee will be formed with Town Staff assistance. 

TASK 1. Project Management / Administration  

Subtask 1.1. Project Development Team and Workplan  

BEN|EN, in coordination with Town Project Manager, will develop the Project Development 
Team (PDT) with representatives from sub‐consultants and appropriate Town staff.  The PDT 
will finalize the scope of work, schedule (MS Project) and budget (Excel) workplan based on 
feedback from the Town Project Manager.  The workplan will identify all work tasks, staffing 
plan, and budget assigned by task.  We will identify and manage the critical path elements 
to keep project delivery on schedule. 

Deliverables:    

 Project workplan – Project scope of work, staffing plan, budget plan, and schedule 

Subtask 1.2. Project Team Coordination Meetings 

BEN|EN’s Project Manager will hold regular project team coordination and status meetings, 
prepare agenda, prepare meeting summary and summarize action items. Meetings will be 
held once a month and team phone conferences as needed.  Assume total of ten (10) 
meetings at the Town office. 

Deliverables:    

 Meeting notices, agendas, minutes, and sign‐in‐sheets. 

Subtask 1.3. Monthly Invoices and Schedule 

A draft invoice will be submitted for Town approval prior to submittal of the first invoice.  
BEN|EN will prepare and submit monthly invoices to the Town.  Invoices will include 
employee rates, expenses per task, and a copy of any sub‐consultant invoices.   

BEN|EN will provide a project schedule and updates, using Microsoft Project, showing the 
activities and milestones outlined in our project scope. The activities will show begin and 
end dates, duration and dependency on other tasks.  The schedule will be refined and 
maintained on a regular basis and as decisions are made throughout the life of the project.  
We will discuss issues that may affect the project design, budget or schedule. 

Deliverables:    

 Monthly Invoices and Microsoft Project Schedule & Updates (Assume 15 months 
duration) 

Subtask 1.4. Quality Control  

Page 10 of 21
124



Exhibit A:  Scope of Services 
Paradise Sewer Project 

 

   
N:\Proposals\p16200‐Paradise‐Sewer Feasibility\p16200‐Prelim Scope & Fee\p16200‐ExA‐Scope‐20160406_ver6.docx  Page 2 of 5 

BEN|EN will provide a quality control reviews and senior technical resources necessary to 
ensure that project deliverables are complete and meet the Town’s requirements.  QC 
reviews will be conducted by experienced senior staff and documented using a review form 
transmittal indicating the reviewer name, date of review, and the resolution of any 
comments.  This task includes providing quality control reviews for all key deliverables, 
including Alternatives Assessment, Draft Report, Final Report, Assessment District 
Formation Memorandum, and Funding Analysis & Options Memorandum.  

Deliverables:   

 Quality Control Reviews and Documentation 

TASK 2. Public Outreach / Technical Advisory Committee (TAC)  

Subtask 2.1. Public Outreach Plan 

Subtask 2.1.a Engagement Survey 

BEN|EN and subconsultants will draft survey questions, Deploy Survey, and Summarize 
results for distribution. 

Subtask 2.1.b Scoping Workshop 

BEN|EN team will prepare agenda and attend a scoping workshop with the TAC. Two 
meetings assumed. 

Subtask 2.1.c District Formation Meetings 

BEN|EN team will prepare agenda and attend a scoping workshop with the TAC. Two 
meetings assumed. 

Subtask 2.1.d Project Factsheets and Presentations 

BEN|EN team will prepare project factsheets documenting options and progress for 
public distribution. (One Factsheet and 6 postcards assumed). BEN|EN team will prepare 
presentations in MS PowerPoint for Town Staff and attend City Council Meetings as 
required. Five presentation updates and council meeting attendance are assumed. 

Subtask 2.1.e Bi‐monthly Town Council Updates 

Attendance and support for five Town Council updates are assumed. 

Deliverables:   

 Engagement Survey Summary, Scoping Workshop Agenda/Notes, Special District 
Formation Agenda/Notes, Project Factsheets (1), Council Meeting Presentations (5) 

 

Subtask 2.2. Technical Advisory Council (TAC) Formation and Meetings 

Subtask 2.2.a Assemble TAC Members 

BEN|EN Team will work with Town Staff to contact and recruit members for the TAC and 
will coordinate meeting scheduling and review materials for comment.  The team will 
also collect and document TAC feedback for the Project. 

Subtask 2.2.b Monthly Committee Meetings 

BEN|EN Team will support the monthly TAC Meetings.  10 meetings are assumed. These 
meetings will be open to the public, but public comment and feedback to the TAC and 
delivery team will only be documented at the informational public meetings and from the 
engagement survey. 

Subtask 2.3. Informational Public Meetings 

BEN|EN Team will coordinate venues and materials for Public Outreach Meetings and will 
document feedback received.  5 public meetings are assumed. 

Page 11 of 21
125



Exhibit A:  Scope of Services 
Paradise Sewer Project 

 

   
N:\Proposals\p16200‐Paradise‐Sewer Feasibility\p16200‐Prelim Scope & Fee\p16200‐ExA‐Scope‐20160406_ver6.docx  Page 3 of 5 

TASK 3. Alternatives Analysis 
An Alternatives Analysis & Feasibility Report (Report) will be prepared and submitted for review. 
A Draft report will be prepared for review by the Town, Butte County, City of Chico and the State 
Regional Water Quality Control Board. 

Subtask 3.1. Draft Alternative Analysis 

BEN|EN will prepare a Draft Alternatives Analysis that will evaluate five options for Sewer 
Service for the Town of Paradise commercial corridors.  Options will include: 

A. Localized Wastewater Treatment Plant with effluent land application 

B. Localized Wastewater Treatment Plant with surface water discharge location 

C. Regional connection to the City of Chico Water Pollution Control Plant 

D. Wastewater Treatment with beneficial reuse 

E. No Project  

TASK 4. Draft Feasibility Report 

Subtask 4.1. Draft Feasibility Report and Options Screening 

BEN|EN with prepare a Draft Report that includes a project introduction, executive 
summary, project planning area description including environmental resources, growth 
and population trends, economic and social factors, project need, flows and loads for 
treatment, waste discharge and treatment requirement.  Project options will also include 
an assessment of greenhouse gas emissions, advantages and disadvantages, and cost 
estimates. 

TASK 5. Final Draft Feasibility Report and Preferred Option  

Subtask 5.1. Final Draft Feasibility Report and Preferred Option 

BEN|EN will prepare the Final Draft Report that includes an Options Analyzed and 
Eliminated sub section.  The Final Draft Report will contain the preferred option system 
layout, treatment process, total project cost estimate including contingencies, operation 
and maintenance costs, debt elements, reserves, capital improvement costs with future 
replacements, Proposition 218 requirements, options for fee collection (fee vs. 
assessment vs. both), discussion of commercial entities to be served, discussion of public 
involvement in the process, discussion of connection fees, discussion of inter‐agency 
service agreements, and an implementation schedule.  The final report will also include 
conclusions and recommendations for moving the preferred project forward. 

TASK 6. Special Assessment District Formation 

Subtask 6.1. Research and provide procedures for a Special Assessment Wastewater District 

BEN|EN will define the district boundary and the wastewater flows and define individual 
owner costs.  The BEN|EN Team will define the legal requirements and funding options 
for special assessment district formation.  The BEN|EN Team will prepare initial 
documents, and notices for stakeholders as well as the engineer’s report or costs for 
formation of the District. 

TASK 7. Funding Analysis and Options 

Subtask 7.1. Research Options for Project Funding 

BEN|EN will evaluate the use of Grant Funds, SRF low‐interest loans, and tax options for 
funding the preferred option with an emphasis on maximizing grants and SRF loans to 

Page 12 of 21
126



Exhibit A:  Scope of Services 
Paradise Sewer Project 

 

   
N:\Proposals\p16200‐Paradise‐Sewer Feasibility\p16200‐Prelim Scope & Fee\p16200‐ExA‐Scope‐20160406_ver6.docx  Page 4 of 5 

the extent possible.  BEN|EN will define the next steps of the project for project 
definition, environmental permitting, and design. 

TASK 8. Project Implementation Plan 
The following tasks will be provided by the BEN|EN to outline the next steps and assist 
the Town of Paradise in moving the project to the next phase of forming the district and 
bringing funding options forward for design, construction, and start‐up of the new sewer 
system. BEN|EN and the Town will re‐evaluate this scope based on the preferred option. 
The work scope, schedule, and budget will be provided for the following subtasks will be 
provided. 

Subtask 8.1. Grant and Loan Funding Application 

BEN|EN will write a scope, schedule, and develop a level of effort and budget for the 
grant and loan funding applications that may be available to help the Town fund the 
preferred project. 

Subtask 8.2. Assessment District Formation 

BEN|EN, in association with Jones‐Hall, will write a scope, schedule, and develop a level 
of effort and budget for an Assessment District Formation. BEN|EN will outline the steps 
required for moving forward with the District formation including the bond sale process. 
Note that the legal fees for the actual bond counsel and sales are based on a percentage 
basis of the total amount of bond value sold and not on a time and material basis.  

Subtask 8.3. Environmental Documentation and Studies 

BEN|EN, in association with ICF, will write a scope, schedule, and budget to develop the 
environmental permit applications (NEPA, CEQA) based on the feasibility report and the 
preferred project option. The scope will also outline the specific other permits that will 
likely be required for the preferred option to move into bid and construction. 

Subtask 8.4. Preliminary and Final Design 

BEN|EN will write a scope, schedule, and budget for design of the preferred option.  The 
scope will include 30% design (to support environmental permitting), 60%, 90%, and bid 
package documents, as well as engineering services during construction.  

Subtask 8.5. ROW definition and appraisal 

This subtask will depend greatly on the nature of the preferred option.  BEN|EN, in 
association with Bender‐Rosenthal, will write a scope, schedule, and budget for the ROW 
acquisition process that will include the preparation of plats and legal descriptions, field 
survey, property valuation, and acquisition on behalf of the Town of Paradise Special 
Sewer District or Joint Powers Authority (as required). 

DELIVERABLES: 

Kick‐off meeting agenda and minutes 

Up to 10 project meeting agendas and minutes 

Project Schedule 

Monthly progress reports 

Five copies and an electronic (PDF) version of the Draft Alternatives Analysis and Feasibility Report 

Five copies and an electronic (PDF) version of the Final Alternatives Analysis and Feasibility Report 

Presentations for up to 5 Town Council Meetings  

Materials and feedback documentation for 5 public information meetings/workshops 

ASSUMPTIONS: 

Page 13 of 21
127



Exhibit A:  Scope of Services 
Paradise Sewer Project 

 

   
N:\Proposals\p16200‐Paradise‐Sewer Feasibility\p16200‐Prelim Scope & Fee\p16200‐ExA‐Scope‐20160406_ver6.docx  Page 5 of 5 

 The Town’s Bond Counsel effort will be paid directly by the Town 

Page 14 of 21
128



EXHIBIT “B” CONSULTANT COMPENSATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15 of 21
129



Cost Estimate

    Qty Cost Qty Cost Qty Cost Qty Cost Qty Cost Qty Cost Qty Cost Qty Cost Qty Cost Qty Cost Contract Contract Contract Contract Contract Contract Contract

 

1.1 ‐ PDT and Workplan  hrs $0 4 hrs $792  hrs $0  hrs $0 6 hrs $972  hrs $0  hrs $0  hrs $0 2 hrs $140 12 hrs $1,904 $100 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,004

1.2 ‐ Project Team Coordination Meetings (10) 20 hrs $4,500 10 hrs $1,980  hrs $0  hrs $0 10 hrs $1,620  hrs $0  hrs $0  hrs $0  hrs $0 40 hrs $8,100 $410 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $8,510

1.3 ‐ Monthly Invoices, Status Reports, and Schedule  hrs $0 15 hrs $2,970  hrs $0  hrs $0 30 hrs $4,860  hrs $0  hrs $0  hrs $0 30 hrs $2,100 75 hrs $9,930 $500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $10,430

1.4 ‐ Quality Control  hrs $0  hrs $0 32 hrs $5,952  hrs $0  hrs $0  hrs $0  hrs $0 4 hrs $552  hrs $0 36 hrs $6,504 $330 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $6,834

Subtotal 20 hrs $4,500 29 hrs $5,742 32 hrs $5,952  hrs $0 46 hrs $7,452  hrs $0  hrs $0 4 hrs $552 32 hrs $2,240 163 hrs $26,438 $1,340 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $27,778

 

2.1 ‐ Public Outreach Plan 2 hrs $450  hrs $0  hrs $0  hrs $0 6 hrs $972  hrs $0  hrs $0  hrs $0  hrs $0 8 hrs $1,422 $70 $0 $73,025 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $74,517

2.2 ‐ TAC (5 Meetings) 10 hrs $2,250 4 hrs $792  hrs $0  hrs $0 15 hrs $2,430 5 hrs $570  hrs $0  hrs $0 5 hrs $350 39 hrs $6,392 $320 $0 $2,300 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $9,012

 2.3 ‐ Informational Public Meetings (5) 6 hrs $1,350 4 hrs $792  hrs $0  hrs $0 15 hrs $2,430 5 hrs $570  hrs $0  hrs $0 5 hrs $350 35 hrs $5,492 $270 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,762

Subtotal 18 hrs $4,050 8 hrs $1,584  hrs $0  hrs $0 36 hrs $5,832 10 hrs $1,140  hrs $0  hrs $0 10 hrs $700 82 hrs $13,306 $660 $0 $75,325 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $89,291

 

3.1 ‐ Draft Alternatives Analysis 10 hrs $2,250  hrs $0 8 hrs $1,488  hrs $0 24 hrs $3,888 60 hrs $6,840 24 hrs $1,536 8 hrs $1,104 2 hrs $140 136 hrs $17,246 $860 $7,475 $0 $0 $0 $37,030 $0 $0 $62,611

Subtotal 10 hrs $2,250  hrs $0 8 hrs $1,488  hrs $0 24 hrs $3,888 60 hrs $6,840 24 hrs $1,536 8 hrs $1,104 2 hrs $140 136 hrs $17,246 $860 $7,475 $0 $0 $0 $37,030 $0 $0 $62,611

 

4.1 ‐ Draft Feasibility Report and Options Screening 12 hrs $2,700  hrs $0 6 hrs $1,116  hrs $0 32 hrs $5,184 80 hrs $9,120  hrs $0  hrs $0 4 hrs $280 134 hrs $18,400 $920 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $10,350 $29,670

Subtotal 12 hrs $2,700  hrs $0 6 hrs $1,116  hrs $0 32 hrs $5,184 80 hrs $9,120  hrs $0  hrs $0 4 hrs $280 134 hrs $18,400 $920 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $10,350 $29,670

 

5.1 ‐ Final Draft Feasibility Report and Preferred Option 8 hrs $1,800  hrs $0 8 hrs $1,488 16 hrs $2,784 40 hrs $6,480 80 hrs $9,120 24 hrs $1,536 32 hrs $4,416 4 hrs $280 212 hrs $27,904 $1,400 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $29,304

Subtotal 8 hrs $1,800  hrs $0 8 hrs $1,488 16 hrs $2,784 40 hrs $6,480 80 hrs $9,120 24 hrs $1,536 32 hrs $4,416 4 hrs $280 212 hrs $27,904 $1,400 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $29,304

 

6.1 ‐ Special Assessment Wastewater District 10 hrs $2,250  hrs $0 6 hrs $1,116  hrs $0 24 hrs $3,888 32 hrs $3,648  hrs $0  hrs $0 2 hrs $140 74 hrs $11,042 $550 $0 $0 $5,750 $0 $0 $0 $0 $17,342

Subtotal 10 hrs $2,250  hrs $0 6 hrs $1,116  hrs $0 24 hrs $3,888 32 hrs $3,648  hrs $0  hrs $0 2 hrs $140 74 hrs $11,042 $550 $0 $0 $5,750 $0 $0 $0 $0 $17,342

 

7.1 ‐ Research Options for Project Funding 4 hrs $900  hrs $0 6 hrs $1,116  hrs $0 32 hrs $5,184 8 hrs $912  hrs $0  hrs $0 2 hrs $140 52 hrs $8,252 $410 $0 $0 $0 $34,500 $0 $0 $0 $43,162

Subtotal 4 hrs $900  hrs $0 6 hrs $1,116  hrs $0 32 hrs $5,184 8 hrs $912  hrs $0  hrs $0 2 hrs $140 52 hrs $8,252 $410 $0 $0 $0 $34,500 $0 $0 $0 $43,162

 

8.1 ‐ Grant and Loan Funding Application 2 hrs $450 2 hrs $396  hrs $0  hrs $0 20 hrs $3,240 4 hrs $456  hrs $0  hrs $0 2 hrs $140 30 hrs $4,682 $230 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $4,912

8.2 ‐ Assessment District Formation 4 hrs $900 2 hrs $396  hrs $0  hrs $0 6 hrs $972 2 hrs $228  hrs $0  hrs $0 2 hrs $140 16 hrs $2,636 $130 $0 $0 $2,300 $1,150 $0 $0 $0 $6,216

8.3 ‐ Environmental Documentation and Studies 1 hrs $225 2 hrs $396 4 hrs $744  hrs $0  hrs $0 4 hrs $456  hrs $0  hrs $0 2 hrs $140 13 hrs $1,961 $100 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,875 $0 $0 $4,936

8.4 ‐ Preliminary and Final Design 1 hrs $225 2 hrs $396 6 hrs $1,116  hrs $0 4 hrs $648 4 hrs $456  hrs $0  hrs $0 2 hrs $140 19 hrs $2,981 $150 $575 $345 $0 $0 $345 $0 $0 $4,396

8.5 ‐ ROW definition and appraisal 4 hrs $900 2 hrs $396  hrs $0  hrs $0  hrs $0 4 hrs $456  hrs $0  hrs $0 2 hrs $140 12 hrs $1,892 $90 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $3,450 $0 $5,432

Subtotal 12 hrs $2,700 10 hrs $1,980 10 hrs $1,860  hrs $0 30 hrs $4,860 18 hrs $2,052  hrs $0  hrs $0 10 hrs $700 90 hrs $14,152 $700 $575 $345 $2,300 $1,150 $3,220 $3,450 $0 $25,892

PROJECT TOTAL               94 hrs $21,150 47 hrs $9,306 76 hrs $14,136 16 hrs $2,784 264 hrs $42,768 288 hrs $32,832 48 hrs $3,072 44 hrs $6,072 66 hrs $4,620 943 hrs $136,740 $6,840 $8,050 $75,670 $8,050 $35,650 $40,250 $3,450 $10,350 $325,050

Task 5 Final Feasability / Reccomendations Report

Task 6 Special Assessment District Formation

CAD Designer III

138 $/hr64 $/hr225 $/hr

Task 7 ‐ Funding Analysis & Options

Task 8 ‐ Project Implementation Plan

186 $/hr

Task 4 Draft Feasability Report

Task 3 Alternatives Analysis

Project

Manager IV

198 $/hr

Task 2 Public Outreach

Task 1 Project Management/Administration

Engineering

Tech II
Engineer III

114 $/hrFee Estimate 174 $/hr 162 $/hr TOTAL
MISC.

EXPENSES

Administrative

70 $/hr

BEN|EN

Subtotal
Geotech ‐ H&K

Public 

Outreach ‐ 

Circlepoint

Environmental 

‐ ICF

Economics ‐ 

Cascade
Finance ‐ PFM

ROW Bender 

Rosenthall

Consultant:  Bennett Engineering Services Inc

Project:  Paradise Sewer Project

Engineer IV

Client:  Town of Paradise

Principal

Engineer

Engineering

Intern
Engineer V

Date:  April 6, 2016

District 

Formation ‐ 

Jones Hall

Additional Fee Information

This fee estimate is valid for 90 days.

This fee estimate contains an abbreviated list of staff classifications and does not restrict BEN|EN to those classifications.  The Standard Rate Schedule with a full list of staff classifications  is available upon request. 

Standard hourly rates do not apply to a demand to perform work during an overtime period.  Work required to be performed during an overtime period (as mandated by California law) will be charged at a 50% premium.

Substantial changes in the required scope of work or schedule may result in the revision of the proposed fees and total contract amount.

Unless expressly provided for within the contract, rates are subject to annual change as of 6/30/16.

N:\Proposals\p16200‐Paradise‐Sewer Feasibility\p16200‐Prelim Scope & Fee\p16200 ‐ Fee 20160406 Page 1 of 1Page 16 of 21
130



EXHIBIT “C” SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE 

Page 17 of 21
131



ID Task Name Duration Start Finish Predecessors

1 NTP 0 days Tue 5/3/16 Tue 5/3/16
2 Draft Alternative Analysis and Feasibility Report 0 days Tue 11/1/16 Tue 11/1/16

3 Final Alternative Analysis and Feasibility Report 0 days Wed 2/15/17 Wed 2/15/17
4 Task 1 - Project Management/Administration 285 days? Tue 5/3/16 Mon 6/5/17
5 Project Development Plan 5 days Tue 5/3/16 Mon 5/9/16 1
6 Coordination Meetings 280 days? Tue 5/10/16 Mon 6/5/17
7 Meeting 1 1 day? Tue 5/10/16 Tue 5/10/16 5
8 Meeting 2 1 day? Wed 6/22/16 Wed 6/22/16 7FS+30 days
9 Meeting 3 1 day? Thu 8/4/16 Thu 8/4/16 8FS+30 days

10 Meeting 4 1 day? Fri 9/16/16 Fri 9/16/16 9FS+30 days
11 Meeting 5 1 day? Mon 10/31/16 Mon 10/31/16 10FS+30 days
12 Meeting 6 1 day? Tue 12/13/16 Tue 12/13/16 11FS+30 days
13 Meeting 7 1 day? Wed 1/25/17 Wed 1/25/17 12FS+30 days
14 Meeting 8 1 day? Thu 3/9/17 Thu 3/9/17 13FS+30 days
15 Meeting 9 1 day? Fri 4/21/17 Fri 4/21/17 14FS+30 days
16 Meeting 10 1 day? Mon 6/5/17 Mon 6/5/17 15FS+30 days
17 Task 2 - Public Outreach 286 days? Mon 5/2/16 Mon 6/5/17
18 Public Engagement Survey 30 days Wed 5/11/16 Tue 6/21/16 7
19 Scoping Workshop 5 days? Wed 6/22/16 Tue 6/28/16
20 Daytime Wrkshp 1 day? Wed 6/22/16 Wed 6/22/16 18
21 Evening Wrkshp 1 day? Tue 6/28/16 Tue 6/28/16 20FS+3 days
22 Information Updates - Mailer 1 day? Wed 7/27/16 Wed 7/27/16 21FS+1 mon
23 Public Information Meeting No. 1 1 day? Thu 8/11/16 Thu 8/11/16 22FS+2 wks
24 Public Information Meeting No. 2 1 day? Fri 10/7/16 Fri 10/7/16 23FS+2 mons
25 District Formation Meetings 5 days? Tue 3/21/17 Mon 3/27/17
26 Daytime Mtg 1 day? Tue 3/21/17 Tue 3/21/17 75,24
27 Evening Mtg 1 day? Mon 3/27/17 Mon 3/27/17 26FS+3 days
28 Technical Advisory Committee 286 days? Mon 5/2/16 Mon 6/5/17
29 TAC formation 15 days Mon 5/2/16 Fri 5/20/16
30 TAC Meetings 271 days? Mon 5/23/16 Mon 6/5/17
31 Meeting 1 1 day? Mon 5/23/16 Mon 5/23/16 29
32 Meeting 2 1 day? Wed 6/22/16 Wed 6/22/16 31FS+21 days
33 Meeting 3 1 day? Thu 8/4/16 Thu 8/4/16 32FS+30 days
34 Meeting 4 1 day? Fri 9/16/16 Fri 9/16/16 33FS+30 days
35 Meeting 5 1 day? Mon 10/31/16 Mon 10/31/16 34FS+30 days
36 Meeting 6 1 day? Tue 12/13/16 Tue 12/13/16 35FS+30 days
37 Meeting 7 1 day? Wed 1/25/17 Wed 1/25/17 36FS+30 days
38 Meeting 8 1 day? Thu 3/9/17 Thu 3/9/17 37FS+30 days
39 Meeting 9 1 day? Fri 4/21/17 Fri 4/21/17 38FS+30 days
40 Meeting 10 1 day? Mon 6/5/17 Mon 6/5/17 39FS+30 days
41 City Council Updates 245 days? Mon 5/23/16 Fri 4/28/17
42 Meeting 1 1 day? Mon 5/23/16 Mon 5/23/16 29
43 Meeting 2 1 day? Tue 8/16/16 Tue 8/16/16 42FS+60 days
44 Meeting 3 1 day? Wed 11/9/16 Wed 11/9/16 43FS+60 days
45 Meeting 4 1 day? Thu 2/2/17 Thu 2/2/17 44FS+60 days
46 Meeting 5 1 day? Fri 4/28/17 Fri 4/28/17 45FS+60 days
47 Task 3 - Alternatives Analysis 100 days? Tue 5/10/16 Mon 9/26/16
48 Draft Alternative Analysis 100 days? Tue 5/10/16 Mon 9/26/16
49 Review Background Material and Reports 15 days Tue 5/10/16 Mon 5/30/16 5
50 Project Objectives and Planning Area 10 days Tue 5/31/16 Mon 6/13/16 49
51 Affirm Flows and Loads 5 days Tue 6/14/16 Mon 6/20/16 50
52 Affirm Discharge and Treatment Requiremnts 15 days? Tue 6/21/16 Mon 7/11/16 51
53 Development of Options 20 days Tue 7/12/16 Mon 8/8/16 52
54 Cost Estimates 15 days Tue 8/9/16 Mon 8/29/16 53
55 Financial Analysis 15 days Tue 8/30/16 Mon 9/19/16 54
56 Screening of Options 5 days Tue 9/20/16 Mon 9/26/16 55
57 Task 4 - Draft Feasibility Report 35 days Tue 9/27/16 Mon 11/14/16 56
58 Report Writing and Assembly 10 days Tue 9/27/16 Mon 10/10/16 56
59 QA/QC 10 days Tue 10/11/16 Mon 10/24/16 58
60 Draft Report 5 days Tue 10/25/16 Mon 10/31/16 59
61 TAC Review and Comment 10 days Tue 11/1/16 Mon 11/14/16 60
62 Task 5 - Final Draft Alternatives Analysis and Feasibilty Report 70 days Tue 11/15/16 Mon 2/20/17
63 Incorporate TAC Comments 5 days Tue 11/15/16 Mon 11/21/16 61
64 Update Recommended Option Design 10 days Tue 11/22/16 Mon 12/5/16 63
65 Update Recommended Option Cost Estimates 5 days Tue 12/6/16 Mon 12/12/16 64
66 Develop Long Term O&M 5 days Tue 12/13/16 Mon 12/19/16 65
67 District Formation Elements 15 days Tue 12/20/16 Mon 1/9/17 66
68 Develop Reserves and Financial Models 15 days Tue 12/20/16 Mon 1/9/17 66
69 Economic Analysis and Benefits 20 days Tue 12/20/16 Mon 1/16/17 66
70 Conclusions and Recommendations 10 days Tue 1/17/17 Mon 1/30/17 69
71 Draft Report 5 days Tue 1/31/17 Mon 2/6/17 70
72 QA/QC 5 days Tue 2/7/17 Mon 2/13/17 71
73 Final Report and Presentation 5 days Tue 2/14/17 Mon 2/20/17 72
74 Task 6 - Special Assessment District Formation 60 days Tue 2/21/17 Mon 5/15/17
75 District Defintion and Requirements 20 days Tue 2/21/17 Mon 3/20/17 73
76 Draft Financial ProForma and Rates 20 days Tue 3/21/17 Mon 4/17/17 75,79
77 Initial Documents 20 days Tue 4/18/17 Mon 5/15/17 76
78 Task 7 - Funding Analysis and Options 80 days Tue 11/15/16 Mon 3/6/17
79 Evaluation of Funding - SRF and Bonds/Mello-Roos 80 days Tue 11/15/16 Mon 3/6/17 61,70FF
80 Task 8 Project Implementation Plan 20 days Tue 5/16/17 Mon 6/12/17
81 Implementation Plan 20 days Tue 5/16/17 Mon 6/12/17 79,77

5/3
11/1

2/15

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul
2017

Task Split Progress Milestone Summary Project Summary External Tasks External Milestone Deadline

Town of Paradise
Sewer Project Alternatives Analysis, Feasibility Report, and Specical District Formation ‐ Schedule

Page 1

Project: p16-200_Town of Paradise_ s
Date: Wed 4/6/16

Page 18 of 21
132



EXHIBIT “D” INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

Page 19 of 21
133



EXHIBIT “D” INSURANCE 

 
Insurance Requirements for Consultant. The Consultant shall obtain and maintain for the duration 

of the contract, insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property, which may 

arise from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Consultant, her agents, 

representatives, or employees.  

Minimum Scope of Insurance 

Coverage shall be at least as broad as: 

1. Insurance Services Office Commercial General Liability coverage (occurrence Form CG 0001) 

2. Insurance Services Office Form Number CA 0001 covering Automobile Liability, Code 1 (any 

auto) 

3. Workers' Compensation insurance as required by the State of California and Employer's Liability 

Insurance for Consultant’s employees, if any 
 

4. Errors and Omissions liability insurance endorsed to include contractual liability 

 
MINIMUM LIMITS OF INSURANCE 

Consultant shall maintain limits no less than: 

(1) General Liability: 

             

$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury, 

personal injury and property damage.  If 

Commercial General Liability Insurance or 

other form with a general aggregate limit is 

used, either the general aggregate limit shall 

apply separately to this project/location or 

the general aggregate limit shall be twice the 

required occurrence limit. 

(2) Automobile Liability: $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and 

property damage  

(3) Employer's Liability: $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury or 

disease. 

(4) Errors and Omission Liability: $1,000,000 per claim & $1,000,000 

aggregate 

 

Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions 

 

Any deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by the Town of Paradise. At 

the option of the Town, either: the insurer shall reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self insured 

retentions as respects the Town, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers; or the Consultant shall 

provide a financial guarantee satisfactory to the Town guaranteeing payment of losses and related 

investigations, claim administration and defense expenses. 

 

The commercial general liability and automobile liability policies are to contain, or be endorsed to 

contain, the following provisions: 

 

The Town, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers are to be covered as insureds as respects: 

liability arising out of work or operations performed by or on behalf of the Consultant; or automobiles 

Page 20 of 21
134



owned, leased, hired or borrowed by the Consultant. 

 

For any claim related to this project Consultant insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects 

the Town, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained 

by the town, its officers, officials, employees or volunteers shall be excess of Consultant’s insurance and 

shall not contribute with it. 

 

Each insurance policy required by this clause shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be 

canceled by either party, except after thirty (30) days’ prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt 

requested, has been given to the Town. 

 

Coverage shall not extend to any indemnity coverage for the active negligence of the additional insured in 

any case where an agreement to indemnify the additional insured would be invalid under Subdivision (b) 

of Section 2782 of the Civil Code. 

 

Acceptability of Insurers 
 

Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A-VII unless 

otherwise acceptable to the Town. 

 

Verification of Coverage 
 

Consultant shall furnish the Town with original certificates and amendatory endorsements effecting 

coverage required by this clause.  The endorsements should be on forms provided by the Town or on 

other than the Town’s forms provided those endorsements conform to Town requirements.  All 

certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by the Town before work commences.  The 

Town reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, including 

endorsements affecting the coverage required by these specifications at any time.  

 

 

 

Page 21 of 21
135



 

Town of Paradise 
Council Agenda Summary 

Date: April 12, 2016 
Agenda Item: 6(c) 

 
Originated by: 
 

Gina S. Will, Finance Director/Town Treasurer 

Reviewed by: Lauren Gill, Town Manager 
 

Subject: 
 

Partial 2016-17 Temporary Transaction and Use Tax (Measure C) 
Budget  

 
Council Action Requested: 
 
Adopt a resolution of the Town Council of the Town of Paradise approving a partial 
budget for the Town of Paradise temporary transaction and use tax (Measure C) funds 
for the 2016-2017 fiscal year ending June 30, 2017; or  

Alternatives: 
 
Refer the matter back to staff for further development and consideration. 

Background: 
 
The 2016-17 Town of Paradise Operating and Capital Budget is currently in the process 
of being developed. Departments are still prioritizing their operating needs for the 
upcoming fiscal year and will work with Town management to develop a complete 
proposed budget for Town Council consideration and adoption by June 30, 2016.  

Discussion: 
 
Town of Paradise roads are deteriorating rapidly and the Town has little in the way of 
funding to address road rehabilitation. In the meantime, the price of road construction 
material has dropped considerably but it is poised to begin increasing in the near future.  
 
The Town expects to receive about $1.1 million dollars from the temporary transaction 
and use tax (Measure C) during 2016-17. The Town can leverage the cost of road 
construction material into 10% - 30% savings to the cost of materials for a major road 
rehabilitation and striping project during 2016-17 if staff can advertise and award a 
contract before June 30, 2016. 
 
Staff proposes and the Measure C Citizen Oversight Committee supports an 
apportionment of $500,000.00 of the Measure C funds in 2016-17 for a one-time road 
rehabilitation project that is further described in a separate agenda summary within the 
agenda package. Staff recommends Town Council approve a partial 2016-17 Measure 
C budget for the $500,000.00 appropriation and transfer so that savings can be realized 
for this project. 
 
 

136



2 
 

A complete Measure C and Town operating and capital budget for 2016-17 will be 
brought forward for Town Council consideration and adoption before June 30, 2016.          
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
The 2016-17 partial Measure C budget will apportion and transfer $500,000.00 for use 
of doing a major road rehabilitation project in 2016-17. 
 

 

137



3 
 

TOWN OF PARADISE 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-___ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF PARADISE, 

CALIFORNIA, APPROVING A PARTIAL BUDGET FOR THE TOWN OF PARADISE 

TEMPORARY TRANSACTION AND USE TAX (MEASURE C) FUNDS FOR THE 2016-

2017 FISCALYEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2017 
 

WHEREAS, the Town Council understands that approximately $1.1 million will be received in 

2016-17 as a result of the temporary transaction and use tax (Measure C); and 
 

WHEREAS, prices of road construction materials are low enough to provide 10% - 30% savings 

major road rehabilitation projects for the Town of Paradise during 2016-17 fiscal year if staff is 

able to advertise and award a contract before June 30, 2016; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to maximize the amount of roadway improvements, it is necessary to 

approve a budget appropriations: and 
 

WHEREAS, a complete budget for the 2016-17 fiscal year will be brought forward for Town 

Council adoption before June 30, 2016. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise as follows: 
 

Section 1. The Town Council hereby approves the following partial budget 

appropriation and operating transfer for the 2016-17 fiscal year: 
 

PARTIAL FISCAL YEAR APPROPRIATIONS AND TRANFERS FOR THE 

TEMPORARY TRANSACTION AND USE TAX (MEASURE C) FUNDS FOR 

FISCALYEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2017. 
 

Fund Description Fiscal Year 

Appropriations 

Operating 

Transfers In 

Operating 

Transfers Out 

1010 Measure C Road 

Rehabilitation Project 

0 0 (500,000) 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise this 12th day 

of April, 2016, by the following vote: 

 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

NOT VOTING: 

     Approved: _______________________ 

       Jody Jones, Mayor 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM: 

 

 

BY: _______________________________ BY:  ________________________________ 

 Joanna Gutierrez, CMC, Town Clerk  Dwight L. Moore, Town Attorney 

 

138



 

 

 

1 

 

 
TOWN OF PARADISE 

Council Agenda Summary 
Date: April 12, 2016 

 
Agenda No. 6(d) 

 
ORIGINATED BY:  Marc Mattox, Public Works Director / Town Engineer 
 
REVIEWED BY:  Lauren Gill, Town Manager 
                                                 
SUBJECT:   Measure C Road Rehabilitation Project 2016 

 
COUNCIL ACTION REQUESTED:  
  

1. Adopt Resolution No. 16-__, A Resolution rejecting bids dated April 5, 2016 and 
approving the revised plans and specifications for the Measure C Road Rehabilitation 
Project 2016 and authorizing re-advertisement for bids on the project.  

 
Background:  
 
On February 25, 2016, during a Paradise Town Council Priority Setting Meeting, Council 
concurred with staff recommendation to proceed preparing a road maintenance project for bid 
which helps maintain and extend the life of the Town’s most critical roadways. The proposed 
project will apply a microsurfacing seal application which involves placing a thin layer composed 
of fine aggregate, asphalt emulsion, additives, water and cement. This microsurfacing will 
extend the life of the road and reduce future maintenance costs. The timing of this road project 
is especially critical for two reasons: (1) the age and deterioration of the Town’s roadway 
network, and (2) the current cost climate for raw oil materials would be advantageous for such a 
project to be executed as soon as possible. 
 
On March 8, 2016, Paradise Town Council approved the plans and specifications for the 
Measure C Road Rehabilitation Project 2016 and authorized advertisement for bids. 
 
Analysis:  
 
On April 5, seven bids were received by the Town Clerk and publicly opened. A list of bids 
received are shown in the table below: 

Bid No. Bidder's Name 
Base Bid 
Amount 

Total Base + 
Additive 

Alternate No. 
1 Amount 

1 Sierra Nevada Construction $630,283.50 $708,007.00 

2 Telfer Pavement Technologies $738,885.60 $853,438.00 

3 Intermountain Slurry Seal $799,918.84 $929,929.00 

4 VSS International $702,000.00 $820,000.00 

5 Pavement Coatings Company $760,953.38 $881,785.00 

6 Graham Contractors $816,609.30 $951,195.80 

7 California Pavement Maintenance Company $771,729.03 $902,384.88 

X Engineer’s Estimate $498,252.72 $631,093.89 

 
 

 

139



 

 

 

2 

 

Bids came in on average 50% higher than estimated. Traffic control costs, striping, and micro-
surfacing costs all exceeded project estimates. As the lowest bid was $130,000 more than 
current funding levels will allow, staff recommends rejecting all bids and re-advertising a 
reduced scope immediately. The original context of allocating $500,000 to the project still 
remains true as material prices will only continue to rise if this critical maintenance is deferred. 
 
Using the average unit prices from each of the seven bids received, staff has scoped the project 
to fit the $500,000 budget. A revised scope listing is shown below, with project areas eliminates 
shown in strikethrough font. 
 
Micro-Surface + New Striping & Recessed Markers 

1. Skyway, Town Limits to Neal 
2. Skyway, Bille to Wagstaff 
3. Clark, Elliott to Bille 
4. Wagstaff, Skyway to Clark 
5. Bille, Skyway to Clark 
6. Elliott, Skyway to Clark 
7. Pentz, Ponderosa to Pearson 
8. Bille, Clark to Pentz 
9. Sawmill, Pearson to Bille 

 
New Recessed Markers 

1. Skyway, Neal to Pearson 
2. Skyway, Elliott to Bille 
3. Pearson, Skyway to Clark 
4. Clark, Pearson to Elliott 

 
Areas which were proposed to receive new recessed markers only will be addressed by Public 
Works staff by installing above ground markers this summer. This will provide over $30,000 in 
project budget cost savings.  

 
Public Works has prepared the revised plans, specifications, and cost estimate for Measure C 
Road Rehabilitation Project 2016. With Council approval of the plans and specifications and 
authorization to advertise for bids, staff proposes the following schedule: 
  
 Advertise for bid: April-May 2016 
 Award Contract: May 10, 2016 
 Construction:  July 2016 
  
The plans and specifications for the project are on file in the Public Works office for review. 
 
Financial Impact:  
 
Funding for the Road Rehabilitation Project 2016 is proposed to come from local Measure C 
funds. The total estimated construction cost is $500,000 and a 10% contingency will be 
budgeted from local transportation/transit. A detailed project accounting description will be made 
available at the time of contract award. 
 
 
 

140



1 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE 
RESOLUTION NO. 16-____ 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
PARADISE REJECTING BIDS DATED APRIL 5, 2016 AND 

APPROVING THE REVISED PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS AND 
ESTIMATES FOR MEASURE C ROAD REHABILITATION PROJECT 
2016 AND AUTHORIZING RE-ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS ON THE 

PROJECT. 
 

 
 WHEREAS,  staff has identified streets that should receive a surface treatment 
utilizing microsurfacing, a unique mixture of asphalt emulsion, cement, water aggregate 
and additives, the Measure C Road Rehabilitation Project 2016 (Project); and 
 
  WHEREAS,  maintenance of the Town’s critical roads in fair condition is 
imperative to reducing future construction costs; and 
 

WHEREAS,  Council concurred with staff recommendation to proceed with 
preparation of the Project at the special February 25, 2016 Town Council meeting. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF PARADISE AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Pursuant to Public Contract code section 20166, the Town rejects 
the bids it received on April 5, 2016 for the Project.  

 
Section 2.  The revised design, plans, specifications and estimates for the 

Measure C Road Rehabilitation Project 2016 described in the Town Council Agenda 
Summary for this Resolution are hereby approved. 
 

Section 3.  The Public Works Department is authorized to re-advertise the 
Measure C Road Rehabilitation Project 2016. 

 
Section 4.  The Measure C Road Rehabilitation Project 2016 is exempt from 

the provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to Title 14 California 
Code of Regulations Section 15301. 
  

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise on this 
12th day of April, 2016, by the following vote: 

 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 
 By:  
 Jody Jones, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 ___________ 

141



2 

 

Joanna Gutierrez, CMC, Town Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 ___________ 
Dwight L. Moore, Town Attorney 

142



 

 

 

1 

 

 
TOWN OF PARADISE 

Council Agenda Summary 
Date: April 12, 2016 

 
Agenda No. 6(e) 

 
ORIGINATED BY:  Marc Mattox, Public Works Director / Town Engineer 
 
REVIEWED BY:  Lauren Gill, Town Manager 
                                                 
SUBJECT:   Measure “C” Pearson Rd Improvements Project 

 
COUNCIL ACTION REQUESTED:  
  

Adopt a resolution rejecting bid dated March 29, 2016 and approving the revised plans 
and specifications for the Measure “C” Pearson Rd Improvements Project and 
authorizing re-advertisement for bids on the Project.  

 
Background:  
 
On April 29, 2013, Caltrans announced Cycle 6 Call-for-Projects for the Highway Safety 
Improvement Program (HSIP). The purpose of this program is to achieve a significant reduction 
in traffic fatalities and serious injuries on all public roads. The HSIP requires a data-driven, 
strategic approach to improving highway safety on all public roads that focuses on 
performance.  
 
The Town identified the Pearson Rd Shoulder Widening Project through a jurisdiction-wide 
collision analysis using the SafeTREC Transportation Injury Mapping System. From the analysis 
it was determined that 24 collisions took place on this section of Pearson Road in a period of 
five years. The amount of collisions that occurred in the five year span demonstrated the project 
to be one of the top safety priorities of the Town of Paradise. 
 
The proposed project includes two countermeasures. The first countermeasure to reducing the 
accidents on Pearson Road is to widen the shoulders on the road, where feasible. Vehicle 
collisions can be prevented by providing space for a vehicle to pull over in case of an 
emergency and placing them out of the travel lane. Vehicles will also have the capability of 
pulling over for emergency vehicles to pass and preventing congestions. A wider shoulder will 
provide space to avoid potential crashes or reduce their severity. 
 
The second countermeasure is to install bicycle lanes on both sides of the road. With the new 
improvements bicyclist’s safety will increase by creating a separate space for bicyclists to travel 
and pull over in case of an emergency.  Motorists will no longer have to travel onto the 
oncoming lane in order to pass bicyclists. More information regarding specific countermeasures 
and requirements can be found by reviewing the Caltrans Local Road Safety Manual.  
 
By July 26, 2013, the Town of Paradise submitted the “Pearson Rd Shoulder Widening Project” 
application.   
 
On November 14, 2013, Caltrans approved the “Pearson Rd Shoulder Widening Project” for 
Federal funding. This project was selected based upon the calculated high Benefit-Cost Ratio 
using actual collision data between 2006 and 2011 and implementation of safety 
countermeasures.  
 

 

143



 

 

 

2 

 

On April 1, 2014, the Federal Highway Administration approved the Town of Paradise to begin 
reimbursable Preliminary Engineering for the Pearson Rd Shoulder Widening Project.  
 
On May 13, 2014, the Town Council for the Town of Paradise approved the Program 
Supplement Agreement No. 014-N to Administering Agency-State Agreement No. 03-5425R for 
Federal-Aid Project HSIPL-5425 (027) to assure receipt of preliminary engineering funds. 
 
On May 12, 2015, the Town Council for the Town of Paradise awarded contract 14-04.PE to 
NorthStar Engineering of Chico, CA to prepare final plans, specifications and estimates for the 
subject project. 
 
Through the FY 2015/2016 budget process, Town Council allocated additional local funds and 
$200,000 in Measure “C” funds to leverage the subject project beyond shoulder widening to 
include a full roadway rehabilitation effort and drainage improvements. 
 
On January 25, 2016, Town Council approved the design, plans and specifications for the 
Measure C Pearson Rd Improvements Project and authorized advertisements for bid. The 
Engineer’s Estimate for the Base Bid was $875,000. The project included two add-alternates for 
a pavement interlayer to extend the roadway life. Alternate 1 included a rubberized chip seal 
and had an estimated total project cost of $1,108,461. Alternate 2 included a Type III micro-
surfacing interlayer and had an estimated total project cost of $974,960. 
 
Analysis:  
 
On March 29, 2016 Town of Paradise received only one bid for the subject project. Knife River 
Construction of Chico, CA provided a bid as shown below: 
 
 Base Bid  $1,402,146.10 
 Add-Alternate 1 + Base Bid $1,686,946.10 
 Add-Alternate 2 + Base Bid $1,591,271.10 
 
After review of the bid received and the funding available, it is staff’s recommendation to reject 
this bid and value engineer the project downward to still meet project objectives at a lower 
construction cost.  
 
Two major factors contributed to the higher than expected bid – 

 
(1) Knife River Construction is the only “local” contractor which has the capabilities 
to produce the specified rubberized hot mix asphalt. Staff was hopeful that out-of-
area contractors would have interest and keep the project competitive, but this did 
not come to fruition.  
 
(2) Several specified construction details in the project proved to be very cost 
prohibitive. For example, custom drainage channels in lieu of standard culverts 
exceeded expectations for cost, driveway conforms with the multiple asphalt lifts 
would be very challenging, and certain traffic control requirements added additional 
costs. 

 
Moving forward, staff immediately began working with NorthStar Engineering to value engineer 
the project. First, the asphalt overlay thickness was reduced from 0.15’ to 0.10’ and modified to 
standard hot mix asphalt from rubberized asphalt. This will substantially reduce project costs 
and increase competition for area contractors. The elimination of rubberized hot mix asphalt will 
require the Town to decline a portion of the recently awarded Cal Recycle Rubberized 
Pavement Grant. This grant provided a $10/ton reimbursement for the use of rubberized hot mix 

144



 

 

 

3 

 

asphalt. The bid price per ton provided by Knife River Construction was $110/ton. Standard hot 
mix asphalt in today’s economic climate is near $80/ton. In addition to the savings in asphalt 
costs, changes in construction details and open competition could yield a project which the 
Town can move forward.  
 
Staff is requesting Council approval of the revised plans and specifications and authorization to 
advertise for bids, staff proposes the following schedule: 
  
 Approve PS&E: April 12, 2016 

Advertise for bid: April 13, 2016 
Open Bids:  May 3, 2016 

 Award Contract: May 10, 2016 
 Construction:  June-July (Pending PID Utility Clearance) 
  
The plans and specifications for the project are on file in the Public Works office for review. If 
approved, staff will advertise for bid immediately following Federal approval of the Construction 
Request for Authorization. 
 
The proposed project will still have an “add-alternate” bid schedule provided for contractors to 
consider. This schedule calls for two varying road rehabilitation methods, described below: 
 

Add Alternate 1: Installation a stress absorbing membrane interlayer (SAMI-R) between 
existing roadway grade and base-scope 0.10’ hot mix asphalt overlay. This alternative 
will perform better at preventing reflective cracking over time to the roadway surface.  

 
Add Alternate 2: Installation of Type III micro-surfacing interlayer between existing 
roadway grade and base-scope 0.10’ hot mix asphalt overlay.  

 
The Town of Paradise received Cal Recycle Grant for the use of rubberized hot mix asphalt 
($44,288) and if Add Alternate 1 is selected, the SAMI-R ($14,756). Being the Town cannot 
afford the rubberized hot mix asphalt overlay, the $44,288 in $10/ton reimbursement will need to 
be declined. The Cal Recycle grant program essentially provides a 10% discount on the use of 
these materials. Add Alternate 1 is expected to have a higher base cost and will need 
consideration of actual bid prices and funding available prior to selection.  
 
Financial Impact:  
 
The total project cost, including estimated final costs for preliminary engineering, estimated 
construction costs using Add-Alternate 1, a 10% construction contingency and a 5% allocation 
for construction inspection is $1,350,000. The project is leveraged by $200,000 in Measure C 
funds, $534,000 in Highway Safety Improvement Program Funds, $14,756 in Cal Recycle grant 
funds, among other local funding sources. A detailed funding breakdown will be provided upon 
contract award. 

 
 
 

145



1 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE 
RESOLUTION NO. 16-____ 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
PARADISE REJECTING BID DATED MARCH 29, 2016 AND 

APPROVING THE REVISED DESIGN, PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS AND 
ESTIMATES FOR MEASURE “C” PEARSON RD IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT AND AUTHORIZING RE-ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS 

RELATING TO THE PROJECT. 
 

 
 WHEREAS,  the Town of Paradise has received a $534,844 award of Highway 
Safety Improvement Program funds; and 
 
  WHEREAS,  the purpose of this program is to achieve a significant reduction in 
traffic fatalities and serious injuries on all public roads; and 
 

WHEREAS,  the 2013 Caltrans grant award to the Town requires specific 
countermeasures to be implemented which address actual historical collision data and 
trends; and 
 

WHEREAS,  the Measure “C” Pearson Rd Improvements Project (Project) is 
consistent in scope with the approved grant award by widening shoulders and installing 
Class II Bicycle Lanes along Pearson Road between Pentz Road and Clark Road; and 
 

WHEREAS,  the Project is further leveraged by local and Measure “C” funds to 
complete extensive road and drainage rehabilitation efforts associated with the Project; 
and 

WHEREAS,  the Town received only one bid for the project on March 29, 2016. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF PARADISE AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Pursuant to Public Contract code section 20166, the Town rejects 
the bid it received on March 29, 2016 for the Project. 

 
Section 2.  The revised design, plans, specifications and estimates for the 

Measure “C” Pearson Rd Improvements Project described in the Town Council Agenda 
Summary for this Resolution are hereby approved. 
 

Section 3.  The Town Public Works Department is authorized to re-advertise 
for bids the Measure “C” Pearson Rd Improvements Project. 
  

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise on this 
12th day of April, 2016, by the following vote: 

 

// 
// 
// 
// 

146



2 

 

AYES: 
 
NOES: 
 
ABSENT: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
 
 
 
 By:  
 Jody Jones, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
  
Joanna Gutierrez, CMC, Town Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
  
Dwight L. Moore, Town Attorney 

147



 

 

 

1 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE 
Council Agenda Summary 

Date: April 12, 2016 
 

Agenda No. 6(f) 
 

ORIGINATED BY:  Marc Mattox, Public Works Director / Town Engineer 
 
REVIEWED BY:  Lauren Gill, Town Manager 
                                                 
SUBJECT:   Skyway at Black Olive Signalization Project Grant Agreements 

 
COUNCIL ACTION REQUESTED:  
 

Adopt a Resolution to: 
 

1. Approve the Program Supplement Agreement No. F016 to Administering Agency-State 
Agreement No. 03-5425F15 for Federal-Aid Project HSIPL-5425 (035) to assure receipt 
of $470,900 in federal funds and authorize the Town Manager to execute. 

2. Approve Administering Agency-State Agreement for Federal-Aid Projects, Agreement 
No. 03-5425F15 and authorize the Town Manager to execute. 

 
Background:  
 
The intersection of Skyway at Black Olive has historically been a difficult intersection to navigate 
for safety reasons. Traffic volume data for the intersection shows that during peak hours, 
motorists actively avoid the intersection for the lack of adequate breaks to make turning 
movements. In early 2015, a signal warrant study was performed and concluded that a traffic 
signal was needed to mitigate multiple safety concerns at the intersection. Between May 2010 
and May 2015, the intersection experienced 21 total collisions, including 8 injury collisions of 
varying degrees of severity. 
 
In April 2015, Caltrans announced Cycle 6 Call-for-Projects for the Highway Safety 
Improvement Program (HSIP). The purpose of this program is to achieve a significant reduction 
in traffic fatalities and serious injuries on all public roads. The HSIP requires a data-driven, 
strategic approach to improving highway safety on all public roads that focuses on performance. 
 
On November 12, 2015 the Approved HSIP Project List was released and included the Town of 
Paradise Skyway at Black Olive Signalization Project. This project was awarded $470,900 
Federal funds to improve safety at the Skyway at Black Olive Drive intersection. The 
countermeasure awarded is the installation of a traffic signal.  
 
Analysis:  
 
On March 9, 2016, the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) approved the Town of Paradise 
to begin reimbursable Preliminary Engineering for the HSIP project. This approval is transmitted 
via Agreement Summaries, also known as E-76’s. Agreement Summaries must be received for 
each project phase before reimbursable work can be performed on the corresponding phase. 
 
To remain eligible for the allocated grant funding, the Town of Paradise is required to adopt a 
resolution identifying the subject projects and an official authorized to execute the approved 
Program Supplement Agreements within sixty days of receipt of the Agreements. Program 
Supplement Agreement F016 is attached to this staff report for approval. 
 

 

148



 

 

 

2 

 

FHWA has also implemented new changes to the Master Agreement which governs all federally 
funded projects. This new Master Agreement, Agreement No. 03-5425F15, is attached to this 
staff report for approval. 
 
Once these agreements are executed, staff proposes moving the project forward by completion 
of the following tasks: 
 

1. Town Environmental Review – California Environmental Quality Act 
2. Caltrans Environmental Review – National Environmental Policy Act  
3. Field Work  
4. 50%, 75% and 100% Plans, Specifications and Estimates 
5. Caltrans & FHWA Authorization to Proceed with Construction 
6. Council Approval of Plans, Specifications and Estimates 
7. Advertise Project 
8. Council Award Construction Contract 
9. Construction 
10. Project Close-Out 

 
Staff anticipates the environmental review phase of the project to proceed quickly, allowing 
design to be complete as soon as early 2017. Construction is expected in summer 2017. 
 
Financial Impact:  
 
The Skyway at Black Olive Signalization project is 100% funded through the Highway Safety 
Improvement Program and all design, construction, and management costs will be reimbursed. 
The total grant amount for the project is $470,900 and can be represented by the project phases 
below: 
 
  Preliminary Engineering  $60,000 
  Construction   $380,900 
  Construction Engineering $30,000 
  TOTAL   $470,900 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Program Supplement Agreement F016 
2. Master Agreement No. 03-5425F15 

149



1 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE 
RESOLUTION NO. 16-____ 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 

PARADISE AUTHORIZING THE TOWN MANAGER OF THE TOWN OF 
PARADISE OR HER DESIGNEE TO SIGN PROGRAM SUPPLEMENT 
AGREEMENT NO F016 TO THE ADMINISTERING AGENCY-STATE 

AGREEMENT FOR FEDERAL AID PROJECTS CORRESPONDING TO 
PROJECT NO. HSIPL 5425 (035). 

 
 
 WHEREAS,  the Town of Paradise has received and will continue to receive 
federal funds for various transportation projects and has entered into an Agency-State 
Agreement for Federal-Aid Projects with the California Department of Transportation; 
and 
 
  WHEREAS,  the State of California through its Department of Transportation 
(Caltrans) administers the Federal Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP) and 
selects projects for funding; and 
 

WHEREAS,  the Skyway at Black Olive Drive Signalization Project currently 
has $470,900 of Federal funds allocated to the Project; and 

 
WHEREAS,  Caltrans provides Program Supplement Agreements in 

accordance with Administering Agency-State Agreement for Federal-Aid Projects, 
Agreement No. 03-5425F15 (Master Agreement), which upon full execution enables the 
Town of Paradise to request and receive Federal funds for certain street projects; and 

 
WHEREAS,  Caltrans requires the Town of Paradise to execute the Program 

Supplement Agreement No. F016 for the Skyway at Black Olive Drive Signalization 
Project, in order to be eligible to receive Federal-Aid for eligible project costs; and 

 
WHEREAS,  these funds will require that they are managed in accordance with 

the Caltrans Local Assistance Procedures Manual; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the Town Council of the Town of Paradise has approved and 

agreed to this Program Supplement Agreement. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF PARADISE AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  That the Town Manager of the Town of Paradise, or her designee, 
is hereby authorized to sign Program Supplement Agreement No. 
F016 on behalf of the Town. 

 
Section 2.  The Town Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this 

resolution. 
   
 
 
 

150



2 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise on this 
12th day of April, 2016, by the following vote: 

 
 
 
AYES: 
 
NOES: 
 
ABSENT: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
 

 By:  
 Jody Jones, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
  
Joanna Gutierrez, CMC, Town Clerk 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
  
Dwight L. Moore, Town Attorney 

151



1 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE 
RESOLUTION NO. 16-_____ 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 

PARADISE AUTHORIZING THE TOWN MANAGER OF THE TOWN OF 
PARADISE OR HER DESIGNEE TO SIGN ADMINISTERING AGENCY-
STATE AGREEMENT FOR FEDERAL AID PROJECTS, AGREEMENT 

NO. 03-5425F15. 
 
 WHEREAS,  the Town of Paradise is eligible to receive Federal and/or State 
funding for certain Transportation Projects, through the State of California, Department 
of Transportation, 
 
  WHEREAS,  Master Agreements need to be executed with the State of 
California, Department of Transportation before such funds could be claimed; and 
 

WHEREAS,  the Town of Paradise desires to enter into an agreement with the 
State of California Department of Transportation, to allow the Town to make use of State 
administered funds for federal aid transportation projects. 

 
WHEREAS,  the Federal Highway Administration and State of California 

Department of Transportation have provided Agreement No. 03-5425F15 to govern new 
Federal-Aid projects, and, 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF PARADISE AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  That the Town Manager of the Town of Paradise, or her designee, 
is hereby authorized to sign Agreement No. 03-5425F15 on behalf 
of the Town. 

 
Section 2.  The Town Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this 

resolution. 
   

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise on this 
12th day of April, 2016, by the following vote: 

 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 

 By:  
 Jody Jones, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:          APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________             ______ __________ 
Joanna Gutierrez, CMC, Town Clerk      Dwight L. Moore, Town Attorney 

152



Attachment 1

153



Attachment 1

154



Attachment 1

155



Attachment 1

156



Attachment 1

157



Attachment 1

158



Attachment 1

159



Attachment 2

160



Attachment 2

161



Attachment 2

162



Attachment 2

163



Attachment 2

164



Attachment 2

165



Attachment 2

166



Attachment 2

167



Attachment 2

168



Attachment 2

169



Attachment 2

170



Attachment 2

171



Attachment 2

172



Attachment 2

173



Attachment 2

174



Attachment 2

175



Attachment 2

176



Attachment 2

177



Attachment 2

178



Attachment 2

179



Attachment 2

180



Attachment 2

181



Attachment 2

182



Attachment 2

183



Attachment 2

184



Attachment 2

185



 

Town of Paradise 
Council Agenda Summary 

Date: April 12, 2016 
Agenda Item: 6(g) 

 
Originated by: 
 

Gina S. Will, Finance Director/Town Treasurer 

Reviewed by: Lauren Gill, Town Manager 
 

Subject: 
 

Report of Development Impact Fees for the Town of Paradise for 
Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2015 

 
Council Action Requested: 
 

1. Adopt A Resolution of the Town Council of the Town of Paradise, California, 
Reporting Unexpended Development Impact Fees in Accordance with 
Government Code Section  66006; or 

Alternatives: 
 

Refer the matter back to staff for further development and clarification 

Background: 

In April 1995 the Town of Paradise adopted a Development Impact Fee Program to 
address the cost of facilities and capital needs generated by residential and commercial 
new development. The purpose was to ensure that new growth paid its own way and 
didn’t burden existing revenue sources. In January 2001 the program and associated fees 
were revised and updated. The program has five basic elements: 

 Fire Facilities, Training and Equipment 

 Law Enforcement Facilities, Training and Equipment 

 Traffic Control Facilities 

 Streets and Thoroughfares 

 Drainage Facilities 

In accordance with Section 66006 of the Government Code, the Town is required to 
prepare an annual report related to development impact fees. This report must contain 
the following information and be made available to the public 15 days prior to review at a 
public meeting: 

1. A brief description of the type of fee in the fund. 
2. The amount of the fee. 
3. The beginning and ending amount of each fund. 
4. The amount of the fees collected and interest earned. 
5. An identification of each public improvement on which fees were expended and 

the percent of the public improvement funded with the fees. 

186



2 
 

 

6. An identification of approximate dates by which the construction of the public 
improvements will commence if the Town determines that sufficient funds have 
been collected to complete the project. 

7. A description of each interfund transfer or loan made from the fund (if any). 
8. The amount of refunds made of fees collected (if any). 

Staff has completed a resolution with attached reports which includes the required 
information for review and adoption. It reports on development impact fees for the fiscal 
years ended June 30, 2015. 

Discussion: 

Staff has completed a resolution with attached addendum which includes the required 
information for review and adoption. It reports on development impact fees for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2015. 

$8,359 was used of the Traffic Control Facilities DIF funds to leverage grant funds and 
upgrade the traffic signals throughout the Town. The signals were equipped with battery 
backups installed and emergency vehicle detection systems. 

$50,000 has been budgeted from the Drainage Facilities DIF funds in the current 2015/16 
fiscal year to improve drainage issues along Pearson as part of the Pearson Road 
Shoulder Widening Project. Construction will begin on this project in early summer. 

Over 30 individual drainage basins exist within the overall Drainage Facilities DIF funds 
so while collectively the fund has accumulated a reasonable balance, balances within 
each basin are not sufficient to properly address all drainage issues and without 
negatively impacting other basins. According to the plan, $7.7 million is needed to 
address all drainage issues. Staff will continue to leverage these funds and address 
drainage issues in conjunction with other road rehabilitation projects.   

$42,000 has been budgeted in 2015/16 to purchase 2 used police vehicles in accordance 
with the Law Enforcement Facilities, Equipment and Training plan.  
 
Conclusion/Fiscal Analysis: 

There is no financial impact to the Town of preparing and presenting these development 
impact fee reports.  
 
 

187



TOWN OF PARADISE 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-___ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF PARADISE, CALIFORNIA, 
REPORTING UNEXPENDED DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEES IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 66006 

WHEREAS, Government Code section 66006 requires the Town to annually disclose to 
the public information concerning development impact fees it has received in connection with 
the approval of development projects; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code Section 66006, the Town made the 
information pertaining to the funds and improvements relating to development impact frees 
available to the public on March 24, 2016 after mailing notice thereof to any interest party who 
has filed a written request with the Town Clerk for such information. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
PARADISE AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Pursuant to Government Code section 66006, the Town Council made 
available to the public all required development impact fees information for fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2015 as stated in the reports attached to this resolution as Exhibit “A”. 

Section 2. On April 12, 2016, after considering the available information and all written 
and oral evidence provided to it, the Council adopted this resolution. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise this 12th day of 
April 2016 by the following vote: 

 AYES: 

 NOES: 

 ABSENT: 

 NOT VOTING: 
        __________________________ 
          Jody Jones, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 
By: _________________________________ 
 Joanna Gutierrez, CMC, Town Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
By: ___________________________________ 
 Dwight L. Moore, Town Attorney 

188



Town of Paradise

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Change in Fund Balances

Streets and Thoroughfares (Fund 2510)

For Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015

 July 1, 2014 - 

June 30, 2015 

Beginning Balance 480,126.96 

Revenues:

Impact Fees Collected: * 27,640.15 

Interest and Other Earnings: 790.88 

Total Revenues: 28,431.03 

Expenditures: 

- 

Total Expenditures: - 

Ending Fund Balance 508,557.99 

* Fees Calculated and Collected According to Resolution No. 01-04

Streets and Thoroughfares Impact Fees are necessary and imposed on new development in order to mitigate 

the impact of increased traffic on the Town's roadways. The originally adopted Management Services Institute 

Development Impact Fee Report indicates that street shoulder widening, street widening, road extension and 

connections will be necessary to keep traffic moving smoothly throughout Town as development continues. In 

January 2001 the schedule of development impact fees projects were updated and revised. 

EXHIBIT A
Reports

page 1 of 5 189



Town of Paradise

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Change in Fund Balances

Traffic Control Facilities (Fund 2520)

For Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015

 July 1, 2014 - 

June 30, 2015 

Beginning Balance 70,149.45 

Revenues:

Impact Fees Collected: * 2,129.36 

Interest and Other Earnings: 112.57 

Total Revenues: 2,241.93 

Expenditures: 

Town Signal Upgrade - Battery Backup and Emergency Vehicle Detection (8,359.19) 

Total Expenditures: (8,359.19) 

Ending Fund Balance 64,032.19 

* Fees Calculated and Collected According to Resolution No. 01-04

The Town's growth will impact the level of congestion on all of the Town's roadways which is the reason Traffic 

Control Facilities Impact Fees are necessary and imposed on new development. The originally adopted 

Management Services Institute Development Impact Fee Report further explains that construction of new 

signals will be needed to avoid congestion in the future. In January 2001 the schedule of development impact 

fees projects were updated and revised. 

EXHIBIT A
Reports

Page 2 of 5
190



Town of Paradise

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Change in Fund Balances

Law Enforcement Facilities, Training and Equipment (Fund 2540)

For Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015

 July 1, 2014 - 

June 30, 2015 

Beginning Balance 41,589.38 

Revenues:

Impact Fees Collected: * 3,810.68 

Interest and Other Earnings: 70.71 

Total Revenues: 3,881.39 

Expenditures: 

- 

Total Expenditures: - 

Ending Fund Balance 45,470.77 

* Fees Calculated and Collected According to Resolution No. 01-04

Law Enforcement Facilities Impact Fees are necessary and imposed on new development because future 

development will impact the Town's Police Department by requiring additional police officers and support staff, 

new equipment and vehicles and additional building space in order to maintain the same level of service. The 

originally adopted Management Services Institute Development Impact Fee Report supports this need. 

Additional equipment and facilities are necessary to accommodate the increased public safety demands of 

development. In January 2001 the schedule of development impact fees projects were updated and revised. 

EXHIBIT A
Reports

Page 3 of 5

191



Town of Paradise

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Change in Fund Balances

Fire Facilities, Training and Equipment (Fund 2550)

For Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015

 July 1, 2014 - 

June 30, 2015 

Beginning Balance 16,128.81 

Revenues:

Impact Fees Collected: * 2,998.12 

Interest and Other Earnings: 29.79 

Total Revenues: 3,027.91 

Expenditures: 

- 

Total Expenditures: - 

Ending Fund Balance 19,156.72 

* Fees Calculated and Collected According to Resolution No. 01-04

Fire Facilities Impact Fees were imposed on new development because new development increases the demand 

on public safety facilities and fire equipment through increased calls for services as shown in the originally 

adopted Management Services Institute Development Impact Fee Report. Additional equipment and facilities 

are necessary to accommodate the increased public safety demands of development. In January 2001 the 

schedule of development impact fees projects were updated and revised.

EXHIBIT A
Reports

Page 4 of 5

192



Town of Paradise

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Change in Fund Balances

Drainage Facilities (Fund 2551)

For Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015

 July 1, 2014 - 

June 30, 2015 

Beginning Balance 646,201.60 

Revenues:

Impact Fees Collected: * 50,073.42 

Interest and Other Earnings: 1,084.49 

Total Revenues: 51,157.91 

Expenditures: 

- 

Total Expenditures: - 

Ending Fund Balance 697,359.51 

* Fees Calculated and Collected According to Resolution No. 01-04

The Construction of flood control and storm drainage facilities is essential to the preservation of private 

property, public streets, curbs and other facilities. Drainage Facilities Impact fees are necessary and imposed on 

new development in order to build such facilities. The originally adopted Management Services Institute 

Development Impact Fee Report indicates that development will require the installation of additional storm 

drain lines and detention basins to handle increased runoff from developing areas. In January 2001 the schedule 

of development impact fees projects were updated and revised.

EXHIBIT A
Reports

Page 5 of 5 193



1 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE 

Council Agenda Summary 

Date:  April 12, 2016 

Agenda No.   6(h) 

 

ORIGINATED BY:  Doug Danz, Onsite Sanitary Official 

 

REVIEWED BY:  Lauren Gill, Town Manager 

                                                 

SUBJECT:  Adopt a Resolution Amending Multiple Chapters of the Town of 

Paradise Manual for the Onsite Treatment of Wastewater in 

Accordance with State Requirements known as Tier II Local 

Agency Management Program (LAMP)                                                     

  

   

COUNCIL ACTION REQUESTED:  
 

1) Consider Adopting Resolution 16-_____, A Resolution Amending Multiple Chapters of 

the Town of Paradise Manual for the Onsite Treatment of Wastewater in Accordance 

with State Requirements known as Tier II Local Agency Management Program (LAMP)                                                     

2) Provide alternative direction to staff.   

 

BACKGROUND:  
 

On June 19, 2012, the California State Water Resources Control Board (State Board) adopted 

Water Quality Control Policy for Siting, Design, Operation, and Maintenance of Onsite 

Wastewater Treatment Systems (State Policy). The State Policy requires all onsite wastewater 

jurisdictions in the State of California to implement a prescribed body of regulations known as 

Tier I requirements upon all onsite wastewater treatment system construction, repair and 

maintenance; or, to propose their own set of prescribed requirements under the Tier II provision 

of the Policy. Tier II requirements must be approved by the State Board as a Local Agency 

Management Program (LAMP).  

 

Since its incorporation in 1979, the Town of Paradise has developed a very comprehensive and 

protective body of regulations that govern onsite wastewater construction. These regulations are 

located in the Paradise Municipal Code (PMC) and in the Town of Paradise Manual for the 

Onsite Treatment of Wastewater (Manual), and are tailored to the unique geographic and 

hydrological conditions of the Town as well as to the Town's infrastructure and administrative 

processes.  However, under the State Policy, Tier I regulations would take effect in the Town if a 

LAMP is not approved. Tier I implementation in the Town would significantly restrict, and in 

many cases, cease the construction of onsite sewage disposal systems in the Town. For instance, 

under Tier I regulations, most leach fields could not be repaired in the Town because rainfall and 

geologic conditions require at least 10 feet of soil, which most areas do not have. It is imperative 

to the Town that we submit our existing regulations for review and approval by the State as the 

Town of Paradise LAMP. In light of this, Town staff is proposing for review and approval by the 

State Board the Town’s onsite wastewater regulations, amended as proposed, as a LAMP.  

 

 

194



2 

 

In February, 2016, the Town Council approved changes to pertinent sections of the Paradise 

Municipal Code that were required for the Town of Paradise LAMP.  Revisions must now be 

made to the Manual in order to be compliant with the State Policy for a LAMP. Some of the 

revisions proposed address LAMP requirements as called for in the State Policy. Other changes 

are made to correct inconsistencies throughout the Manual, inconsistencies and corrections 

necessary for approval of the Manual during the State review. Other changes are proposed to 

update the Manual to better incorporate industry standards and provide more business and 

consumer friendly onsite regulations.  

 

The proposed amendments include provisions required for subsequent approval by the State 

Water Resources Control Board pursuant to the State Water Quality Control Policy for Siting, 

Design, Operation, and Maintenance of Onsite Wastewater Treatment Systems relating to 

approval of a Local Agency Management Program (LAMP).  

 

Once these changes are made, as well as forthcoming additions to the new Chapter 8, the Manual 

and pertinent sections of the PMC will be presented to the State as part of the total regulations 

that will be used to govern onsite wastewater treatment systems in the Town of Paradise. The 

deadline for submitting the LAMP to the State Board is May 13, 2016. 

   

 

DISCUSSION:  

 

There are multiple revisions proposed in the Manual. Sixty two (62) revisions have been 

identified as substantive and are described in the Attachment B, Substantive Change Report. Of 

those 62, some have been separated into the following two groups; Less Restrictive Changes, 

and, More Restrictive Changes. For further details please reference the bracketed [ ] reference to 

this report after each comments below; 

 

LESS RESTRICTIVE CHANGES   

 

Of the substantive revisions proposed, many are less restrictive to septic system owners. They 

include: 

 

 Removing the requirement that advanced treatment septic systems owners provide 

routine sampling of the inflow wastewater.   

o Unless there are found to be high 'pollutant' levels in wastewater discharging from 

a system the wastewater strength coming into a septic system can be assumed to 

be within known quantities. It is not necessary to have the extra expense of 

sampling it. [See note 7]     

 Removing the requirement that any septic system receiving a complaint must be 

automatically evaluated by a private evaluator.  

o The complaint investigation conducted by the Town often reveals the extent of a 

septic system problem and a private evaluation is not necessary. [See note 8] 

 Removing the requirement that all advanced treatment septic systems be inspected by the 

Town twice a year.  

195



3 

 

o An inspection program by the Town has never been carried out for advanced 

treatment systems. It has been found that the quarterly service and maintenance 

that most of these systems receive is adequate oversight for them to stay in good 

working order. [See note 9]   

 Removing the requirement that all alternative systems must be evaluated once a year.  

o Not all alternative systems are technologically complicated enough to warrant 

annual inspections, such as a simple 'pump' or 'capping fill' system. [See note 10] 

 Removing the requirement that septage pumpers must be licensed by the Town.  

o The Town has never maintained a septage pumpers licensing program and has 

found that the County licensing program is adequate for maintaining sanitary 

pumping equipment and practices. The Town will require the proof of licensing 

with the County. [See note 12]  

 Allowing a higher wastewater application rate for the Town’s designated 'downtown' 

area, which will allow for more affordable septic repairs and construction.  

o The current maximum wastewater application rate of 900 gpd/acre is 'difficult to 

impossible' for some downtown lots to achieve when undergoing repairs or new 

construction. Adjusting this application rate to 1350 gpd/acre (1.5 multiplier) will 

still preserve the over-all 'cleanliness' of groundwater in the Town and allow a 

much needed broadening of system design parameters for this area. [See note 14] 

 Allowing traffic areas over the top of distribution boxes in dispersal fields.  

o A type of d-box is now manufactured to withstand vehicle forces and leachfields 

are allowed under traffic areas throughout the Town. With proper site conditions 

it is no longer necessary to prohibit d-boxes under traffic areas. [See note 21] 

 Allowing a greater dispersal trench depth in an area where there is soil fill material.  

o The permeability of the top layer of soil in conditions found throughout the Town 

is not diminished by placing soil fill on it.  For this reason a dispersal trench 

deeper than four feet and into native soil should be allowed if there is imported 

soil fill on top of it. [See note 28] 

 Reducing the amount of native soil necessary to place a bottomless sand filter system. 

o Wastewater that has been treated by passing through 2 feet of sand needs less soil 

for treatment than does untreated wastewater in standard leachfields. For this 

reason the amount of soil depth under a bottomless sand filter is reduced from 4 to 

3 feet. [See note 31] 

 Reducing the amount of native soil necessary to place a dispersal field from a 

recirculating advanced treatment system.  

o Wastewater that has been treated through a recirculating gravel, textile or other 

media filter is significantly 'cleaned' prior to discharging to soil. It is also 

routinely sampled which assures that the necessary level of treatment is 

maintained. For these reasons the amount of soil necessary beneath this type of 

system to treat the discharging effluent is reduced from 4 to 2 feet. [See note 32] 

 Removing the requirement that redundant septic systems must be inspected by the Town.  

o Redundant systems are not complicated nor require a higher level of oversight 

provided by Town inspections. Therefore, a conventional evaluation schedule 

provided by a private evaluator is all that is necessary. [See note 38]  

 Removing the requirement to perform a nitrogen loading calculations for any proposed 

advanced system that is less than 5000 gallons per day.  

196



4 

 

o Nitrogen 'pollution' from wastewater discharged into soil has not been an issue in 

the Town. Our groundwater and creek monitoring has substantiated that the 

rainfall and soil conditions effectively treat nitrogen influx. For this reason it is 

not necessary to provide a study of the nitrogen loading from smaller septic 

systems. [See note 54] 

 Removing the mandatory requirement for groundwater monitoring wells for all advanced 

treatment systems exceeding 900 gallons per acre per day.  

o This requirement was initially initiated by the State many years ago. Experience 

shows that the many existing wells do not provide measurable levels of 

groundwater that benefit the analysis of a septic systems' impact on groundwater. 

Also, not all systems over 900 gpd/acre are large enough to warrant groundwater 

monitoring wells. [See note 55] 

 

MORE RESTRICTIVE CHANGES 

 

Substantive revisions proposed that are more restrictive to a septic system owner in terms of 

construction or maintenance includes: 

 

 The State requirement that all septic systems that have projected wastewater flows over 

10,000 gallons per day must submit a Report of Waste Discharge to the Regional Water 

Quality Control Board and be governed under permit by them.  

o As depicted in the State Onsite Wastewater Treatment System Policy, Section 

6.1.1, this is a new state law effective 2013. [See note 5]  

 The requirement that all septage pumpers that operate in the Town become certified as a 

Septic System Evaluator.  

o There are no known pumpers operating in Town that do not have an evaluator's 

license. This requirement assures that the Town is made aware of failing, 

overflowing septic systems when a pumper is called to pump a system, since all 

Evaluators are required to report their observations. [See note 13] 

 The new State requirement that all public water wells maintain a one hundred and fifty 

(150) foot setback from septic systems.  

o This new law is found in the State Onsite Wastewater Treatment System Policy, 

Section 7.5.6. The prior requirement was for a 100 foot setback. [See note 16] 

 The provision that the construction of serial distribution dispersal fields only be allowed 

when absolutely necessary.  

o Serial distribution relies on the principle of a leachline completely failing and 

backing up into a distribution box before overflowing into the next leachline. 

Although allowed in the past this system has inherent problems and shown to be 

less effective for treatment and longevity.  [See note 17] 

 Allowing a maximum of 30 inches of leachrock in a dispersal trench.  

o Over 30 inches is almost never possible in the Town because of the need for 4 feet 

of soil beneath a dispersal field. When leachrock becomes too deep, conditions in 

a trench become more septic and a clogging mat occurs. [See note 26]  

 Requiring a minimum of 12 inches of soil cover over all dispersal fields, as opposed to 6 

inches that was allowed under special circumstances.  

197



5 

 

o 12 inches of soil is found to be the minimal suitable amount of protection needed 

for dispersal fields. Rainfall, erosion, landscaping and vehicle loads are all 

conditions that 12 inches of soil backfill protect against when placed above a 

dispersal field. [See note 27] 

 Reducing the maximum liquid application rate to soil from 1.2 to 1.0 gpd/ft
2
 for 

secondary treated effluent.  

o The application rate of 1.0 gpd/ft
2
 has been used on all projects for the past many 

years and provides a degree of conservancy that is required to have the LAMP 

approved. [See note 34] 

 Increasing the minimum width of narrow dispersal trenches from 6 to 12 inches.  

o Narrow trenches less than 12 inches are very difficult to construct and rarely 

proposed. Their difficulty to construct makes them inappropriate to remain as a 

standard in the Manual. [See note 36] 

 Requiring that all new septic systems treating over 300 gallons per day and have a pump 

must be designed with a separate dosing tank, with the pump placed in it.  

o A septic tank is effective in separating out solids from wastewater under normal is 

static conditions in a tank. When a septic tank has a pump in it, the liquid level 

rises and falls and turbulence is created every time the pump 'kicks on'. Therefore 

with a pump in the tank more solids enter into the dispersal field, which reduces 

its longevity.  [See note 51] 

 The new requirement mandated by State law that all septic systems receiving wastewater 

from commercial food buildings must have a grease interceptor.  

o This new requirement is depicted in the State Onsite Wastewater Treatment 

System Policy, Section 6.1.2. and will apply to all commercial food septic 

systems, both new and existing. This provision is required to be in the LAMP. 

[See note 56] 

  

Other revisions incorporate the re-wording of existing regulation to provide clarity and better 

understanding. Some revisions remove inconsistencies within the Manual. Others entail the 

codification of policy or circumstance that is peculiar to our Town and has been a long-standing 

discretionary practice, such as requiring dosing tanks for wastewater systems larger than three 

hundred gallons per day, or increasing the minimum length of effluent pipe coming out of a 

septic tank from one to three feet. Lastly some revisions provide more descriptive depictions of 

existing regulations. For a more detailed analysis of the substantive changes proposed please 

refer to Attachment B.  

 

In addition to the proposed text revisions in the Manual several drawings have been revised so as 

to be more clear and concise. The titles and content of the drawings, known as Figures, remains 

the same. The Figures have been revised to include better labeling and some code corrections. A 

new Figure, Figure 4.14, has also been added to depict the Downtown Adjustment Area for 

Gross Hydraulic Loading.  The revised Figures are presented in Attachment C.  

 

 

 

 

 

198



6 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

 

There is no financial impact associated with the adoption this resolution to amend the Manual. 

However, some nominal cost will be borne by the Town that is associated with the publication of 

the revised Manual   

 

ATTACHMENTS:   
 

Attachment A: Resolution of the Town Council of the Town of Paradise amending multiple 

chapters of the Town of Paradise Manual for the Onsite Treatment of Wastewater in preparation 

for submission to the State Water Resources Control Board as the Local Agency Management 

Program for the Town of Paradise. 

 

Attachment B; Proposed Substantive Changes to the Manual 

 

Attachment C: February 15, 2015 letter from Clint E. Snyder, P.G. Assistant Executive Officer, 

Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board to Doug Danz, [Onsite Sanitary Official], 

Town of Paradise regarding Review Criteria, Local Agency Management Programs (LAMPS) 

for Tier II Onsite Wastewater Treatment Systems. 

 

 

  
 

 

199



 Attachment A 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-  

 

A RESOLUTION AMENDING MULTIPLE CHAPTERS OF THE TOWN OF 

PARADISE MANUAL FOR THE ONSITE TREATMENT OF WASTEWATER IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH STATE REQUIREMENTS KNOWN AS TIER II LOCAL 

AGENCY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM (LAMP),  

WHICH SHALL TAKE EFFECT IMMEDIATELY    

                                                  
WHEREAS, The Town Council of the Town of Paradise adopted Resolution No. 99-37 

that readopted the Town of Paradise Manual for the Onsite Treatment of Wastewater; and  

 

WHEREAS, The Town of Paradise Onsite Sanitation Division, under direction of Council, 

and in accordance with State Law, have formulated changes and additions to the Manual for 

submission to the State of California as a Local Agency Management Program (LAMP). 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise 

as follows; 

 

Section 1. The revisions and additions to Chapters 1 through 9, and Appendixes A 

through D, and Title Page and Table of Contents thereof of the Town of 

Paradise Manual for the Onsite Treatment of Wastewater, attached as 

Exhibit “A”, excluding the bracketed reference notes  as exemplified by; 

[See note XX],  are approved and adopted. 

 

Section 2  The revisions and additions to twenty four (24) Figures in the Town of 

Paradise Manual for the Onsite Treatment of Wastewater, attached as 

Exhibit “B”, are approved and adopted. 

 

Section 3 A copy of this resolution may be submitted to the State Water Resources 

Control Board, along with the revised Town of Paradise Manual for the 

Onsite Treatment o f Wastewater. 

 

Section 4 This resolution shall take effect immediately.     

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Paradise this 12
th
 day of 

April, 2016 by the following vote: 

 

 AYES: 

 

 NOES: 

 

 ABSENT: 

 

 NOT VOTING:    _____________________________ 

             Jody Jones, Mayor 

 

 

 
200



ATTEST: 

By:       

 Joanna Gutierrez, CMC, Town Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

By:       

 Dwight L. Moore, Town Attorney 

 

 

 

  

             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
201



 

202



Exhibit “A” 
 
 
 

Town of Paradise Manual for the Onsite 
Treatment of Wastewater 

 
Text revisions 

 
 
 
 
             
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

203



TOWN OF PARADISE 
ONSITE WASTEWATER 
MANAGEMENT ZONE 

MANUAL FOR THE ONSITE TREATMENT 
OF WASTEWATER 

REVISED: APRIL 12, 2016 [See note 1] 
REVISED: OCTOBER 6, 2011 

REVISED: NOVEMBER 8, 2005 
REVISED: SEPTEMBER 9, 2004 

REVISED: AUGUST 9, 2002 
REVISED: MARCH 28, 2000 

REVISED: JANUARY 1, 2000 
ADOPTED: SEPTEMBER 14, 1995 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Font color: Green

204



 
 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS  

  
 
 October 1994 

 Page 
Acknowledgments 
List of Figures 
List of Tables 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ i 
 
PART A:  PERMITS AND POLICIES 
 
Chapter 1:  Permits 
  1.1 General Guide for Onsite Sewage Disposal System Applications.................................. 1-1 
  1.2 Site Evaluation Report ........................................................................................................ 1-2 
  1.3 Construction Permit ............................................................................................................ 1-7 
  1.4 Operating Permit ................................................................................................................. 1-8 
  1.5 Use or Modification of an Existing System ..................................................................... 1-10 
  1.6 Repair of Failing Systems ................................................................................................. 1-11 
  1.7 Emergency Repairs ............................................................................................................ 1-11 
  1.8 Licensing to Perform Wastewater Construct Onsite Systems and Provide Sewage 
  Disposal Services ................................................................................................................ 1-11 
 
Chapter 2:  Variances 
  2.1 Variance Application and Processing ................................................................................ 2-1 
  2.2 Qualifications of the Variance Committee........................................................................ 2-2 
  2.3 Limitations on Variances .................................................................................................... 2-2 
  2.4 Duties of Variance Committee ........................................................................................... 2-3 
         
PART B:  DESCRIPTIONS AND DESIGN CRITERIA 
 
Chapter 3:  Selection of Appropriate Onsite Systems for Single 
    Family Dwellings 
  3.1 General Requirements for Onsite Wastewater Disposal Systems ................................. 3-1 
  3.2 Selection of an Appropriate Onsite System ...................................................................... 3-5 
  3.3 Lots with Limited Space for Waste Disposal System ...................................................... 3-6 
 
Chapter 4:  Description of Onsite Systems 
  4.1 Standard System .................................................................................................................. 4-1 
  4.2 Pretreatment Advanced Treatment Systems .................................................................. 4-16 
  4.3 Pressure Distribution ......................................................................................................... 4-27 
  4.4 Narrow Absorption Dispersal Trenches ......................................................................... 4-33 
  4.5  Deep Absorption Trench System  ................................................................................... 4-36 
  4.56 Redundant Systems ............................................................................................................ 4-36 
  4.67 Steep Slope Systems ........................................................................................................... 4-40 
  4.78 Capping Fill ........................................................................................................................ 4-41 
  4.89 Perimeter Drain or Tile Dewatering System .................................................................. 4-45 

205



 
 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS  

  
 
 October 1994 

  4.910 Curtain Drain ..................................................................................................................... 4-48 
  4.1011 Engineered Fill ................................................................................................................... 4-51 
  4.1112 Portable Toilets................................................................................................................... 4-53 
  4.1213 Holding Tanks .................................................................................................................... 4-54 
  4.1314 Water Conservation Fixtures ........................................................................................... 4-56 
  4.1415 Package or Plant Pre-Constructed Advanced Treatment Systems ............................. 4-56 
  4.1516 Graywater Disposal   System ............................................................................................ 4-56 
 
 Chapter 5:  Component and Equipment Specifications 
  5.1 Septic Tanks .......................................................................................................................... 5-1 
  5.2 Dosing Septic Tanks Assemblies ........................................................................................ 5-5 
  5.3 Distribution Boxes ................................................................................................................ 5-6 
  5.4 Drop Boxes ............................................................................................................................ 5-6 
  5.5 Filter Fabric .......................................................................................................................... 5-7 
  5.6 Diversion Valves ................................................................................................................... 5-7 
  5.7 Effluent Pumps, Controls and Alarms .............................................................................. 5-8 
  5.8 Dosing Siphons ..................................................................................................................... 5-8 
  5.9 Pipe Materials and Construction ....................................................................................... 5-8 
  5.10 Flexible Membrane Liners .................................................................................................. 5-9 
  5.11 Portable Toilets................................................................................................................... 5-13 
 
Chapter 6:  Large and Advanced Treatment Systems 
  6.1 Definition of Large and Advanced Treatment Systems .................................................. 6-1 
  6.2 General Requirements for Large and Advanced Treatment Systems .......................... 6-2 
 
Chapter 7:  Innovative Applications .............................................................................. 7-1 
 
Chapter 8: Local Agency Management Program……………………..8-1 
 
Chapter 89:  Definitions ...................................................................................................... 98-1 
 
Appendices 
Appendix A:  Soil Profile Terminology .......................................................................................... A-1 
Appendix B:  Groundwater Monitoring Guidelines .................................................................... B-1 
Appendix C:  Hydraulic Testing of Soil ......................................................................................... C-1 
Appendix D:  Surface and Groundwater Monitoring Program ................................................. D-1 
 
History 
Manual for the Onsite Treatment of Wastewater History 
 
 

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 14 pt

206



 

 
1 

PERMITS 
 

 
 1-1 March 2000 

 
1.1 General Guide for Onsite Sewage Disposal System Application 
1.2 Site Evaluations 
1.3 Construction Permit 
1.4  Operating Permit 
1.5  Use or Modification of an Existing System 
1.6  Repair of Failing Systems 
1.7  Emergency Repairs 
1.8  Licensing to Construct Onsite Systems and Provide Sewage Disposal Services 
1.9  Gross Hydraulic Loading of a Parcel  
 
The Town of Paradise requires that permits be obtained to construct, operate, and repair onsite 
wastewater disposal systems. The Town also requires that septic tank contractors be certified by 
the Town prior to conducting business within the Town. Onsite Wastewater Management Zone.  
The permitting procedures are outlined in this chapter.   
 
1.1 GENERAL GUIDE FOR ONSITE SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM 
APPLICATIONS 
 
The table shown below is an outline of the Town permits or approval actions required for various 
common situations. 
 

 
 

 
Permits1 

 
 
 Situation 

 
Site 

Evaluation 

 
 

Construction 

 
 

Operating2 
 
1.  Routine system inspection 

 
 

 
 

 
A 

 
2.  New home construction.  new system 

 
A 

 
A 

 
A 

 
3.  Failing system repair 

 
B 

 
A 

 
A 

 
4.  Bedroom addition 

 
B 

 
B 

 
A 

 
5.  Replacement of mobile homes with similar units 

 
 

 
 

 
B 

 
6. Connection of temporary housing to existing system 

 
 

 
 

 
A 

 
1 A: Permit required 
  B:  Town should determine if permit is required 
2  New or renewal 
 

Formatted: Font color: Green

207



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-2  March 2000  

 
1.2 SITE EVALUATION REPORT 
 
Site evaluations are part of the Land Use Review process and  may be conducted by either 
qualified onsite wastewater disposal system designers or authorized Town personnel.  
Evaluations conducted by private designers must be approved by the Onsite Sanitary Official 
prior to a Land Use Review approval being given by the Town and the development of 
construction plans and specifications.   
 
A. Site Evaluation by Qualified Designers 
 
A qualified designer may conduct a site evaluation and prepare a Site Evaluation Report Land 
Use Review application for approval by the Town.  Site Evaluations The site evaluation must be 
conducted by or under the direct supervision of one of the following: 
 
1. Registered Civil Engineer 
2.  Certified Professional Soil Scientist 
3.   Certified Engineering Geologist or Registered Geologist 
4.   Registered Environmental Health Specialist 
 
The professional conducting or directly supervising the evaluation must be knowledgeable and 
experienced in the field of onsite wastewater disposal.  The Town will may institute a procedure 
of random, unannounced verification inspections to ensure that site evaluations by qualified 
designers meet the standards of the Town. 
 
A Site Evaluation Report prepared by a qualified designer Land Use Review approval must be  
givenapproved by the Onsite Sanitary Official before the property owner authorizes the 
preparation of construction plans for the construction of a new septic system or addition to an 
existing septic system. and specifications.  Town approval of a Site Evaluation Report is required 
for the issuance of a construction permit. Town  approval  Approval is obtained by submitting 
the a Site Evaluation Report along with a completed Land Use Review application. form 
provided by the  Town. The Onsite Sanitary Official has the discretion of exempting the 
requirement for a Site Evaluation Report depending on the size of the project.  and payment of 
the required fee.  The Onsite Sanitary Official may perform a brief site inspection as part of the 
approval process. Lots or parcels located in identified areas of high groundwater or marginal soil 
conditions will be inspected by the Town. depending on the location of the proposed site.  
Justification must be given for a denial of approval for an onsite wastewater disposal system 
recommendation by a qualified designer. 
 
An approved Site Evaluation Report Land Use Review issued by the Town is transferable with a 
property sale provided the intended use of the property, structure, size, and intended disposal 
proposed dispersal area(s) do not change.  There may be a long period of time between the site 
evaluation and septic system construction on some parcels. The during which time the Town's 
rules and regulations could change. during this time.   The Town therefore reserves the right to 
change the type of septic system specified in the Land Use ReviewSite Evaluation Report 
approval at any time  until a construction permit is issued.  Lots or parcels located in identified 
areas of high groundwater or marginal soil conditions will be inspected by the Town. [See note 
2] 

208



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-3  March 2000  

 
B. Exemption Toto Soils and Percolation Requirements 
 
All single family residential lots, created by parcel map or subdivision map, and approved by the 
Town of Paradise subsequent to November 27, 1979, will be considered to be approved with 
respect to soils and percolation data, if the following criteria are met: 
 
1. The parcel is located in an area location that is listed as AVD, 0-30” (Aiken Very Deep, 

0-30% Slope) as illustrated on the general soil map of Paradise prepared by Wert & 
Associates, on file at the Town Onsite Division. 

2. The parcel is not located in an area known to have problematic soils conditions, such as 
high water table, perched water, or very slow percolation rates (>60 min/inch) 

 
Soil conditions that differ substantially from that represented on the Wert soils map may require 
relocation of the proposed system or other measures, such as engineered or special design 
systems, at the discretion of the Town Onsite Sanitary Official. 
 
C. Denial Of Approval  of Application 
 
Upon receipt of a completed Site Evaluation rReport, the Onsite Sanitary Official may deny a 
approval of the Site  Evaluation recommendations Land Use Review application if: 
 
• The proposed system would not comply with the approved rules and regulations of the 

Town, including the maximum gross hydraulic loading rate requirement.   
 
• The proposed system location is compromised by an encumbrance. 
 
• The report contains false information. 
 
D. Site Evaluation Report Requirements 
 
The following items shall be included in the Site Evaluation Report: 
 
• Assessor's parcel map, which may be acquired at the Butte County Assessor's office. 
 
• Gross hydraulic loading calculations for the parcel. For standard treatment septic systems 

900 gpd/acre is the maximum application rate (excluding downtown exemption area, 
Section 1.9).  For advanced treatment 2000 gpd/acre is the maximum application rate.  
[See note 3] 

 
• Preliminary site development plan, drawn to scale, including:   
 

a. Parcel size: The map must include dimensions of parcel and any easements on the 
parcel. 

 
b. Topography:  Topographic map of the parcel at a scale of one inch equals fifty 

feet  (1"=50') and two foot contours or greater.    
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

209



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-4  March 2000  

c. Surface waters: All ponds, intermittent streams, perennial streams, and springs 
must be located accurately. 

 
d. Landslides or unstable soils: Areas that appear to be unstable should be checked 

by an engineering geologist or civil engineer to determine if the presence of an  
absorption a dispersal field will cause mass movement. [See note 4] 

 
e. Existing and proposed wells located within 100 feet of the proposed absorption 

dispersal fields (initial and replacement). 
 

f. Encumbrances such as easements, roads, rock outcrops, etc. 
 

g. Escarpments and large cuts (See Figures 1.1 and 1.2). 
 

h. Soil test hole locations 
 

i. Proposed and existing developments including tank and dispersal field locations. 
For new construction 100% dispersal field replacement area must be shown. 

 
j. Utilities such as water mains, gas lines, power lines, etc. 

 
• Description of soil and groundwater conditions on the site. 
 

a. Soil profiles:  A minimum of two soil profiles taken from soil test pits shall be 
described.  The pits should represent the soils in the initial and replacement area. 
 The test pits should be a minimum of twenty-four inches wide by four feet long 
by seven feet deep and easily exited by a person.  If pits are dug by hand, they 
should be deep enough to examine the soil to a depth of seven feet.  

 
Minimum observation of the soils are: 

 
•  Thickness of each major horizon 
• Texture based on USDA definition of textural classes 
• Structure 
•  Color 
•  Presence of roots, pores, clay skins 
•  Mottles (low and high chroma) 
• Estimates of permeability 

 
All of these soil features are defined in Appendix A. 

 
b. Soil permeability:  Often the observations made in the soil profile descriptions 

will be adequate to assess permeability for a single family dwelling.  Where the 
soil permeability is in question, soil percolation tests shall be required.  For very 
sensitive sites, soil absorption tests shall be needed (see Appendix C for 
guidelines). 

 

210



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-5  March 2000  

c. Soil underlain by saprolite:  Saprolite is material that can be textured, crushed, or 
broken with hand pressure.  If there are clay films or iron coatings with moist 
values of five or less and moist chromas of four or more, and/or organic coatings 
with moist values of three or less and moist chromas of three or more occurring 
on fracture surfaces, then saprolite will be considered soil.  Where the material 
does not meet the above criteria, it shall be treated as fractured bedrock. 

  
d. Presence of saturated soil: The maximum height of a groundwater table shall be 

noted.  Often the presence of a temporary high groundwater table can be detected 
by soil mottles.  However, mottling in the soils of Paradise can understate the 
maximum level of the groundwater table.  High levels of oxidized iron, long 
periods between periods of high rainfall, and high levels of oxygen in the soil 
water prevent mottles from being as prominent as they are in other soils .  For 
those sites suspected of having a seasonally high groundwater table and having 
unmottled soil, or on sites located in identified areas of high groundwater, 
monitoring of the water levels will be required (see Appendix B). 

 
The type of water table needs to be determined.  Most of the sites in Paradise with drainage 
problems have temporary high groundwater tables.  Typically, these they are perched on a clay 
pan or bedrock, otherwise known as an aquatard. and are not used for domestic purposes.   If 
there is an aquatard (bedrock, clay layer) which prevents waters leaving an absorption field from 
entering an aquifer used for domestic purposes, it is considered temporary.   A temporary high 
perched groundwater table must last longer than a continuous two-week period in order for it to 
be regarded as significant for the design of a dispersal field.  Anything less than two weeks is 
considered insignificant.  If it lasts no more than a two week period it is considered a spike and is 
not used as the level for the temporary high groundwater table when designing a dispersal field. 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Not Strikethrough

Formatted: Not Strikethrough

211



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-6  March 2000  

 
  
 

figures 1.1 and 1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

212



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-7  March 2000  

1.3 CONSTRUCTION PERMIT 
 
An application must first be submitted to obtain a permit for all construction, alteration or repair 
of any onsite wastewater disposal system with the exception of the installation of septic tank 
risers.  Applications will be made on forms provided by the Town and will be considered 
acceptable only when the form is completed in full, signed by the owner or the owner's legally 
authorized representative, and accompanied by all required exhibits and fees.  A permit shall be 
issued only to a licensed contractor hired by the owner or to the owner or easement holder of the 
land on which the system is to be installed. 
 
The Town will either issue or deny the permit within thirty days after the receipt of the 
completed application for a conventional system, with the exception that the weather conditions 
prevent the Town from acting within thirty days.  The applicant shall be notified in writing with 
the reason for delay.  The Town will either issue or deny the permit within sixty days after the 
mailing date of such notification.  Review of alternative or innovative designs may take longer 
than thirty days. 
 
The approved permit will remain effective for one year from the date of issuance on only new 
construction permits. Construction Permits for repairs shall remain in effect only for the time 
period allowed in the Corrective Action Request or Notice. The construction permit is not 
transferable. Once a system is installed pursuant to the construction permit, an operating permit 
shall be issued for the installation. 
 
Renewal of a permit may be granted to the original permittee if an application of permit renewal 
is filed prior to the original permit expiration date. A new construction permit shall only be 
renewed once. 
 
A. Application Requirements 
 
The application for a construction permit must include the following: 
 
• Site Evaluation Report approved by the Town. 
 
• Detailed and specific site development plans and specifications.  Plans and specifications 

for alternatives systems will need to be prepared by a qualified designer.  The plans must 
include: 

 
a. Existing and proposed locations of all buildings, roads, driveways and other 

physical features. 
 

b. Property lines. 
 

c. Easements. 
 

d. Water sources and surface water courses or drainage ways. 
 

213



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-8  March 2000  

E. Exact location of proposed septic tank, distribution box or drop boxes, and all 
other system components. 

 
F. Exact location of absorption  the effluent dispersal field area and replacement 

area, drawn to scale.  Each lot receiving a septic system for the first time must 
have sufficient usable area available to accommodate an initial and replacement 
system dispersal field. 

 
Sites may be approved where the initial and replacement dispersal fields systems 
would be of different types.  For example, a standard system could be approved 
for the initial system and a capping fill for the replacement system. 

 
G. Proposed elevations of the building sewer, the inlet and outlet of the septic tank, 

distribution boxes or drop boxes, number and length of the absorption trenches 
dispersal trenches and specification of installation of any other system com-
ponents. 

 
H. Required setbacks, as discussed in Section 3.1 of this manual, must be identified 

on the site development plan. 
 
• Draft operations and maintenance instructions for alternative systems for approval by the 

Town.  
 
B. Precover inspection 
 
When permitted construction, alteration or repair of a system for which a construction permit has 
been issued is complete, except for backfill (cover), or as required by permit, the system installer 
shall notify the Town for inspection.  The installer will provide to the Town a detailed, as-built 
plan (drawn to scale) of the installation.  The Town shall inspect the installation to determine if it 
complies with the   construction regulations rules of the Town  and conditions prescribed on the 
permit. 
 
The Town may waive the Precover Inspection for standard systems, at the sole discretion of the 
Onsite Sanitary Official. Inspections may be waived by the Onsite Sanitary Official for standard 
system installations made by licensed installers certified by the Town. 
 
 
1.4 OPERATING PERMIT 
 
A valid operating permit is required for all onsite wastewater disposal systems located in the 
Onsite Wastewater Management Zone. Operating permits are not transferable and must be 
renewed periodically.  Initial operating permits and renewal of operating permits are discussed 
separately below. In addition to receiving a Town of Paradise onsite operating permit and 
compliance with pertinent regulations in the Town of Paradise Local Agency Management 
Program, all onsite wastewater treatment systems that have projected flows over 10,000 gallons 
per day are regulated by the Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board and are 
subject to filing a Report of Waste Discharge with them. [See note 5] 

214



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-9  March 2000  

 
A. Initial operating permit 
 
The Town will issue an operating permit if, upon inspection of installation or modification, the 
system complies with the conditions of the construction permit.  
 
Standard System: The Town will issue an operating permit if, upon inspection of installation or 
modification, the system complies with the conditions of the construction permit. The Town will 
not issue an operating permit until as-built plans have been received and approved. 
 
If inspected installation does not comply with the conditions of the construction permit, the 
permittee will be notified in writing or a Correction Notice will be posted on the site. System 
deficiencies will be explained and satisfactory completion required before an operating permit 
will be issued. 
 
Failure to meet requirements for satisfactory completion within thirty (30) days after written 
notification or posting a Correction Notice on the site constitutes a violation of the construction 
permit process and these rules, and can result in a Stop Work Notice. 
 
Alternative and Innovative Pre-Advanced Treatment Systems: The Town will issue an 
operating permit if, upon inspection of installation or modification, the system complies with the 
conditions of the construction permit. The Town will not issue an operating permit until as-built 
plans, and final operation, maintenance and monitoring instructions have been received and 
approved by the Onsite Sanitary Official. In the instances where alternative and innovative  
systems are Pre-Treatment Systems advanced treatment systems the following operation, 
maintenance and monitoring requirements are required: [see note 6] 
 
• Operation and Maintenance Personnel: The system shall be operated and maintained by 

experienced personnel as approved by the Onsite Sanitary Official. Experienced personnel 
may include Town of Paradise Licensed Evaluators or other experienced personnel licensed 
by the State Water Resources Control Board as “Certified Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Operators”. The Owner will provide the Onsite Sanitary Official with written proof that 
experienced personnel have been retained by the Owner to operate and maintain the system. 

 
• Frequency of Operation and Maintenance Attendance: The frequency of operation and 

maintenance attendance shall be determined by the Onsite Sanitary Official,. Bbut, in no case 
shall it be more frequent than once a month.the frequency be greater than one (1) month.  

 
• Operation and Maintenance Attendance Log: An operation and maintenance attendance log 

of system tasks shall be completed upon each system visit. The log may become part of the 
reporting requirements submitted to the Town as determined by the Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 
• Minimum Monitoring Requirements: The minimum constituent and physical monitoring 

requirements are as follows: 
 
1.  Influent 5-day Bio-chemical Oxygen Demand;  
2.1.Effluent 5-day Bio-chemical Oxygen Demand; 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25",  No bullets or
numbering, Tab stops: Not at  0.75"

215



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-10  March 2000  

3.  Influent Total Suspended Solids; [See note 7] 
4.2.Effluent Total Suspended Solids; 

5.  Influent Total Nitrogen (as determined by the Onsite Sanitary Official)  
6.3.Effluent Total Nitrogen (as determined by the Onsite Sanitary Official) 
7.4.Effluent Flow Metering (as determined by the Onsite Sanitary Official) 

 
Other monitoring requirements, including influent sampling, may be required depending on 
the site specific discharge characteristics and as determined by the Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 
• Frequency of Monitoring Analyses: The frequency of the monitoring analyses shall be 

determined by the Onsite Sanitary Official depending on the site specific characteristics, 
system type, of the discharge and the location and type  of the  discharge. 

 
• Monitoring Reporting: The Owner shall submit to the Onsite Wastewater  Management   

Division the results of all monitoring tasks. The submittal shall be on a quarterly basis as 
outlined below: 

 
1. First quarter analyses data to be submitted on the 15th 1st day of April each year. 
2. Second quarter analyses data to be submitted on the 15th 1st day of July each year. 
3. Third quarter analyses data to be submitted on the 15th 1st day of September each year. 
4. Fourth quarter analyses data to be submitted on the 15th 1st day of January each year. 

 
B. Operating permit renewal – standard systems 
 
1. Operating Permits will be renewed each time a standard onsite wastewater disposal 

system 1) successfully passes an evaluation performed by a Town of Paradise Licensed 
Evaluator, or, 2) permitted repairs are finalled by the Onsite Division Staff.and received 
and approved by the Onsite Sanitary Official . 

 
2. The Town Licensed Evaluators may recommend to the owner and the Town, any 

correction necessary to bring the onsite wastewater disposal system into compliance with 
all applicable Town rules and regulations. The Town will issue all correction notices to 
the owner and issue repair permits as needed to bring the septic system into compliance.  

 
3. The Town will act to resolve any disputes between the property owner and the evaluator 

personnel. Operating permits will be renewed upon receipt of satisfactory evidence that 
the corrections have been made.  

 
C. Evaluation schedule – standard systems 
 
Evaluations of septic systems will be required for any of the following circumstances: 
 
1. Whenever the septic tank is pumped that is not a condition of an existing Operating 

Permit. The Operating Permit for an onsite wastewater disposal system has expired or is 
soon to be expired.    

2. Whenever any parcel of land in the Town upon which an onsite wastewater disposal 
system is located is having a transfer of title from one owner to another and the system  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or
numbering, Tab stops: Not at  0.75"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or
numbering, Tab stops: Not at  0.75"

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0" +
Tab after:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.25"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  -0.06", Hanging:  0.38", 
No bullets or numbering, Tab stops:  0.31", Left +
Not at  0"

216



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-11  March 2000  

the property is sold and the property  does not have a current Operating Permit has not 
been evaluated within the last year. 

3. Whenever a complaint is filed with the Town and upon review the Onsite Sanitary 
Official determines that there is a need to have the onsite wastewater disposal system 
evaluated so as to substantiate its performance.[See note 8] 

 
4.    The time interval between evaluations for each septic system shall be determined 

established by the Town  based on the its approximated  volume of wastewater 
processed, and  the Town’s most current septic system evaluations report(s), concerning 
the observed performance of the onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system, and,   
any other conditions deemed appropriate by the Onsite Sanitary Official. Time intervals 
assigned shall be in accordance with provisions of the Paradise Municipal Code, Section 
13.04.090. 

 
D. Evaluation schedule – alternative and innovative pre-treatment   systems   
 
Periodic evaluations of alternative systems shall may be performed by the Town of Paradise 
Onsite Division Staff twice each year. in the months of February and August. During the 
course of reviewing the required Owner submitted Quarterly Reports, should the Onsite 
Division Staff find discrepancies an evaluation may be triggered on a more frequent schedule. 
The cost for the Onsite Division Staff evaluations shall be borne by the owner based on the 
Town of Paradise adopted fee schedule for “onsite monitoring”. [See note 9] 
 
E.  Operating permit renewal – alternative and innovative pre-treatment  systems 
 
Alternative and innovative pre-treatment systems will be evaluated on a regular basis by Town 
personnel. Operating Permits for alternative and innovative pre-treatment  systems shall be 
renewed on an annual basis. No operating permits for these systems and shall not be issued for 
periods longer than one (1) year, except for some standard 'pump to pressure' or 'pump to gravity' 
systems, including capping fills. The requirements for renewal are as follows: [See note 10] 
 
1. The system shall be in total compliance with the previously issued Operating Permit. for 

the facility at the time of renewal. 
2. When required Qquarterly, semi-annual or annual report Report submittals shall be up to 

date with current reporting requirements. 
3. Failure of compliance with the above two (2) requirements for permit renewal shall result 

in the issuance of a Correction Notice with a thirty (30) day, or less requirement to bring 
the system into compliance, and , a non-compliance fee . 

4. Failure to renew the permit shall may result in “Abatement” as per the Town of Paradise 
Municipal Code Chapter Section 13.04.430. 

 
 
1.5 USE OR MODIFICATION OF AN EXISTING SYSTEM 
 
No person shall place into service, change the use of or increase the projected wastewater 
strength or daily wastewater flow into an existing onsite wastewater disposal system without 
obtaining a new operating permit or a construction permit, as appropriate.   

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.5"

217



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-12  March 2000  

 
To determine whether a previously constructed onsite sewage disposal system is usable when a 
change of use is proposed, the applicant must apply for a Land Use Review with the Town of 
Paradise. This review process includes an inspection by the Onsite Division staff, file review of 
past entitlements and permits, calculations of gross hydraulic loading rates and possibly a soil 
analysis including a high groundwater determination, soil characterization and permeability 
testing. have the system inspected by certified personnel, pay the appropriate fee, and provide all 
required attachments.  If the Town determines that the existing onsite wastewater disposal system 
appears adequate to serve the purpose for which a particular application is made, then a new 
operating permit will be issued. [See note 11] 
 
 
A construction permit will be required when the existing system is failing, setback 
requirements can no longer be met or the system must be altered in size, location or level of 
treatment necessary. due to the proposed use, or a public health hazard would be created in 
the opinion of the Town. 
 
A new operating permit is not required when: (1) there is a change in use, but no change in 
flows such as replacement of a mobile home with a similar unit, (2) for placing into service a 
previously unused system, provided a valid operating permit must have been was issued 
within the last two years for the system. 
 
 
1.6 REPAIR OF FAILING SYSTEMS 
 
A construction permit is required for the repair of a failing onsite wastewater disposal system, 
except for emergency repairs as described in Section 1.7.  Alternative or experimental 
designs not found in this manual that will correct the problem on a long term basis  may be 
entertained permitted for repairs upon review by the Onsite Sanitary Official., even if they are 
not included in this manual.   Refer to Chapter 7 for the approval procedures for innovative 
applications.   The Town will require a monitoring program, performed at the owner's 
expense, for some alternative and all or innovative designs.  
 
 
1.7 EMERGENCY REPAIR 
 
An emergency repair means the repair of a system where wastewater is backing up into a 
dwelling or commercial facility, or there is a broken pressure sewer pipe or the health and 
safety of humans are threatened and immediate action is necessary to correct the situation.  In 
order to immediately and temporarily stop a health hazard, the Onsite Sanitary Official may 
waive the applicable permit requirements.  The Town shall determine if a Site Evaluation 
Report is required for the permanent system repair.   
 
 
1.8 LICENSING TO PERFORM WASTEWATER DISPOSAL 
SERVICES 
 

218



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-13  March 2000  

Wastewater disposal services are hereby defined to include: 
 
• The pumping out or cleaning of wastewater systems (including portable toilets), or 

any part thereof. 
 
• The inspection of standard and alternative onsite wastewater disposal systems for the 

town. 
 
• The disposal of material derived from the pumping out or cleaning of wastewater 

systems (including portable toilets). 
 
 
 
A.  Licensing and Certification  
 
No person will perform wastewater disposal services or advertise or represent himself/herself 
as being in the business of performing such services without first obtaining a license 
certification from the Town.Butte County Environmental Health Department as a septage 
pumper.  Evidence of this certification is required annually by the septage pmper in order to 
be allowed to operate in the Town of Paradise.  
 
Any wastewater disposal service that does not comply with all requirements with the county 
to maintain their certification will be prohibited from providing wastewater disposal services 
in the Town of Paradise. [See note 12] 
 
All individuals that provide wastewater disposal services in the Town of Paradise, including 
the pumping of septic tanks, grease tanks and any other wastewater tanks, are required to 
obtain and hold current a septic system evaluators license with the Town of Paradise. The 
issuance of the evaluator's license must be in compliance with Paradise Municipal Code, 
Chapter 5.14. Persons who are only servicing portable holding tanks such as those in port-o-
potties or recreational vehicles are exempt from the requirement to have an evaluator's license 
with the Town of Paradise. [See note 13] 
 
To apply for a wastewater disposal service license, a person must submit a complete license 
application form to the Town for each business, agree to have applicant's pumping equipment 
inspected by the onsite sanitary official or his designee, and submit the appropriate 
application fee.  Onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system installation businesses 
shall maintain and submit evidence to the onsite sanitary official of any and all appropriate 
licenses, insurance, and bonding as required by the State of California and Butte County.  
 
A wastewater disposal service license may be transferred or amended during the license 
period to reflect changes in business name, ownership or entity (i.e. individual partnership or 
corporation) provided a complete application to transfer or amend the license is submitted to 
the Town with the appropriate fee.    The initial valid wastewater disposal service license (not 
suspended, revoked or expired) must be returned to the Town.  Lastly, if there is a change in 
the business name, a new wastewater Pumping Equipment Description/Inspection form for 
each vehicle must be submitted to the Town. 
 

219



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-14  March 2000  

Each licensee shall be responsible for any violation of any law, rule or order pertaining to his 
or her license privileges.   The licensee shall provide evidence to the person for whom the 
licensee provides services that the required State of California and town licenses are 
maintained in good standing.  The licensee shall provide the person for whom the licensee 
provides services a list of the rights and responsibilities as pertaining to the services rendered. 
 Septic tank pumpers shall maintain their equipment in good operating condition and a 
manner so as not to create a public health hazard or nuisance.  Septic tank pumpers shall 
comply with all applicable State of California, Butte County, and Town of Paradise laws and 
regulations concerning the performances of wastewater disposal services. 
 
Certain acts constitute misuse of a license.  No licensee will permit anyone to operate under 
his/her license, except a person who is working under his/her supervision.  No person will 
display a fictitious, revoked, suspended or fraudulently altered license.  No person will refuse 
or fail to surrender to the Town any license which has been suspended or revoked.  Nor will 
any person give false or fictitious information or knowingly conceal a material fact or 
otherwise commit a fraud in any license application. 
 
The Town may suspend, revoke or refuse to grant or refuse to renew any wastewater disposal 
service license if it finds after conducting a hearing as specified in Chapter 5.14 of the 
Paradise Municipal Code: 
 
• A material misrepresentation or false statement in connection with a license applica-

tion or septic system evaluation report form. 
 
 
• Failure to comply with any provision established in  this onsite manual or the  other 

adopted regulations of the Town. 
 
Whenever a license is suspended, revoked or expires, the licensee must remove the license 
from display. 
 
A wastewater disposal service may not be considered for relicensing for a period of at least 
one year after revocation. 
 
A suspended license may be reinstated provided that a complete application for reinstatement 
of license is submitted to the Town, the grounds for suspension have been corrected and the 
original license would not have otherwise expired. 
 
B. Equipment  
 
All pumping vehicles must be equipped with either a vacuum or other type pump which will 
not allow leakage from the diaphragm or other packing glands and which will not allow 
leakage from the pump or fittings and which is self priming.  Each vehicle must, at all times, 
be supplied with a pressurized wash water tank, disinfectant and implements for cleanup. 
 
The wastewater hose on the vehicles must be drained, capped, and stored in a manner that 
will not create a public health hazard or nuisance. 
 

220



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-15  March 2000  

The discharge nozzle must be provided with either a camlock quick coupling or threaded 
screw cap.  It must be sealed by either of these when not in use, located so that there is no 
flow or drip onto any portion of the vehicle and protected from accidental damage or 
breakage. 
 
All pumping equipment must be used for pumping wastewater disposal facilities exclusively 
unless otherwise authorized in writing by the Town.  Also chemical toilet cleaning equipment 
shall not be used for any other purpose. 
 
When in use, pumping equipment must be operated in a manner so as not to create a public 
health hazard or nuisance.  All equipment must be maintained in a reasonably clean condition 
at all times. 
 
Vehicle identification rules must also be followed.  The name or assumed business name 
must be displayed on each vehicle cab and on each side of a tank trailer.  Vehicle 
identification must be in letters at least three inches in height and in a color contrasting with 
the background.  The tank capacity must also be printed on both sides of the tank in letters at 
least three inches in height and in a contrasting color with the background. 
 
Tanks for pumping out wastewater disposal facilities must have a liquid capacity of at least 
1,000 gallons.  With the exception that tanks used exclusively with equipment for pumping 
chemical toilets not exceeding a fifty gallon capacity, should have a liquid capacity of at least 
150 gallons.  All tanks must be of watertight metal construction, be fully enclosed and have 
suitable covers to prevent spillage. 
 
C.  Pumping and evaluation services 
 
If a wastewater disposal service license is issued for pumping and inspection, the licensee 
must accept several additional responsibilities.  The spilling of wastewater while pumping or 
while in transport for disposal must be avoided.  Any spillage of wastewater must be cleaned 
up immediately by the operator and the spill area disinfected. 
 
1. Each licensee must dispose of pumpings by the following procedures: 
 
 • No parts of the pumpings will be discharged upon the surface of the ground 

unless at an approved septage disposal site. 
 
 • The licensee must possess at all times during pumping, transport or disposal of 

pumpings, origin-destination records for wastewater disposal services 
rendered.  A complete file of these origin-destination records must be 
maintained.  The origin-destination record must include: 

 
  a. A source of pumpings on each occurrence including name and address. 
 
  b. The specific type of material pumped on each occurrence. 
 
  c. The quantity of material pumped on each occurrence. 
 

221



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-16  March 2000  

  d. The name and location of the authorized disposal site where the 
pumpings were deposited on each occurrence. 

 
  e. The quantity of material deposited on each occurrence. 
 

f. All pumping events shall be reported to the Town of Paradise Onsite 
Division within five (5) days of the pumping occurrence. The report 
shall include all items (a.) through (e.) listed above. Failure to comply 
with this reporting requirement may result in the revocation of the 
Evaluator’s License. 

 
 • The licensee must transport all pumpings in a manner that will not create a 

public health hazard or nuisance. 
 
2. Each licensee conducting evaluation services has the following responsibilities: 
 
 • Participate in Town training programs. 
 
 • Provide truthful and unbiased evaluations that conform to septic system 

evaluation report form line item requirements as specified in the septic system 
evaluation report form handbook. 

 
 • Be knowledgeable in the operations and maintenance of pumps, effluent 

screens and other components of onsite systems. 
 
3. The Town shall attempt to resolve all conflicts between licensees and the public.   
 
4. The Town shall issue all corrections notices concerning septic systems. 
 
5. The Town shall periodically observe and evaluate the performance of licensees. 
 
6. The Town shall develop an ongoing training and licensing program for all Evaluators 

conducting evaluations in the Onsite Wastewater Management Zone.  
 
1.9 GROSS HYDRAULIC LOADING RATE OF A PARCEL  

 
On all parcels situated in the Town of Paradise, the following wastewater 
application rates apply. In the case that septic systems serve structures located on 
multiple parcels, the total cumulative acreage of these parcels is used. Gross area 
calculations shall include the area to the centerline of any abutting public street or 
any other public right of way.   

 
• For parcels that receive primary treated wastewater, the maximum 

application rate of 900 gallons/acre/day shall not be exceeded.    
• For parcels that receive secondary treated wastewater, the maximum 

application rate of 2000 gallons/acre/day shall not be exceeded.  

Formatted: Font: 14 pt

Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.44"

Formatted: Font: 14 pt, All caps

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.06", First line:  0", Tab
stops: Not at  0.5"

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25"
+ Indent at:  0.5"

222



 1. Permits  
 
 

 
 1-17  March 2000  

 
• The gross hydraulic loading rate shall not exceed 1350 gallons/acre/day for 

primary treated wastewater for all parcels that are located adjacent to 
Skyway between Black Olive Drive and Elliot Road, for all parcels located 
between Skyway and Black Olive Drive, for all parcels located adjacent to 
Black Olive Drive west of Foster Road and for all parcels located between 
Skyway and Almond Street, with Elliot Road being the northern border. See 
Figure 4-14.  [See note 14] 

 

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 
0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: 14 pt

223



 

 2-1 October 1997 

  

 

 

2 
VARIANCES 

 

2.1 Variance Application and Processing 

2.2 Notice of Public Hearing 

2.3 Right of Appeal 

2.4 Appeal of Variance Committee Decisions 

2.5 Qualifications of the Variance Committee 

2.6 Variance Committee Members Terms 

2.7 Officers, Meetings and Rules 

2.8 Variance Committee Duties 

2.9 Removal of Variance Committee Members 

2.10 Variance Committee Member Vacancies 

2.11   Limitations on Variances  
 

A variance is a deviation from any onsite wastewater system policy or design standard set forth in 

this manual or in the rules and regulations of the Town.  A variance may be granted to an applicant 

by the Town after a hearing by a special committee of variance officers.  The variance committee 

will generally issue a directive to the Onsite Sanitary Official to approve, conditionally approve or 

deny the variance. 

 

Onsite systems enumerated in Chapter 4 (standard and alternative) and Chapter 6 shall be 

considered approved systems and therefore shall be processed  for permit to use through the Public 

Works Department Division in standard fashion, not as variances require a valid operating permit to 

function as an onsite sewage disposal system in the Town.  

 

 

2.1 VARIANCE APPLICATION AND PROCESSING   
 

Variance applications shall be made to the Onsite Sanitary Official.   A separate application 

shall be filed for each site considered for a variance.  Each application should be signed by the 

property owner and accompanied by: 

 

• A site evaluation report 

  

• Plans and specifications for the proposed onsite wastewater disposal system 

  

• The appropriate fee 

  

• Other information necessary, if requested 

 

The variance committee members shall hold a public hearing on each variance application.  The 

hearing shall take place within thirty days after the date a submitted variance application has been 

deemed complete by the Onsite Sanitary Official. A copy of the complete variance application and 

any supporting documentation shall be submitted by the Town Onsite Division to the California 

Formatted: Font: Bold

224



2. Variances 

 

  
 2-2 October 1997 

 

Regional Water Quality Control Board, Central Valley Region. 

 

The variance committee shall individually visit the site of the requested variance prior to 

conducting the hearing, but the burden of presenting the supportive facts shall be the responsibility 

of the applicant.  A decision to grant or deny the variance will be made in writing within thirty days 

after completion of the hearing.  If the variance is granted, the variance committee will state, in 

writing, the specifications, conditions and location of the onsite wastewater system.   

 

The Town shall issue a construction permit for granted variance systems once the appropriate plans 

and fees have been submitted, perform necessary inspections, and issue an Operating Permit once 

the system installation has been approved by the Onsite Sanitary Official or his designee. An 

operations maintenance and monitoring program, performed at the owner’s expense, shall be 

required for systems permitted under a variance. 

 

 

2.2 NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Notices of public hearing for variance applications shall be given by the body conducting such 

hearing at least ten days prior thereto, by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the 

Town. In addition, the Town shall give additional notice by mail, using addresses from the latest 

equalized assessment roll, to all owners of property within a three-hundred-foot distance of any 

boundary of the subject property. The Town shall also mail or deliver such notice at least ten days 

prior to the hearing to the owner(s) of the subject property, or his agent, and to the project applicant. 

The Town shall follow the notice procedures of California government Code Section 65091. 

Failure to any person to post notice shall not invalidate any proceedings conducted by the decision 

making body. 

 

 

2.3   RIGHT OF APPEAL 

 

All determinations of the Variance Committee shall be final unless a written appeal and any 

required appeal fees are filed within seven (7) days from the date the Variance Committee acts on a 

variance application. The appeal shall be filed with the Town Clerk. Any interested person shall 

have the right to file an appeal. The Town Council shall conduct a public hearing on the appeal in 

accordance with applicable procedures as set forth in this chapter. 

 

 

2.4 APPEAL OF VARIANCE COMMITTEE DECISIONS 

 

Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, appeals of Variance Committee decisions shall be 

administered in accordance with the following applicable provisions: 

 

A. The appeal shall be in writing with a detailed statement of the grounds for the appeal. 

225



2. Variances 

 

  
 2-3 October 1997 

 

B. The Town Clerk shall set the time, date, and place for a public hearing before the Town  

 Council concerning an appeal of a Variance Committee decision. 

C. Public hearings before the Town Council shall be conducted within forty days after the  

 receipt of a written appeal and any required appeal fee. 

D. Upon receipt of the notice of appeal of a Variance Committee decision, the Onsite 

Sanitary Official shall prepare a report of the facts pertaining to the decision of the  

 Variance Committee and shall submit such report to the Town Council. 

E. The Town Council may refer any matter subject to appeal back to the Variance 

Committee for further consideration if, in the opinion of the Town Council, any new 

and substantial evidence is presented to the Town Council that was not previously 

presented  

 to the Variance Committee. 

F. At the close of the hearing, the Town Council may affirm, reverse, revise or modify the 

appealed decision of the Variance Committee. 

 

G. If the Town Council does not finalize its action on an appeal within ninety days after the 

filing thereof, the decision action of the Variance Committee shall be deemed affirmed.  

 

H. The decision of the Town Council may be appealed to the California State Regional 

Water Quality Control Board, Central Valley Region, within ten days after the date of 

the decision. The decision by the California State Water Quality Control Board, Central 

Valley Region, shall be final. 

 

 

2.5 QUALIFICATIONS OF THE VARIANCE COMMITTEE 

 

The variance committee members shall be selected by the Town Council to give objective third 

party opinions concerning special or unusual cases. They must have adequate training in soils as 

they pertain to subsurface wastewater disposal, knowledge of the public health issues associated 

with onsite wastewater disposal systems, a thorough understanding of pumps and hydraulics, and 

personal experience with onsite wastewater disposal systems. The variance committee shall consist 

of three and not more than five citizen-at-large members appointed by the Town Council. The 

Town Council may also appoint one additional citizen-at-large member to serve on the variance 

committee only when a member of the variance committee is absent. 

 

 

2.6 VARIANCE COMMITTEE MEMBER TERMS 

 

The five citizen-at-large positions and the alternate citizen at large position shall serve a term of 

four years and be appointed by the Town Council in accordance with the standard procedures 

utilized by the Town Clerk for filling positions on boards and commissions. The terms of the five 

citizen-at-large positions and the alternate citizen at large position shall be staggered to provide 

continuity on the Variance Committee. 

226



2. Variances 

 

  
 2-4 October 1997 

 

 

 

2.7 OFFICERS, MEETING AND RULES 

 

The Variance Committee shall elect a chairman and vice-chairman from its membership annually. 

In the absence or disability of either the chairman or vice-chairman, the Variance Committee may 

designate a temporary chairman. 

 

The Variance Committee shall hold at least one meeting each year and such other meetings as may 

be necessary. Variance Committee meetings shall be scheduled at the request of the Town Council, 

Town Manager or the Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 

The Variance Committee shall adopt rules for the transaction of its business and shall keep a public 

record of its findings and determinations. 

 

 

2.8 DUTIES OF THE VARIANCE COMMITTEE 

 

The Variance Committee shall comply with the following provisions established within the Onsite 

Wastewater Management Zone: 

 

 To hear and consider all requests for variances from the Manual for the Onsite Treatment of 

Wastewater and other regulations of the Town relating to the disposal of wastewater. Such 

hearing shall be conducted in accordance with the standards and procedures set forth in this 

chapter. 

 

 To consider items relating to the treatment and dispersal disposal of wastewater within the 

Town of Paradise referred to them by the Town Council, Town Manager, and Onsite 

Division staff. 

 

 

2.9 REMOVAL OF VARIANCE COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

 

A member of the Variance Committee may be removed by a majority vote of all the members of 

the Town Council. A member who fails, without permission, to attend three successive meetings or 

fifty percent (50%) of the regular meetings per year of the Variance Committee is subject to 

possible removal by the Town Council. 

 

 

2.10 VARIANCE COMMITTEE MEMBER VACANCIES 

 

A vacancy on the Variance Committee occurring by death, resignation, removal or any other cause 

before the expiration of the affected member’s term as a Variance Committee member shall be 

filled by appointment for the unexpired term by the Town Council. 

 

 

2.11 LIMITATIONS ON VARIANCES 

227



2. Variances 

 

  
 2-5 October 1997 

 

 

The following limitations on variances shall apply within the Onsite Wastewater Management 

Zone: 

 

 A maximum of one variance will be allowed per application. 

 

 No variances will be granted for lot splits or subdivisions. 

 

 No variances will be granted for groundwater or surface water separation requirements. 

 

 No variances will be granted if the proposed system would cause groundwater or surface 

water degradation. 

 

 No variance will be granted if the proposed system would cause public health and safety 

problems as determined by the Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 

 Any variance issued by the Town shall be considered to be site- and situation-specific. The 

granting of a variance for one site shall not set a precedent for other sites. 

228



 

3 

SELECTION OF APPROPRIATE ONSITE 

WASTEWATER SYSTEMS FOR SINGLE FAMILY 

DWELLINGS  
 

 

 3-1 November 1999 

 

3.1 General Requirements for Onsite Wastewater Disposal Systems 

3.2   Selection of an Appropriate Onsite System 

3.3   Lots With Limited Space for Waste Disposal System  
 

This chapter of the manual is intended to serve as a guide for the selection of onsite wastewater 

disposal systems which are appropriate for the various soil conditions found in the Town of Paradise. 

Onsite Wastewater Management Zone.  THE SITING CRITERIA ONLY APPLIES TO THE 

REPAIR OF EXISTING SYSTEMS AND FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF NEW SYSTEMS 

ON EXISTING LOTS.  THIS MANUAL DOES NOT APPLY TO SUBDIVISIONS OR LOT 

SPLITS. [See note 15] 

 

3.1 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ONSITE WASTEWATER DIS-

POSAL SYSTEMS 
 

Certain requirements apply to all onsite wastewater disposal systems located within the Onsite 

Wastewater Management Zonethe Town of Paradise. These include setbacks, the acquisition of ease-

ments for disposal off the property, and proper abandonment of unused systems, as described within 

this chapter. Variances will be required for systems which cannot meet the general requirements 

discussed in this section. 

 

A. Required setbacks 

 

Required setbacks are presented in Table 3.1. Required setbacks for portable toilet systems are 

shown in Table 3.2. Other guidelines are presented below. 

 

• Water lines and sewer lines:  Where water lines and building or effluent sewer lines cross, 

separation distances shall be as required in the Uniform Plumbing Code, California Plumbing 

Code Edition and the American Water Works Associations "Guidelines for Distribution of 

Nonpotable Water." 

 

• Septic tank setbacks:  The Town encourages the placement of septic tanks and other 

treatment units as close as feasible to the minimum separation from the building foundation 

to minimize potential clogging of the building sewer. 

 

• Stream setbacks:  Setback from streams shall be measured from the ten-year high-water 

mark.  

229



3. Selection of Appropriate Onsite Systems for Single Family Dwellings 

 

 

 3-2 September 2011 

 

Table 3.1 

 REQUIRED SETBACKS 

 Setback requirements are minimum and may be altered for wastewater flows over 2500gpd as 

determined by the Onsite Sanitary Official 
 
 

 
Setback, ft 

 
 Condition 

A
1
Absorp-

tion Disperal 

fields, etc. 

B
2
Septic 

tanks, etc. 

 
Wells, whether in use or abandoned, excluding shallow aquifer, 

non-permanent groundwater monitoring wells associated with 

hazardous substance investigation sites. Properly destroyed wells 

are exempt from setbacks [See note 16] 

 
100 

 

150 ft  

for Public 

water wells  

 
50 

 

150100 ft 

for Public 

water wells 
 
Surface waters:

3
  

     perennial (all year) streams, springs or seeps
4
 

     intermittent (part of year) streams, springs or seeps 

     ravine, drainageway or ephemeral stream 

     lakes and reservoirs
5
 

 
 

100 

50 

50 

200 

 
 

50 

50 

50 

50 
 
Groundwater interceptors such as french drain or curtain drain 

used to collect groundwater: 

    upgradient (the interceptor is upgradient) 

    downgradient (the interceptor is downgradient) 

 
 

 

20 
 
50

5 

 
 

 

20 

25 

 
Irrigation canals: 

     lined (watertight canal) 

     unlined 

           upgradient 

           downgradient 

 
 

50 

 

100 

100 

 
 

25 

 

50 

50 

 

Cuts exceeding 30%, downslope from an absorption  a dispersal  

field, in excess of 30 in. (top of cut): 

     – intersects layers that limit effective soil depth 

        within 48 in. of surface  

     – does not intersect layers that limit effective soil 

        depth 

 

 

Four times 

height of cut
7 

 

10 

 
               

10 

 

 

10  

 

Fill downslope from an absorption a dispersal field, trenches. Fill 

must be on top of a native soil surface with over 30% slope 
7,8

 

 
Four  x’s 

height of fill
7
 

 
 

10 

230



3. Selection of Appropriate Onsite Systems for Single Family Dwellings 

 

 

 3-3 September 2011 

 
 

 
Setback, ft 

 
 Condition 

A
1
Absorp-

tion Disperal 

fields, etc. 

B
2
Septic 

tanks, etc. 

 
Escarpment (a steep slope or cliff, over 30% slope, that makes a 

boundary to a flat or gently sloped upland area)   downslope from 

an absorption a dispersal field  : 

     

  
              

 

50 

 
 

  

10 

 
Roadway setback, from road or street edge 

 
20

9
 

 
20

9
 

 
Property lines 

 
5 

 
5  

 
Swimming pool 

 
5 

 
5 

 
Water lines (service line off water main)  

 
5 

 
 5 

 
Water main (public) -  New construction / Repairs 

 
25/10 

 
10/10 

  
Water main (private) 

         
           10 

 
     10 

 
Driveway or parking area 

 
0

10
 

 
0

11
 

 
Foundations, building peers, foundation lines of any building or 

structure      

 
 5

12
 

 
5

12
 

 
Absorption Dispersal trench (from the sidewall) Narrow 

absorption dispersal trenches are exempt as per Section 4.4 of this 

manual  

 
8  

 
5  

 
Storm water  drainage pipe 

 
25

13
 

 
5

13
 

 
Storm Water Retention/Detention Basins 

 
50 

 
50 

 
1
 A = From wastewater dispersal absorption fields or infiltrative surfaces, including dispersal 

absorption field replacement areas 
2 

B = From septic tanks dosing tanks, treatment units and distribution units of over 20 gallon 

capacity 
3
 Does not prevent stream crossing in approved piping systems; culverting these drainage ways 

will not be allowed to reduce these setback requirements 
4
 When a perennial stream, spring or seep is upgradient and higher in elevation the setback to 

"A" or "B" may be reduced to 50 feet     
5
 Any impounded body of water with no less than one-acre foot of water 

6
 Twenty feet if an impermeable barrier is supplied with the drain 

7
 Four times the height of the bank, measured from the top edge of bank (with a 50 foot 

maximum distance)  
8                  

For existing absorption dispersal field repairs where no other option is available earthen fill 

areas may be exempt from this setback requirement if the fill has been in place for over 5 

years, has been adequately evaluated by a qualified designer and has demonstrated 

231



3. Selection of Appropriate Onsite Systems for Single Family Dwellings 

 

 

 3-4 September 2011 

compatibility with underlying soils.  Native soils underneath fill areas may also be used for 

absorption dispersal fields if they are properly evaluated by a qualified designer and 

necessary system controls/mitigations are designed into the wastewater treatment and 

dispersal system 
9
  If an existing public road right-of-way or public utility easement exceeds the twenty-foot 

setback a greater setback distance is required.   A lesser setback distance to the edge of the 

road is allowed when information is provided that demonstrates the location of the public 

road right of way or public utility easement is less than 20 feet. In no instance shall a septic 

tank, etc., or dispersalabsorption field, etc., be allowed to be constructed in a public road 

right of way or public utility easement.   
10

 Only if percolation rate is less than thirty minutes per inch 
11

 Only if access risers are provided and a minimum one-foot of total cover is provided over the 

septic tank. New installations in vehicle areas require traffic-rated septic tanks 
12

 Including non-slab porches and steps whether covered or uncovered, breezeways, roofing 

structures, carports, and similar structures or appurtenances. Small cement porches and steps 

that do not serve as foundations for overhead structures are exempt from these setback 

requirements 
13

 Greater or lesser distances may be required depending on site characteristics. Lesser 

distances may be allowed for storm drains that flow only during rain events and are 

engineered to eliminate effluent infiltration and preferential pathways  
 
          

 

 

 Table 3.2 

 REQUIRED SETBACKS FOR PORTABLE TOILETS 

 
 
 Condition 

 
Setback, ft 

 
Groundwater supplies, including springs and 

cisterns 

 
50 

 
25 

 
Surface public waters, excluding intermittent 

streams  

 
50 

 
50 

 
Intermittent streams 

 
50 

 
25 

 
Property line 

 
25 

 
25 

 

 

B. Easements 

 

An onsite wastewater disposal system shall be located entirely on the property parcel served by the 

system or a legal permanent easement for a dispersal an absorption field needs to be obtained for 

placement on a neighboring property parcel before the issuance of a permit.  An easement will 

provide for future access to allow maintenance of the system.  Examples of single party and multiple 

party easement forms are available from the Onsite Wastewater Management Zone Town of 

Paradise. 

 

232



3. Selection of Appropriate Onsite Systems for Single Family Dwellings 

 

 

 3-5 September 2011 

When the system crosses a property line separating properties parcels of different ownership, a 

recorded permanent utility easement and covenant against conflicting uses is required in a format 

approved by the Town.  An easement must accommodate that part of the system, including setbacks 

for property lines and building foundations, which lies beyond the applicant’s property line.  The 

easement must allow for entry to install, maintain and repair the system.   

 

When the system crosses a property line separating properties parcels under the same ownership, the 

applicant/owner must create an easement with covenants in a format approved by the Town to enter 

and inspect that portion of the system, including setbacks for property lines and building foundations, 

on the adjacent parcel, by excavation, if necessary, agreeing not to put that portion of the adjacent 

parcel to a conflicting use, and agreeing upon severance of the adjacent parcel to grant a permanent 

utility easement in favor of the owner of the parcel served by the system. 

 

DispersalAbsorption field easements or covenants are may be necessary for the repair of existing 

septic systems mandates   crossing property lines. 

 

C. Abandonment of a septic system 

 

The owner shall abandon a septic system for several reasons: 

 

• A sewerage public sewer or public onsite septic system becomes available to a building and 

the building sewer has been connected thereto; or 

 

• The source of wastewater has been eliminated permanently. 

 

• The system has been operated in violation of these rules, unless and until a repair permit and 

an Operating Permit are subsequently issued therefore; or 

 

• The system has been constructed, installed, altered or repaired without a required permit 

authorizing such, unless and until a permit is subsequently issued therefore. 

 

Procedures for abandonment should start with the septic tank, cesspool or seepage pit being pumped 

by a licensed wastewater disposal service to remove all sludge.  The septic tank, cesspool or seepage 

pit should then be filled with sand.  If, in the judgment of the Onsite Sanitary Official, it is not 

reasonable, possible or necessary to pump and fill the system, the Onsite Sanitary Official may waive 

either or both of these requirements provided such action does not constitute a menace to public 

health, welfare or safety. 

 

3.2  SELECTION OF AN APPROPRIATE ONSITE SYSTEM 

 
A series of flow charts (Figures 3.1 through 3.7) and a soil map on file with the Town, have been 

developed to aid in the selection of an appropriate onsite wastewater system in the Town of Paradise 

Onsite Wastewater Management Zone.  Figures 3.1 through 3.7 are based on soil and site conditions 

commonly found in Paradise. However, they do not cover all conditions.  The soil map is also 

general in nature and may not show all the   soil conditions present.  Therefore, a site evaluation is 

still required to verify actual soil conditions at all proposed disposal areas.  Special designs may be 

considered under a variance for those sites not described in Figures 3.1 - 3.7.  Table 3.3 lists the 

233



3. Selection of Appropriate Onsite Systems for Single Family Dwellings 

 

 

 3-6 September 2011 

general procedure for the use of the flow charts and soil map.  Table 3.4 is a summary of the soil 

types, areas, and recommended onsite systems. 

 

 

 

 

 

TABLE 3.3 

 

PROCEDURE FOR THE SELECTION OF AN 

APPROPRIATE ONSITE DISPOSALWASTEWATER  

SYSTEM 
 
For General Planning: 

1. Locate the lot on the soil map to identify the soil type 

commonly found in the area. 

 

2. Use Figures 3.1 through 3.7 to identify the appropriate soil 

group and probable onsite system requirements. 

 

3. Review the onsite system requirements as described in 

Chapter 4 of this manual. 

 

For Design: 

1. Verify site conditions.  Dig test holes, identify soil con-

ditions, and select an appropriate system.  The charts and 

soil map do not replace good judgment or common 

sense. 

 

 

 

 

3.3 LOTS WITH LIMITED SPACE FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SYSTEM 

 
Those existing lots which have very small suitable disposal dispersal areas can use one or more of 

the following techniques depending on soil conditions: 

 

• Pretreatment Advanced treatment of septic tank effluent with an intermittent dosing sand 

filter or recirculating gravel filter. 

 

• Bottomless intermittent dosing sand filter (bed or trench) 

 

• Package engineered Advanced treatment systems with approved technology components. 

 

• Pressure distribution with narrow absorption dispersal trenches and narrow spacing 

 

• Deep absorption trenches  

 
234



3. Selection of Appropriate Onsite Systems for Single Family Dwellings 

 

 

 3-7 September 2011 

• Redundant system 

 

A qualified designer shall prepare plans of the proposed onsite wastewater system.  There must be 

adequate space on the lot for a replacement system and absorption  dispersal field. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 TABLE 3.4 

 SUMMARY OF SOIL TYPES FOUND IN PARADISE AND THE 

 RECOMMENDED TYPE OF ONSITE WASTEWATER DISPOSAL SYSTEM 

 
 
Soil Map 

Symbol 

 
 

Mapping Unit Name 

 
Area 

(Acres) 

 
Percent 

of Total 

 
Recommended 

Onsite System 
 

AVD 

0-30% 

 
Aiken Very Deep 

 
7805 

 
66.7 

 
S 

 
AVD 

30-45% 

 
Aiken Very Deep 

 
50 

 
0.4 

 
S 

 
AD 

0-30% 

 
Aiken Deep 

 
173 

 
1.5 

 
S 

 
BA 

0-30% 

 
Aiken Bouldery Phase 

 
380 

 
3.3 

 
S + Extra 

 
BA 

30-45% 

 
Aiken Bouldery Phase 

 
19 

 
0.2 

 
S + Extra 

 
PR 

0-10% 

 
Basalt flow with soil between 

columns of rock 

 
140 

 
1.2 

 
S + Extra 

 
MC-C 

0-30% 

 
Guenoc-Cohasset complex 

 
243 

 
2.0 

 
S or PA 

 
MC-C 

>30% 

 
Guenoc-Cohasset complex 

 
49 

 
0.4 

 
PA 

 
SC-MC 

0-30% 

 
Shallow clay loam - Guenoc 

complex 

 
406 

 
3.5 

 
U 

 
SC-MC 

30-45% 

 
Shallow clay loam - Guenoc 

complex 

 
7 

 
0.1 

 
E 

 
SC-T 

0-30% 

 
Shallow clay loam - Toomes 

complex 

 
133 

 
1.1 

 
U 

235



3. Selection of Appropriate Onsite Systems for Single Family Dwellings 

 

 

 3-8 September 2011 

 
Soil Map 

Symbol 

 
 

Mapping Unit Name 

 
Area 

(Acres) 

 
Percent 

of Total 

 
Recommended 

Onsite System 
 

SC-T 

30-45% 

 
Shallow clay loam - Toomes 

complex 

 
3 

 
>0.1 

 
D or P A or E 

 
W 

0-10% 

 
Wetlands/swamp/marshes 

 
10 

 
>0.1 

 
NA 

 
TW-MA 

0-10% 

 
Complex of two unnamed series 

with seasonal water tables 

 
927 

 
7.9 

 
U 

 
SM 

0-30% 

 
Shallow, very poorly drained soil 

 
34 

 
0.3 

 
U 

 
PO 

0-30% 

 
Mariposa 

 
6 

 
0.1 

 
U 

 
C/F 

 
Cuts and fills 

 
22 

 
0.2 

 
PA 

 
F 

 
Fills 

 
8 

 
0.1 

 
PA 

 
RL 

 
Rockland 

 
440 

 
3.7 

 
U 

 
Q 

 
Quarries 

 
1 

 
>0.1 

 
U 

 
45% 

 
Slopes over 45% with a variety of 

soils 

 
844 

 
7.2 

 
U 

 
 

 
 

 
11,700 

 
100 

 
 

 

S = Standard System S + Extra = Standard System plus extra drainfield 

P A = PretreatmentAdvanced treatment   E = Engineered Fill D = Dewatering  U = Unsuitable 

236



 

 

 3-9 September 2011 

 

237



 

 

 3-10 September 2011 

 

238



 

 

 3-11 September 2011 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

239



 

 

 3-12 September 2011 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
240



 

 

 3-13 September 2011 

 

 

 
 

 

 

241



 

 

 3-14 September 2011 

 

 
 

 

 

 

242



 

 

 3-15 September 2011 

                                                                                

 

 

 

 

 
243



 
 

 4 

 DESCRIPTION OF ONSITE SYSTEMS  
 

  
 4-1 November 1999 

4.1  Standard System 

4.2  Pretreatment Advanced treatment Systems 

4.3  Pressure Distribution 

4.4  Narrow Dispersal Absorption Trenches 

4.5  Deep Trench System  

4.6  Redundant Systems 

4.7  Steep Slope Systems 

4.8  Capping Fill Systems 

4.9  Perimeter Drain or Tile Dewatering System 

4.10  Curtain Drain 

4.11  Engineered Fill 

4.12  Portable Toilets 

4.13  Holding Tanks 

4.14  Water Conservation Fixtures 

4.15  Pre-Constructed Advanced TreatmentPackage or Plant Systems 

4.16  Graywater Disposal Systems  
 

This chapter includes descriptions and design guidelines for the various types of onsite wastewater 

disposal systems allowed in the Onsite Wastewater Management Zone.  There are two classifications 

of onsite systems in the Town: standard systems and alternative systems.  Onsite systems not 

described in this Chapter shall only be permitted under the provisions of Chapter 7. Specifications 

for various system components such as septic tanks, piping, and pumps, are provided in Chapter 5. 

 

 

4.1 STANDARD SYSTEMS 

 
A standard absorption system is an onsite wastewater disposal system for a single family dwelling  

consisting consists of a septic tank, a flow distribution unit and a gravity-fed absorption dispersal 

field constructed in accordance with the guidelines outlined in this manual. A standard pressure 

distribution system consists of a septic tank, a dosing tank and a pressure distribution dispersal field.  

 

The Method  method of septic tank effluent distribution will depend on the system.  Variables such 

as the slope of the site, the depth of soil and the location of the dispersal field and type of final 

treatment facility  will determine the necessary method of distribution.  A distribution box is used for 

systems requiring distribution of effluent in equal portions to absorption dispersal trenches. Drop 

boxes are distribution boxes used for serial distribution systems on sloping ground. requiring serial 

distribution.Serial distribution is allowed only when it is impractical to provide equal distribution 

and is approved by the Onsite Sanitary Official. [See note 17] 

 

 

 

A. General conditions for approval 

244



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-2 November 1999 

 

To be approved for a standard system each site must meet all the following conditions: 

 

• Soil depth:  See Figure 4.1 

 

• Water table levels: Water table levels shall be predicted using conditions associated with 

saturation (Appendix A) or monitoring wells (Appendix B).  If conditions associated with 

saturation do not occur in soil with rapid or very rapid permeability, predictions of the 

highest level of the water table shall be based on past recorded observations.  If such 

observations have not been made, or are inconclusive, the application shall be denied until 

observations can be made.  Groundwater level determinations shall be made during the 

period of the year in which high groundwater normally occurs. A seasonal groundwater table 

is also known as a temporary high groundwater level and must be maintained for over two 

weeks in order to be regarded as significant for dispersal field design. Minimum soil 

separation requirements for the design of waste water dispersal beds are based off of the 

temporary high groundwater level.   A permanent water table shall be forty-eight inches or 

more from the bottom of the absorption facility.  A temporary water table shall be twenty-

four inches or more below the bottom of the absorption trench. [See note 18] 

  

• Slopes shall not exceed thirty percent. 

 

• The site must not have been altered in a way that would affect proper functioning of the sys-

tem. 

 

• The site of the initial and replacement absorption facility dispersal fields will not be 

subjected to excessive saturation due to, but not limited to, artificial drainage of ground 

surfaces, driveways, roads, and roof drains. 

 

• The required setbacks must be maintained observed (See Table 3.1). 

 

 For repair or new construction, the gross wastewater hydraulic loading rate to any parcel with 

an onsite sewage disposal system that does not have advanced treatment shall not exceed 900 

gallons per acre per day. Gross area calculations shall include the area to the centerline of any 

abutting public street or any other public right of way. [See note19] 

 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.5",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  3.25" +
Indent at:  3.5"

245



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-3 November 1999 

 
 
 

 

 figure 4.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

B. Septic tanks 

246



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-4 November 1999 

 

A diagram of a typical septic tank is shown in Figure 4.2.  Volume and installation requirements are 

listed below.  Other specifications are included in Chapter 5.  

 

• Size of septic tank:  Septic tanks to serve new single family dwellings shall be sized on the 

number of bedrooms in the dwelling, as follows: 

 
 

 

 

Bedrooms 

 
Minimum 

Tank Size 

(gallon) 
 

1 - 3 
 

1,500 
 

4  
 

1,500 
 

5 - 6 
 

1,500 

 

 

• Existing septic tanks that are structurally sound and not identified as being in failure shall 

comply with the minimum septic tank sizes established by Appendix I, Table I-2 of the 

Uniform Plumbing Code, California Plumbing Code Edition. 

 

• Septic tank installation requirements: 

 

a. Septic tanks shall be installed on a level, stable base that will not settle. A minimum 

eight (8) inch base layer of pea gravel shall be required.  For fiberglass or PVC tanks, 

pea gravel or sand shall be used as backfill to the midseam of the tank as a minimum. 

 

b. Septic tanks located in high groundwater areas shall be weighted or provided with an 

antibuoyancy device to prevent flotation. 

 

 c. A watertight access riser extending from the top of the septic tank to the ground 

surface or above is recommended for standard systems, but are not required. 

Watertight access risers extending to finished grade which are capable of supporting 

vehicle loads shall be installed on septic tanks located beneath vehicle traffic areas, 

sidewalks, and concrete pads. Watertight access risers are required on all alternative 

systems. The riser shall have a minimum inside dimension equal to or greater than 

that of the tank access port opening. A cover shall be provided and securely fastened 

or weighted to prevent easy removal and shall have a gasket to prevent odors from 

escaping. 

 

d. Septic tanks shall be installed in a location that provides access for servicing and 

pumping. 

 

e. Septic tank construction shall comply with minimum standards set forth in this 

manual (see Chapter 5), unless otherwise authorized in writing by the Onsite Sanitary 

Official.  A double compartment septic tank shall be used for standard systems. 

247



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-5 November 1999 

 

• Effluent sewer:  The effluent sewer shall extend at least one three feet foot beyond the septic 

tank before connecting to the distribution unit.  It shall be installed with a minimum fall of 

four inches per 100 feet , but in no instance shall there be less than two inches of fall from 

one end of the pipe to the other.  Effluent sewers which are placed on a steep slope and 

running a long distance need require clay dams in the trench containing the effluent sewer.  

The purpose of the dams is to prevent water from  running along the pipe and in the trench 

from and concentrating at the terminal end, of the trench and either entering thus over-

saturating the dispersal trench absorption field  or causing a wet surface area. [See note 20] 

248



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-6 November 1999 

 

 
 
 
FIGURE 4.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

249



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-7 November 1999 

 

C. Distribution boxes   

 

Distribution boxes are mandatory for parallel (equal) distribution to absorption dispersal trenches. 

The distribution box must be on a stable, level native soil or compacted soil base if it is to function 

properly.  A typical parallel (equal) distribution system is illustrated in Figure 4.3.  A typical 

distribution box installation is shown in Figure 4.4.  Distribution box specifications are presented in 

Chapter 5.  Other requirements are listed below: 

 

• The distribution box shall be placed on a stable, level native or compacted soil base.   

 

• Outlets:  A separate outlet shall be provided for each distribution pipe.  The inverts of all 

outlets shall be set at the same level that shall be a minimum of two inches above the bottom 

of the distribution box.  When installation is complete the distribution box shall be filled 

with water at which time the installation shall be checked to make sure that it is level.  

Adjustments shall be made as necessary so that all outlets are fixed permanently and securely 

at exactly the same elevation prior to back-filling. 

 

• Inlets:  The invert of the inlet shall be at least one inch above the invert of the outlets.  Where 

dosing is used, or where the connecting pipe from the septic tank has a steep slope, measures 

shall be taken to prevent direct flow of septic tank effluent across the distribution box  

resulting in unequal distribution of septic tank effluent among the distribution outlets. 

 

• Access:  Distribution boxes shall be provided with a means of access which may be a 

removable lid for smaller boxes or an access port for larger boxes.  Access openings must be 

large enough for easy removal of accumulated solids and inspection of the inlet and all out-

lets.  Openings must be watertight and also extend to within twelve- eighteen inches of the 

finished grade. 

 

• All distribution box locations shall be permanently marked with a steel post, concrete 

marker, access riser or other durable material.  Traffic should shall not be allowed on the 

distribution boxes  .unless the box is constructed to withstand vehicle forces and is provided 

with a traffic rated access riser. [See note 21] 

 

 

250



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-8 November 1999 

 
FIGURE 4.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

251



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-9 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

252



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-10 November 1999 

 

D. Drop boxes 

 

Drop boxes are sometimes  used for serial distribution to absorption dispersal trenches.  A typical 

serial distribution system is shown in Figure 4.5.  Construction, installation, inlets, and access 

requirements are the same as for distribution boxes with the addition of overflow piping.  Specific 

information about drop boxes is included in Chapter 5.   Serial distribution is allowed only when it is 

impractical to provide equal distribution to the dispersal field and upon approval by the Onsite 

Sanitary Official. [See note 17] 

 

The overflow pipe to the next absorption dispersal trench shall be set so that the upper absorption 

dispersal trench is full of septic tank effluent  before the flow spills over to the next absorption 

dispersal trench being served from the box .  The overflow pipe between drop boxes shall be water-

tight.  It shall be placed in a trench dug only deep enough to allow connection to the next lower drop 

box.  The soil back-filled around the overflow pipe shall be carefully compacted below and around it 

to prevent seepage along the pipe between absorption dispersal trenches.  The drop box shall set on a 

firm base and carefully back-filled so as to prevent settlement or other movements. 

 

E. Gravity-fed dispersal absorption field 

 

A "standard" system will use a gravity-fed dispersal absorption field, as described below. 

 

• The absorption absorptive area of the a trench is calculated by using counting soil sidewall 

area only.  The entire surface area of  soil sidewall that is in contact with the gravel up to two 

inches above the distribution pipe is considered absorptive area. In the case where leachfield 

chambers are used instead of leachrock the sidewall area of the chambers that has slots or 

louvers is regarded as the sidewall absorptive area. The bottom area of a dispersal trench is 

not counted as absorptive area unless the septic system provides advanced treatment to the 

wastewater effluent prior to it being discharged.  [See note 22] 

 

• Sizing:  Dispersal Absorption trenches shall be designed and sized based on the guidelines in 

this manual (Table 4.1).  A single family dwelling with one to three bedrooms will normally 

need 300 lineal feet of absorption trench.   A typical absorption dispersal trench design is 

shown in Figure 4.6.   

 

• Dispersal Absorption trenches shall be constructed in accordance with the standards con-

tained in Table 4.2, unless otherwise allowed by the Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 

• Construction shall not be allowed by the Town when the soil has a moisture content that will 

cause permanent damage to the soil.  Soil smearing can effectively seal trench walls.  When 

the sidewall within the dispersal absorption trench has been smeared or compacted, sidewalls 

shall be raked to insure permeability.  All smeared material shall be removed from the 

dispersal absorption trench prior to leachrock placement. 

 

• The bottom of the absorption dispersal trench shall be level within a tolerance of plus or   

minus two inches per 100 feet.  [See note 23] 

 

253



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-11 November 1999 

• Dispersal Absorption trenches shall not be constructed in a manner that would allow septic 

tank effluent to flow backwards from the distribution pipe to undermine the distribution box, 

the septic tank, or any portion of the distribution unit. 

254



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-12 November 1999 

• A minimum of twenty-four inches of drainrock shall extend across the full width of the 

dispersal absorption trench.  There shall be six inches minimum of drainrock under the pipe, 

four inches of drainrock around the pipe and two inches minimum of drainrock above the 

pipe. 

255



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-13 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

256



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-14 November 1999 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

257



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-15 November 1999 

             TABLE 4.1 [See note 24] 

 REQUIRED LINEAL FEET OF ABSORPTION DISPERSAL TRENCH 

  THAT HAS TWELVE INCHES OF DRAINROCK  

 RECEIVING PRIMARY TREATED EFFLUENT BY TRICKLE FLOW
a
   

  
 

 

Number of bedrooms 

 
 

Design flows (gal/d)
b,e

 

 
All non-sandy soils 

with <50% fragments 

smaller than 3 in.
c
 

 
Gravity  lLoam or clay 

loam or clay >50% 

coarse fragments larger 

than 3 in.
d
 

 
1 

f
 150  

 
150  

 
250   

2 225  225  325  

3
 

                 300                 300                  400 
 
4 

 
375 

 
350 

 
450 

 
5 

 
450 

 
400 

 
500 

 
6 

 
525 

 
450 

 
550 

 
7 

 
600 

 
500 

 
600 

 
  
a 

DispersalAbsorption trench sizing for low pressure distribution is the same as for  gravity flow.for gravity and 

pressure distribution of effluent that has not undergone secondary treatment. 

Loading rates are based on the long term acceptance rates for loam, clay loam, and well structured clays. 
b
 Design flows provide a safety factor to cover those individual homes which produce high flow rates.  Actual 

average flow for a single family dwelling with three people is usually 150 - 180 gallons per day  
c
 Design long term acceptance rates  0 .45 to 0.60  Soil application rate  of .5  gallons/ft

2
/day  per square feet day 

 for sidewall area only. [See note 25] 
d
 Design long term acceptance rates 0 .38 to 0.45  Soil application rate of .375 gallons/ft

2
/day per square feet day 

  for sidewall area only. 
e
  Soils containing excessive amounts of clay must have absorption dispersal trenches lengths increased based upon 

soil percolation rate.  Absorption trenches installed in excessive clay content soils shall be pressurized.  
f 
 System design flows shall be 150 gallons for a one-bedroom residence. with each additional bedroom adding 

seventy-five gallons of effluent flow per bedroom  

 

 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

258



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-16 November 1999 

 TABLE 4.2 

 STANDARD ABSORPTION DISPERSAL TRENCH SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 
Item 

 
Value 

 
Maximum length of trench 

 
125 feet 

 
Minimum bottom width of trench 

 
 24 inches 

 
Minimum depth of trench, using: 

 
 

 
  Equal or loop distribution 

 
 1824 inches 

 
  Serial distribution 

 
 24 inches 

 
Minimum distance of undisturbed earth between 

trenches: 

 
 

 
     For  24 to 36 inch wide trenches 

 
  8 feet 

 
     For  12 to 18 6   inch wide trenches 

 
  6 feet 

 
Maximum depth of trenches below native natural soil 

surface 

 
 48 inches

1
 

 
Minimum depth of filter material total drainrock 

 
 12 inches 

 
     Minimum depth below pipe 

 
   6 inches 

 
     Minimum depth above pipe 

 
  2 inches 

 

 Maximum depth of total drainrock - all leach trenches 

 

  30 inches [See note 26]  

 
 Minimum  soil backfill over drainrock 

 
12  inches for gravity or pressure distribution  

[See note 27] 

 

 
1
 Trench depths into native soil in excess of forty-eight inches up to 60 inches may be allowed 

if; soil profile descriptions show that the required repair construction, there are no other 

options, minimum separation distances can be  are maintained. between the base of the 

absorption trenches and any groundwater or restrictive soil horizons.   Absorption trenches 

with greater than five feet of drain rock below pipe shall require a variance. [See note 28] 

 

• Prior to backfilling the absorption dispersal trench, the filter material drainrock shall be 

covered with filter fabric or other material approved by the Onsite Sanitary Official to 

prevent fines from filling the gravel. 

 

• The installation of a piezometer in each trench is highly recommended, but not required, for 

standard systems (see Appendix B). 

 

• Absorption Dispersal trench backfill: 

 

a. Backfill shall be placed carefully to prevent damage to the system.  Extra backfill is 

required over the absorption dispersal trenches to allow for settling. The backfill shall 

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

259



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-17 November 1999 

not be compacted.  The absorption dispersal trenches should not become depressions. 

Wheeled tractors must be operated with care over constructed absorption dispersal 

trenches to avoid damaging them. the absorption trenches .  

 

b. Backfill shall be free of large stones, clumps of soil, masonry, stumps, or waste 

construction materials or other materials that could damage the system.  

 

• All surface water shall be directed away from the disposal dispersal field. 

 

• Header pipe shall be watertight, have a minimum diameter of four inches, and be bedded on 

undisturbed native soil or compacted soil.  Where distribution boxes or drop boxes are used, 

header pipe shall be at least two feet in length.  See Chapter 5.  

 

• Distribution pipe: 

 

a. Distribution pipes shall have a minimum diameter of four inches. 

 

b. Each absorption dispersal trench shall have distribution piping that is centered in the 

trench and laid level within a tolerance of plus or  minus one inch/100 feet of 

leachline. 

 

c. Distribution piping shall comply with the standards listed in Chapter 5. 

 

d. All perforated pipe shall be installed with centerline markings up. 

 

• All absorption trenches shall be marked permanently with a steel post, concrete  marker or 

other durable material.  A marker shall be set at each end of the absorption trench.  

Piezometers, if installed, can be used to satisfy this requirement.  

 

All other systems described hereafter shall comply with the conditions set forth for the   standard 

systems except as indicated by the  additions and substitutions required by an for  alternative 

systems. 

 

 

4.2 PRETREATMENT ADVANCED TREATMENT SYSTEMS [See note 29] 

 
It may be necessary to provide advanced treatment to septic tank effluent with a sand or fine gravel 

filter in areas of shallow soil,  where restrictive layers are present, in areas of high groundwater, on 

sites with excessively permeable soil, or where disposal dispersal area is limited.  Pretreatment 

Advanced treatment systems are considered to be "alternative systems" by the Town of Paradise. 

Parcels that have septic systems that are discharging effluent that has undergone advanced treatment 

are allowed to have a gross hydraulic loading rate of 2000 gpd/acre, whereas parcels that do not have 

advanced treatment are allowed 900 gpd/acre, (excluding the downtown exemption area). Advanced 

treatment is also known as secondary treatment and must meet certain design requirements as 

described in Chapter 6 of this manual. [See note 30] 

 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

260



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-18 November 1999 

A. General conditions for approval 

 

Pretreatment systems shall not be permitted on a site if a standard system would be acceptable.   

Bottomless Ssand or fine gravel filters may be permitted on any site meeting when all of the 

following minimum site conditions are met: 

 

• General conditions for bottomless sand or fine gravel  filter placement: 

 

a. Slope is forty-five percent or less.  Refer to Section 4.7 for steep slope (thirty to forty-

five percent) conditions. 

 

b. Setbacks shown in Table 3.1 can be met 

 

c. Soil beneath a bottomless sand filter absorption area  shall be  at least four three feet 

deep in depth above a temporary water table or restrictive soil or rock layer. and the  

percolation rate must be no less than five minutes per inch and no greater than sixty 

minutes per inch.  [See note 31] 

  

 

• Temporary water table levels:  

 

a. The highest level attained by temporary water would be twenty-four inches below the 

bottom of the trench.    

 

• Permanent water table levels:  Permanent water table levels shall be determined in 

accordance with methods specified in this manual.  A four foot separation from trench 

bottom to permanent water shall be maintained.      

  

Types of pretreatment:  There are two basic types of pretreatment:  Single pass (intermittent dosing:  

contained and bottomless) and multiple pass (recirculating gravel) filters.  The selection of the filter 

will be based on an evaluation of the site. 

 

The partially treated wastewater is collected at the bottom of the  filter and discharged, either by 

gravity or by pressure, to a suitable, approved final treatment, usually  an absorption field.  

 

B. Intermittent   Sand filters - General 

 

A An intermittent  dosing  sand filter system consists of a septic tank, a dosing system with effluent 

pump and controls or a dosing siphon, bed of sand, and an absorption facility  a separate dispersal 

field ( for contained sand filters).  A two foot bed of medium sand serves as an aerobic site for 

microorganisms, which live on the surface of the sand grains. All or portions of the sand bed will 

require replacement at some point in time depending on operation practices and inert, non-

biodegradable material contained in the waste.  

 

C. Intermittent dosing  Sand filter - contained 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

261



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-19 November 1999 

A contained intermittent dosing  sand filter consists of an impermeable container filled with a mini-

mum of two feet of medium sand designed to filter and biologically treat septic tank or other 

treatment unit effluent from a pressure distribution system at an application rate not to exceed 1.23 

gallons/ft
2
/day per square feet day of sand surface area, applied at a dose not to exceed twenty 

percent of the projected daily sewage flow.  A typical intermittent  contained sand filter is shown in 

Figure 4.7. 

 

Construction: 

 

• Use guidelines for the distribution as outlined in pressure distribution systems. 

 

• Filters can be placed above or below grade.   

 

 A separate dispersal bed is provided. 

 

• Media specifications:  effective size 0.30 - 0.50 millimeters, uniformity coefficient of four or 

less.  The media shall conform to the gradation shown below.  The sand must be washed as 

to be free of fines and approved by the system designer prior to delivery to the site. 

 
 

Sieve Size 
 

Percent Passing 
 

3/8 inch 
 

   100 
 

No.  4     
 

 40  100 
 

No.  10   
 

62 100 

 
No.  16   

 
45  82 

 
No.  30   

 
25 / 55  

 
No.  50   

 
5 20   

 
No.  60   

 
0 10   

 
No.  100 

 
0 4   

 

D. Intermittent dosing  Sand filter - bottomless   

 

A bottomless intermittent dosing  sand filter consists of two feet of medium, washed sand which is 

pressure dosed and effluent is allowed to drain through the sand directly into the soil beneath.  A 

typical bottomless sand filter is illustrated in Figure 4.8.  A bottomless sand filter can typically be 

used in soils with rapid permeability provided that the required groundwater separation distances are 

provided. 

 

Maximum loading rates for bottomless sand filters are the same as for contained sand filters.  The 

underlying material soil must accept the treated effluent at a rate greater than 5 gallons/ft
2
/day per 

.  Soil hydraulic testing procedures are outlined in Appendix C.  A bed or trench 

design may be used.     

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 
0" + Indent at:  0.25"

262



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-20 November 1999 

 

263



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-21 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

264



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-22 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

265



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-23 November 1999 

Construction: 

 

• Use guidelines for the distribution as outlined in pressure distribution systems. 

 

• Filters can be placed above or below grade.   

 

• In-trench bottomless sand filters shall have a minimum width of two feet.  

 

• Media specifications:  effective size 0.30 - 0.50 millimeters, uniformity coefficient of four or 

less.  The media shall conform to the gradation shown below.  The sand must be washed so 

as to be free of fines and approved by the system designer prior to delivery to the site. 

 
 

Sieve Size 
 

Percent Passing 
 

3/8 inch 
 

   100 
 

No.  4     
 

 40 - 100 
 

No.  10   
 

62 - 100 
 

No.  16   
 

45 - 82 
 

No.  30   
 

25 - 55 
 

No.  50   
 

5 - 20 
 

No.  60   
 

0 - 10 
 

No.  100 
 

0 - 4 

 

E. Recirculating gravel, textile or other media  filter [See note 32] 

 

Effluent from the septic tank flows by gravity  to a recirculation tank (see Figures 4.9 and 4.10).  

Here it mixes with treated effluent returning from a gravel, textile or other media filter unit. A gravel 

filter typically has two feet of washed rounded gravel. a bed of fine gravel.  A timer controls a pump 

used to pressure dose a twenty-four inch layer of fine gravel the filter, usually two-three times per 

hour.  A valve or other splitter mechanism in the recirculation tank  allows effluent returning from 

the filter to either enter the tank or to be discharged to the dispersal field, depending on the liquid 

level. in the tank.  

 

• The filter loading rates are based on five gallons/ft
2
/day  based on the 

wastewater flow rate. 

 

• Wastewater recirculation ratios will vary from 3:1 to 6:1 (recirculation flow to wastewater 

flow). 

 

• Soil beneath dispersal fields receiving treated effluent from recirculating gravel, textile or 

other media filter shall be at least two feet in depth above a temporary water table or 

restrictive soil or rock layer. [See note 32]  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

266



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-24 November 1999 

 

Construction: 

 

• Media specifications for gravel: the effective size is three millimeters with a uniformity 

coefficient of two or less. The gravel shall have less than two percent passing through the No. 

10 sieve and shall have one hundred percent passing the No. 4 sieve.  The media must be 

washed as to be free of fines and must be approved by the designer prior to delivery to the 

site.  

 

• Containers are rigid with solid construction and must be watertight.can be concrete or 

flexible membrane.  Use the same guidelines for containers as for contained sand 

filters. [See note 32] 

 

F. Other types of pretreatment advanced treatment systems 

 

Other pretreatment advanced treatment systems which vary in design from the filters mentioned in 

this manual may be authorized by the Town if it is demonstrated that the systems produce 

comparable  effluent quality that meets required standards. Except for bottomless sand filters all 

advanced treatment systems must have the ability to be sampled for effluent quality. Advanced 

treatment systems that have an NSF/ANSI certification will be regarded favorably as to their design 

and construction. Refer to Chapter 7 for approval procedures. [See note 33] 

 

G. Pretreatment Advanced treatment system disposal fields 

 

The minimum total lengths of standard   initial absorption dispersal trenches for sand filter advanced 

treatment absorption facilities systems serving single family homes are indicated in Table 4.3.  For 

other applications all types and designs of advanced treatment systems the application rate in a 

dispersal field shall not exceed 1.20 1.0 gallons/ft
2
/day  . Dispersal trenches are 

allowed to of combined sidewall and absorption trench bottom areas, based on the design flow rate, 

as discussed in Chapter 6. Dispersal beds cannot use sidewall area in their calculations for total 

absorptive surfaces. Applications submitted for new construction are required to indicate the original 

and replacement dispersal field locations.  Repair area absorption trenches for single family 

residences shall be maintained which utilize onsite wastewater disposal system installations other 

than pretreatment disposal trenches and redundant disposal trenches.   Repair area absorption trench 

lengths shall yield sufficient absorption trench surface area equal to the absorption capacity of 

standard absorption trenches required for a one to three bedroom single family residence  [See note 

34] 

267



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-25 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

268



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-26 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

269



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-27 November 1999 

 

 TABLE 4.3 

 ABSORPTION FIELD  SIZING FOR DISPERSALTRENCHES WITH 12 IN. OF  

 DRAINROCK OVER PERMEABLE SOILS RECEIVING 

PRETREATED SECONDARY TREATED  EFFLUENT BY TRICKLE OR PRESSURE 

DOSED FLOW *  

 
 

Number of bedrooms 
 

Design flows (gal/d) 
 

Lineal feet 
 

1-3 
 

300 
 

100 
 

4 
 

375 
 

125 
 

5 
 

450 
 

150 
 

6 
 

525 
 

175 
 

7 
 

600 
 

200 

 

  *  For slowly permeable soils and fractured bedrock, infiltration tests shall be performed in 

accordance with Appendix C. 

 

 The allowable soil hydraulic loading rates are higher where pretreatment with advanced treatment 

systems are provided  because of the following :    

 

• Pretreatment Advanced treatment reduces soil clogging which allows higher loading rates. 

 

• The bottom area of absorption dispersal trenches are important effective absorption surfaces 

for secondary treated pretreated effluent, because secondary treated effluent is much 'cleaner' 

than primary treated effluent and does not develop a clogging mat. the absorption trench 

bottoms continue to  absorb pretreated effluent unlike absorption trenches receiving  

untreated effluent from a septic tank. Each lineal foot of pretreated absorption Therefore 

secondary treated dispersal  trenches has have more usable surface area than primary treated 

dispersal trenches absorption trenches loaded with untreated septic tank effluent.   

 

H. General requirements for pretreatment advanced treatment systems 

 

• All materials used in filter system construction shall be structurally sound, durable and 

capable of withstanding normal installation and operation stresses.  Component parts subject 

to malfunction or excessive wear shall be readily accessible for repair and replacement. 

 

• All filter containers shall be placed over a stable level base. 

 

• Piping and fittings for the filter distribution system shall be as required under pressure 

distribution systems. 

 

• A method for sampling treated filter effluent shall be provided except for bottomless sand 

filters..  

270



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-28 November 1999 

 

• The specific requirements for septic tanks, dosing tanks, etc. in Chapter 5 shall be met. 

 

• A piezometer shall be installed adjacent into each absorption dispersal trench (see Appendix 

B). 

 

• The applicable components of the pretreatment advanced treatment system shall meet 

minimum specifications indicated in Chapter 5 unless otherwise authorized in writing by the 

Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 

• Container design and construction:  Container may be constructed of concrete or other 

materials where equivalent function, workmanship, water-tightness and at least a thirty-year 

service life can be documented.  A flexible membrane liner (FML) is permitted provided that 

it is made of material with the following properties: 

 

a. Materials are at least equivalent to thirty milliliter unreinforced polyvinyl chloride 

(PVC) described in Chapter 5.   

 

b. Have field repair instructions and materials which are provided to the purchaser with 

the liner; and 

 

c. Have factory fabricated "boots" suitable for field bonding onto the liner to facilitate 

the passage of piping through the liner in a waterproof manner.  Where accepted for 

use, flexible sheet membrane liners shall be placed against relatively smooth, regular 

surfaces comprised of rigid, solid approved materials.  Surfaces shall be free of sharp 

edges, corners, roots, nails, wire, splinters and other projections which might 

puncture, tear, or cut the liner.  Where a smooth, uniform surface cannot be assured in 

the field, filter system plans must include specification for liner protection.   A four-

inch bed of clean sand or a nondegradable filter fabric acceptable to the Town, shall 

be used to provide liner protection.  

 

• The designer of a pretreatment an advanced treatment system shall supply both the owner 

and the Onsite Sanitary Official with system operations and maintenance instructions. 

 

I. Operation and maintenance  

 

Operation, Maintenance, Monitoring and reporting shall be as outlined in Chapter 1.4.A. Alternative 

and Innovative Advanced Treatment Pre-Treatment Systems, of this Manual. 

 

The owner/purchaser of a filter an advanced treatment  system must recognize that he/she assumes 

the continuous responsibility to preserve the installation as near as practical toin its "as built" state.  

This responsibility includes erosion control, fencing out of livestock and the control of burrowing 

animals. 

271



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-29 November 1999 

J. Operations and maintenance instructions 

 

As a minimum, the operations and maintenance instructions shall include the following information. 

 

• A statement notifying the homeowner of his/her responsibility for maintaining the system in 

proper working condition. 

 

• A complete description of the system and components.  Include process description for the 

homeowner and design criteria. 

 

• Instructions on how to properly set pump control equipment. 

 

• How the Town can sample filter treated effluent can be sampled. 

 

• How and when to inspect and flush distribution laterals. 

 

• What to do if the alarm on the control pump panel activates. 

 

• A system troubleshooting table listing potential problems and their solutions for the septic 

tank, treatmentfilter, and absorption field. 

 

• When to get the septic tank or recirculation tank pumped. 

 

• Safety precautions to be observed. 

 

 

4.3 PRESSURE DISTRIBUTION 

 
A pressure distribution system is any system designed to intermittently distribute septic tank or other 

treatment unit effluent uniformly under pressure in an absorption facility a dispersal field  or sand 

filter.  Pressure distribution is used to prolong the life of an absorption surface, prevent surfacing of 

effluent, and allow the use of narrow absorption dispersal trenches which can be built closer together 

on sites with limited absorption trench area.  Any system using pressure distribution will be 

considered "alternative" by the Town of Paradise. 

 

A. General conditions for approval 

 

A pressure dosed absorption dispersal field will not be permitted on a site if a standard system would 

be acceptable.  Pressurized distribution systems may otherwise be permitted where this method of 

effluent distribution is desired. 

 

272



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-30 November 1999 

B. Requirements 

 

A typical dosing tank is shown in Figure 4.11.  A single compartment septic tank may be used if the 

pump or siphon is located in a screened vault. 

 

All materials used in pressurized systems shall be structurally sound, durable, and capable of 

withstanding normal stresses incidental to installation and operation.  Nothing in these rules shall be 

construed to set aside applicable building, electrical, or other codes.   

 

Pressurized distribution piping:  Piping, valves and fittings for pressurized systems shall meet the 

following minimum requirements, as well as the applicable requirements presented in Chapter 5. 

 

• All pressure transport, manifold, lateral piping, and fittings shall meet or exceed the 

requirements for Class 200 PVC 1120 pressure pipe as identified in ASTM 

Specification D2241. 

 

• Pressure transport piping shall be uniformly supported along the trench bottom, and at the 

discretion of the Town, It shall be bedded in sand or other material approved by the  Onsite 

Sanitary Official.  A fourteen gauge tracer wire shall be placed above piping if it crosses 

property lines or enters public property or right of way. 

 

• Orifices shall be located on top of the pipe. 

 

• The ends of lateral piping shall be provided with threaded plugs or caps and extend to the 

surface for cleaning purposes. 

 

• All joints in the manifold, lateral piping, and fittings shall be solvent welded, using the 

appropriate joint compound for the pipe material.  Pressure transport piping may be solvent 

welded or rubber ring jointed. 

273



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-31 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

274



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-32 November 1999 

 

• A ball valve shall be placed on the pressure transport pipe, in or near the dosing tank, when 

appropriate. 

 

• A check valve shall be placed between the pump and the ball valve. 

 

• Antisiphon valves shall be placed between the pump and ball valve when pumping down 

slope. 

 

 Absorption Dispersal trench sizing and construction:  A pressurized system using  

absorptiondispersal trenches shall be designed and sized in accordance with the requirements for a 

standard system (see Figure 4.1).   Absorption Dispersal trenches can be narrow or standard width.  

A typical pressure dosed absorption dispersal trench is shown in Figure 4.12.   Absorption Dispersal 

trenches shall be constructed based on the following guidelines.  

 

• Pressure lateral piping shall not have not  less that than six inches of filter material drain rock 

below, nor less than four inches of filter material drain rock above the piping.   

 

• The top of the filter material shall be covered with filter fabric, or other nonbiodegradable 

material permeable to fluids that will not allow passage of soil particles coarser than very 

fine sand.  

 

• A piezometer shall be installed adjacent to each absorption trench (see Appendix B). 

 

• Hydraulic design criteria:  Pressurized distribution systems shall be designed for appropriate 

head and capacity.  Head calculations shall include maximum static lift, pipe friction, and 

orifice head requirements. 

 

a. Where pumps are used, static lift shall be measured from the minimum dosing tank 

level to the highest pipe elevation. 

 

b. Pipe friction shall be based upon a Hazen Williams coefficient of smoothness of 150. 

 The head loss across a lateral with multiple evenly spaced orifices may be considered 

equal to one-third of the head loss that would result if the entrance flow were to pass 

through an equivalent of similar un-perforated pipe length. 

 

c. There shall be a minimum head of five feet (up to ten feet is desirable) at the most 

remote orifice and no more than a ten percent head variation between nearest and 

most remote orifice in an individual lateral. 

 

275



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-33 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

276



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-34 November 1999 

• The capacity of a pressurized distribution system refers to the rate of flow given in 

gallons per minute. 

 

a. Lateral piping shall have one-eighth inch maximum discharge orifices spaced evenly. 

 

b. The system shall be dosed at a rate not to exceed twenty percent of the design daily 

wastewater flow. 

 

c. The effect of back drainage of the total volume of effluent within the pressure 

distribution system shall be evaluated for its impact upon the dosing tank and pump 

operation. 

 

• Orifice spacing:  The objective of pressure dosing is to produce unsaturated flow in a trench 

with no clogging mat.  In coarse textured typical soils found in the Town with rapid 

permeability, a spacing of two feet between orifices is adequate. Wider spacing may be 

approved based on a qualified engineers design.  In well structured, medium textured soils 

the spacing is not as critical.  Spacing of four to six feet is adequate for these soils.  Greater 

spacings can cause very high loading rates near the orifice which will create a clogging mat.  

There is no real advantage to using pressure dosing for soils with an acceptance rate slower 

than 0.3 gallons .  A clogging mat will form with or without pressure 

dosing. [See note 35] 

 

C. Operation and maintenance 

 

System operation and maintenance tasks and requirements shall be as specified on the operating 

permit and the designer's operations and maintenance instructions.  The system owner shall be 

responsible for the continuous operation and maintenance of the system.  Each system will be 

inspected by the Town on a regular basis.  

 

The owner/purchaser of a pressure distribution system must recognize that he/she assumes the 

continuous responsibility to preserve the installation as near as practical in its "as built" state.  This 

responsibility includes erosion control, fencing out of livestock and the control of burrowing 

animals. 

 

D. Operations and maintenance instructions 

 

As a minimum, the operations and maintenance instructions shall include the following information.  

 

• A statement notifying the homeowner of his responsibility for maintaining the system in 

proper working condition. 

 

• A complete description of the system and components, including a process description for 

the homeowner and design criteria.  

Formatted: Font color: Green

Formatted: Font color: Green

277



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-35 November 1999 

• Instructions on how to properly set pump control equipment.  

 

• How and when to inspect and test dosing tank components.  

 

• How and when to inspect and flush distribution laterals. 

 

• What to do if the alarm on the pump panel activates.  

 

• A system troubleshooting table listing potential problems and their solutions. 

 

• When to get tank(s) pumped.  

 

• Safety precautions to be observed. 

 

 

4.4 NARROW ABSORPTION DISPERSAL TRENCHES 

 
Narrow absorption dispersal trenches are used to allow closer spacing of trenches in difficult-to-

construct locations.  A diagram of a narrow absorption dispersal trench system is shown in Figure 

4.13.  Narrow absorption dispersal trench systems shall be considered "alternative" by the Town of 

Paradise. 

 

A. General conditions for approval 

 

Narrow absorption dispersal trenches will not be permitted on a site if a standard system would be 

acceptable.  Construction permits may be issued by the Town for narrow absorption dispersal 

trenches for sites that meet the following criteria. 

 

• Any site that meets soil requirements for a standard or pretreated system or 

 

• Those sites where area is limited for an absorption dispersal field. 

 

B. Requirements 

 

• All applicable requirements of Section 4.1 apply. 

 

• Minimum absorption dispersal trench width shall be twelve six inches, the maximum shall be 

eighteen inches. [See note 36] 

 

• Minimum distances between absorption dispersal trenches shall be six feet. 

 

• Maximum depth shall be dependent on the depth to restrictive soil horizons and groundwater 

levels.  Absorption trenches with greater than five feet of drainrock below the pipe shall 

require a variance.  

 

• Pressure distribution shall be used as outlined in Section 4.3. 

278



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-36 November 1999 

 

• A piezometer shall be constructed adjacent to each absorption dispersal trench (see Appendix 

B). 

 

• Narrow absorption dispersal trench fields can be installed in engineered fills.  They can have 

a capping fill (twelve inches) if the soil depth is within twelve inches of the minimum 

effective soil depth requirements. 

 

279



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-37 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

280



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-38 November 1999 

 

4.5  DEEP ABSORPTION TRENCH SYSTEM [see note 37] 

 
  

 

A deep absorption trench system is defined as a system which uses trenches that are pressurized and 

use a greater vertical depth of drainrock than a standard absorption trench.  By using this method, 

absorption trenches can be fit into a smaller area and superior soil permeability, if present at a greater 

depth in the profile, can be utilized.  A typical deep absorption trench system is shown in Figure 

4.14.  Deep absorption trench systems shall be considered "alternative" by the Town of Paradise. 

 

A. General conditions for approval 

 

A deep absorption trench system will not be permitted on a site if a standard absorption trench 

system would be acceptable.  Construction permits may be issued by the Town for deep absorption 

trench systems for sites that meet all the following conditions. 

 

• The effective soil depths shown in Figure 4.1 can be maintained. 

 

• Lot or parcel size is inadequate to accommodate standard system absorption trenches with a 

projected flow of 300 gallons per day. 

 

• All other requirements for standard subsurface systems can be met. 

 

B. Requirements 

 

• The deep absorption trench system shall be sized on the sidewall loading rates presented in 

Section 4.1 or the combined sidewall/bottom area loading rates presented in Section 4.2, as 

appropriate.    

 

• A piezometer shall be constructed adjacent to each absorption trench (see Appendix B). 

 

• All applicable requirements outlined in Section 4.1 apply.  
 

 

4.56 REDUNDANT SYSTEMS 

 
A redundant absorption dispersal field system is one in which two complete absorption dispersal 

field systems are installed.  The absorption dispersal trenches of each system alternate with each 

other and only one system operates at any given time.  A typical redundant absorption dispersal field 

system is shown in Figure 4.15. This type of system may be required on small lots where it will be 

difficult to install a repair absorption dispersal field once after the house is built. 

281



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-39 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

282



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-40 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

283



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-41 November 1999 

 

A. General conditions for approval 

 

A redundant system will not be permitted on a site if a standard absorption dispersal trench system 

would be acceptable.  Construction permits may be issued by the Town for redundant disposal 

dispersal field systems to serve single family dwellings on sites that meet all the conditions for a 

standard system. Redundant absorption dispersal systems shall not be used for large systems. 

Redundant systems shall be considered "alternative" by the Town of Paradise. 

 

B. Requirements   

 

• Each redundant absorption dispersal field system shall contain two complete absorption 

dispersal fields. 

 

• Each absorption of the two separate dispersal fields shall be adequate in size to accommodate 

the projected daily wastewater flow from the structure. 

 

• A minimum trench sidewall separation of ten feet (twelve feet on centers) shall be 

maintained between absorption dispersal trenches designed to operate simultaneously. and a 

A minimum trench sidewall separation of four feet (six feet on centers) shall be maintained 

between adjacent absorption dispersal trenches that are designed to operate alternatively. 

Dispersal trenches shall be two feet wide for redundant systems. 

 

• A piezometer shall be installed adjacent to each dispersal absorption trench (see 

Appendix B). 

 

• The diversion valve location shall be marked permanently with a steel post, concrete marker, 

or other durable material. 

 

C. Operation and maintenance 

 

System operation and maintenance tasks and requirements shall be as specified on the Operating 

Permit and the designer's operations and maintenance instructions.  The system owner shall be 

responsible for the continuous operation and maintenance of the system.  Each system will be 

inspected by the Town a certified service provider hired by the owner on a regular basis. [See note 

38]  

 

The owner/purchaser of the redundant system must recognize that he/she assumes the continuous 

responsibility to preserve the installation as near as practical in its "as built" state.  This responsibility 

includes erosion control, fencing out of livestock and the control of burrowing animals. 

 

D.  Operation and maintenance instructions 

 

As a minimum, the operations and maintenance instructions shall include the following information. 

 

• A statement notifying the homeowner of his/her responsibility for maintaining the system in 

proper working condition. 

284



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-42 November 1999 

 

• A complete description of the system and components, including a process description and 

design criteria.  

 

• When and how to alternate the absorption dispersal fields. 

 

• When to have get the septic tank pumped. 

 

 

4.67 STEEP SLOPE SYSTEMS 

 
Slope stability and surfacing of effluent are major concerns when onsite systems are constructed on 

slopes exceeding thirty percent.  Where steep slopes are encountered, absorption dispersal trenches 

using greater vertical depths of drainrock than standard absorption dispersal trenches can be utilized. 

 All steep slope systems shall be considered "alternative" by the Town of Paradise. 

 

A. General conditions for approval 

 

An onsite system construction permit may be issued by the Town for a steep slope system to serve a 

single-family dwelling on slopes in excess of thirty percent provided the site meets the following 

requirements. 

 

• Slope does not exceed forty-five percent. 

 

• The soil is well drained with no evidence of saturation to a depth of eight feet. 

 

• The soil has a minimum effective depth of six and a half feet.  [See note 39] 

 

B.  Requirements 

 

•  Steep Slope absorption dispersal trenches shall be installed at a minimum depth of thirty 

inches and at a maximum depth that maintains the required separation from the trench base 

to a restrictive soil horizon or groundwater level.  Minimum and maximum steep slope  

absorption dispersal trench depth measurements shall be made from the natural soil surface 

on the downhill side of the trench, and contain a minimum of eighteen inches of filter 

material drainrock and twelve inches of native soil backfill.   Absorption Dispersal trench 

width can be a minimum of twelve six inches (narrow trench design) up to a maximum of 

thirty-six inches. [See note 36 again] 

 

• The system shall be sized using the table for Standard Absorption Trench Systems. 

 

•  Steep slope absorption dispersal trenches can be excavated manually.  All smeared and 

compacted surfaces in the absorption dispersal trench shall be removed before any filter 

material (drainrock) is placed. in the absorption trench . 

 

285



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-43 November 1999 

• A piezometer shall be installed adjacent to in each absorption dispersal trench (see 

Appendix B). 

 

• No large or community systems will be allowed on steep slopes.  See Chapter 6. 

 

4.78 CAPPING FILL SYSTEMS 

 

A capping fill is a system where the effective sidewall of the absorption dispersal trench is installed a 

minimum of twelve inches into natural soil and covered with a soil cap of specified depth and 

texture.  A capping fill disposal dispersal system is used where the site is lacking in effective soil 

depth or depth to groundwater.  A typical capping fill is shown in Figure 4.16.  All capping fill 

systems shall be considered "alternative" by the Town of Paradise. 

 

A.  General conditions for approval 

 

To be approved for a capping fill system, each site must meet all of the following conditions. 

 

• Slope does not exceed twelve percent. (Special designs may allow installation on steeper 

slopes.) 

 

• Any site which can meet all the rules for a standard system or a pretreatment system except 

where effective soil depth (soil depth, depth to seasonal or permanent water table, depth to 

rapidly draining material) is lacking by twelve inches or less.  

 

• Soil permeability from the ground surface to the layer that limits effective soil depth is 

adequate to accept wastewater flow plus rainfall. 

 

B.  Requirements  

 

The cap shall be constructed pursuant to permit requirements.  Unless otherwise required by the 

Onsite Sanitary Official, construction sequence shall be as follows: 

 

• The soil shall be examined and approved by the designer prior to placement.  The texture of 

the soil used for the cap shall be of the same textural class, or one textural class coarser than 

the natural topsoil. 

 

• Construction of capping fills shall occur between June 1 and October 1 unless otherwise 

allowed by the Onsite Sanitary Official.  The upper eighteen inches of natural soil must not 

be saturated or at a moisture content which causes loss of soil structure and porosity when 

worked. 

 

• The absorption dispersal trench area and the soil cap borrow site shall be scarified prior to 

construction to destroy the vegetative mat.  Rototilling is the preferred method. 

 

• The system shall be installed as specified in the construction permit.  There shall be a 

minimum of ten feet of separation between the edge of the fill and the outside sidewalls of 

the absorption dispersal trenches.  

286



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-44 November 1999 

 

• The first six inches of the fill shall be mixed thoroughly with the native soil.  Fill material 

shall be evenly graded to a final depth of sixteen inches over the drainrock.  Drainrock shall 

be covered by filter fabric prior to the placement of the soil cap.  Both initial cap and repair 

cap may be constructed at the same time if the owner wishes. 

 

• A piezometer shall be installed adjacent to each absorption dispersal trench (see Appendix 

B). 

 

C.  Required inspections 

 

The following minimum inspections shall be performed for each capping fill installed: 

 

• The absorption dispersal trench area and soil cap borrow material must be inspected for 

scarification, soil texture, and moisture content, prior to cap construction. 

 

• Precover inspection of the installed absorption dispersal field facility. 

 

• After a cap is placed, determine Inspection of adequate contact between fill material and 

native soil (no obvious contact zone visible), adequate depth of material, and uniform 

distribution of fill material. 

 

• Final inspection is after landscaping.  The operating permit will be issued after the final 

inspection. 

 

D.  Operation and maintenance 

 

System operation and maintenance tasks and requirements shall be as specified on the operating 

permit and the designer's operations and maintenance instructions.  The system owner shall be 

responsible for the continuous operation and maintenance of the system.  Each system will be 

inspected by the Town on a regular basis.  

 

The owner/purchaser of a capping fill system must recognize that he/she assumes the continuous 

responsibility to preserve the installation as near as practical in its "as built" state.  This responsibility 

includes erosion control, fencing out of livestock and the control of burrowing animals. 

 

E.  Operation and maintenance instructions 

 

As a minimum, the operation and maintenance instructions shall include the following information. 

 

• A statement notifying the homeowner of his/her responsibility for maintaining the system in 

proper working condition.  

 

• A complete description of the system and components.  

 

• How to properly maintain the integrity of the fill. 

287



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-45 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.16 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

288



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-46 November 1999 

 

4.89  Perimeter Drain or Tile Dewatering System 

 
A perimeter drain or tile dewatering system is used to lower the groundwater level on sites with 

slopes less than three percent.  A trench is constructed around the entire absorption dispersal field 

area to collect and divert groundwater away from the absorption dispersal facility.  A typical 

perimeter drain system is shown in Figure 4.17.  All drain systems shall be considered "alternative" 

by the Town of Paradise. 

 

A.  General conditions for approval 

 

Construction permits may be issued by the Town for a perimeter drain system provided the site can 

meet the following requirements. 

 

• The site has a natural outlet that will allow a drainage pipe installed on a proper grade around 

the proposed absorption dispersal facility to daylight above annual high water. 

 

• Soils must be drainable, with a minimum effective soil depth of at least forty-eight inches in 

soils with temporary groundwater, and at least seventy-two inches in soils with permanent 

groundwater. 

 

• Slope does not exceed three percent. 

 

• All other requirements for the system, except depth to groundwater, can be met.  However, 

after the field collection drainage tile is installed, the groundwater levels shall remain below 

the specified depth. 

 

B.  Requirements 

  

• Field collection drainage pipe shall be installed on a uniform grade of 0.2-0.4 feet of fall per 

100 feet at: 

 

a. A minimum of forty-eight inches deep in soils with temporary groundwater, or 

 

b. A minimum of seventy-two inches deep in soils with permanent groundwater. 

 

• Maximum drainage pipe spacing parallel to the  absorption dispersal field shall be seventy 

feet on center. 

 

• Minimum horizontal separation distance between the drainage pipe and absorption dispersal 

facility shall be twenty feet. 

 

• Field collection drainage pipe shall be rigid, smooth wall perforated pipe with a minimum 

diameter of four inches. 

289



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-47 November 1999 

 

• Field collection drainage pipe shall be enveloped in clean filter material (drainrock) to within 

thirty inches of the soil surface in soils with permanent groundwater or to within twelve 

inches of the soil surface in soils with temporary groundwater.  Filter material (drainrock) 

shall be covered with filter fabric or other nondegradable material approved by the Onsite 

Sanitary Official. 

 

• Outlet pipe shall be rigid, smooth wall solid PVC or ABS pipe with a minimum diameter of 

four inches.  The outlet end shall be protected by a four-foot long section of Schedule 40 

PVC or ABS or galvanized metal pipe, and a flap gate or grill to exclude rodents.  The 

outlets shall be permanently marked with a steel post or other durable material so that they 

can be easily located if vegetation is dense. 

 

• The discharge pipe and pipe drainage system are integral parts of the system, but do not need 

to meet setback requirements to property lines, streams, lakes, ponds or other surface water 

bodies.  The discharge of drainage water shall not create nuisance conditions. 

 

• The Onsite Sanitary Official will require demonstration that a proposed tile dewatering site 

can be drained over an entire wet season prior to issuing the construction permit for the 

absorption dispersal field.  The installation of piezometers within the proposed site will be 

required (see Appendix B). 

 

• The absorption dispersal facility shall use equal or pressurized distribution and can use 

narrow absorption dispersal trenches. 

 

C.  Operation and maintenance 

 

System operation and maintenance tasks and requirements shall be a specified on the Operating 

Permit and the designer's operations and maintenance instructions.  The system owner shall be 

responsible for the continuous operation and maintenance of the system.  Each system will be 

inspected by the Town on a regular basis.  

 

The owner/purchaser of a perimeter drain or tile dewatering system must recognize that he/she 

assumes the continuous responsibility to preserve the installation as near as practical in its "as built" 

state.  This responsibility includes maintenance of drain outlets, erosion control, fencing out of 

livestock and the control of burrowing animals. 

 

290



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-48 November 1999 

 
 
FIGURE 4.17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

291



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-49 November 1999 

D.  Operation and maintenance instructions 

 

As a minimum, the operations and maintenance instructions shall include the following information.  

 

• A statement notifying the homeowner of his/her responsibility for maintaining the system in 

proper working condition. 

 

• A complete description of the system and components. 

 

• How and when to inspect the drain outlets for proper operation.  

 

• When to get the septic tank pumped. 

 

 

4.190 CURTAIN DRAIN 

 
A curtain drain is used to lower an existing water table on sites with slopes greater than four percent. 

 A trench is installed on the up-hill side of the absorption dispersal field which collects and diverts 

water away from the absorption dispersal field area.  The curtain drain technique applies only to sites 

with a temporary water table.  The effectiveness of most curtain drains extends thirty to fifty feet 

downslope of the trench.  A typical curtain drain system is shown in Figure 4.18.  All curtain drain 

systems shall be considered "alternative" by the Town of Paradise. 

 

A.  General conditions for approval 

 

Construction permits may be issued by the Onsite Sanitary Official for a curtain drain system 

provided the site can meet the following requirements. 

 

• Soils must be drainable, with a minimum effective soil depth of at least forty-eight inches in 

soils with temporary groundwater. 

 

• Slope does not exceed forty-five percent. 

 

• All other requirements for the system, except depth to groundwater, can be met.   

 

B.  Requirements  

 

• Field collection drainage tile shall be installed on a uniform grade of 0.2-0.4 feet of fall per 

100 foot, and a minimum of forty-eight inches deep in soils with temporary groundwater. 

 

• Minimum horizontal separation distance between the drainage pipe and absorption facility 

shall be ten feet. 

 

• Field collection drainage pipe shall be rigid smooth wall perforated pipe with a minimum 

diameter of four inches. 

 

292



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-50 November 1999 

• Field collection drainage pipe shall be enveloped in clean filter material (drainrock) to within 

twelve inches of the soil surface.  Filter material (drainrock) shall be covered with filter 

fabric, untreated building paper or other nondegradable material approved by the Town. 

 

• Outlet pipe shall be rigid and smooth wall solid PVC pipe with a minimum diameter of four 

inches.  The outlet end shall be protected by a four-foot long section of Schedule 40 PVC or 

ABS or galvanized metal pipe, and a flap gate or grill to exclude rodents.  The outlets shall 

be permanently marked with a steel post or other durable material so that they can be easily 

located if vegetation is dense.  

 

• The discharge pipe and pipe drainage system are integral parts of the system, but do not need 

to meet setback requirements to property lines, streams, lakes, ponds or other surface water 

bodies. 

 

• The Onsite Sanitary Official will require demonstration that a proposed curtain drain site can 

be drained over an entire wet season prior to issuing a construction permit for the absorption 

field.  The installation of piezometers within the proposed site will be required (see 

Appendix B). 

 

• The absorption wastewater dispersal field facility   shall use have equal, serial  or pressurized 

distribution and narrow absorption dispersal trenches can be used. 

 

• The curtain drain can only be used on sites with a well defined restrictive layer.  The bottom 

of the drain shall be a minimum of 6 in. into the restrictive layer (see diagram). 

 

• The absorption dispersal trenches need to must be within fifty feet of the curtain drain.  If 

tighter spacing is required to stay within the effective area of the curtain drain, a narrow 

absorption  dispersal trench system can be used. 

 

293



 4. Description of Onsite Systems 
 

  
 4-51 November 1999 

 
FIGURE 4.18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

294



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-52 November 1999 

C.  Operation and maintenance 

 

System operation and maintenance tasks and requirements shall be a specified on the Operating 

Permit and the designer's operations and maintenance instructions.  The system owner shall be 

responsible for the continuous operation and maintenance of the system.  Each system will be 

inspected by the Town on a regular basis.  

 

The owner/purchaser of a curtain drain system must recognize that he/she assumes the continuous 

responsibility to preserve the installation as near as practical in its "as built" state.  This responsibility 

includes maintenance of drain outlets, erosion control, fencing out of livestock and the control of 

burrowing animals. 

 

D.  Operation and maintenance instructions 

 

As a minimum, the operations and maintenance instructions shall include the following information.  

 

• A statement notifying the homeowner of his/her responsibility for maintaining the system in 

proper working condition. 

 

• A complete description of the system and components. 

 

• How and when to inspect the drain outlets for proper operation.  

 

• When to get the septic tank pumped. 

 

 

4.1011 ENGINEERED FILL 

 
Any fill thicker than twelve inches and used for an absorption facility shall be considered engineered 

fill.  Engineered fill is typically used to provide the minimum required effective soil depth in areas of 

high groundwater or over sensitive layers, as illustrated in Figure 4.1.  Any engineered fill shall be 

considered "alternative" by the Town of Paradise. 

 

A.  General conditions for approval   

 

To be approved for an engineered fill, each site must meet all the following conditions: 

 

• Have suitable soils which will remain stable and permeable after the fill is in place. 

 

• The finished system must provide the minimum required separation from sensitive layers as 

shown in Figure 4.1. 

B.  Requirements 

 

The fill shall be constructed pursuant to permit requirements and be supervised by the designer.  

Unless otherwise required by the Onsite Sanitary Official, construction sequence shall be as follows: 

 

295



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-53 November 1999 

• The fill soil shall be examined and approved by the Onsite Sanitary Official prior to 

placement.  The texture of the soil used for the fill shall be of the same textural class, or of 

one textural class coarser than the natural topsoil. 

 

• Construction of fills shall occur between June 1 and October 1 unless otherwise allowed by 

the Onsite Sanitary Official.  The natural soil on the site and the fill material shall be at a 

moisture content that will prevent loss of porosity when worked. 

 

• The absorption field area and the fill soil borrow site shall be scarified to destroy the vegeta-

tive mat.  Rototilling is the preferred method. 

 

• No wheeled vehicles shall be permitted on the fill site or the fill once scarifying has been 

completed. 

 

• The fill shall be installed when the soil is dry. The fill shall also be dry to prevent 

compaction.  The fill should be as dry as possible when worked and allowed to settle 

naturally under water, either rainfall or irrigation. 

 

• The system shall be installed as specified in the construction permit.  There shall be a 

minimum of ten feet of separation between the edge of the fill and the outside sidewalls of 

the absorption trenches.  

 

• The first six inches of the fill shall be mixed thoroughly with the native soil.  It shall be 

placed with a crawler tractor to minimize compaction.  Both initial and repair absorption 

field areas may be constructed at the same time if the owner wishes. 

 

C.   Required inspections 

 

The following minimum inspections shall be performed for each fill installed: 

 

• The absorption dispersal field area and fill soil borrow material must be inspected for 

scarification, soil texture, and moisture content, prior to fill construction. 

 

• After the first six inches are in place, determine adequate contact between fill material and 

native soil (no obvious contact zone visible), adequate depth of material, and uniform 

distribution of fill material. 

 

• After entire fill is in place, dimensions and depth shall be checked.  Hydraulic testing of the 

fill must be conducted in accordance with the appropriate procedures in Appendix C.  The 

hydraulic testing will be witnessed by the Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 

• Precover inspection of the installed absorption dispersal facility. 

 

• Final inspection is after landscaping.  The operating permit will be issued at this point. 

 

D.  Operation and maintenance 

 

296



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-54 November 1999 

System operation and maintenance tasks and requirements shall be as specified on the Operating 

Permit and the designer's operations and maintenance instructions.  The system owner shall be 

responsible for the continuous operation and maintenance of the system.  Each system will be 

inspected by the Town on a regular basis. 

 

The owner/purchaser of the engineered fill system must recognize that he/she assumes the 

continuous responsibility to preserve the installation as near as practical in its "as built" state.  This 

responsibility includes erosion control, fencing out of livestock and the control of burrowing 

animals. 

 

E.   Operation and maintenance instructions 

 

As a minimum, the operations and maintenance instructions shall include the following information.  

 

• A statement notifying the homeowner of his/her responsibility for maintaining the system in 

proper working condition. 

 

• A complete description of the system and components. 

 

• How and when to inspect the drain outlets for proper operation.  

 

• When to get the septic tank pumped. 

 

 

4.1112  PORTABLE TOILETS 

 
A portable toilet is any self-contained chemical toilet facility that is housed within a portable toilet 

shelter and includes but is not limited to construction-type chemical toilets. 

 

Portable toilets may be approved for temporary or limited use areas, such as construction sites, 

provided all liquid wastes can be handled in a manner to prevent a public health hazard and to 

protect public waters, and separation distances also can be met.   

 

Portable toilet waste shall not be discharged into storm sewers, on the surface of the ground or into 

public waters. 

 

Portable toilets shall be installed by a licensed wastewater disposal business. 

 

No person shall cause or allow the installation or use of a portable toilet unless the pumping or 

cleaning of the portable toilet is covered by a valid and effective contract with a licensed business.  

Each portable toilet shall display the business name of the sewage disposal service that is responsible 

for servicing it. 

 

Portable toilets shall be constructed in accordance with requirements contained in this manual and be 

maintained to prevent health hazards and pollution of public waters.  Required setbacks are listed in 

Table 3.2. 

297



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-55 November 1999 

 

 

4.1213 HOLDING TANKS 

 
A holding tank is a watertight receptacle designed to receive and store wastewater to facilitate 

disposal at another location. 

 

A.   General conditions for approval   

 

Installation permits may be issued by the Onsite Sanitary Official for holding tanks on sites that meet 

all the following conditions: 

 

• For permanent use: 

 

a. The site can notcannot be approved for the installation of any other type of onsite 

wastewater disposal system; and 

 

b. No public sewer system is available or expected to be available within five years; and 

 

c. The tank is intended to serve a facility with intermittent occupancy; and  

 

d. Unless otherwise allowed by the Onsite Sanitary Official, the projected daily 

wastewater flow is not more than 200 gallons; and 

 

e. Setbacks as required for septic tanks can be met. 

 

• For temporary use: 

 

a. The Town has committed in writing to provide sewer service to the property within 

five years. 

 

b. Installation of an approved onsite system has been delayed by weather conditions;     

 or 

 

c. The tank is to serve a temporary construction site. 

 

B.   Requirements 

 

• No building may be served by more than one holding tank. 

 

• A single lot may be served by no more than one holding tank. 

 

• Plans and specifications for each holding tank proposed to be installed shall be submitted to 

the Onsite Sanitary Official for review and approval. 

 

• Each tank must:  

298



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-56 November 1999 

 

a. Have a minimum liquid capacity of 1,500 gallon. 

 

b. Comply with standards for septic tanks contained in Chapter 5. 

 

c. Be located and designed to facilitate removal of contents by pumping. The holding 

tank shall be equipped with watertight risers extending to finished grade to facilitate 

the removal of contents by pumping. 

 

d. Be equipped with both an audible and visual alarm, placed in a location acceptable to 

the Onsite Sanitary Official, to indicate when the tank is seventy-five percent full.  

The audible alarm only may be user cancelable. 

 

e. Have no overflow vent at an elevation lower than the overflow level of the lowest 

fixture served. 

 

f. Be designed for antibuoyancy if test hole examination or other observations indicate 

seasonally high groundwater may float the tank when empty. 

 

• The application for a construction permit shall contain: 

 

a. A copy of a contract with a licensed wastewater disposal service company which 

shows the tank will be pumped periodically, at regular intervals or as needed, and the 

contents disposed of in a manner and at a facility approved by the Onsite Sanitary 

Official. 

 

b. Evidence that the owner or operator of the proposed disposal facility will accept the 

pumping for treatment and disposal. 

 

• A record of pumping dates and amounts pumped shall be maintained by both the treatment 

facility owner and the wastewater disposal service and upon request, made available to the 

Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 

• Inspection requirements:  Each holding tank shall be inspected regularly by the Onsite 

Sanitary Official. 

 

 

4.1314 WATER CONSERVATION FIXTURES 

 
The use of low flush toilets or other water conservation fixtures is encouraged to aid in water 

conservation.  NO REDUCTION IN THE SIZE OF THE ABSORPTION DISPERSAL 

FIELDS OR FILTERS WILL BE ALLOWED.  Reduction of water flow does not decrease the 

amount of biological matter which must be treated in the onsite system.  The use of water conserva-

tion fixtures will prolong the life of an absorption a dispersal field. 

 

 

299



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-57 November 1999 

4.1415 PRE-CONSTRUCTED PACKAGE OR PLANT ADVANCED 

TREATMENT SYSTEMS [see note 40] 

 
A pre-constructed advanced treatment package or plant  system is defined as a proprietary self-

contained wastewater treatment and disposal  system.  Proof of compliance with the California 

Environmental Quality Act, California Water Quality Control Board, EPA and NSF International 

ANSI/NSF 40 - 1990 Class I standards is required. , or tThe performance of the selected Package 

Plant or Plant System  incorporated in the overall facility plan system shall be guaranteed for one (1) 

year upon start up by the Equipment Manufacturer and Design Engineer. An alternative preliminary 

design selection shall be furnished at the time of final plan approval should the original selected 

plant process fail to meet the Town of Paradise requirements.  

 

A typical   pre-constructed advanced treatment package or plant  system or equivalent shall provide 

acceptable wastewater treatment as per standards outlined in Chapter 6 of this Manual. Control panel 

remote telemetry access is required. The Onsite Sanitary Official shall determine the type and  

method and extent of remote monitoring required based on the complexity of the system. or the 

system’s location. Suitable auto-phone monitoring must be provided .   

 

The minimum basic requirements to permit the use of pre-constructed advanced treatment systems 

alternative systems shall be in all cases: 

 

• An engineering study by qualified practitioners Be certified with NSF International 

NSF/ANSI 40 classification or similar equivalent. [See note 33] 

 

• Have proof of long-term performance and reliability 

 

• Operation, Maintenance, Monitoring and Reporting shall be as outlined in Chapter 1.4.A., 

Alternative and Innovative Pre-Treatment Systems, of this manual. 

 

 

4.1516 GRAYWATER DISPOSAL  SYSTEMS 

 

A graywater waste disposal  system is a wastewater treatment system capable of discharging and 

treating liquid waste from bathtubs, showers, bathroom wash basins, and water from clothes washing 

machines and laundry tubs.  Graywater waste disposal systems shall not treat liquid waste discharged 

from toilets, kitchen sinks, dishwashers or laundry water from soiled diapers.  Graywater waste 

disposal systems shall be considered "alternative" systems by the Town of Paradise. [See note 50] 

 

 

A. General conditions for approval   

 

Installation permits may be issued by the Onsite Sanitary Official for graywater waste   systems on 

sites that meet all the following conditions: 

 

• Sites must be approved for standard system installation. 

 

300



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-58 November 1999 

• Minimum separation distances listed in Figure 4.1 can be met. 

 

• Slope does not exceed forty-five percent. 

 

B. REQUIREMENTS 

 

• System design and installation standards shall comply with minimum standards for graywater 

waste systems mandated in Appendix J of the Uniform Plumbing Code, California Plumbing 

Code Edition (Title 24, Part 5, California Administrative Code). 

 

A one-third reduction in size of the black waste system shall be allowed when a graywater 

waste disposal system is installed. 

 

C.   Operation and maintenance  

 

System operation and maintenance tasks and requirements shall be as specified on the Operating 

Permit and the designer's operations and maintenance instructions.  The system owner shall be 

responsible for the continuous operation and maintenance of the system.  Each system will be 

inspected by the Town on a regular basis. 

 

The owner/purchaser of a graywater disposal system must recognize that he/she assumes the 

continuous responsibility to preserve the installation as near as practical in its "as built" state.  This 

responsibility includes erosion control, fencing out of livestock and the control of burrowing 

animals. 

 

 

D.  Operations and maintenance instructions 

 

As a minimum, the operations and maintenance instructions shall include the following information: 

 

• A statement notifying the homeowner of his/her responsibility for maintaining the system in 

proper working condition. 

 

• A complete description of the system and components.  Include process description for the 

homeowner and design criteria. 

• Instructions on how to properly set pump control equipment. 

 

• How the Town can sample graywater system effluent. 

 

• How and when to inspect and flush distribution laterals. 

 

• What to do if the alarm on the pump panel activates. 

 

• A system troubleshooting table listing potential problems and their solutions for the 

graywater system. 

 

• When to get the graywater system tank pumped. 

301



 4. Description of Onsite Systems  
 

  
 4-59 November 1999 

 

• Safety precautions to be observed. 

 

 

302



 
 

 5 

 COMPONENT AND EQUIPMENT 

 SPECIFICATIONS  
 
 

  
 

 5-1 November 1999 

5.1 Septic Tanks 

5.2 Dosing Septic Tanks  Assemblies 

5.3 Distribution Boxes 

5.4 Drop Boxes 

5.5 Filter Fabric 

5.6 Diversion Valves 

5.7 Effluent Pumps, Controls and Alarms 

5.8 Dosing Siphons 

5.9 Pipe Materials and Construction 

5.10 Flexible Membrane Liners 

5.11 Portable Toilets  
 

Specifications for the major components of onsite wastewater disposal systems are included in this 

chapter.  The goal of this chapter is to provide material and construction requirements which will 

enable the construction of effective and reliable onsite wastewater disposal systems in the Town of 

Paradise Onsite Wastewater  Management Zone. 

 

5.1 SEPTIC TANKS 

 
A.  General 

 

The following requirements shall apply to all septic tanks manufactured for use in the Town of 

Paradise Wastewater  Management Zone unless specifically exempted by other portions of these 

rules: 

 

• Tanks shall be manufactured to comply with specifications within this manual, and 

requirements mandated by the Uniform Plumbing Code, California Plumbing Code Edition.  

Tanks shall be installed in strict conformance with the manufacturer's recommendations. 

 

• Compartments:  Septic tanks shall have multiple compartments for standard systems.  Dosing 

tanks equipped with a screened vault may be single compartment.  Multiple compartment 

tanks shall comply with the following: 

 

a. The first compartment shall have a minimum liquid capacity of at least two-thirds of 

the total required liquid capacity, as measured from the invert of the outlet fitting. 

b. The second and succeeding compartments shall each have a minimum liquid capacity 

equal to or greater than one-half of the first compartment. 

 

303



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-2 November 1999 

c. Each compartment shall have access provided by a manhole having not less than 

eighteen inches across its shortest dimension unless otherwise approved by the Town. 

 

d. No compartment shall have an inside horizontal dimension of less than twenty-four 

inches. 

 

• Liquid depth:  The liquid depth of any compartment shall be at least thirty inches. 

 

• Septic tanks shall be watertight.  Tanks shall be capable of successfully withstanding an 

above-ground static hydraulic test. 

 

• Septic tanks shall be capable of supporting a vertical load of at least 300 pounds per square 

foot when the maximum coverage does not exceed three feet.  Tanks installed with more than 

three feet of cover shall be reinforced to support the additional load.  Tanks shall be designed 

for lateral loads of at least 62.4 pounds per cubic foot. 

 

• The inlet and outlet fittings shall be of Schedule 40 PVC plastic, Schedule 40 ABS plastic, or 

other materials approved by the Town, with a minimum diameter of four inches: 

 

a. The distance between the inlet and outlet fittings shall be equal to, or greater than the 

liquid depth of the tank. 

 

b. The inlet and outlet fitting shall be located at opposite ends of the tank.  They shall be 

attached in a watertight manner approved by the Town. 

 

c. The inlet fitting shall be a "sanitary tee" extending at least six inches above and below 

the liquid level. 

 

d. The outlet fitting shall be a "tee" extending below liquid level a distance equal to at 

least thirty-five percent but not greater than fifty percent of the liquid depth, and at 

least six inches above the liquid depth in order to provide scum storage.  When the 

tank is used as a holding tank, the outlet fitting shall be provided with a watertight 

plug. 

 

e. Ventilation shall be provided through the fittings by means of a two-inch minimum 

space between the underside of the top of the tank and the tip of the "tee" fitting. 

 

f. The invert of the inlet fitting shall be not less than one inch but preferably three 

inches above the invert of the outlet fitting. 

 

g. The septic tank manufacturer shall provide, with each fitting, a rubber or neoprene 

rubber gasket meeting ASTM Specification C564, or an appropriate coupler which 

the Town determines will provide a watertight connection between the fittings and 

the building and effluent sewer pipes. 

 

h. An access cover of not less than 6 in. across shall be provided above each fitting. 

304



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-3 November 1999 

 

• At least ten percent of the inside volume of the tank shall be above liquid level to provide 

scum storage. 

 

• In tanks with more than one compartment, a four-inch diameter (minimum) "tee" fitting shall 

be placed in each common compartment wall, using the same specifications as required for 

the outlet fitting.  The invert of this "tee" fitting shall be at the same elevation as the outlet 

"tee". 

 

• All prefabricated septic tanks shall be marked on the uppermost tank surface with the liquid 

capacity of the tank and the manufacturers identification. 

 

B. Precast concrete tanks 

 

The following requirements apply to precast concrete septic tanks.  

 

• Tanks shall be designed by a registered civil engineer. 

 

• Walls, bottom and top reinforced-concrete tanks shall be designed across the shortest 

dimension using one-way slab analysis.  Stresses in each face of monolithically-constructed 

tanks may be determined by analyzing the tank cross-section as a continuous fixed frame.  

 

• The walls and bottom slab shall be poured monolithically. 

 

• Reinforcing steel, when used, shall be ASTM A-615 Grade 60, fy=60,000 psi.  Details and 

placement shall be in accordance with ACI 315 and ACI 318. 

 

• Concrete shall be ready-mix with cement conforming to ASTM C150, Type II.  It shall have 

a cement content of not less than six (6) sacks per cubic yard and maximum aggregate size of 

three-fourths inch.  Water/cement ratio shall be kept low (0.35±), and concrete shall achieve 

a minimum compressive strength of 5,000 psi in twenty-eight days.  

 

• Tanks shall be protected by applying a heavy cement-base waterproof coating (Thoroseal or 

equal), on both inside and outside surfaces, in compliance with Council of American 

Building Officials (CABO) report No. NRB-168; 6181. 

 

• Form release used on tank molds shall be Nox-Crete or equal.  Diesel or other petroleum 

products are not acceptable.  

 

• Tanks shall not be moved from the manufacturing site to the job site until the tank has cured 

for seven (7) days or has reached two-thirds of the design strength.  

 

• In order to demonstrate water tightness, tanks shall be tested twice prior to acceptance.  Each 

tank shall be tested at the factory, prior to shipping, by filling with water to the soffit and 

letting stand.  After 24 hours, the tank shall be refilled to the soffit and the exfiltration rate 

shall be determined by measuring the water loss during the next two hours.  The two-hour 

305



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-4 November 1999 

loss shall not exceed one gallon.  After installation is completed, each tank shall be filled 

with water and retested as previously described.  If the tank is filled with water to the top of 

the riser, backfill of a depth equal to the height of the riser must be in place over the tank to 

prevent damage due to hydrostatic uplift. 

 

C. Cast-in-place concrete tanks 

 

Cast-in-place concrete tanks shall be designed by a registered civil engineer. 

 

D. Fiberglass tanks 

 

The following requirements apply to fiberglass tanks. 

 

• The tank shall be constructed with a glass fiber and resin content specified by the 

manufacturer and with no exposed glass fibers.  The manufacturer shall supply satisfactory 

evidence of testing by an approved laboratory showing compliance with IAPMO IGC 3-74, 

excepting as herein modified.  Any metal part shall be 300 series stainless steel. 

 

• The tank wall thickness shall average at least one-fourth inch. 

 

• Holes specified for the tank shall be provided by the manufacturer.  Resin shall be properly 

applied to all cut or ground edges so that no glass fibers are exposed and all voids are filled. 

 

• Water testing shall be performed on each tank.  Every tank shall be assembled by the 

manufacturer and filled with water to the brim of the access opening.  The tank shall show no 

leakage from section seams, pinholes or other imperfections.   Any leakage is cause for 

rejection.  The manufacturer shall be responsible for making all corrective measures in 

production or assembly necessary to ensure a completely watertight tank. 

 

• After installation is completed, each tank shall be filled with water to the top of the riser and 

the water loss measured after a two-hour period shall not exceed 1 gallon.  Backfill of a 

depth equal to the height of the riser must be in place over the tank to prevent damage due to 

hydrostatic uplift. 

 

 

 

 

5.2 DOSING SEPTIC TANK ASSEMBLIES  

 
A dosing septic tank combines the functions of a septic tank and dosing tank into one unitized 

assembly by withdrawing septic tank effluent with a pump or dosing siphon from the clear zone (the 

area between scum and sludge) at the outlet end of the tank. A second compartment draw-down tank 

is required for a septic tank that will also be used as a dosing tank (See Figure 4.2 - Second 

Compartment Draw-Down). A  dosing septic tank is not allowed for systems where commercial food 

306



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-5 November 1999 

preparation is done or where the daily design flow is over 300 gallons per day. These systems require 

a separate dosing tank.  [See note 51] 

 

A. Design 

 

• A single compartment tank may be used if an effluent screen and vault is provided.  

 

• Design and equipment shall emphasize ease of maintenance and longevity and reliability of 

components and shall be proven suitable by operational experience, test, or analysis suitable 

to the Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 

• An easy means of electrical and plumbing disconnection shall be provided, preventing the 

need for a repairman. 

 

• Component materials shall be durable and corrosion resistance such as Type 316 stainless 

steel, suitable plastics, or 85-5-5-5 bronze.  

 

• Each dosing tank shall be constructed and reinforced to withstand the loads imposed upon 

the top, walls and bottom. 

 

• The minimum total volume of the tank shall be 1,500 gallons. 

 

• The minimum submerged volume at the lowest operating liquid level shall be 900 gallons. 

 

• Unless otherwise authorized by the Town, liquid levels shall be controlled so that a 

maximum of twenty percent of the projected daily wastewater flow is discharged each cycle. 

 

• The invert of the inlet tee shall be not less than one inch above the high operating liquid 

level. 

 

• Ports, or holes provided in a vault or outlet device shall be located to withdraw effluent 

horizontally at an elevation that represents the zone of best effluent quality. 

 

• A convenient means of monitoring sludge and scum accumulation shall be provided with 

access extending to ground level.  Dosing septic tanks shall be fitted with watertight access 

risers that extend to finished grade. 

 

B. Construction requirements   

 

Dosing septic tanks shall comply with applicable Town standards for septic tanks.  Each tank shall 

be water tested by filling to the top of the tank for a period of one hour.  During the test there shall be 

no measurable drop in water level, and no visible leakage.  Each tank shall be certified watertight. 

 

Tanks may be constructed of concrete, fiberglass, or other noncorrosive materials approved by the 

Town. 

 

307



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-6 November 1999 

Dosing tanks with siphons shall be designed and sized for each specific project and shall allow 

sufficient clearance above the siphon dome to allow removal of the dome. 

 

 

5.3 DISTRIBUTION BOXES 

 

• Distribution boxes shall be constructed of concrete, fiberglass, or other materials acceptable 

to the Town. 

 

• Distribution boxes shall be watertight, and designed to accommodate the necessary 

distribution laterals.  The top, walls, and bottom of concrete distribution boxes shall be at 

least one and one-half inches thick. 

 

• The invert elevation of all outlets shall be the same, and shall be at least two inches below 

the inlet invert. 

 

• Each distribution box shall be provided with a sump extending at least two inches below the 

invert of the outlets. 

 

• The minimum inside horizontal dimension measured at the bottom shall be eight inches, with 

a minimum bottom inside surface area of 160 square inches.  The bottom outside surface area 

shall be equal to or greater than the top outside surface area. 

 

• Distribution box covers shall be marked with the manufacturer's identification. 

 

5.4 DROP BOXES 

 

• Drop boxes shall be constructed of concrete, fiberglass, or other materials acceptable to the  

Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 

• Drop boxes shall be watertight, and designed to accommodate the necessary piping.  The top, 

walls, and bottom of concrete drop boxes shall be at least one and one-half inches thick. 

 

• The inverts of the inlet and overflow port shall be at the same elevation.  The invert of the 

header pipe port(s) leading to the absorption trench(es) shall be six inches below the inlet 

invert. 

 

• Drop box covers shall be marked with the manufacturer's identification. 

 

5.5 FILTER FABRIC 

 
Except as otherwise allowed by the Onsite Sanitary Official on a case-by-case basis, filter fabric used 

within onsite systems in the zone shall meet the following specifications: 

 

• Material:  synthetic fabric, either spun bonded or woven 

308



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-7 November 1999 

 

• Burst strength:  not less than twenty-five pounds per square inch. 

 

• Air permeability:  not le  

 

•  

 

• Surface reaction to water:  hydrophilic 

 

• Equivalent opening size:  No. 70 to No. 100 sieve 

 

• Chemical properties: 

 

a. Non-biodegradable 

b. Resistant to acids and alkalies within a pH range of four to ten 

c. Resistant to common solvents 

 

 

5.6 DIVERSION VALVES 

 

• Diversion valves shall be constructed of durable material and be of a design approved by the 

Onsite Sanitary Official.  They shall be corrosion-resistant, watertight, and designed to 

accommodate the inlet and outlet pipes. 

 

• The manufacturer's name shall be marked on the cover. 

 

 

5.7 EFFLUENT PUMPS, CONTROLS AND ALARMS 

 

Electrical components used in onsite sewage disposal systems shall comply with National Electrical 

Code, and the following provisions: 

 

• Motors shall be continuous-duty, with overload protection. 

 

• Pumps shall have durable impellers of bronze, cast iron, or other materials approved by the  

Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 

• Submersible pumps shall be provided with an easy, readily accessible means of electrical and 

plumbing disconnect, and a noncorrosive lifting device as a means of removal for servicing. 

 

• Pump can be placed within a corrosion-resistant  

 

309



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-8 November 1999 

• Pumps shall be controlled automatically by UL, CSA, or ETL approved sealed mercury float 

switches with mercury tube ratings of 4-20 amps at 115 volts A.C. (depending on function) 

or by an approved equivalently reliable switching mechanism.  The switches shall be 

installed so that the design dose is discharged each cycle. 

 

• An audible and visual high water level alarm with manual silence switch shall be located in 

or near the building served by the pump.  The audible alarm can be the type that can be 

turned off by the owner.  The switching mechanism controlling the high water level alarm 

shall be located so that at time of activation the dosing tank has a reserve capacity remaining 

for effluent storage. 

 

• When a system has more than one pump, the Onsite Sanitary Official may require they be 

wired into the electrical control panel to function alternately after each pumping cycle.  If 

either pump should fail the other pump will continue to function, while an audible and visual 

alarm indicating pump malfunction will activate.  A cycle counter and hour run meter shall 

be installed in the electrical control panel for each pump. 

 

5.8 DOSING SIPHONS 

 

Dosing siphons used in onsite wastewater disposal systems shall comply with all of the minimum 

requirements: 

 

• Shall be constructed of corrosion-resistant materials. 

 

• Shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations. 

 

5.9 PIPE MATERIALS AND CONSTRUCTION 

 

• Effluent sewer:  The building effluent sewer shall be constructed with materials in confor-

mance to building sewer standards, as identified in the Uniform Plumbing Code, California 

Plumbing Code Edition.  The effluent sewer pipe shall have a minimum diameter of four 

inches. 

 

• Distribution and Header Pipe and Fittings - Plastic pipe and fittings:   

 

a. Styrene-rubber plastic distribution and header pipe and fitting shall meet the most 

current ASTM Specification D2852 and Sections 5.5 and 7.8 of Commercial 

Standard 228, published by the U.S. Department of Commerce.  Pipe and fittings 

shall also pass a deflection test withstanding 350 pounds per foot without cracking by 

using the method found in ASTM 2412.   

 

b. Polyethylene distribution pipe in 10 ft lengths and header pipe in lengths of ten feet or 

greater of which pipe and fitting shall meet the current ASTM Specification F405.  

Pipe and fittings shall also pass a deflection test withstanding 350 pounds per foot 

without cracking or collapsing by using the method found in ASTM 2412. 

310



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-9 November 1999 

 

c. Polyvinyl chloride (PVC) distribution and header pipe and fittings shall meet the 

most current ASTM Specification D2729.  Pipe and fittings shall pass a deflection 

test withstanding 350 pounds per foot without cracking or collapsing by using the 

method found in  ASTM 2412.  Markings shall meet requirements established in 

ASTM Specification D2729, subsections 9.1.1, 9.1.2 and 9.1.4.   

 

d. Polyethylene smooth wall distribution and header pipe ten foot lengths and fittings 

shall meet the most current ASTM specification F810.  Pipe and fittings shall also 

pass a deflection test of 350 lb/ft without cracking or collapsing by using the method 

found in ASTM 2412.  Markings shall meet the requirements established in ASTM 

specification F810, Section 9.   

 

E. The four types of plastic pipe described above shall have two rows of holes spaced 

120 degrees apart and 60 degrees on either side of a center line.  For distribution pipe, 

a line of contrasting color shall be provided on the outside of the pipe along the line 

furthest away and parallel to the two rows of perforations.  Markings, consisting of 

durable ink, shall cover at least fifty percent of the pipe.  Markings may consist of a 

solid line, letters, or a combination of the two.  Intervals between markings shall not 

exceed twelve inches.  The holes of each row shall be not more than five inches on 

center and shall have a minimum diameter of one-half inch. 

 

• Polyvinyl chloride (PVC) pressure transport pipe, pressure manifolds, and pressure 

lateral pipe and fittings shall meet the current requirements for Class 200 PVC 1120 

pressure pipe as identified in ASTM Specification D2241.  The pipe and fittings shall 

marked be as required by ASTM Specifications D2241. 

 

 

5.10 FLEXIBLE MEMBRANE LINERS 

 

Unsupported polyvinyl chloride (PVC) shall have the properties listed in Table 5.1. 

311



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-10 November 1999 

 

 TABLE 5.1 

 PROPERTIES OF UNSUPPORTED PVC USED AS A 

 MEMBRANE LINER IN FILTERS 

 
 
Property 

 
Test Method 

 
A. 

 
Thickness 

 
ASTM D1593, 30 mil, min Para 

8.1.3 
 
B. 

 
Specific Gravity (minimum) 

 
ASTM D792 

 
C. 

 
Minimum tensile properties (each direction) 

 
ASTM D882 

 
 

 
1. 

 
Breaking factor (1 in. wide) 

 
Method A or B 69 

 
 

 
2. 

 
Elongation at break (percent) 

 
Method A or B 300 

 
 

 
3. 

 
Modules (force at 100 percent elongation 

(lb/in. width) 

 
Method A or B 27 

 
D. 

 
Tear resistance (lb, minimum) 

 
ASTM D1004 8 Die C 

 
E. 

 
Low temperature 

 
ASTM S1790 -20F 

 
F. 

 
Dimensional stability (each direction, percent 

change maximum) 

 
ASTM D1204 + or -5 212 F, 15 

min. 
 
G. 

 
Water extraction 

 
ASTM D1239, 0.35 percent 

maximum 
 
H. 

 
Volatile loss 

 
ASTM D1203, 0.7 percent 

maximum 
 
I. 

 
Resistance to soil burial (percent change 

maximum in original value) 

 
ASTM D3083 

 
 

 
1. 

 
Breaking factor -5 

 
 

 
 

 
2. 

 
Elongation at break -20 

 
 

 
 

 
3. 

 
Modulus at 100 percent elongation +10 

 
 

 
J. 

 
Bonded Seam Strength (factory seam, breaking 

factor, ppi width) 

 
ASTM D3083 55.2 

 
K 

 
Hodrostatic resistance 

 
ASTM D751 82 Method A 

 

312



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-11 November 1999 

Installation standards: 

 

• Patches, repairs, and seams shall have the same physical properties as the parent material. 

 

• Site considerations and preparation: 

 

a. The supporting surface slopes and foundation to accept the liner shall be stable and 

structurally sound including appropriate compaction.  Particular attention shall be 

paid to the potential of sink hole development and differential settlement. 

 

b. Soil stabilizers such as cementations or chemical binding agents must not adversely 

affect the membrane. 

 

• Only fully buried membrane liner installation shall be considered to avoid weathering. 

 

• Unreinforced liners have high elongation and can conform to irregular surfaces and follow 

settlements within limits.  Unreasonable strain reduces effective thickness and may reduce 

life expectancy by lessening the chemical resistance of the thinner (stretched) material.  

Every effort shall be made to minimize the strain (for elongation) anywhere in the flexible 

membrane liner. 

 

• Installation of liner: 

 

a. Preparation of earth subgrade:  The prepared subgrade shall be of soil types no larger 

than Unified Soil Classification System (USCS) sand (SP) to a minimum of four 

inches below the surface and free from loose earth, rock, fractured stone, debris, 

cobbles, rubbish and roots.  The surface of the complete subgrade shall be properly 

compacted, smooth, uniform and free from sudden changes in grade.  Importing 

suitable soil may be required. 

 

b. Maintenance of subgrade:  The earth subgrade shall be maintained in a smooth, 

uniform and compacted condition during installation of the lining. 

 

c. Temperature:  The desirable temperature range for membrane instal

tation, 

storage, field handling and placement, seaming and backfilling and attaching boots 

and patches may be difficult. Placing liner outside the desirable temperature range 

should be avoided. 

 

d. Wind:  Wind may have an adverse effect on liner installation such as interfering with 

liner placement.  Mechanical damage may result.  Cleanliness of areas for boot 

connection and patching may not be possible.  Alignment of seams and cleanliness 

may not be possible.  Placing the liner in high wind should be avoided. 

 

e. Precipitation:  When field seaming is adversely affected by moisture, portable 

protective structures and/or other methods shall be used to maintain a dry sealing 

313



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-12 November 1999 

surface.  Proper surface preparation for bonding boots and patches may not be 

possible.  Seaming, patching and attaching "boots" shall be done under dry 

conditions. 

 

f. Penetration of liner:  Penetration of a flexible liner by any designed means shall be 

avoided.  Where penetrations are necessary, such as horizontal and vertical pipes, it is 

essential to obtain a secure, liquid-tight seal between the pipes and the flexible liner.  

Liners shall be attached to pipes with a mechanical type seal supplied by the liner 

manufacturer, supplemented by a chemically compatible caulking or adhesives to 

effect a liquid-tight seal.  The highest order of compaction shall be provided in the 

area adjacent to pipes to compensate for any settlement. 

 

g. Size.  The final cut size of the liner shall be carefully determined and ordered to 

generously fit the container geometry without field seaming or excess straining of the 

liner material. 

 

h. Transportation, handling and storage: Transportation, handling and storage 

procedures shall be planned to prevent material damage.  Material shall be stored in a 

secured area and protected from adverse weather. 

 

i. Site inspection:  A site inspection shall be carried out by the  Onsite Sanitary Official 

and the installer prior to liner installation to verify surface conditions, etc. 

 

j. Deployment:  Panels shall be positioned to minimize handling.  Seaming should not 

be necessary.  Bridging or stressed conditions shall be avoided with proper slack 

allowances for shrinkage.  The liner shall be secured to prevent movement and 

promptly backfilled. 

 

k. Anchoring trenches:  The liner edges should be secured frequently in a backfilled 

trench. 

 

l. Field seaming:  Field seaming, if absolutely necessary, shall only be attempted when 

weather conditions are favorable. The contact surfaces of the materials should be 

clean of dirt, dust, moisture, or other foreign materials.  The contact surfaces shall be 

aligned with sufficient overlap and bonded in accordance with the suppliers 

recommended procedures.  Wrinkles shall be smoothed out and seams should be 

inspected by nondestructive testing techniques to verify their integrity.  As seaming 

occurs during installation, the field seams shall be inspected continuously and any 

faulty area repaired immediately. 

 

m. Field repairs:  It is important that traffic on the lined area be minimized.  Any 

necessary repairs to the liner shall be patched using the same lining material and fol-

lowing the recommended procedure of the supplier. 

 

n. Final inspection and acceptance:  Completed liner installations shall be checked 

visually for punctures, rips, tears and seam discontinuities before placement of any 

314



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-13 November 1999 

backfill.  At this time the installer shall also manually check all factory and field 

seams with an appropriate tool.  In lieu of, or in addition to, manual checking of 

seams by the installer shall also manually check all factory and field seams with an 

appropriate tool.  In lieu of or in addition to manual checking of seams by the install-

er, either of the following tests may be performed: 

 

1. Wet test:  The lined basin shall be flooded to the four foot level with water 

after inlets and outlets have been plugged. Workmanship shall be accepted if 

leakage rate in a twenty-four hour period is no greater than 0.25 inch. 

 

2. Air lance test: Inspect all seams (factory and field) for unbonded areas using 

an air nozzle to detect loose edges  Riffles indicate unbonded areas within the 

seam, or other undesirable seam construction.  Check all bonded seams using 

a minimum 50 pounds per square inch (gage) air supply directed through a 

three-quarters inch (typical) nozzle, held not more than two inches from the 

seam edge and directed at the seam edge. 

 

 

5.11 PORTABLE TOILETS 

 

All portable toilet facilities shall comply with the following requirements: 

 

• They shall have water-tight chambers constructed of reinforced concrete, plastic, fiberglass, 

metal, or of other material of acceptable durability and corrosion resistance, approved by the 

Onsite Sanitary Official, and designed to facilitate the removal of the wastes. 

 

• Blackwater shall be stored in an appropriate chamber until removal for final disposal 

elsewhere.  Wastes shall be removed from the chamber whenever necessary to prevent 

overflow. 

 

• Chemicals containing heavy metals, including but not limited to copper, cadmium and zinc, 

shall not be used. 

 

• All surfaces subject to soiling shall be impervious, easily cleanable, and readily accessible. 

 

• Toilet bowls shall be constructed of stainless steel, plastic, fiberglass, ceramic or of other 

material approved by the Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 

• Waste passages shall have smooth surfaces and be free of obstructions, recesses or cross 

braces which would restrict or interfere with flow of black wastes. 

 

• Biocides and oxidants shall be added to waste detention chambers at rates and intervals 

recommended by the chemical manufacturer and approved by the Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 

• Chambers and receptacles shall provide a minimum storage capacity of fifty gallons per seat.  

 

315



 5. Components and Equipment Specifications  
 

  
 

 5-14 November 1999 

• Portable shelters housing chemical toilets shall display the business name of the licensed 

sewage disposal service that is responsible for servicing them. 

  

316



 

 6-1 September 2004 

  

6 

LARGE AND ADVANCED TREATMENT SYSTEMS 
 

6.1 Definition of Large and Advanced Treatment Systems 

6.2 General Requirements for Large and Advanced Treatment Systems 
 
 

The focus of Chapters 3 and 4 relates to onsite wastewater disposal systems designed to serve single 

family homes. This chapter addresses the requirements for the design of Pre-Treatment Large 

Systems, those systems that have a design flow of over 1000 gallons per day and Advanced 

Treatment Systems, those systems that provide secondary treatment to wastewater effluent. .onsite 

wastewater treatment and disposal systems for proposed systems with hydraulic loading rates of 900 

gallons per acre per day up to 2000 gallons per acre per day, and septic tank/ absorption field 

treatment and disposal systems having a treatment and disposal capacity of 1000 gallons per day of 

more.  

 

6.1 DEFINITION OF LARGE AND ADVANCED TREATMENT SYSTEMS 

 

A large system is any onsite wastewater disposal system which will be used to treat wastewater 

which varies in strength or quantity from domestic wastewater produced from a single family home.  

An Advanced Treatment System is one that provides secondary treatment to wastewater effluent. A 

Large System is a septic system designed to receive over 1000 gallons per day but does not 

necessarily provide advanced treatment to wastewater effluent. Both Large Systems and Advanced 

Treatment Systems are considered Alternative Systems. [See note 52] 

 

A. Community Systems 

 

A community system which will serves more than one lot, more than one condominium unit, or  

more than one unit of a planned unit development is typically a Large or Advanced Treatment 

System.  considered a large system. 

 

B. Apartments, Duplexes and Mobile Home Parks 

 

Multifamily housing developments will typically require a Large or Advanced Treatment  Systems 

for wastewater disposal.  Separate onsite wastewater disposal systems may be provided for each 

individual multifamily housing development.  Separate onsite wastewater disposal systems for 

individual multifamily housing developments shall sometimes be considered Large Systems 

depending on wastewater design flows.. 

 

C. Commercial Establishments 

 

Commercial establishments include restaurants, laundromats, hospitals, shopping centers, etc.  All 

Many onsite wastewater systems for commercial establishments will be considered large  are Large 

or Advanced Treatment Systems because of the  need to accurately quantify and classify the nature of 

the wastewater from these facilities. their high design flow or strength of wastewater. 

 

D. Industrial Wastewater Discharges 

317



 6.  Large Systems  
 

 

 6-2 September 2011 

 

Industrial wastewater is water that has been used as part of a manufacturing or processing enterprise. 

 Industrial wastewater often has a very high strength and/or does not have a nutrient balance similar 

to domestic wastewater.  Industrial wastewater systems will be considered Large or Advanced 

Treatment Systems.  The design of onsite wastewater disposal systems for industrial discharges is 

beyond the scope of this manual. 

318



 6.  Large Systems  
 

 

 6-3 September 2011 

6.2 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR LARGE AND ADVANCED TREATMENT 

SYSTEMS 

 
Unless otherwise authorized by the Town Council, Large or Advanced Treatment Systems shall 

comply substantially with the following requirements: 

 

1. The system shall be designed by a registered Civil Engineer or Registered Environmetnal 

Health Specialist experienced in the design of Wastewater Treatment Systems. Upon request, 

the designer Engineer shall provide the Onsite Sanitary Official with a Qualification and 

Experience record. [See note 53] 

 

2. The characteristics of the wastewater to be treated shall be documented to the satisfaction of 

the Onsite Sanitary Official. At a minimum the following constituent concentrations in the 

wastewater shall be identified in the Site Evaluation Report. 

a. 5-day B.O.D. 

b. Total Suspended Solids. 

c. Total Nitrogen reported individually as Kjeldahl Nitrogen and Nitrate Nitrogen. 

d. Any other constituent that the Onsite Sanitary Official deems necessary to identify 

the character of the wastewater. 

 

3. The quantity of the wastewater shall be established and documented in the Site Evaluation 

Report. Wastewater quantities shall be identified through the combined or individual 

methods outlined in Chapter 6.2.B., Chapter 6.2.C. and Table 6.1 in this Manual. The Onsite 

Sanitary Official shall make the final determination of the correct wastewater flow 

assignment for the proposed facility based on the above Chapters methods. 

 

4. The gross wastewater hydraulic loading rate for a large an Advanced Treatment System on  

an existing any parcel lot with new construction  shall not exceed 2000 gallons per acre per 

day. The gross wastewater hydraulic loading rate on any parcel that has a Large System, (not 

providing advanced treatment), shall not exceed 900 gallons per acre per day, except those 

areas in the downtown exemption zone. Gross area calculations for any parcel an existing lot 

with   new construction  shall include the area to the centerline of any abutting public road or 

public trail right of way. 

 

5. The hydraulic capacity of a site to accept the daily wastewater flow shall be determined using 

a method(s) acceptable to the Town for all new systems designed to treat and disperse 

dispose over 900 gallons per acre per day except those parcels in the downtown exemption 

zone (see Figure 4.14). 

 

6. A nitrogen loading prediction calculation on groundwater must be calculated for each newly 

designed Advanced Treatment System Large System Treating and disposing effluent  treating 

and dispersing wastewater in quantities in quantities over of 900 gallons per acre per day or 

more and with a design flow in excess of 5000 gallons per day. The method utilized for 

calculation shall be the “Hantzche-Finnemore Equation” that is approved by the Central 

Region of the Regional Water Quality Control Board. The approved maximum level of 

concentration of Nitrate Nitrogen predicted in the ground water through the use of this 

319



 6.  Large Systems  
 

 

 6-4 September 2011 

equation is 7.0 mg/l. Specific values utilized in the equation authorized by the Regional 

Water Quality Control Board are as follows: [See note 54] 

 

a. % of Nitrate-Nitrogen loss due to Soil Denitrification is “0”. (d-Value) 

b. Average rainfall recharge rate is 75% of 52 60 inches of rainfall on level ground. (R-

value) 

c. Background Nitrate-Nitrogen Concentration in Rainfall Recharge rainfall recharge is 

2.0 0.5 mg/l. (Nb-value) 

7. Any Large Systems (having a treatment and disposal capacity  design flow of over 1000 

gallons per day),, and systems that exceed 900 gallons per day per acre  shall install both the 

original and replacement disposal dispersal fields at the time of initial   construction. A 

diverter valve shall be installed between the two dispersal fields. systems. Replacement 

dispersal areas shall be divided into relatively equal units and have the same dispersal 

capacity as the original field. The replacement dispersal area shall be located as near to the 

original dispersal area as is practical.   

 

8. Effluent distribution shall alternate between the absorption dispersal area units.  

 

9. Absorption Dispersal fields for systems designed to treat over 900 gallons per acre per day 

shall not be allowed on slopes greater than thirty (30) percent. 

  

10. Duplex pumping systems or other acceptable means of alternating effluent distribution 

between absorption dispersal area units shall be provided. 

 

11. The applicant shall provide a written assessment of the impact of the proposed system upon 

the quality of public waters and public health. 

 

12. Ground water monitoring wells may be required for Large or Advanced Treatment System 

dispersal fields by the Onsite Sanitary Official. shall be installed at the disposal site for all 

treatment and disposal systems that exceed a gross hydraulic loading rate of 900 gallons per 

day per acre.  There shall be a minimum of one well installed up gradient and two wells 

down gradient of the disposal system dispersal area. Additional wells may be required by the 

Onsite Sanitary Official depending on the location of the system. [See note 55] 

 

13. Where there are groundwater monitoring wells, Aa ground water monitoring program will be 

required for each disposal dispersal area. Constituent analyses and frequency of analyses 

shall be as determined by the Onsite Sanitary Official. All costs for the monitoring program 

shall be borne by the discharger. 

 

14. Operation and Maintenance of the Large or Advanced Treatment Systems shall be as outlined 

in Chapter 1.4.A., Alternative and Innovative Pre- Advanced Treatment Systems, of this 

Manual. 

  

15. Any onsite wastewater disposal system, whether existing, under repair or newly constructed, 

that receives high strength wastewater from a commercial food service building must have a 

a properly sized and functioning grease interceptor. Sizing and design criteria at a minimum 

shall be in accordance with the most current version of California Plumbing Code, or based 

Formatted: Font color: Green

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or
numbering

320



 6.  Large Systems  
 

 

 6-5 September 2011 

on current industry standards as approved by the Onsite Sanitary Official. If the wastewater 

coming into the septic system has a BOD higher than 900 mg/l than the owner of the system 

must notify the State Regional Water Quality Control Board and submit a Report of Waste 

Discharge. The system will then be regulated by the Regional Water Quality Control Board 

as well as the applicable provisions in the Town of Paradise Local Agency Management 

Program. [see note 56] 

 

 

Construction of a Large or Advanced Treatment  System shall be in substantial conformance with the 

approved plans and specifications and with any terms of the construction installation permit issued 

by the Onsite Sanitary Official.  After completion, the professional who prepared the plans shall 

certify that the system was installed in substantial conformance with such plans. 

 

A. Septic tank sizing size 

 

• For all projected daily wastewater flows up to 1,500 gallons, the total septic tank operating 

level capacity shall have a liquid capacity equal to be at least one and one-half  two times the 

the design flow capacity of the system. daily wastewater flow, or 1,500 gallons, whichever is 

greater. This shall apply to all advanced treatment systems as well as all alternative and 

standard systems.  

 

• For projected daily wastewater flows greater than 1,500 gallons, the septic tank shall have a 

liquid capacity equal to 1,500 gallons plus seventy-five percent of the projected daily 

wastewater flow.  

 

• Additional septic tank volume, even up to three times the design flow capacity, may be 

required by the Onsite Sanitary Official for industrial or other special wastes such as RV 

parks, restaurants, laundromats, etc. 

 

• The quantity of daily wastewater flow shall be estimated using the guidelines in this manual. 

 

B. Design flow   

 

Design flow means is the maximum flow that may be reasonably expected to be discharged from a 

residential, commercial or institutional facility on any day of operation, and is expressed in gallons 

per day.  The design flow will is not be  considered as  an average daily flow, but incorporates a 

factor of safety over the average flows to accommodate peak wastewater flows or of facilities. that 

discharge greater than the average flows of wastewater either occasionally or on a regular basis.    

The design flows are based on empirical data collected over many years by numerous researchers.   

The design flows reflect disposal system designs proven to function adequately over long periods of 

time.   As such, the The design flows anticipate variations in flows among different establishments of 

the same class as well as flow variations over time in the same establishment.  The design flows also 

assume wastewater with strengths typical of the class of establishment.  The calculation of design 

flows based on water saving devices will not be allowed. 

 

Each component of the disposal system shall be designed and constructed to adequately treat and 

dispose of the design flow discharged from the premises to be served.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Tab stops: 
0.06", Left +  0.44", Left + Not at  0.5"

321



 6.  Large Systems  
 

 

 6-6 September 2011 

 

The flows listed in Table 6.1 are minimum guideline standards for average facilities of the categories 

listed. 

 

C. Methods for determining design flows  

 

Flows from existing comparable facilities can be used in determining design flows. The design flow 

may be calculated by actual potable water meter readings, or facility wastewater influent or effluent 

meter readings if in fact the; 

 

• Water records are from billing records of the service provider, or from water meters certified 

to be within two percent by the water purveyor, or, in the case of wastewater metering, the 

meter read values are certified “correct” by a Registered Engineer and approved by the 

Onsite Sanitary Official 

 

Adjustments for peak days:  The average daily flows shall be adjusted for flow days as follows: 

 

• Daily monitoring:  If the water meter records are recorded on a daily basis, the highest 

consecutive ten-day flows taken over the course of one month can be averaged and used for 

the design flow. 

 

• Weekly monitoring:  If the water meter records are recorded on a weekly basis a minimum of 

four weeks must be recorded.,  the The design flow shall be calculated by dividing the 

number of days the facility was in use into the highest weekly flow by 7 days and then 

multiplying by 1.2.   

 

• Monthly monitoring:  If the water meter records are recorded on a monthly basis, at least 4 

months shall be recorded. tThe design flow shall be calculated by dividing the number of 

days the facility was in use into the highest monthly flow, and multiplying by 1.5. 

 

• Quarterly monitoring:  If the water meter records are recorded on a quarterly basis, a whole 

year shall be recorded. theThe design flow shall be calculated by dividing the number of days 

the facility was in use into the highest quarterly flow and multiplying by 2.0. 

 

D. Disposal field hydraulic loading rates 

 

Absorption Dispersal field trenches for systems discharging pretreated secondary treated effluent 

(less than thirty milligrams per liter BOD5 and TSS) shall be sized using the absorption trench 

bottom and sidewall area.  The trench hydraulic loading rate shall not exceed 1.20 1.0 gallons per 

square foot /day, based on the design flow rate. 

 

• For large systems with a design flow over 5000 gallons per day a mounding analyses similar 

to the methodology described in the "Assessment of Cumulative Impacts of Individual Waste 

Treatment & Disposal Systems" prepared by Ramlet Associates for the North Coast Regional 

Board, February 1982, will be required. 

 

E.   Loading rates for sand and gravel filter systems 

322



 6.  Large Systems  
 

 

 6-7 September 2011 

 

Sand and gravel filter systems proposed to serve a large system shall be sized on the basis of 

projected peak daily sewage flow and the strength of the wastewater, using the following criteria:. 

 

• The hydraulic loading rate to an intermittent dosing sand filter shall not exceed 

1.5 gallons/ft
2
/day.   

 

• The hydraulic loading rate to a recirculating gravel filter shall not exceed five gallons/ft
2
/day. 

    (forward flow). 

 

• The organic loading rate to either type of filter system shall not exceed 5 x 10
-3

 pound  BOD5 

per ft
2
/day.  . 

 

 TABLE 6.1 

 

 DESIGN FLOWS FOR COMMERCIAL ESTABLISHMENTS 

 
 
 

 

 Type of Facility 

 
 

 Unit of 

 Measure 

 
 Design 

 Value 

 (gal/d) 
 
Airports 

 
passenger  

   + 

employee 

 
5 

 

15 
 
Barber Shop 

 
chair 

 
 100 

 
Bathhouses and swimming pools 

 
person 

 
10 

 
Beauty salon 

 
chair 

 
 100 

 
Bed and breakfast 

 
establishment 

     + 

Rental room 

 
225 

 

75 
 
Boarding houses (meals) 

 
house  

   + 

boarder 

 
 225 

 

50 
 
Bus service areas 

 
passenger  

   + 

employee 

 
5 

 

5 
 
Cafeteria, open general public 

 
seat  

   + 

employee 

 
45 

 

15 
 
Cafeteria, private 

 
meal/seat  

   + 

 
10 

 

323



 6.  Large Systems  
 

 

 6-8 September 2011 

 
 

 

 Type of Facility 

 
 

 Unit of 

 Measure 

 
 Design 

 Value 

 (gal/d) 

employee 15 
 
Camps: 

   Campground with central comfort stations 

   With flush toilets, no showers 

   Construction camps (no meals served) 

   Resort camps with limited plumbing 

     (night and day) 

 
 

person 

person 

person 

person 

 
 

35 

25 

15 

50 

 
Luxury camp 

 
person 

 
 100 

 
Children's camps, (day use only) 

 
camper  

   + 

staff person 

 
15 

 

15 
 
Children's camps, day and night 

 
camper  

   + 

staff person 

 
20 

 

15 
 
Churches 

 
seat 

 
5 

 
Country clubs 

 
resident  

non-resident 

 
 100 

25 
 
Dance hall 

 
attendee 

   + 

staff person 

 
5 

 

15 
 
Day care facilities, serving meals 

 
child  

   + 

adult 

 
20 

 

15 
 
Day care facilities, not serving meals 

 
child  

   + 

adult 

 
15 

 

15 
 
Delicatessen, food prepared and no seats 

 
establishment  

   + 

employee 

 
50 

 

15 
 
Eating place, fast food and no full meals and no 

  china service 

 
inside seat  

   + 

outside seat  

   + 

employee 

 
20 

 

10 

 

15 
 
Fairgrounds 

 
attendee, based 

 
2 

324



 6.  Large Systems  
 

 

 6-9 September 2011 

 
 

 

 Type of Facility 

 
 

 Unit of 

 Measure 

 
 Design 

 Value 

 (gal/d) 

on daily aver-

age 
 
Factories (with showers, exclusive of industrial wastes) 

 
person per 

  shift 

 
35 

 
Factories (without showers, exclusive of industrial 

wastes) 

 
person per 

  shift 

 
15 

 
Gyms, not associated with schools 

 
participant  

   + 

spectator  

   + 

employee 

 
10 

 

3 

 

15 
 
Hospitals 

 
bed 

 
 250 

 
Hotels and motels with shared baths 

 
bedroom  

   + 

employee 

 
80 

 

15 
 
Hotels with private baths 

 
bedroom  

   + 

employee 

 
 100 

 

15 
 
Institutions other than hospitals 

 
bed space 

 
 125 

 
Laundry, self service 

 
machine  

   + 

employee 

 
 500 

 

15 
 
Medical offices, clinics and dental offices 

 
medical staff 

   + 

patient  

   + 

office 

employee 

 
80 

 

5 

 

15 

 
Mobile home parks 

 
unit 

 
125 

 
Motels (with bath, toilet and kitchen) 

 
bedroom 

 
 150 

 
Motels with private baths (without kitchen) 

 
bedroom 

 
 100 

 
Parks and picnic areas, public restrooms, no  showers 

 
attendee  

   + 

employee 

 
5 

 

15 
   

325



 6.  Large Systems  
 

 

 6-10 September 2011 

 
 

 

 Type of Facility 

 
 

 Unit of 

 Measure 

 
 Design 

 Value 

 (gal/d) 

Parks and picnic areas, public restrooms with  showers attendee  

   + 

employee 

10 

 

15 
 
Picnic parks (toilet wastes only) 

 
picnicker 

 
5 

 
Picnic parks (with bathhouses, showers and 

  flush toilets) 

 
picnicker 

 
10 

 
Rooming houses, no meals 

 
house  

   + 

roomer 

 
 180 

 

30 
 
Rental cabins and cottages 

 
bed  

   + 

employee 

 
50 

 

15 
 
Restaurants 

 
seat 

 
40 

 
Restaurants (single service) 

 
customer 

 
2 

 
Restaurants (with bars and/or lounges) 

 
seat 

 
50 

 
Schools, elementary 

 
student 

   + 

teacher 

   + 

administrative 

employee 

 
7 

 

15 

 

15 

 
Schools, junior high 

 
student 

   + 

teacher 

   + 

administrative 

employee 

 
9 

 

15 

 

15 

 
 
Schools, senior high 

 
student 

   + 

teacher 

   + 

administrative 

employee 

 
12 

 

15 

 

15 

 
Schools, boarding 

 
student 

   + 

teacher 

 
75 

 

15 

326



 6.  Large Systems  
 

 

 6-11 September 2011 

 
 

 

 Type of Facility 

 
 

 Unit of 

 Measure 

 
 Design 

 Value 

 (gal/d) 

   + 

administrative 

employee 

 

15 

 
Service Stations 

 
1st set of fuel   

pumps 

   + 

each additional 

  set 

   + 

employee 

 
500 

 

 

300 

 

 

15 
 
Swimming pools and bathhouses 

 
person 

 
10 

 
Shopping centers or stores, public restrooms 

  and showers (Design for any eating places 

  or butcher shop shall be determined and 

  added to total design flow.) 

 
water closet  

   + 

shower  

   + 

employee  

   + 

parking space 

 
 400 

 

20 

 

15 

 

1 
 
Tennis and racquetball courts 

  (Design flows for any eating place to be  

  determined and added to the total design  

  flow.) 

 
court  

   + 

employee 

 
300 

 

15 

 
Theaters: 

  Walk-in 

  Drive-in 

 
 

per seat 

car space 

 
 

5 

20 
 
Travel trailer parks (without individual water 

  and sewer hookups) 

 
space 

 
50 

 
Travel trailer parks (with individual water 

  and sewer hookups) 

 
space 

 
 100 

 
Visitors center 

 
visitor  

   + 

employee 

 
6 

 

15 
 
Worker: 

  Construction (as semi-permanent camps) 

  Day, at school and offices 

 
 

person 

shift 

 
 

50 

15 

 

327



 6.  Large Systems  
 

 

 6-12 September 2011 

Note:When full-time equivalent employees will be present at an establishment, estimate the 

maximum number of employees who may be present during a single day of operation and add 

additional fifteen gallons per employee per eight hour shift, except where otherwise indicated.  The 

design flow for employees is based on the maximum number of employees present in a twenty-four 

hour period. 

 

F. Aesthetics of Alternative and Advanced Treatment Systems 

 

All Alternative and Advanced Treatment System above ground components shall be screened 

with aesthetically pleasing vegetative or manmade materials so as to reduce visibility from any 

public street.  Components include but are not limited to above ground filter units, sand filter 

beds, tanks and air intake units.  Above ground filter beds whose retaining walls are over two feet 

above finished grade and are visible from a public street shall be designed with landscaping, rock 

work or vegetative covering that screens the view of the filter.  The aesthetic quality of the 

screening, landscaping, rock work or vegetative covering used and its effectiveness in fulfilling 

this requirement shall be reviewed administratively via the Town’s design review process in 

conjunction with the wastewater permit approval process. Appeals of administrative design 

review decisions may be made to the Planning Commission. 

 

All visual barriers or aesthetic components used to satisfy this requirement shall be maintained in 

good condition for as long as the alternative large system remains in place. For purposes of this 

requirement, above ground piezometers, and control panels and other small components shall not be 

required to be screened from public view.  [See note 58]  

328



 
 

 7 

 INNOVATIVE APPLICATIONS  
 
 

  
 7-1 October 1994 

INNOVATIVE TREATMENT AND DISPERSAL DISPOSAL METHOD  APPLICATIONS 

 

 

Any onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system not described in this manual shall be 

considered under an innovative application permit. All innovative systems are considered alternative 

systems 

 

A. General policies 

 

Alternative technologies to those listed in this manual are encouraged, if it is a system which would 

benefit significant numbers of people within the Town of Paradise Onsite Wastewater  Management 

Zone. Unproven and undocumented technologies will not be permitted.  Only sound, well engineered 

systems will be accepted.  The Onsite Sanitary Official shall require the submission of references. 

 

No person shall construct or operate an innovative onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system 

without first obtaining a permit from the Onsite Sanitary Official. 

 

An available alternative for wastewater treatment must be available if the system should fail.  

 

For innovative systems that provide advanced treatment, An an operations, maintenance and 

monitoring program must be established subject to approval of the Regional Water Quality Control 

Board, and at the expense of the owner.  As a minimum, the monitoring shall consist of quarterly 

semi-annual effluent BOD5, TSS analyses, plus measurement of solids accumulation. 

 

B. Application procedures 

 

Application for innovative applications shall be made on forms provided by the town. 

 

The application shall be complete, signed by the owner and be accompanied by the required fee. 

 

• The application shall include detailed system design specifications and plans and any addi-

tional information the town considers necessary.  All innovative systems shall be subject to 

Regional Water Quality Control Board approval. 

 

• The owner shall agree, in writing, to hold the State of California, the County of Butte, the 

Town of Paradise, its officers, employees, and agents harmless of any and all loss and 

damage caused by defective installation or operation of the proposed system. 

 

 

C. Criteria for approval 

 

329



    7. Innovative Applications  
 
 

  
 7-2 October 1994 

Sites may be considered for innovative application permits where: 

 

• A specific acceptable backup alternative is available in the event of system failure. 

 

• For absorption dispersal systems, soils in both original and system replacement areas are 

similar. 

 

• The system design shall supply operations and maintenance instructions to both the owner 

and the town.  It shall be the responsibility of the owner to maintain the system in accordance 

with the instructions and the operating permit.  The town shall regularly inspect the system 

for proper operations and maintenance.  Monitoring shall be performed by the town at the 

owner's expense. 

 

D. Repair or replacement of system 

 

If the town finds the operation of the system unsatisfactory, the owner, upon written notification 

from the town, shall promptly repair or modify the system, replace it with another acceptable system, 

or as a last resort, abandon the system. 

 

 

330



 
 

 8 

 LOCAL AGENCY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM  
 
 

  
 7-1 October 1994 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

331



 

 

  
 

 8-1 October 1994 

 
 

 89 

 DEFINITIONS [See note 60]  
 

Absorption capacity:  See mounding analysis. 

 

Advanced treatment:  Treatment provided to wastewater after primary treatment has occurred. 

The treatment enhances the aerobic environment of wastewater by introducing oxyen into it, thus 

promoting the microbial decomposition of organic pollutants. Advanced treatment reduces the 

level of constituents in wastewater including BOD and TSS. Advanced treatment is also 

commonly known as pretreatment, secondary treatment or supplemental treatment. 

 

Absorption trench:  A ditch or trench with vertical sides and substantially flat bottom with a 

minimum of twelve inches of clean, coarse filter material into which a single distribution pipe 

has been laid, the trench then being backfilled with a minimum of six inches of soil. 

 

Aerobic:  A condition in which molecular oxygen is present in the environment. 

 

Aerobic media system: An advanced treatment system that uses a type of media to promote 

microbial attachment and growth so as to enhance the microbial decomposition of organic 

material in wastewater. Media substances include sand, gravel, textile fabric, plastic, and  peat. 

The primary purpose of the media is to increase surface area for microorganisms to grow and 

receive increased oxygen exposure. Aerobic Media Systems are also known as Filter Systems. 

 

Alteration:  Any change in the physical configuration of an existing onsite wastewater disposal 

system or any of its component parts, including replacement, modification, additional or removal 

of disposal system components, installation, size, capacity, type or number of one or more 

components.  The term "alter" shall be construed accordingly. 

 

Alternative System:  Any onsite wastewater disposal system other than the standard septic 

tank/gravity-fed absorption  dispersal field described in Chapter 4.  Any system installed under a 

variance or classified as innovative shall be considered an alternative system. 

 

Anaerobic:  A condition in which molecular oxygen is absent from the environment. 

 

Applicant:  The person who signs and submits an application for permit to construct, install or 

alter a disposal system. 

 

Aquifer recharge zone:  Any porous surface area that allows precipitation to infiltrate into an 

aquifer.  

 

Bedrock:  A solid and continuous body of rock, with or without fractures, or a weathered or 

broken body of rock fragments overlying a solid body of rock.  It has less than 25% fines and can 

not be broken by hand pressure. 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Not Italic, Font
color: Green

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Not Bold, Not Italic

332



 

 

  
 

 8-2 October 1994 

 

Bedroom:  Any room within a dwelling unit, furnished or unfurnished, that may reasonably be 

expected to serve primarily as sleeping quarters. 

 

Black wastewater:  Wastewater derived from plumbing fixtures or drains that only receive 

excreta wastewater. 

 

Bottomless sand filter:  An unlined intermittent dosing sand filter that allows effluent to travel 

into the soil below the bed of sand. 

 

Building drain:  That portion of the lowest piping of a plumbing system that receives the 

discharge plumbing and other pipes inside the walls of a building and conveys it to the building 

sewer. 

 

Capping fill:  A dispersal field that is used at Used to modify  a site that is lacking in effective 

soil depth above groundwater or, depth  to groundwater, depth to restrictive layers, or excessively 

permeable soil.  The absorption dispersal trench must be is installed in a minimum of twelve 

inches into natural native soil. , but Approved cover soil is  may be  added to "cap" the system. 

and, thus provide an acceptable effective soil depth . 

 

Cesspool:  A covered excavation that receives wastewater or other organic wastes from a 

disposal system, and is designed to retain the organic matter and solids, but allows liquids to seep 

through the bottom and sidewalls.  

 

Chroma:  The relative purity or strength of color of soil; a quantity that decreases with 

increasing grayness.  Chroma is one of the three variables of color as defined in the Munsell 

system of color classification. 

 

Clay:  See Soil texture 

 

Clay pan:  A dense, compact clay layer in the subsoil.  It has a much higher clay content than the 

overlying soil horizon from which it is separated by an abrupt boundary.  Clay pans are hard 

when dry and very sticky and very plastic when wet.  They impede movement of water and air 

and growth of plant roots. 

 

Community system:  An onsite wastewater disposal system designed to serve more than one lot 

or parcel or more than one condominium unit or more than one unit of a planned unit 

development. 

 

Conditions associated with saturation:  A)  Reddish brown or brown soil horizons with gray 

(chromas of two or less) and red or yellowish red mottles; or  B)  Gray soil horizons, or gray soil 

horizons with red, yellowish red, or brown mottles; or  C)  Dark colored highly organic soil 

horizons; or  D)  Soil profiles with concentrations of soluble salt at or near the ground surface. 

 

Contour:  An imaginary line of constant elevation on the ground surface; the corresponding line 

on a map is called a "contour line". 

333



8. Definitions 

 

 

  
 

 8-3 October 1994 

 

Criteria:  Technical requirements upon which a judgementjudgment or decision may be based. 

 

Curtain drain:  A method of artificially lowering the water table by installation of a trench on 

the up-hill side of the absorption a  dispersal field on sites with slopes greater than four percent.  

The trench shall be twelve inches wide and approximately five foot deep with has a perforated 

pipe in the bottom that collects and diverts water away from the absorption dispersal field area. 

 

Design flow:  The wastewater flow that may reasonably be expected to be discharged from a 

residential, commercial, or institutional facility on any day.  

 

Disposal area:  One or more absorption fields.  The perimeter of the disposal area corresponds 

to the perimeter of the absorption field or a line circumscribing the outermost edges of the 

outermost absorption fields and includes the area between the absorption fields.  

 

Dispersal field: One or more dispersal trenches, or dispersal beds where wastewater effluent is 

discharged for the sake of dispersing into the underlying soil strata. A dispersal field is also 

known as a drainfield, absorption field, disposal field or leachfield.  

 

Dispersal trench: A dispersal trench receives wastewater effluent for the purpose of dispersing 

the effluent through the soil media that surrounds the trench. It consists of a trench with vertical 

sides and flat bottom and a minimum of twelve inches of clean, rounded leach rock material. A 

distribution pipe lays flat toward the top of the leachrock column. The trench has a minimum of 

twelve inches of soil cover, or, in the case of pavement, a minimum of six inches of soil cover 

and the remaining six inches consisting of road base, concrete or asphalt.  

 

Disposal system cleaner:  Any solid or liquid material intended or used primarily for the 

purpose of cleaning, treating, degreasing, unclogging, disinfecting or deodorizing any part of a 

disposal system but excluding those liquid or solid products intended or used primarily for 

manual cleaning, scouring, treating, deodorizing or disinfecting the surface of common plumbing 

fixtures.  

 

Distribution box:  A watertight structure that receives septic tank effluent and is used to 

distribute such effluent in equal portions to two or more disposal fields or distribution pipes 

within a disposal field. 

 

Distribution pipe:  A perforated pipe or one of several perforated pipes used to carry and 

distribute septic tank effluent throughout the disposal field. 

 

Distribution network:  Two or more inter-connected distribution pipes. 

 

Diverter valve:  A device that permits alternating use of two or more disposal fields or the 

diversion of septic tank effluent. 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

334



    8.  Definitions  
 

  
 

 8-4 October 1994 

Diversion ditch:  A ditch to intercept and divert surface water runoff. 

 

Dosing septic tank:  A unitized device performing functions of both a septic tank and a dosing 

tank. 

 

Dosing siphon:  A hydraulic device designed to discharge rapidly the contents of a dosing tank 

between predetermined water or sewage levels. 

 

Dosing tank:  A watertight receptacle located between the septic tank and disposal field and 

equipped with a pump or siphon, to store and deliver doses of septic tank effluent to the disposal 

field. 

 

Drainrock:  Clean, washed gravel ranging from three-quarter to two and one-half inches in size, 

or clean crushed rock ranging in size from one and one-half to two and one-half inches. 

 

Drainage area:  An area from which the surface runoff is carried away by a single watercourse. 

 

Drainage ditch:  A ditch used to receive and divert receiving and diverting surface runoff or 

subsurface water. 

 

Drop box:  A component of a serial distribution system.  The drop box allows overflow from 

one dispersal absorption trench to the next. 

 

Dry well:  A system that involves effluent being discharged from a septic tank into a cesspool. 

 

Dwelling unit:  Any structure or portion of a structure, permanent or temporary in nature, used 

or proposed to be used as a residence seasonally or throughout the year. 

 

Effective seepage absorption area:  The entire sidewall area within  of a dispersal trench  an 

absorption trench or a seepage trench operating anaerobically from the bottom of the absorption 

trench  to a level two inches above the distribution pipes.  The bottom area may be added when 

the absorption trench is designed to operate aerobically. of a trench that receives secondary 

treated wastewater is also considered effective absorption area. 

 

Effective size:  The size or diameter of the particle or sand grain, in millimeters, in a sand 

mixture, below which ten percent by weight of the sand grains are smaller in diameter. 

 

Effective soil depth:  That portion of the soil Permeable soil that is effective in receiving and 

dispersing wastewater effluent from an onsite wastewater disposal system.   above a layer that 

limits the ability of the soil to provide treatment or disposal of septic tank effluent.   The 

effective soil depth is typically underlain by a limiting horizon which includes  Limiting horizons 

include bedrock, hydraulically restrictive soil horizons dense  clays and parent material, exces-

sively course coarse soils horizons and parent material, and permanent  and seasonally high 

groundwater tables. 

 

335



    8.  Definitions  
 

  
 

 8-5 October 1994 

Effluent lift pump:  A pump used to lift septic tank or other treatment facility effluent to a 

higher elevation. 

 

Effluent sewer:  Part of the system of drainage piping that conveys partially treated sewage from 

a septic tank or other treatment facility into a dispersal field. distribution unit or an absorption  

facility . 

 

Emergency repair:  Repair of a failing system where immediate action is necessary to relieve a 

situation in which sewage is backing up into a dwelling or building, or repair of a broken 

pressure sewer pipe. 

 

Engineered fill:  Importation of select soil placed deeper than twelve inches on a site for the 

express purpose of constructing a drainfield. 

 

Escarpment:  Any naturally occurring slope greater than fifty percent which extends vertically 

six inches or more as measured from toe to top, and which is characterized by a long cliff or 

steep slope which separates two or more comparatively level or gently sloping surfaces, and may 

intercept one or more layers that limit effective soil depth. 

 

Existing onsite wastewater disposal system:  Any installed onsite wastewater disposal system 

constructed in conformance with the rules, laws and local ordinances in effect at the time of 

construction. 

 

Experimental systems:  See Innovative Applications, Chapter 7. 

 

Failing system:  Any onsite wastewater dispsosal system which discharges untreated or 

incompletely treated wastewater  or septic tank effluent  directly or indirectly onto the ground 

surface or into public surface waters, including creeks, ponds or groundwater.  Any onsite 

wastewater disposal system which has a cracked, deteriorated or leaking tank. Any onsite 

wastewater disposal system that is not performing as it was designed for the treatment and 

dispersal of wastewater, including dispersal fields not accepting wastewater at the rate for which 

it is designed or fot that which is flowing into it.  

 

Fill material:  Any soil, rock or other material placed within an excavation or over the surface of 

the ground.  The term "fill or back-fill" is equivalent in meaning. 

 

Finish grade:  The surface elevation of the ground after completion of final grading. 

 

Filter fabric:  A woven or spun-bonded sheet material used to impede or prevent the movement 

of sand, silt and clay into filter material. 

 

Five-day biochemical oxygen demand (BOD5):  The quantity of oxygen used in the biochemi-

grade under specified conditions and 

reported as milligrams per liter (mg/L). 

 

336



    8.  Definitions  
 

  
 

 8-6 October 1994 

Gleization:  A process of intense reduction caused by long periods of soil saturation in the 

presence of organic matter while the soil temperatures are above biologic zero, forty-one degrees 

Fahrenheit. 

 

Gleyed:  A soil condition resulting from intense reduction, characterized by the presence of 

ferrous iron and neutral gray, green or blue colors that commonly change to brown upon 

exposure to air. 

 

Gravel:  See Soil texture 

 

Gray wastewater:  That portion of the wastewater generated within a residential, commercial or 

institutional facility that does not include discharges from water closets and urinals. 

 

Grease trap:  A device located inside a building in which the grease in wastewater is 

intercepted, congealed by cooling, accumulated and stored for pump-out and disposal. 

 

Grease interceptor tank:  A septic tank with the outlet tee extended to within twelve inches of 

the floor of the tank used to intercept and retain any grease that may be present in the wastewater. 

 

Groundwater: 

 

a. Permanent Groundwater table:  The upper surface of a saturated zone that exists 

year-round.  The thickness of the saturated zone, and, as a result, the elevation of the 

permanent groundwater table may fluctuate as much as twenty feet or more annually; but 

the saturated zone and associated permanent groundwater table will be present at some 

depth beneath land surface throughout the year. 

 

b. Groundwater aquifer:  A porus formation of ice contact and glacial outwash sand and 

gravel, or bedrock that contains significant recoverable quantities of water that is likely to 

provide drinking water supplies. 

 

c. Groundwater gradient:  For purpose of this manual, the groundwater gradient is assumed 

to follow the topographic  gradient except for stratified drift and ablation till landscapes 

where the disposal system is assumed to be down gradient regardless of the topographical 

gradient. 

 

d. Groundwater table:  The upper surface of a zone of saturation. 

 

Hazardous waste:  Any chemical substance or material, gas, solid or liquid designated as 

hazardous by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency pursuant to the United States Resource 

Recovery and Conservation Act. Public Law 94-580. 

 

Holding tank:  A closed watertight structure designed and operated in such a manner as to 

receive and store wastewater or septic tank effluent, but not to discharge wastewater or septic 

tank effluent to the surface or groundwater or onto the surface of the ground. 

 

337



    8.  Definitions  
 

  
 

 8-7 October 1994 

Horizon, soil:  A layer within a soil profile differing from the soil above or below it in one or 

more soil morphological characteristics including color, texture, rock fragment content, structure 

and consistence of each soil horizon or parent material. 

 

Horizontal reference point:  A stationary, easily identifiable point to which horizontal 

dimensions can be related. 

 

Hue:  The dominant spectral color, one of the three variables of soil color defined within the 

Munsell system of color classification. 

 

Infiltration rate:  The rate water is absorbed by a soil surface whether that surface be the ground 

surface or interior of a trench lined with drainrock. 

 

Innovative application:  See Chapter 7. 

 

Install:  To assemble, put in place or connect components of a disposal system in a manner that 

permit their use by the occupants of the structure served. 

 

Intermittent dosing sand filter:  A filter with two feet or more of medium sand designed to 

filter and biologically treat septic tank or other treatment unit effluent from a pressure distribut-

ion system at an applica

not to exceed twenty percent of the projected daily wastewater flow per cycle. 

 

Invert:  The floor, bottom or lowest portion of the internal cross-section of a closed conduit, 

used with reference to pipes or fittings conveying wastewater or septic tank effluent. 

 

Large system:  See Chapter 6. 

 

Malfunctioning system:  An improperly functioning or A non-operational onsite wastewater 

disposal system or an improperly functioning disposal system, as indicated by, though but not 

limited to, any of the following events:  (1)  Contamination of nearby water wells or surface 

water bodies by wastewater of septic tank effluent as indicated by the presence of fecal bacteria 

where the ratio of fecal coliform to fecal streptococci is four or greater;  (2)  Ponding or outbreak 

of wastewater or septic tank effluent into portions of buildings below ground;  (3)  Seepage of 

wastewater or septic tank effluent  into portions of buildings below ground;  (4)  Emanations of 

foul odors from any component of the disposal system; or (5)  Back-up of wastewater into the 

building served which is not caused by a physical blockage of the internal plumbing. 

 

Media Filter: A component of an advanced treatment system where wastewater effluent is 

passed through filter material multiples time to achieve a level of wastewater constituent 

reduction. Media filters rely on an aerobic environment that promotes microbial growth. 

Microbial decomposition of wastewater nutrients occurs on the filter media surface. Filter media 

may be sand, aggregate, textile, or other substances that provide a large amount of surface area.  

 

Medium sand:  A mixture of sand with 100 percent passing the No. 3/8 inch sieve, ninety to 100 

percent passing the No. 4 sieve, sixty-two to 100 percent passing the No. 10 sieve, forty-five to 

338



    8.  Definitions  
 

  
 

 8-8 October 1994 

eight-two percent passing the No. 16 sieve, twenty-five to fifty-five percent passing the No. 30 

sieve, five to twenty percent passing the No. 50 sieve, ten percent or less passing the No. 60 

sieve, and four percent or less passing the No. 100 sieve. 

 

Mineral soil:  Any soil consisting primarily of sand, silt and clay rather than organic matter. 

 

Mottles, drainage:  Soil color patterns caused by alternating saturated (anaerobic) and 

unsaturated (aerobic) soil conditions.  When saturation occurs while soil temperatures are above 

biological zero forty-one degrees Fahrenheit, iron and manganese will become reduced and 

exhibit subdued shades such as grays, greens or blues.  When unsaturated conditions occur, 

oxygen combines with iron and manganese to develop brighter soil colors such as yellow and 

reddish brown.  Soils which experience seasonally fluctuating water tables usually exhibit 

alternating streaks, spots, or blotches of bright colors (oxidized area) with dull or subdues colors 

(reduced areas).  The longer a soil is saturated and in an anaerobic condition, the greater is the 

percentage of color which will be subdues.  Soils which are never or are rarely exposed to free 

oxygen are considered totally reduced or gleyed.  (see Appendix A). 

 

Mounding analysis:  A hydraulic hydrogeologic study of a proposed drainfield dispersal field 

area to determine the capacity of the site the capacity of the underlying soils to transmit water 

through the soils and  off the site without surfacing.  Words used to describe water flow through 

soil and away from a drainfield include site capacity, assimilation of flows, and absorption 

capacity. 

 

Mottling:  A color pattern observed in soil consisting of blotches or spots of contrasting color.  

The term "mottle" refers to an individual blotch or spot.  Drainage Mottling is an indication of 

seasonal or periodic and recurrent soil saturation. 

 

Munsell system:  A system of classifying soil color consisting of an alpha-numeric designation 

for hue, value and chroma, such as "7.5YR6/2," together with a descriptive color name, such as 

"strong brown." 

 

 

Nonwater-carried waste disposal facility:  A system designed to uniformly distribute septic 

tank or other treatment unit effluent under pressure in an absorption facility or sand filter.  

 

Normal high water line, riverline, stream, lake and pond:  That line on the shore or bank of 

stream that is apparent from visible markings, changes in the character of soil, rock or vegetation 

resulting from submersion or the prolonged erosion action of the water. 

 

Operate:  To use or convey a structure or facility served by disposal system or to own a structure 

or facility where such use or occupation exits. 

 

Owner:  Any person who alone, or jointly, or severally with others:  (1)  Has legal title to any 

single lot, dwelling, dwelling unit, or commercial facility; or  (2)  Has care, charge or control of 

any real property as agent, executor, executrix, administrator, administratrix, trustee, commercial 

leasee, or guardian of the estate of the holder of legal title; or  (3) Is the contract purchaser of real 

339



    8.  Definitions  
 

  
 

 8-9 October 1994 

property  NOTE:  Each such person as described in subsections (2) and (3) thus representing the 

legal title holder, is bound to comply with the provisions of these rules as if he were the legal title 

holder. 

 

Parent material:  The unconsolidated and more or less un-weathered mineral or organic matter 

from which the soil profile is developed. 

 

Perimeter drain or tile dewatering:  A method of artificially lowering the water table on sites 

with slopes less than twelve percent by installation of a trench that completely surrounds the 

entire absorption field.  The trench shall be twelve inches wide and approximately five feet deep 

with perforated pipe in the bottom that collects and diverts water away from the absorption field 

area. 

 

Person:  An individual or his/her heirs, executor, administrator, assign or agents, a firm, 

corporation, association, organization, municipal or quasi-municipal corporation, or govern-

mental agency.  Singular includes plural and male includes female. 

 

Pit privy:  An alternative toilet placed over an excavation where human waste is deposited. 

 

Portable toilet:  Any self-contained chemical toilet facility that is housed within a portable toilet 

shelter and includes, but is not limited to construction-type chemical toilets. 

 

Potable water:  Water that does not contain objectionable pollution, contamination, minerals, or 

infective agents, is satisfactory for human consumption and is used for human consumption. 

 

Pre-existing native natural ground surface:  The original former level of the ground surface in 

before any man-made development occurred, typically in the form of soil being removed or soil 

being deposited at the site. an area of disturbed ground prior to the disturbance.   

 

Pressure distribution lateral:  Piping and fittings in pressure distribution systems which 

distribute septic tank or other treatment unit effluent to filter material through small diameter 

orifices. 

 

Pressure distribution manifold:  Piping and fittings in a pressure distribution system which 

supply effluent from pressure transport piping to pressure distribution laterals. 

 

Pressure distribution system:  Any system designed to uniformly distribute septic tank or other 

treatment unit effluent under pressure in a dispersal field an absorption facility  or sand filter. 

 

Pressure transport piping:  Piping which conveys septic tank or other treatment unit effluent to 

a dispersal field pressure distribution manifold  by means of pressure, typically created by a 

pump. 

 

Primary treatment; Primary treatment is the removal of solids from wastewater.  It entails the 

settling of heavy solids and the floating of lighter solids within wastewater while it is placed in a 

static environment, such as in a septic tank. Wastewater effluent that is plumbed to flow out of a 

Formatted: Font: Bold

340



    8.  Definitions  
 

  
 

 8-10 October 1994 

septic tank, where the heavier and lighter solids have been removed, has undergone primary 

treatment.  

 

Public sewer:  Municipal or sewerage system. 

 

Public waters:  Lakes, bays, ponds, impounding reservoirs, springs, wells, rivers, streams, 

creeks, estuaries, marches, inlets, canals, the Pacific Ocean within the territorial limits of the 

State of California, and all other bodies of surface or underground waters, natural or artificial, 

inland or coastal, fresh or slat, public or private (except those private waters which do not 

combine or effect a junction with natural surface or underground waters), which are wholly or 

partially within or bordering the State or within its jurisdiction. 

 

Qualified designer:  A registered civil engineer, certified professional soil scientist, registered 

sanitarian environmental health specialist, registered engineering geologist, or registered 

geologist with experience in designing onsite wastewater disposal systems.  A qualified designer 

may perform soil tests, prepare site evaluation reports, and design onsite wastewater disposal 

systems.  Firms performing satisfactory site evaluations at the time this manual is adopted are 

also considered to be qualified. 

 

Realty improvement:  Any new residential, commercial or industrial structure or other 

premises, including but not limited to condominiums, garden apartments, town houses, mobile 

homes, stores, office buildings, restaurants, and hotels, not served by an approved public sewer, 

the useful occupancy of which will require the installer erection of disposal systems.  Each 

dwelling unit in a proposed multiple-family dwelling unit or each commercial unit in a 

commercial structure shall be construed to be a separate realty improvement. 

 

Recirculating gravel filter:  A gravel filter which processes liquid waste by mixing filtrate with 

incoming septic tank effluent and recirculating it several times through the filter material before 

discharge to a final treatment or absorption area. 

 

Redundant absorption dispersal field system:  A system in which two complete absorption  

dispersal fields are installed, the absorption  dispersal trenches of each system alternate with each 

other and only one system operates at a given time. 

 

 

Restrictive chemical material:  Any chemical material that contains concentrations in excess of 

one part per hundred, by weight of any halogenated hydrocarbon chemical, aliphatic or aromatic, 

including, but not limited to trichloroethane, trichloroethylene, methylene chloride, 

tetrachoreoethlylene, halogenated benzenes and carbon tetrachloride, any aromatic hydrocarbon 

chemical, including but not limited to benzene, toluene and naphthalene; any phenol derivative in 

which a hydropsy group and two or more halogen atoms are bonded directly to a six-carbon 

aromatic ring, including but not limited to trichlorophenol or pentachloro-phenol; or acrolein, 

acrylonitrile or benzidene.  Restrictive chemical material does not, however, include any 

chemical material that is biodegradable and is not a significant source of contamination of the 

groundwater of the State. 

 

341



    8.  Definitions  
 

  
 

 8-11 October 1994 

Restrictive soil layer:  A soil horizon or zone within a soil profile that slows or prevents the 

downward or lateral movement of water. 

 

Rock fragment:  A rock fragment contained within the soil that is greater than two millimeter 

equivalent spherical diameter or that is retained on a two millimeter sieve. 

 

Sand:  See Soil texture. 

 

Sand filter surface area:  The area of the level plane section in the medium sand horizon of a 

conventional sand filter located two feet below the bottom of the filter material containing the 

pressurized distribution piping. 

 

Sand filter system:  The combination of septic tank or other treatment unit, dosing system with 

effluent pump and controls, or dosing siphon, piping and fittings, sand filter, and absorption 

facility used to treat and dispose of sewage. 

 

Saprolite:  Weathered material underlying the soil that grades from thoroughly decomposed rock 

to rock that has been weathered sufficiently so that it can be broken in the hands or cut with a 

knife.  It does not include hard bedrock or hard fractured bedrock.  It has rock structure, but 

behaves like soil.  It is considered soil in determining soil depth. 

 

Seasonal or temporary high groundwater table:  The upper limit of the shallowest seasonal 

groundwater table that occurs in the soil.  This zone may be determined by identification of soil 

drainage mottling or by wet-season monitoring. A high groundwater level that is not maintained 

for over two weeks, but is a temporary spike due to extreme rainfall, is not regarded as a seasonal 

high groundwater table.  

 

Secondary Treatment: A process of wastewater treatment that is provided after primary 

treatment where small suspended solids and other organic materials undergo a biological process 

that removes them from the wastewater. Typically secondary treatment entails naturally 

occurring microorganisms given an accelerated amount of oxygen, thus promoting their 

metabolic digestion of organic pollutants in wastewater.  

 

Seepage bed:  An absorption system having disposal trenches wider than three feet. 

 

Seepage pit:  A "cesspool" which has a treatment facility such as a septic tank ahead of it 

 

Seepage trench system:  A system with disposal trenches with more than six inches of filter 

material below the distribution pipe. 

 

Septage:  All sludge, scum, liquid  and any other material removed from a septic tank or disposal 

field. 

Septic tank:  A watertight receptacle that receives the discharge of untreated wastewater, and is 

designed and constructed so as to permit settling of settleable solids from the liquid collection of 

the scum, partial digestion of the organic matter and discharge of the liquid portion into a 

disposal field.   

Formatted: Font: Bold

342



    8.  Definitions  
 

  
 

 8-12 October 1994 

 

Septic tank effluent:  Primary treated wastewater discharged through the outlet of a septic tank. 

 

Serial distribution:  A method of distributing septic tank effluent between a series of  dispersal 

absorption trenches so that each successive absorption  trench receives septic tank effluent only 

after the preceding absorption trenches have  has become full to overflowing. 

 

Setback distance:  The nearest horizontal distance between a component of a disposal system 

and selected site features or structures. 

 

Single-family dwelling unit:  A structure or realty improvement intended for single-family use. 

 

Site evaluation:  The practice of investigating, evaluating and reporting basic soil and site 

conditions that apply to wastewater treatment and dispersal disposal and disposal system design 

in compliance with this  code. 

 

Site evaluator:  A certified professional soil scientist (CPSS), registered civil engineer, certified 

engineering geologist, registered geologist, or a  registered sanitarian environmental health 

specialist or other individual as approved by the Onsite Sanitation Division, that has with 

adequate knowledge and training in small waste disposal soil science pertaining to onsite 

wastewater disposal system designs and soil science or other individuals approved by the onsite 

management district.   See also qualified designer. 

 

Slope:  The rate of fall or drop in feet per 100 feet of the ground surface, expressed as a percent.  

 

Sludge:  A relative dense suspension of wastewater solids that settle to the bottom of a septic 

tank, are relatively resistant to biological decomposition, and that collect in the septic tank over a 

period of time.  

 

Small flow wastewater construction service:  (1)  The installation of onsite sewage disposal 

systems (including the placement of portable toilets, or any part thereof; or (2)  The pumping out 

or cleaning of onsite sewage disposal systems (including portable toilets), or any part thereof; or  

(3)  The disposal of material derived from the pumping out or cleaning of onsite sewage disposal 

systems (including portable toilets); or  (4)  Grading, excavating, and earth-moving work 

connected with the operations described in subsection (1) of this section, except streets, 

highways, dams, airports or other heavy construction projects and except earth-moving work 

performed under the supervision of a builder or contractor in connection with and at the time of 

the construction of a building or structure; or  (5)  The construction of a drain and sewage lines 

from five feet outside a building or structure to the service lateral at the curb or in the street or 

alley or other disposal terminal holding human or domestic sewage. 

 

Soil:  The collection of natural bodies on the earth's surface, in places modified or even created 

of earthy materials, containing living matter and capable of supporting plants out-of-doors. 

 

Soil material:  Soil as well as any naturally occurring unconsolidated mineral deposit that is not 

bedrock. 

343



    8.  Definitions  
 

  
 

 8-13 October 1994 

 

Soil permeability rating:  That quality of the soil that enables it to transmit water or air, as 

outlined in the United States Department of Agriculture Handbook, Number 18, entitled Soil 

Survey Manual. 

 

Soil profile:  A vertical cross-section of the undisturbed soil showing the characteristic soil 

horizontal layers or soil horizons of the soil that have formed as a result of the combined effects 

of parent material, topography, climate, biological activity, and time. 

 

Soil saturation:  The state when all the pores in the soil are filled with water.  Water will flow 

from saturated soils into an observation hole. 

 

Soil structure:  The naturally occurring arrangement, within a soil horizon, of sand, silt and clay 

particles, rock fragments and organic matter, that are held together in clusters or soil aggregates. 

 

Soil texture:  The amount of each soil separate in a soil mixture.  Field methods for judging the 

texture of a soil consist of forming a cast of soil, both dry and moist, in the hand and pressing a 

ball of moist soil between thumb and finger.  The major textural classifications are defined as 

follows:   

 

1. Sand:  Individual grains can be seen and felt readily.  Squeezed in the hand when dry, this 

soil will fall apart when the pressure is released.  Squeezed then moist, it will form a cast 

that will hold its shape when the pressure is released, but will crumble when touched. 

 

2. Sandy loam:  Consists largely of sand, but has enough silt and clay present to give it a small 

amount of stability.  Individual sand grains can be readily seen and felt.  Squeezed in the 

hand when dry, this soil will readily fall apart when the pressure is released.  Squeezed 

when moist, it forms a cast that will not only hold its shape when the pressure is released, 

but will withstand careful handling.  The cast formed of moist soil and be handled freely 

without breaking. 

 

3. Silt loam:  Consists of a moderate amount of fine grades of sand, a small amount of clay, 

and a large quantity of silt particles.  Lumps in a dry, undisturbed state appear quite cloddy, 

but they can be pulverized readily, the soil then feels soft and floury.  When wet, silt loam 

runs together in puddles.  Either dry or moist, casts can be handled freely without breaking. 

 When a ball of moist soil is pressed between thumb and finger, it will not press out into a 

smooth, unbroken ribbon, but will have a broken appearance. 

4. Clay loam:  Consists of an even mixture of sand, silt and clay, which breaks into clods or 

lumps when dry.  When a ball of moist soil is pressed between the thumb and finger, it will 

form a thin ribbon that will readily break, barely sustaining its own weight.  The moist soil 

is plastic and will form a cast that will withstand considerable handling. 

 

5. Silty clay loam:  Consists of a moderate amount of clay, a large amount of silt, and a small 

amount of sand.  It breaks into moderately hard clods or lumps when dry.  When moist, a 

thin ribbon or one-eight inch sustain its weight and will withstand gentle movement. 

 

344



    8.  Definitions  
 

  
 

 8-14 October 1994 

6. Silty clay:  Consists of even amounts of silt and clay and very small amounts of sand.  It 

breaks into hard clods or lumps when dry.  When moist, a thin ribbon or one-eighth inch or 

less sized wire formed between thumb and finger will withstand considerable movement 

and deformation. 

 

7. Clay:  Consists of large amounts of clay and moderate to small amounts of sand.  It breaks 

into very hard clods or lumps when dry when moist, a thin, long ribbon or one-sixteenth 

inch wire can be molded with ease.  Fingerprints will show on the soil, and a dull to bright 

polish is made on the soil by a shovel. 

 

These and other soil textural characteristics are also defined as shown in the United States 

Department of Agriculture Textural Classification Chart (Figure A.1) which is hereby adopted  as 

part of these rules.  This textural classification chart is based on the Standard Pipetter Analysis as 

defined in the United States Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service Soil Survey 

Investigations Report No. 1. 

 

Soil with rapid or very rapid permeability:   

 

A. Soil which contains thirty-five percent or more of course fragments two millimeters in 

diameter or larger by volume with intersectional soil of sandy loam texture or coarser as 

defined herein and as classified in Soil Textural Classification Chart (Figure A.1). 

 

B. Coarse textured soil (loamy sand or sand as defined herein and as classified in Soil 

Textural Classification Chart).  

 

C. Stones, cobbles, gravel and rock fragments with too little soil material to fill interstices 

larger than 1 mm in diameter. 

 

Strength of wastewater:  The concentration of pollutants in wastewater as measured by BOD5, 

COD, and TSS.  

 

Subsurface sewage treatment:  The physical, chemical or bacteriological breakdown and  

aerobic treatment  of wastewater through aerobic treatment in the unsaturated zone of the soil. 

above any temporarily perched groundwater body . 

 

Temporary high or perched groundwater table:  The upper surface of a saturated zone that 

exists only on a seasonal or periodic  basis, typically during winter and/or early spring.  Perched 

water typically occurs immediately above a restrictive soil horizon.  Like a permanent 

groundwater table, the The elevation of a temporary high groundwater table may fluctuate but is 

only regarded as significant for dispersal field design if it is present more than a two week period. 

 However, a temporary groundwater table and associated saturated zone will dissipate (dry up) 

for a period of time each year.  

 

Total suspended solids (TSS):  Solids in wastewater that can be removed readily by standard 

filtering procedures in a laboratory and reported as milligrams per liter (mg/L). 

 

345



    8.  Definitions  
 

  
 

 8-15 October 1994 

Variance:  Written authorization issued by the Town of Paradise that permits some act or 

condition otherwise impermissible in the Onsite Wastewater  Management Zone. 

 

Value:  The relative lightness or intensity of a color, one of the three variable of soil color 

defined within the Munsell system of classification. 

 

Vault Privy:  An alternative toilet that retains human waste in a sealed vault.   

 

Wastewater:  Any liquid waste containing animal or vegetable matter in suspension or solution 

or the water carried wastes from the discharge of water closets, laundry tubs, washing machines, 

sinks, dishwashers, or other source of water carried wastes of human origin.  This term specifi-

cally excludes industrial, hazardous or toxic wastes and materials. 

 

Wastewater discharge requirements:  Wastewater discharge requirements are issued by the 

California Regional Water Quality Control Board, Central Valley Region, for discharge of 

wastewater to the environment. 

 

Wastewater strength:  The concentration of pollutants in wastewater as measured by BOD5 

(Biochemical Oxygen Demand), TSS (Total Suspended Solids), Nitrogen compounds and FOG 

(Fats, Oils and Grease). High strength wastewater has a 30-day average concentration of BOD 

greater than 300 mg/l and/or TSS greater than 330 mg/l and/or FOG concentration greater than 

100 mg/l. 

 

 

Water well:  A bored, drilled or driven shaft or dug hole, that extends below the seasonal 

groundwater table and is used as a drinking water supply. 

 

 

  

346



 

APPENDIX A 

SOIL PROFILE TERMINOLOGY 

 

 

 A-1 October 1994 

A. General   

 

The relative amounts of the sizes of mineral particles in a soil are referred to as soil texture.  All soils 

are comprised of sand, silt and clay.  The soil texture classification set forth in this section is based 

upon the U.S. Department of Agriculture twelve soil textural classes.  However, for the purpose of 

this code, a site evaluator can adequately describe soil texture based upon the twelve general soil 

textural classes described in Figure A-1. 

 

 

B. Mottling 

 

Mottling terms:  The site evaluator shall estimate the abundance, size, and contrast of mottling using 

the volume estimation charts provided in Munsell charts and using the following terms in (Mottle 

abundance) and (Mottle contrast): 

 

• Mottle abundance:  Mottle abundance means the percentage of the exposed soil surface 

occupied by mottles and is described as follows: 

 

• Few:  Mottle abundance is "few" where the mottles color occupies less than two percent of 

the exposed soils surface 

 

• Common:  Mottle abundance is "common" where the mottles color occupies from two to 

twenty percent of the exposed soil surface. 

 

• Many:  Mottle abundance is "many" where the mottles color occupies more than twenty 

percent of the exposed surface. 

 

Mottle contrast:  Mottle contrast means the difference in color between the soil mottle and the 

background color of the soil and is described as follows: 

 

• Faint:  Mottle contrast is "faint" where mottles are evident but only recognizable under close 

examination. 

 

• Distinct:  Mottle contrast is "distinct" where mottles are readily seen but not striking. 

 

• Prominent:  Mottle contrast is "prominent" where mottles are obvious and mottles are one of 

the outstanding features of the soil horizon. 

347



          Appendix A. Soil Profile Terminology  
 
 

 

 A-2 October 1994 

 

 

FIGURE A.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

348



          Appendix A. Soil Profile Terminology  
 
 

 

 A-3 October 1994 

C. Soil Texture 

 

A standard procedure to report soil texture is presented in this section. 

 

Sandy loam texture:  The texture is "sandy loam" where the soil contains much sand, but has enough 

silt and clay to make it somewhat sticky.  Individual sand grains can be readily seen and felt. 

 

• Dry:  Dry soil aggregates are easily crushed.  Squeezed when dry, it will form a cast that will 

fall apart.  Very faint velvety feeling initially but as rubbing is continued, the gritty feeling of 

sand dominates. 

 

• Moist:  If squeezed when moist, a cast can be formed that will bear careful handling without 

falling apart.  Does not form a ribbon between the thumb and forefinger. 

 

Loam texture:  The texture is "loam" where the soil has a relatively even mixture of sand, silt and 

clay.  A loam feels somewhat gritty, yet fairly smooth and highly plastic. 

 

• Dry:  Dry soil aggregates are crushed under moderate pressure; clods can be quite firm.  

When pulverized, loam has a velvety feel that becomes gritty with continued rubbing. 

 

• Moist:  Squeezed when moist, it will form a cast that can be handled quite freely without 

breaking.  Very slight tendency to ribbon between the thumb and forefinger.  The ribbon 

surface is rough. 

 

Silt loam texture:  The texture is "silt loam" where the soil is medium-textured soil. 

 

• Dry:  Dry soil aggregates are firm but may be crushed under moderate pressure.  Clods are 

firm to hard.  Silt loam may appear cloddy, but the clods are readily broken.  It will form 

casts that can be handled freely without breaking.  When pulverized, smooth, flour-like feel 

dominates. 

 

• Moist:  Squeezed when moist, it will form casts that can be handled freely without breaking.  

Slight tendency to ribbon between the thumb and forefinger.  The ribbon has a broken effect 

or rippled appearance. 

 

Silt texture:  The texture is "silt" where the soil is medium textured and feels floury when dry and 

nonsticky when moist. 

 

Silty clay loam:  The texture is "silty clay loam" when the soil is a fine-textured soil. 

 

• Dry: Dry soil aggregates are very firm.  Silty clay loams usually breaks into clods or lumps 

that are hard when dry. 

 

• Moist:  Squeezed when moist, it will form a thin ribbon that will break readily, barely 

sustaining its own weight.  The moist soil is plastic and will form a cast that will stand 

349



          Appendix A. Soil Profile Terminology  
 
 

 

 A-4 October 1994 

considerable handling.  When hand kneaded it does not crumble readily, but tends to become 

a heavy, compact mass.  It is sticky when moist. 

 

Silty clay texture:  The texture is "silty clay" where the soil is fine-textured. 

 

• Dry:  Usually forms very hard clods or lumps when dry. 

 

• Moist:  Squeezed when moist, it will form a long flexible ribbon.  A silty clay soil leaves a 

"slick" surface when rubbed with a long stroke and firm pressure.  Silty clay tends to hold the 

thumb and forefingers together, due to its stickiness.  When placed between the teeth silty 

clay has a smooth slick feeling. 

 

• Wet:  Quite plastic when wet.  It can be very sticky when wet. 

 

D. Rock Fragments 

 

Intent:  This section provides a standard procedure to modify the soil texture description based upon 

the size of rock fragments and the volume percentage of rock fragments in the soil profile and on the 

surface of the site. 

 

General:  Where the soil profile contains fifteen to thirty-five percent by volume of rock fragments, 

the soil texture description shall be modified using the appropriate adjectives set forth in Soil Survey 

manual. 

 

Terms for reporting rock fragment size:  The rock fragment size terms for modifying the soil texture 

description are as follows: 

 

Gravelly:  "Gravelly" is used where the rock fragments range from 0.1 to 3.0 inches in diameter (i.e. 

gravelly sandy loam, gravelly loam, etc.) 

 

Cobbly:  The "cobbly" is used where the rock fragments range from 3 to 10 inches in diameter (i.e. 

cobbly sandy loam, stony loam, etc.). 

 

Bouldery:  "Bouldery" is used where rock fragments are larger than 10 inches in diameter. 

 

E. Terms for Reporting the Percentage of Rock Fragments 

 

The rock fragment abundance terms for modifying the soil texture description are as follows: 

 

Very:  Where the soil profile contains thirty-six to sixty percent by volume of rock fragments, the 

word "very" is used along with the appropriate rock fragment size term is to be incorporated with the 

textural name (i.e. Very gravelly sandy loam, very cobbly sandy loam, very stony sandy loam, etc.) 

 

Extremely:  Where the soil profile contains sixty-one to ninety percent by volume of rock fragments, 

the word "extremely" is used along with the appropriate rock fragment size terms is to be 

350



          Appendix A. Soil Profile Terminology  
 
 

 

 A-5 October 1994 

incorporated with the textural name (i.e. extremely gravelly sandy loam, extremely cobbly sandy 

loam, extremely stony sandy loam, etc.). 

 

Surface stones:  Where the surface of the site contains more than fifty percent by area of large stones 

if not proposed to be removed, the site shall be considered excessively coarse and require the 

disposal field to be the stones. 

 

F. Soil Consistence 

 

Intent:  This section provides a standard procedure to report soil consistence in the field.  For the 

purposes of this code, however, consistence describes the resistance a soil horizon presents to a 

pocket penetrometer.  This is described as "consistence in place".  It is not unusual for a soil to be 

described as "firm in place" but to be friable when crushed between the thumb and forefinger.  The 

soil that is firm in place will restrict the downward movement of septic tank effluent, even though it 

may be friable when removed.  It is important to note that dry soils may exhibit greater resistance to 

a pocket penetrometer than when moist.  If possible, soil consistence should be measured in a moist 

state.  Soil consistence shall be described based upon the following: 

 

Loose soil:  The consistence is "loose" where a soil horizon has a single grain structure and offers 

resistance to a pocket penetrometer of less than 0.25 ton per square foot.  Soil does not adhere when 

pressed together. 

 

Friable soil:  The consistence is "firm" where a soil horizon has a platy, prismatic or massive 

structure.  Resistance to a pocket penetrometer is 0.75 to 1.5 ton per square foot.  Soil coheres when 

pressed together. 

 

Firm soil:  The consistence is "firm" where a soil horizon has a platy, prismatic or massive structure. 

 Resistance to a pocket penetrometer is 0.75 to 1.5 ton per square foot. 

 

Very firm soil:  The consistence is "very firm" where a soil horizon has a platy, prismatic or massive 

structure.  Resistance to a pocket penetrometer is greater than 1.5 ton per square foot. 

 

Cemented soil:  The consistence is "cemented" where a soil horizon has a hard consistence caused by 

some cementing substance other than clay minerals, such as carbonate, silica, or oxide or salts or iron 

and aluminum. Cementation is usually altered very little by wetting. 

 

G. Soil Structure 

 

Intent:  This section provides a standard procedure to define soil structure.  Soil structure refers to the 

shape of the natural soil aggregates.  Soil structures are described as follows:  

 

Spherical structure:  The structure is "spherical" where the soil aggregates have more or less equal 

dimensions and lack sharp corners, sharp edges or well defined faces.  This term includes crumb and 

granular structure as defined by the U.S. Department of Agriculture. 

 

351



          Appendix A. Soil Profile Terminology  
 
 

 

 A-6 October 1994 

Subangular structure:  The structure is "subangular blocky" where soil aggregates have more or less 

equal dimensions and possess well defined flat or somewhat curved faces, sharp corners and sharp 

edges. 

 

Prismatic structure:  The structure is "prismatic" where soil aggregates have one axis distinctly 

longer than the other two and are oriented with the long axis in an upright vertical position. 

 

Platy structure:  The structure is "platy" where soil aggregates have one axis distinctly shorter than 

other two and are oriented with the short axis in an upright vertical position. 

 

Massive structure:  The structure is "massive"  where the soil consists of dense, compact mass and 

shows no recognizable natural soil aggregates or structural faces. 

 

Single grain structure:  The structure is "single grain" where the soil consists of loose individual sand 

grains that will not bind together into recognizable soil aggregates. 

 

H. Saprolite 

 

Saprolite is derived from a German word meaning rotten rock.  It is soft, highly weathered material 

that many thousands of years ago was bedrock.  Today it may have somewhat the appearance of 

bedrock, however it behaves like soil in treating effluent.  It can be crushed with finger pressure, has 

clay skins, has moderate permeability, and usually contain roots.  In this manual, saprolite is 

considered as soil. 

 

I.  Bedrock 

 

Intent:  This section provides a standard procedure to recognize the presence of bedrock.  Bedrock 

affects the ability of a system to treat septic tank effluent, thus plays a significant role in the 

performance of a disposal system. 

 

Recognition criteria:  Criteria for the recognition of bedrock shall include, but shall not be limited to 

any solid and continuous body of rock, with or without fractures. 

 

J. Excessively Course Soil Horizons  

 

Intent:  This section provides a standard procedure for the recognition and reporting of excessively 

coarse soil horizons.  Excessively coarse soil horizons provide less opportunity for the treatment of 

septic tank effluent and thus, these soil horizons play a significant role in the performance of a 

disposal system. 

 

Recognition criteria:  Criteria for the recognition of excessively coarse soil horizons are as follows: 

 

Greater than fifty percent rock fragments:  Soil horizons that have a rock fragment content greater 

than fifty percent by volume shall be considered excessively coarse. 

 

352



          Appendix A. Soil Profile Terminology  
 
 

 

 A-7 October 1994 

Coarse to very coarse sands:  Sandy textured soil horizons that are composed primarily of coarse to 

very coarse sand (from one-half to two millimeters in diameter) and lack detectable amounts of two 

percent or more) fines as defined by U.S. Department of Agriculture. 

 

If in doubt:  When doubt exists as to whether a soil horizon should be considered excessively coarse, 

the soil horizon shall be considered excessively coarse. 

 

K.  Hydraulically Restrictive Soil Horizons 

 

Intent:  This section provides a standard procedure to recognize and report hydraulically restrictive 

soil horizons.  Hydraulically restrictive soil horizons slow down the vertical movement of septic tank 

effluent and thus these soil horizons play a significant role in the performance of a disposal system. 

 

Recognition criteria:  Criteria for recognition of hydraulically restrictive soil horizons shall include, 

 

 

Cemented horizons:  Any cemented soil horizon that remains hard when soaked in water shall be 

considered hydraulically restrictive. 

 

L.  Seasonal Groundwater Table 

 

Intent:  This section provides a standard procedure to recognize seasonal groundwater tables. 

 

General:  The two most widely recognized features that reflect prolonged wetness in soils when soil 

temperatures are above biologic zero are gleying and mottling.  Simply described, gleyed soils are 

predominately neutral gray in color and occasionally greenish or bluish gray. 

 

Continuous saturated soils:  In gleyed soils, the distinctive colors result from a process known as 

gleization.  Prolonged saturation of mineral soil converts iron from its oxidized (ferric) form to its 

reduced (ferrous) state.  Soils that are always saturated are uniformly gleyed throughout the saturated 

zone.  These soils often show evidence of oxidizing conditions only along root channels. 

 

Alternately saturated and aerated:  Soils that are alternately saturated and aerated during the year are 

usually mottled in part of the soil that is seasonally wet.  Mottles are spots or blotches of different 

colors or shades of colors interspersed with the dominant (matrix) color.  The abundance, size and 

color of the mottles usually reflect the duration of the saturation period.  Mineral soils predominantly 

grayish with brown or yellow with gray mottles are saturated for shorter periods.  Mineral soils that 

are never saturated are usually bright colored and are not usually mottled. 

 

Recognition criteria:  Criteria for the recognition of seasonal groundwater table shall include, but not 

be limited to any soil horizon within or below a soil profile that exhibits common drainage mottling, 

shall be considered a seasonal groundwater table.  The upper limit of the seasonal groundwater table 

shall be determined by one of the following means: 

 

Common mottling:  The highest level at which common drainage mottling is observed. 

 

353



          Appendix A. Soil Profile Terminology  
 
 

 

 A-8 October 1994 

M.  Disturbed Ground 

 

Intent:  This section provides a standard procedure to recognize disturbed ground. 

 

General:  When placement of a disposal field is proposed in an area of disturbed ground, the type and 

depth to the most limiting soil horizons as well as a variety of additional factors must be considered. 

 Types of soil disturbance include, but are not limited to, filled areas, excavated areas, re-graded 

areas, artificially drained areas and pre-existing disposal fields. 

 

Recognition criteria:  A site shall be considered disturbed ground when any of the following 

conditions are present: 

 

Displaced or man-made objects:  Displaced or man-made objects, such as tree stumps, branches, 

plant stems, leaves, building debris or trash of man-made origin, are observed below the ground 

surface in the profile pits. 

 

Unexplained soil horizons:  Soil horizons are absent or mixed in a manner that cannot be explained 

as a result of natural processes. 

 

Buried "A" or "O" horizons:  Observation holes reveal A-horizons or O-horizons that are buried by 

layers of soil or other material.  (Note:  Natural buried soil horizons may occur.) 

 

Mounds or depressions:  Mounded areas or depressions in the land surface are observed that do not 

conform with the surrounding topography and that show signs of recent disturbance such as lack of 

vegetation, weedy vegetation, severe erosion, wheel ruts, etc. 

 

Subsurface drains:  Subsurface drains or their remnants are observed in profile pits or in the outlets 

of drains are observed at the surface. 

 

Disposal systems:  Components of an existing disposal system, or remnants of an abandoned 

disposal system are present below the site of a proposed first time disposal system. 

 

Determination of the pre-existing natural ground surface:  When evidence is found that the surface of 

the ground may have been modified by a disturbance such as addition of fill material, removal of soil 

horizons or regrading, the pre-existing natural ground surface shall be identified based on the 

following criteria: 

 

Buried "A" or "O" horizons:  When a buried A-horizon or O-horizon is present, the pre-existing 

natural ground surface shall be taken as the top of the A-horizon or the bottom of the O-horizon. 

 

Extrapolation:  When a buried A-horizon or O-horizon is not present, the level of the pre-existing 

natural ground surface shall be determined by extrapolation from adjacent areas beyond the limit of 

soil disturbance.  When this method is relied upon, the nature of the pre-existing topography as well 

as the nature of the ground disturbance shall be described, using topographic contour maps and soil 

profiles where appropriate. 

 

354



          Appendix A. Soil Profile Terminology  
 
 

 

 A-9 October 1994 

Suitability of disturbed ground:  In cases where disturbed soil or other fill material are present at the 

site, the suitability of this material shall be evaluated based upon the following criteria and 

characteristics, fill or disturbed soils must be relatively free of foreign materials and may contain 

only trace amounts of the following materials or any other materials that are subject to disintegration 

or change in volume in order to be considered suitable:  tree stumps, plant stems, leaves, food or 

animal remains or wastes, wood chips, sawdust or any organic materials that may be subject to 

decay; trash, discarded furniture, buildings or demolition debris or any bulky objects containing large 

voids or subject to collapse or reorientation; or cans, bottles, drums or any containers that are empty 

or filled with liquids. 

 

Existing subsurface groundwater drains:  Ground containing subsurface groundwater drainage 

systems or the remnants of abandoned subsurface groundwater drainage systems is unsuitable for the 

installation of a disposal field, unless the groundwater drains are removed, the outlets of the 

groundwater drainage system are permanently sealed, or adequate separation can be maintained. 

 

N. Soil Color 

 

Intent:  To provide a standard procedure for the evaluation of soil colors. 

 

General: Soil colors often reveal much about a soil's wetness.  Site evaluators examining the soil 

shall report the approximate soil color in accordance with the Munsell soil color chart.  The 

standardized Munsell soil colors are identified by three components:  hue, value and chroma.  The 

hue is related to one of the main spectral colors:  red, yellow, green, blue or purple, or various 

mixtures of these principal colors.  The value refers to the degree of lightness, while the chroma 

notation indicated the color strength or purity.  In the Munsell soil color book, each hue has its own 

page, each of which is further subdivided into units of value (on the vertical axis) and chroma (on the 

horizontal axis).  Because accurate reproductions of soil colors are expensive, the Munsell soil color 

book contains a limited number of hues, values and chromas.  The soil matrix or mottle colors are 

determined by comparing the soil with individual color chips in the soil color book. 

 

Recognition criteria:  Color is best determined in soils that are or have been moistened.  The colors 

of the topsoil are valuable in determining the drainage condition of a site. 

 

Gleying:  Gleying (bluish, greenish, or grayish colors) immediately below the A-horizon is an 

indication of a saturated soil.  Gleying can occur in both mottled and unmottled soils.  Gleyed soil 

conditions can be determined by using the gley page of the "Munsell Soil Color Charts" (Caution:  

Gleyed conditions normally extend throughout saturated soils.  Beware of soils with gray E-horizons 

due to leaching and not to saturation; these latter soils can often be recognized by bright-colored 

layers below the E-horizon. 

 

Matrix chromas of two or less:  Matrix chromas of two or less are considered low chromas and are 

often diagnostic of soils saturated for long periods.  They are used to establish water tables. 

 

Iron and manganese concretions:  During the oxidation-reduction process, iron and manganese in 

suspension are sometimes segregated as oxides into concretions or soft masses.  Manganese 

355



          Appendix A. Soil Profile Terminology  
 
 

 

 A-10 October 1994 

concretions are usually black or dark brown, while iron concretions are usually yellow, orange or 

reddish brown. 

 

Sandy and gravelly soils:  Soil color in saturated sandy soils may not follow the color patterns just 

described. 

 

Bright colored mottles and a low chroma matrix:  Soils that have brightly colored mottles and a low 

chroma matrix are indicative of alternating saturated and unsaturated soil conditions. 

 

 

  

356



 
 

 APPENDIX B 

 GROUNDWATER MONITORING GUIDELINES  
 
 

  
 

 B-1 October 1994 

The Onsite Sanitary Official may require a groundwater level monitoring program as part of the site 

evaluation process to ensure adequate separation between the bottom of the disposal dispersal 

trenches and the water table.  Monitoring shall be done at a time of the year when the highest 

seasonal groundwater table occurs.  Some sites are subject to significant year to year fluctuations in 

the highest seasonal groundwater table. 

 

Sites to be monitored shall be carefully checked for groundwater drainage tile and open ditches that 

may have altered natural seasonal groundwater table.  Where such factors are involved, information 

on the location, design, ownership and maintenance responsibilities for such groundwater drainage 

systems shall be provided.  Documentation shall be provided to show that the groundwater drainage 

network has an adequate outlet and will be maintained. 

 

The Onsite Sanitary Official shall witness the excavation and installation of the piezometers. The 

Onsite Sanitary Official may require a maximum of fifteen days prior to written notice for the 

purpose of witnessing the location and installation.  The Town may waive the witnessing require-

ments.  Failure of the Town personnel to be present when fifteen days prior written notice shall be 

construed to be a waiver of witnessing requirements.  The piezometers tubes shall be installed where 

possible with an auger rather than a backhoe.  Larger backhoe pits give a false high reading in fine 

textured soils. Illustrations of typical piezometer installations are shown in Figures B.1., and   B.2., 

and B.3. 

 

Installation shall be made on or before November 1.  Groundwater level observations shall be made 

thereafter every fourteen days or less until April 1, or until the site is determined by the Onsite 

Sanitary Official to be unacceptable, whichever comes first. 

 

When monitoring discloses that a site is acceptable, data giving test locations, ground elevations at 

the monitoring wells, soil profile descriptions, dates observed, depths to observed water tables and 

soil water temperatures for those dates as well as supporting data indicating that monthly 

precipitation amounts (see Table B-1) are within the normal range shall be submitted to the Onsite 

Sanitary Official in a written report. 

 

357



Appendix B Groundwater Monitoring Guidelines 

 

  
 

 B-2 October 1994 

 TITLE B-1 

 

 TEN YEAR RAINFALL FOR BUTTE COUNTY 

 INTENSITY IN INCHES PER HOUR 

 
 

Mean 

Annual 

Rainfall 

 
 

One 

Day 

 
 

Twelve 

Hours 

 
 

Six 

Hours 

 
 

Three 

Hours 

 
 

Two 

Hours 

 
 

Sixty 

Min. 

 
 

Thirty 

Min. 

 
 

Fifteen 

Min. 

 
 

Ten 

Min. 

 
 

Five 

Min. 
 

16 
 

0.08 
 

0.13 
 

0.17 
 

0.24 
 

0.30 
 

0.44 
 

0.58 
 

0.83 
 

1.02 
 

1.39 
 

18 
 

0.09 
 

0.14 
 

0.20 
 

0.27 
 

0.34 
 

0.50 
 

0.66 
 

0.93 
 

1.15 
 

1.56 
 

20 
 

0.10 
 

0.16 
 

0.22 
 

0.31 
 

0.37 
 

0.55 
 

0.73 
 

1.03 
 

1.27 
 

1.74 
 

22 
 

0.11 
 

0.17 
 

0.24 
 

0.34 
 

0.41 
 

0.61 
 

0.80 
 

1.14 
 

1.40 
 

1.91 
 

24 
 

0.12 
 

0.19 
 

0.26 
 

0.37 
 

0.45 
 

0.67 
 

0.87 
 

1.24 
 

1.53 
 

2.08 
 

26 
 

0.13 
 

0.20 
 

0.28 
 

0.40 
 

0.49 
 

0.72 
 

0.95 
 

1.34 
 

1.66 
 

2.26 
 

28 
 

0.14 
 

0.22 
 

0.30 
 

0.43 
 

0.52 
 

0.78 
 

1.02 
 

1.45 
 

1.78 
 

2.43 
 

30 
 

0.15 
 

0.24 
 

0.33 
 

0.46 
 

0.56 
 

0.83 
 

1.09 
 

1.55 
 

1.91 
 

2.61 
 

32 
 

0.16 
 

0.25 
 

0.35 
 

0.49 
 

0.60 
 

0.89 
 

1.17 
 

1.65 
 

2.04 
 

2.78 
 

34 
 

0.17 
 

0.27 
 

0.37 
 

0.52 
 

0.64 
 

0.94 
 

1.24 
 

1.76 
 

2.17 
 

2.95 
 

36 
 

0.18 
 

0.28 
 

0.39 
 

0.55 
 

0.67 
 

1.00 
 

1.31 
 

1.86 
 

2.29 
 

3.13 
 

38 
 

0.19 
 

0.30 
 

0.41 
 

0.58 
 

0.71 
 

1.05 
 

1.38 
 

1.96 
 

2.42 
 

3.30 
 

40 
 

0.20 
 

0.31 
 

0.43 
 

0.61 
 

0.75 
 

1.11 
 

1.46 
 

2.06 
 

2.55 
 

3.47 
 

42 
 

0.21 
 

0.33 
 

0.46 
 

0.64 
 

0.79 
 

1.17 
 

1.53 
 

2.17 
 

2.67 
 

3.65 
 

44 
 

0.22 
 

0.34 
 

0.48 
 

0.67 
 

0.82 
 

1.22 
 

1.60 
 

2.27 
 

2.80 
 

3.82 
 

46 
 

0.23 
 

0.36 
 

0.50 
 

0.70 
 

0.86 
 

1.28 
 

1.68 
 

2.37 
 

2.93 
 

3.99 
 

48 
 

0.24 
 

0.38 
 

0.52 
 

0.73 
 

0.90 
 

1.33 
 

1.75 
 

2.48 
 

3.06 
 

4.17 
 

50* 
 

0.25 
 

0.39 
 

0.54 
 

0.76 
 

0.93 
 

1.39 
 

1.82 
 

2.58 
 

3.18 
 

4.34 
 

52 
 

0.26 
 

0.41 
 

0.56 
 

0.79 
 

0.97 
 

1.44 
 

1.89 
 

2.68 
 

3.31 
 

4.52 
 

54 
 

0.27 
 

0.42 
 

0.59 
 

0.82 
 

1.01 
 

1.50 
 

1.97 
 

2.79 
 

3.44 
 

4.69 
 

56 
 

0.28 
 

0.44 
 

0.61 
 

0.86 
 

1.05 
 

1.55 
 

2.04 
 

2.89 
 

3.57 
 

4.86 
 

58 
 

0.29 
 

0.45 
 

0.63 
 

0.89 
 

1.08 
 

1.61 
 

2.11 
 

2.99 
 

3.69 
 

5.04 
 

60 
 

0.30 
 

0.47 
 

0.65 
 

0.92 
 

1.12 
 

1.66 
 

2.19 
 

3.10 
 

3.82 
 

5.21 
 

62 
 

0.31 
 

0.49 
 

0.67 
 

0.95 
 

1.16 
 

1.72 
 

2.26 
 

3.20 
 

3.95 
 

5.38 
 

64 
 

0.32 
 

0.50 
 

0.69 
 

0.98 
 

1.20 
 

1.78 
 

2.33 
 

3.30 
 

4.08 
 

5.56 
 

66 
 

0.33 
 

0.52 
 

0.72 
 

1.01 
 

1.23 
 

1.83 
 

2.40 
 

3.41 
 

4.20 
 

5.73 

358



Appendix B Groundwater Monitoring Guidelines 

 

  
 

 B-3 October 1994 

 
Mean 

Annual 

Rainfall 

 
 

One 

Day 

 
 

Twelve 

Hours 

 
 

Six 

Hours 

 
 

Three 

Hours 

 
 

Two 

Hours 

 
 

Sixty 

Min. 

 
 

Thirty 

Min. 

 
 

Fifteen 

Min. 

 
 

Ten 

Min. 

 
 

Five 

Min. 
 

68 
 

0.34 
 

0.53 
 

0.74 
 

1.04 
 

1.27 
 

1.89 
 

2.48 
 

3.51 
 

4.33 
 

5.91 
 

70 
 

0.35 
 

0.55 
 

0.76 
 

1.07 
 

1.31 
 

1.94 
 

2.55 
 

3.61 
 

4.46 
 

6.08 
 

72 
 

0.36 
 

0.56 
 

0.78 
 

1.10 
 

1.35 
 

2.00 
 

2.62 
 

3.72 
 

4.59 
 

6.25 
 

74 
 

0.37 
 

0.58 
 

0.80 
 

1.13 
 

1.38 
 

2.05 
 

2.70 
 

3.82 
 

4.71 
 

6.43 
 

76 
 

0.38 
 

0.60 
 

0.82 
 

1.16 
 

1.42 
 

2.11 
 

2.77 
 

3.92 
 

4.84 
 

6.60 
 

78 
 

0.38 
 

0.60 
 

0.83 
 

1.17 
 

1.43 
 

2.13 
 

2.79 
 

3.95 
 

4.88 
 

6.65 
 

80 
 

0.39 
 

0.62 
 

0.85 
 

1.20 
 

1.47 
 

2.18 
 

2.86 
 

4.06 
 

5.00 
 

6.82 
 

82 
 

0.40 
 

0.63 
 

0.87 
 

1.23 
 

1.51 
 

2.23 
 

2.93 
 

4.16 
 

5.13 
 

6.99 
 

84 
 

0.41 
 

0.65 
 

0.90 
 

1.26 
 

1.54 
 

2.29 
 

3.00 
 

4.26 
 

5.25 
 

7.16 
 

86 
 

0.42 
 

0.66 
 

0.92 
 

1.29 
 

1.58 
 

2.34 
 

3.08 
 

4.36 
 

5.38 
 

7.33 
 

88 
 

0.43 
 

0.68 
 

0.94 
 

1.32 
 

1.62 
 

2.40 
 

3.15 
 

4.46 
 

5.50 
 

7.51 
 

90 
 

0.44 
 

0.69 
 

0.96 
 

1.35 
 

1.65 
 

2.45 
 

3.22 
 

4.56 
 

5.63 
 

7.68 

 

* PARADISE STATISTICS 

 

The normal annual precipitation varies from approximately thirty-two inches at the lower elevations 

of the town limits to approximately sixty-four inches at the higher elevations.  This rainfall is 

concentrated mainly in the months of December, January and February with storms of generally 

smaller intensity occurring in October, November, March and April.  Precipitation is generally in the 

form of rainfall with only one or two significant snowfalls per year. 

359



Appendix B Groundwater Monitoring Guidelines 

 

  
 

 B-4 October 1994 

 
FIGURE B.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

360



Appendix B Groundwater Monitoring Guidelines 

 

  
 

 B-5 October 1994 

 

 

 
 
FIGURE B.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

361



Appendix B Groundwater Monitoring Guidelines 

 

  
 

 B-6 October 1994 

 

 

 

 

362



 
 
 APPENDIX C 
 HYDRAULIC TESTING OF SOIL  
               Appendix C Hydraulic Testing of Soil  

  
 

 C-1 October 1994 

 

 

 

The Onsite Sanitary Official may require hydraulic testing of disposal area soils as part of the site 

evaluation process.  The hydraulic tests shall either be a percolation test, infiltration test, or 

absorption test, as described below. 

 

A. Percolation Test  

 

 1. Test Procedure [See note 61] 

 

  a. Construct three holes, six-inch diameter, spaced over the area to be considered for 

the absorption field and repair area. 

 

  b. The depth of the hole should be the maximum depth of the proposed disposal 

trenches. 

 

  c. Carefully pick the surface of the hole to remove all smeared surfaces. 

 

  d. Place two inches of pea gravel in the bottom of the hole. 

 

  e. Place a four-inch perforated pipe in the center of the hole. 

 

  f. Place pea gravel around the pipe. 

 

  g. Fill hole to the top of four-inch pipe with water the night before the test. 

 

  h. The next morning, fill water to top of the four-inch pipe.  Allow water to drain. 

 

  i. Fill to a four-inch mark above Point A shown on Figure C.1. 

 

  j. Measure the time it takes for the water level to drop four inches. 

 

  k. Repeat Steps i and j five times. 

 

  l. Report rate of drop in min/in.  Adjust rates to compensate for the volume of gravel 

in the hole.  An example is shown below. 

 

  m. If test cannot be repeated five times, conclude test after five hours.  

 

 

 

 

363



 

 

  

       a. Construct 4 holes, six-inches in diameter, 2 in the area to be considered for the 

absorption field and 2 in the replacement absorption field area. (A lesser amount may 

be approved by the Town Onsite Sanitation Division upon approval). 

 

  b. The depth of the hole shall be the maximum depth of the proposed absorptive 

surface whether it is trenches or infiltrative bed. 

 

  c. Carefully scrape the surface of the hole to remove all smeared surfaces. Remove 

the scrapings. 

 

  d. Place 2 inches of pea gravel in the bottom of the hole. 

 

  e. Place a four-inch perforated pipe in the center of the hole. The perforated pipe 

shall be long enough to store at least 10 vertical inches of water above the gravel 

at the bottom of the hole.  

 

  f. Place pea gravel around the outside of the pipe to a height of at least 10 inches 

above the gravel at the bottom of the hole. 

 

  g. Begin presoaking the hole a minimum of 18 and maximum of 24 hours before the 

actual percolation test is performed. Do this by keeping the pipe full of water 10 

inches above the gravel at the bottom of the hole for at least 4 hours. After 4 hours 

the hole should be allowed to drain naturally.  

 

  h. 18 to 24 hours after the presoak began, the percolation testing must be performed. 

Percolation testing must not be performed if presoaking has not been completed. 

 

  i. Begin the percolation testing by filling the pipe 6 inches above the gravel (Point A 

shown on Figure C.1). 

 

  j. Measure the distance that the water level drops in 30 minutes. After recording this 

distance refill, to the 6 inch mark. Continue measuring the water drop in 30 

minute intervals for 3 hours. If all 6 inches drops out before 30 minutes, this is a 

fast percolation rate. If this occurs refill and measure the drop every 10 minutes 

over a one-hour testing period. Always refill to the 6 inch mark after each reading. 

   

  k. Continue this process for 3 hours (or 1 hour for a fast 'perk' as described above), 

until the last 2 measurements are within 1/8
th

 an inch of each other or until 5 hours 

have elapsed, (or 2 hours for a fast 'perk'). 

 

  l. Calculate the percolation rate in min/in. using the average of the last 2 

measurements taken. Adjust the rate to compensate for the volume of gravel in the 

hole by using a 1.6 multiplication factor on the calculated percolation rate.  

Formatted: Right:  -0.19"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.98"

Formatted: Right:  -0.13"

364



 

  
 

 C-3 October 1994 

FIGURE C.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

365



 

 2. Example of Gravel Volume Compensation Calculations 

 

  a. Calculate the volume of the hole without gravel or pipe. 

 

    Y =  r
2
h 

 

   where: y = volume of hole without gravel (ft
3
) 

      = 3.14 

     r = hole radius (0.25 ft) 

     h = depth of infiltration zone (1 ft) 

 

    y = 0.196 ft
3
 for gravel filled percolation test 

 

  b. Calculate the volume of the 4 in. pipe 

 

    Vp = rp
2
 hp 

 

   where: Vp = volume of pipe (ft
3
) 

     rp = radius of pipe (0.17 ft) 

     hp = depth of pipe in infiltration zone (0.83 ft) 

 

    Vp = 0.075 ft
3
 for gravel filled percolation test 

 

  c. Calculate the volume of the void space in the gravel 

 

    Vg = (Y-Vp)n 

 

   where: Vg = volume of gravel (ft
3
) 

     n = gravel porosity (0.40) 

 

    Vg = 0.048 ft
3
 for gravel filled percolation test 

 

  d. Calculate the volume of the void space with the pipe and gravel in place. 

 

     x = Vp + Vg 

 

    x = 0.123 ft
3
 for gravel filled percolation test 

 

  e. Calculate the adjustment factor to compensate for the gravel. 

 

    A.F. =  Y 

       X 

    where:  A.F. = adjustment factor 

 

    A.F. = 1.6 

 

 

  f. Multiply the test results (min/in.) by the adjustment factor to compensate for the 

gravel in the hole. 

 

366



               Appendix C Hydraulic Testing of Soil  

  
 

 C-5 October 1994 

B. Infiltration Test  
 

 1. General Test Procedure  [See note 62] 

 

  a. Carefully drive ten-twenty-four a 20 to 24 inch diameter steel ring three-quarter  2 

inches into the soil surface as shown in Figure C.2. Make sure the soil surface has 

been scraped clean of loose duff and organic material. 

 

  b. Place a small board or rock to act as a splash plate. 

 

  c. Begin presoaking the surface a minimum of 18 and maximum of 24 hours before 

the actual infiltration testing is performed. Do this by keeping the ring full of 

water above the bottom of the hole, for at least 3 hours. After 3 hours the hole 

should be allowed to drain naturally.  water to ring keeping water level one inch or 

so above surface for thirty minutes. 

 

  d. On the next day the testing shall begin. Pre-soak one more time by adding water to 

the ring, keeping the level at least one inch above the surface for 30 minutes. After 

thirty minutes of soaking  this second pre-soak, begin measuring measure  the 

amount of water level drop in 30 minute intervals.time required for water to drop 

one inch.  If rates are very rapid,  measure the amount of drop every 15 minutes. 

add a known quantity of water and determine the amount of time required for the 

soil to absorb the water.  

 

  e. Continue to measure the rate of drop over for a minimum two2-hour period and 

until the last 2 readings indicate a stabilized infiltration rate.  Measurements are 

done in inches and converted to gallons. 

 

  f. Report results in gal/ft
2
/hr. 

 

 2. Test Procedure for Weathered Bedrock 

 

  Follow the same steps as listed above, except dig a basin one-half inch into the 

bedrock instead of using the infiltration rings.  Carefully pick the surface and remove 

all loose soil. 

 

C. Absorption Test 
 

An Absorption test is a method of determining the capacity of a site to accept the daily 

wastewater flow.  It consists of constructing a short segment of a disposal trench, maintaining 

water in the trench for several days, and then excavating the soil to determine where the water 

has traveled and how much area was required to absorb the water.  A typical absorption test is 

illustrated in Figure C.32.  A shallow trench of adequate length (six to ten feet) is excavated in 

the location where the actual disposal field trenches are to be placed.  The bottom and sidewalls 

of the trench are picked to remove any smeared soil.  A wooden box is placed in the trench and 

clean gravel is placed around the box.  A float is installed in the box to maintain a constant head 

of water.  Water applied to the trench is metered so that an accurate accounting can be 

367



maintained.  The trench is then filled with water to a given height and the water level is main-

tained at that height throughout the test period (typically two to six days).  As water is applied to 

the trench, a portion of the water flows vertically.  Another portion water moves laterally.  To 

determine the acceptance rate of the underlying soil strata, the horizontal extent to which the 

water spreads under saturated flow conditions is defined.  The extent of the spread (or plume) is 

cross section area through which flow takes place, the total water applied, the water remaining in 

the trench, in the soil column above the area defined by the plume, and in the capillary fringe, the 

soil acceptance rate and the saturated coefficient of permeability can be determined. 

 

Absorption tests shall be conducted by a qualified designer.  A thorough knowledge of soils and 

soil hydraulics is required to accurately interpret the results. 

368



 

  
 

 C-7 October 1994 

 

FIGURES C.2 AND C.3  (TWO FIGURES ON ONE PAGE) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

369



 
 

 APPENDIX D 

 SURFACE AND GROUNDWATER  

 MONITORING PROGRAM  
 
 

  
 

 D-1 October 1994 

The following surface and groundwater monitoring program is recommended for the Town of 

Paradise Onsite Wastewater Management Zone. 

 

A.  Surface Water 

 

• Collect and analyze surface water samples bimonthly semi-annually from all twenty-two 

sampling stations for total coliform, fecal coliform, fecal streptococcus, and nitrate.  Carry 

this sampling program through the dry season of 1992 (ie. July, September, November 

1992) then re-evaluate the monitoring program for on-going operations of the Onsite 

Wastewater  Management Zone.  

 

• Collect additional samples upstream of stations 16S and 33S as needed to more accurately 

determine sources of bacterial pollution if any are indicated from the original sampling set. 

 Analyze for all surface water parameters listed above. 

 

• Compile all analytical results into a database for evaluation of long-term trends in water 

quality. 

 

 

B. Groundwater Monitoring 

 

• Disinfect and purge all monitoring wells prior to any further analyses. See Figure D-1 for 

Typical Groundwater Monitoring Well. 

 

• Collect samples from the existing private wells and monitoring wells on a semi-annual 

basis. 

 

• Analyze groundwater samples for total coliform, fecal coliform and nitrate. 

 

• Continue to record depth to groundwater in each well prior to purging and record the pH, 

temperature and specific conductance of the groundwater with a properly calibrated field 

instrument. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Formatted

370



D-2 
Formatted: Centered

 

FIGURE D.1  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

371



 
Exhibit “B” 

 
 

 

Town of Paradise Manual for the Onsite 
Treatment of Wastewater 

 
Figure revisions 

  
 

372



 
 

PRIMARY TREATMENT 
 

 
UM 

 

1. Maximum trench depth is 48" into nativ 

2. Maximum drain rock depth is 30" 

 
NROCK 12" MINIMUM 

 

24" MINIMUM - GRAVITY 
 

4' PERMEABLE WELL 

STRUCTURED SOIL 

 
 
 

MAXIMUM HEIGHT OF TEMPORARY 
HIGH GROUNDWATER OR 
SOIL/ROCK RESTRICTIVE LAYER 

 
 
 
 

SECONDARY TREATMENT W/ PRESSURE DISTRIBUTION 
 
 
 

2" MIN 
 

1. Maximum trench depth is 48" into nati 
2. Maximum drain rock depth is 30" 

 
 

NROCK 12" MINIMUM 
 
 
 

 
2' PERMEABLE WELL 

STRUCTURED SOIL 
 

 
MAXIMUM HEIGHT OF TEMPORARY 
HIGH GROUNDWATER OR 
SOIL/ROCK RESTRICTIVE LAYER 

 
 
 
 
 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE 
ONSITE SANITATION 

DIVISION 

 

Revised:   03-01-16 

 
. 

 
DISTANCE BETWEEN 

DISPERSAL TRENCH BOTTOM 

AND RESTRICTIVE LAYERS 
 

PRIMARY & SECONDARY  

TREATTMENT 

 

FIGURE 

4.1 

 

e soil 

 SOIL 12" MINIM 
 
 

DRAI  

 

 

 
ve soil 

  

SOIL 1 
 
 

DRAI 

 

 

373



 
 

 
 

 
 

RISERS 

OPTIONAL 
GROUND SURFACE 

 
 
 

 

TANK COVERS 
 

 
INLET TEE 

SLUDGE SCUM LAYER 
 
 

BAFFLE PASS- 

THRU HOLE 

 

OUTLET TEE 
 
 
 
 

 

 STANDARD SEPTIC TANK 
 

 

 

RISERS 

OPTIONAL 
GROUND SURFACE 

 
 
 

 

TANK COVERS 
 

 

INLET TEE 

SLUDGE SCUM LAYER 
 
 

 

OUTLET TEE 
 
 
 
 
 

 STANDARD SEPTIC TANK WITH 2ND COMPARTMENT DRAW-DOWN 
 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE 
ONSITE SANITATION 

DIVISON 

 

SEPTIC TANK WITH  

SANITARY T BAFFLE 

Figure  

4.2 

 

Revised 03-01-16 
 

SEPTIC TANK WITH 

SANITARY T BAFFLE 

374



375



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INLET FROM 
SEPTIC TANK 

LID 

 
 
 

 
TO DISPERSAL 
TRENCH 

 
TO DISPERSAL 
TRENCH 

 
 
 
 
 

STABLE, COMPACTED, NATIVE MATERIAL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE Revised: 03-01-16  TYPICAL DISTRIBUTION Standard Dwg 
        

ONSITE WASTEWATER   
 

  

 
  

  
MANAGEMENT ZONE 

 
 

      

DISTRIBUTION BOX- EQUAL 

DISTRIBUTION 

Figure 
 

      4.4 

TYPICAL DISTRIBUTION  

                   BOX 

376



377



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
NATIVE SOIL 

BACKFILL FILTER FABRIC OR 

UNTREATED BUILDING 

PAPER 

2" MIN. DRAINROCK 
OVER PIPE 

 
 
 

 12" 
 
 

 24" 
 

6" 

 

 
12" 

 

 
SIDEWALL ABSORPTION AREA 

(BOTH SIDES) 

 
 
 

24" 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Maximum trench depth is 48" into native soil 

2. Maximum drain rock depth is 30" 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
             NOT TO SCALE 
 
 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE Revised: 03-01-16 
STANDARD GRAVITY Figure 

 .  
ONSITE WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 
      

 
 

    DISPERSALTRENCH 4.6 378



 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

     

 

FUTURE REPLACEMENT AREA 

 
     

 

 

SYSTEM SCHEMATIC 
 

 
 
 

 
4" UNDERDRAIN LEADING 

TO A DISPERSAL FIELD 

 TYPICAL CROSS SECTION PLAN VIEW 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE Revised: 03-01-16 
   TYPICAL   Figure 

    
ONSITE WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 
    

 
 

    INTERMITTENT DOSING 

         SANDFILTER 

4.7 

 
 

DISTRIBUTION PIPE 

30 MIL. 
PVC LINER 

SAND MEDIA 
(PER MANUAL SPECIFICATIONS) 

 
INTERMITTENT SAND FILTER 

DOSING 
SEPTIC 
TANK 

ABSORPTION FIELD 

379



380



 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

     

 

FUTURE REPLACEMENT AREA 
 

     

 

SYSTEM SCHEMATIC 
 

 
 
 

 
PEA GRAVEL DISTRIBUTION PIPE 

 

10" 

 

24" 
CONCRETE 
AND 30 MIL 
PVC LINER 

 

12" 
 
 

DRAINROCK 
 

4" UNDERDRAIN LEADING 
TO AN ABSORPTION FIELD 

 
 

 TYPICAL CROSS SECTION PLAN VIEW 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE Revised: 03-01-16 
       RECIRCULATING  Figure 

    
ONSITE WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 
        GRAVEL FILTER 

     TYPICAL 

4.9 

RECIRCULATING 

GRAVEL FILTER 

RECIRCULATING 
MIXING TANK 

SEPTIC 
TANK 

ABSORPTION FIELD 

  
    
   

GRAVEL MEDIA 
(PER MANUAL SPECIFICATIONS) 

 

  
 

381



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SLOPE GROUND 

AWAY FROM RISER 

 
 
 

 
RETURN FROM 
FILTER 

 

SCREENED 
EFFLUENT 
FROM SEPTIC 
TANK 

 
 
 

 
INLET TEE 

CONDUIT TO 
CONTROL PANEL 

 

FINAL EFFLUENT 
 

HIGH LEVEL ALARM 

OVERRIDE TIMER ON/OFF 

LOW LEVEL ALARM 

 
 - 80% OF TANK DEPTH    
(TYPICAL) 
 

 
   50% TANK DEPTH- 

TYPICAL 
DISCHARGE 
ASSEMBLY 

 
DISCHARGE 
FILTER 

 
LEVEL CONTROL 
FLOAT ASSEMBLY    

 
VAULT INLET 
PORTS 

 
DUPLEX 
EFFLUENT 
PUMPS 

 
 

 
 

RECIRCULATING 
SPLITTER VALVE 

PUMP VAULT 
SCREENED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE Revised: 03-01-16 
  RECIRCULATING  Figure 

  
ONSITE WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 
    

 
 

  RECIRCULATING TANK 

            TYPICAL  

  4.10 
382



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ELECTRICAL 

CONDUIT TO 

POWER SOURCE 

 

ELECTRICAL 

SPLICE BOX WITH 

CORD GRIPS 

 

FIBERGLASS LID 

WITH STAINLESS 

STEEL BOLTS 

 

24" DIAMETER 

RIBBED PVC 

RISER 

PVC-HOSE 

A ND VALVE 

                     ASSEMBLY 

 

STANDARD 

INLET TEE 

 

EFFLUENT 
DISCHARG 

 

 
 

INLET TEE 

SCUM LAYER 

 

SLUDGE 

LEVEL CONTROL 

FLOAT ASSEMBLY 

 
 
 

 
POLYETHYLENE 

SCREEN 

 
 
 

 
PVC VAULT 
AND 
EFFLUNT 
FILTER 

 
 

 

1-1/4" DIAMETER 

INLET HOLES 
AROUND PERIMETER 

OF VAULT 

PUMP 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE Revised: 03-01-16 
     DOSING SEPTIC TANK   Figure 

  
ONSITE WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 
                   TYPICAL 4.11 383



384



385



386



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

12' MINIMUM 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TOWN OF PARADISE Revised: 03-01-16                        REDUNDANT                             Figure 
     

ONSITE WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 
              

SYSTEM 4.15 

DISPERSAL TRENCH 

EFFLUENT SEWER DIVERSION VALVE 

DISPERSAL FIELD #2 DISPERSAL FIELD #1 

LATERAL PIPING 4" MIN. 

4" MIN   
s s . 
Side 

HEADER PIPE 

387



 

  
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

TEMPORARY HIGH OR PERMANENT WATER TABLE 
OR SOIL RESTRICTIVE LAYER 

 
 
 
 
 

* 16" DEPTH BEFORE SETTLING 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE 
Revised  

  

03-01-16 
    Figure 

     
ONSITE WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 
           CAPPING  FILL 

             

4.16 

CAPPING FILL 10' MIN. 

12" MIN. * 

12" MIN. 

ORIGINAL 
SOIL SURFACE 

60" MIN. 

48" MIN. 

            

              CAPPING FILL 

                   TYPICAL 

Revised 03-01-16 

388



DISPERSAL TRENCHES 

PLAN VIEW 

 

NOTES: 

1. MAXIMUM ABSORPTION TRENCH DEPTH IS 48". 

2. MAXIMUM ABSORPTION TRENCH ROCK DEPTH IS 30". 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
UNDERDRAINS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

UNDERDRAINS 
 
 

 

20' 
 
 
 

4' DISPERSAL 
TRENCHES 

SOIL 
BACKFILL 

 

GRAVEL FILL 

 
 

 
4" PERFORATED 
DRAIN PIPE 

 
WATER TABLE 

 
 
 

 

CROSS SECTION 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE Revised: 03-01-16 PERIMETER  Figure 
    

ONSITE WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 
      DRAIN 

  4.17 389



 
 

 

NOTES: 

1. MAXIMUM ABSORPTION TRENCH DEPTH IS 48". 

2. MAXIMUM ABSORPTION TRENCH ROCK DEPTH IS 30". 
 
 
 
 
 

SOIL BACKFILL 

 

FILTER FABRIC 
OR OTHER 
NON-BIODEGRADABLE 

MATERIAL 
 

RUNOFF 
DIVERSION 
BERM 

 

SOIL 
BACKFILL 

 

10' 
(UNDISTURBED SOIL) 

 

 

 
FILTER 
MATERIAL 

TRENCH 

SIDEWALL FILTER 
MATERIAL 

 
 
 

 

12" MIN. 
 
 
 

LAYER THAT LIMITS 
EFFECTIVE SOIL DEPTH 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
TOWN OF PARADISE 

 

 Revised;
 

03-01-16 
 

CURTAIN DRAIN Figure 

ONSITE WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 
   TYPICAL 

     

 4.18 390



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE Revised: 03-01-16   Figure 
    

ONSITE WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 
  B-1 

 
 

REMOVEABLE CAP 

CONCRETE 

3' 

COMPACT 
 CLAY OR 

CEMENT 

2" SCHEDULE 
40 PVC 

LONESTAR #3 
SAND 

5' to 7' 

1/4" 
PERFORATIONS 

 

PIEZOMETER 

TYPICAL 

 5' to 7' 
7' 

391



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOWN OF PARADISE Revised: 03-01-16 Figure 
   

ONSITE WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 
        

  B-2 

 
 

REMOVEABLE CAP 

CONCRETE 

12' 

COMPACT 
NATIVE CLAY 

2" SCHEDULE 
40 PVC 

LONESTAR #3 
SAND 
 

3'-4' 

1/4" 
PERFORATIONS 

 

PIEZOMETER 

TYPICAL 

RESTRICTIVE 

HORIZON 

392



393



 
 

4" 

6" 

10" 

POINT A 

GROUND SURFACE 

MEASURING STICK 
 

EXCAVATION (OPTIONAL) 
TO WITHIN 16 INCHES OF 
THE BOTTOM  

 

REFERENCE POINT 

STICK AT SURFACE OF 
WATER 

     
4" DIAMETER 

     
PERFORATED 
PIPE 

 
CAREFULLY 

     HAND PICK 

     SURFACE TO 

     REMOVE ALL 

SMEARING 
PEA GRAVEL 

PEA GRAVEL 

BELOW 

PIPE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

THE 

MAXIMUM 

DEPTH OF 

PROPOSED 

DISPERSAL 

 TRENCH 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

NOTES; 

1.  A GRAVEL CORRECTIVE FACTOR OF 1.6 MUST BE APPLIED 

TO CALCULATE PERCOLATION RATE. 

2. FOR SHALLLOW SOILS TESTING AN EXCAVATION TO THE 

SIDE OF THE PERCOLATION HOLE IS NOT REQUIRED. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TOWN OF PARADISE Revised: 03-01-16 
PERCOLATION TEST    Figure 

   
ONSITE WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 
           C-1 

394



STEEL RING 
DRIVEN 2" 
INTO CLEA N 
SOIL SURFACE 

 
1" WATER 

SPLASH 
PLATE 

 
 
 
 
 

20"-24" DIAMETER 
 
 
 
 

INFILTRATION RING TEST 
 
 

 

 
 
 
             NOT TO SCALE                                                           

ABSORPTION TEST 
 
 
 

TOWN OF PARADISE Revised: 03-01-16        Figure  
     

ONSITE 
WASTEWATER 

MANAGEMENT ZONE 

    ABSORPTION TEST C-2 

 
 

WATER SUPPLY 
WATER METER 

 
WOODEN BOX 

FLOAT 
ACTIVATED 
VALVE 

WASHED DRAIN 
ROCK 

SATURATED 

ZONE 

SATURATED 

ZONE 

PARENT 
MATERIAL 

 

INFILTRATION TEST 

ABSORPTION TEST 

TYPICAL 
395



396



ATTACHMENT B                                                                                             April 12, 2016    

  

PROPOSED SUBSTANTIVE CHANGES TO THE MANUAL 

PROPOSED SUBSTANTIVE CHANGES TO THE TOWN OF PARADISE MANUAL FOR 

THE ONSITE TREATMENT OF WASTEWATER   

Title Page  

[1] An addition is included on this page indicating an approved revision was made to the Manual 

on April 12, 2016 

                                                                                                                

Chapter 1 PERMITS 

1.2 SITE EVALUATION REPORT 

[2] 1.2.A. The submittal to the Town of a Site Evaluation Report for the assessment of a parcels' 

ability to receive an onsite wastewater disposal system is a process that has evolved over the 

years.  Although accurate in its intent, the description provided in this section of the Manual was 

substantially lacking in its mention of the 'Land Use Review' process. As per the Town's current 

fee schedule, the 'Land Use Review' is a service provided to an applicant by which a parcel is 

reviewed for onsite sewage disposal feasibility. The revisions proposed in this section provide 

better description to the established Land Use Review process.  

[3] 1.2.D.  See comments on 1.9 below regarding the Gross Hydraulic Loading requirements.    

[4] 1.2.D. The term 'absorption field' is used throughout the Manual and has been changed to 

'dispersal field'. The term 'absorption field' is an old term which the onsite wastewater industry is 

evolving away from. 'Dispersal field' is a better term for depicting the migratory nature of 

wastewater as it flows through soil and it evokes more environmental awareness. The 

substitution of 'absorption field' for 'dispersal field' is made throughout this Manual revision. 

1.4 OPERATING PERMIT 

[5] 1.4 A provision is placed in the Manual indicating the new State requirement that all onsite 

wastewater treatment systems that have projected flows over10,000 gallons per day (gpd) must 

obtain a permit from and be regulated by the Regional Water Quality Control Board. As depicted 

in the State Onsite Wastewater Treatment System Policy, Section 6.1.1, this is a new state law 

effective in 2013. This addition to the Manual is required for a LAMP.  

[6] 1.4.A. The term "pre-treatment" system is changed to "advanced treatment" system. "Pre-

treatment" is not accurate terminology to use for depicting the type of treatment provided to 

wastewater after it undergoes primary treatment in a septic tank. "Advanced treatment" is much 

more depictive of the relationship this type of treatment has with standard treatment provided in 

a septic tank. It is also used in other portions of this regulation, therefore this change will reduce 

confusion and provide consistency throughout the Manual.  

397



[7] 1.4.A. The sampling requirement for influent sampling (wastewater coming into a system) for 

advanced treatment systems is removed. The reason is that influent sampling is not typically 

needed because it is generally known what typical wastewater constituent strengths are. The 

most important sampling is for the wastewater strength after it has been treated to determine if 

the treatment process is effective. The removal of these three sampling tests is a cost savings for 

septic system owners.    

[8] 1.4.C.3.  The requirement to have a septic system evaluated whenever a complaint is made is 

excessive and in many cases unnecessary. The complaint investigation conducted by the Town 

often reveals the extent of a septic system problem and a private evaluation is not necessary. This 

revision requires a septic system evaluation only when it is deemed necessary by the Town for 

the investigation of the complaint. This revision represents a cost savings to septic system 

owners.  

[9] 1.4.D. This section states that the Town of Paradise will evaluate alternative systems twice 

each year at the owner's expense. This practice has seldom been executed by the Town and is 

unnecessary based on the required quarterly reports already performed by the private service 

providers. This revision removes the requirement for the Town to conduct semiannual 

inspections on alternative systems and represents a cost savings to septic system owners. [See 

also 1.4.E.]. 

[10] 1.4. E. This section of the Manual states that all alternative septic systems must be evaluated 

once a year. Annual evaluations are not necessary for all alternative systems such as some 

residential 'capping fills' and 'pump only' systems. This revision allows some alternative systems 

to receive an Operating Permit longer than a year, thus allowing them a lower evaluation 

frequency. This revision represents a cost savings to septic system owners.   

1.5 USE OR MODIFIATION OF AN EXISTING SYSTEM 

[11] 1.5. The language in this section discusses the process for the Town to determine if a septic 

system is adequate in size and construction for a different use. This process is commonly termed, 

"Land Use Review", but that phrase is not in the language. Therefore the term, "Land Use 

Review" is inserted into this section. No other substantive changes are made.  

1.8 LICENSING TO PERFORM WASTEWATER DISPOSAL SERVICES 

[12] 1.8.A. This section of the Manual requires septage pumpers to obtain a license from the 

Town for performing wastewater disposal services. The Butte County Environmental Health 

Department has always required septage pumper certification for businesses that pump in the 

Town of Paradise.  Therefore the Town has never initiated a separate program for licensing 

septage pumpers but required that pumpers maintain their certification with the County. This 

revision eliminates the requirement for septage pumpers to obtain a Town license and stipulates 

the requirement for septage pumpers to obtain certification with the County and provide annual 

evidence of that certification.   

398



[13] 1.8.A. This revision requires that all septage pumpers maintain a valid septic system 

evaluators license issued by the Town of Paradise and in accordance with Chapter 5.14 of the 

Paradise Municipal Code.  Prior to this revision it was not required in code that septage pumpers 

obtain an evaluators license, it was only required that they report when pumping was done. 

Certified evaluators are required to report any failed septic systems conditions they see when 

they are pumping a tank, including systems that are overflowing and discharging to the surface. 

This requirement assures that a thorough standard of reporting failed septic systems is 

maintained.  Currently there are no known septic tank pumpers working in the Town of Paradise 

that are not certified evaluators with the Town.   

1.9. GROSS HYDRAULIC LOADING RATE OF A PARCEL  

  

[14] The addition of this section in the Manual is proposed so as to provide clarity to the 

requirements stipulated in Chapter 6; that every parcel must comply with the gross hydraulic 

loading rate of 900 gpd/acre for primary treated wastewater, or 2000 gpd/acre for secondary 

treated wastewater. No change in substance is created by this addition, only clarity, except for 

the following:  

 

It is proposed that an area of the 'downtown' portion of the Town of Paradise be allowed a gross 

hydraulic loading rate higher than the prescribed 900 gpd/acre limit for primary treated 

wastewater. The rate proposed for this area is 1350 gpd/acre, which is the standard rate with a 

1.5 multiplier. By allowing this higher rate in this area of historically undersized parcels septic 

system repairs will be more financially feasible and some new construction will be possible 

where once it was impossible. This area is predominantly zoned commercial and thus a more 

'business friendly' regulatory position is taken by this addition to the Manual. A map is provided 

in the Manual (Drawing 4.14) which shows this Downtown Adjustment Area. 

 

Chapter 2 VARIANCES 

No substantive revisions are proposed. 

 

Chapter 3 SELECTION OF APPROPRIATE ONISTE WASTEWATER SYSTEMS 

[15] At the introduction of this chapter, a revision is proposed that removes from the Manual the 

provision that the Manual is only applicable to septic systems repairs, subdivisions and lot splits.  

This revision will bring the Manual into compliance with the Paradise Municipal Code, Section 

13.04.035, and require that all onsite sewage disposal systems fall under the authority of the 

Manual.  

[16] Table 3.1. A revision to the required setback between a public water well and a septic tank 

or dispersal field is proposed for this table. The new setback distance of 150 feet is now required 

by the California Onsite Wastewater Treatment Policy. The prior setback distance was 100 feet. 

Chapter 4 DESCRIPTION OF ONSITE SYSTEMS 

4.1 STANDARD SYSTEMS 

[17] 4.1. & 4.1.D. Serial distribution is discussed in these sections. The revision is to allow serial 

distribution only when it is impractical to provide equal distribution. Serial distribution is a 
399



leachfield design for multiple dispersal trenches where at the beginning the first trench receives 

all the effluent. Eventually, that trench clogs and fails and the effluent 'overflows' into the 

successive leachtrench and so on and so on. Serial distribution is not the most effective leachfield 

design for treating wastewater and providing longevity to a dispersal field. With this revision 

serial distribution will only be allowed if equal distribution is not practical. Equal distribution is 

plumbing that allows all portions of a dispersal field to receive equal amounts of effluent, at the 

same time. Equal distribution provides much better treatment to wastewater and more longevity 

to the life of a dispersal field.  

[18] 4.1.A.  Language revisions are made that provide clarity in understanding what a 'seasonal' 

or 'temporary high' groundwater table is and what is only a momentary spike in groundwater 

levels due to heavy rainfall. If a high groundwater level is not maintained for over two weeks 

than that level is not considered significant for designing a leachfield. 

[19] 4.1.A. An amendment is made into the text of this section which supports the gross 

hydraulic loading rate of wastewater onto parcels in the Town. This rate is 900 gpd/acre for 

primary treated wastewater. Gross hydraulic loading rates are discussed in the newly proposed 

Section 1.9 (see above) and also in Chapter 6 of the Manual.   

[20] 4.1.B.  A revision is made to the minimum length of the effluent sewer, which is the solid 

pipe that transports wastewater effluent out of a septic tank. That length has been changed from 

one foot to three feet. One foot is impractical and typically requires the distribution box at the 

other end of the effluent sewer to be set on septic tank backfill material. Backfill has a tendency 

to settle and therefore the distribution box can lose stability. Changing this requirement to three 

feet assures that distribution boxes are set stable and remain level.       

[21] 4.1. C.  A revision is made to allow distribution boxes to also include the presence of an 

access riser over them to mark their location. Current code requires distribution boxes to be 

marked by a steel post, concrete marker or other durable material.  

Also, a revision is made to allow vehicular traffic over distribution boxes if the box is 

constructed to withstand the weight. The prior code did not allow traffic loads on top of 

distribution boxes. 

[22] 4.1.E. A revision is made to the protocol for sizing dispersal trenches that use 'chamber' 

units instead of leachrock. The prior language did not include how to size dispersal trenches if 

chamber units are used. (Chamber units are typically plastic domes that are placed in a dispersal 

trench in lieu of leachrock). 

[23] 4.1.E. The Manual allowed a tolerance level of plus or minus two inches in 100 feet of 

distribution piping (leachpipe). This has been revised to allow a tolerance of minus two inches 

per 100 feet of leachpipe. The reason for this is because water does not 'run uphill' and leachpipe 

that has a plus two inch tolerance will have the 'water' flow out of it in the first five feet, thus 

rendering the pipe ineffective for promoting even distribution throughout the trench.  

400



[24] Table 4.1. This table is revised to include a reduced dispersal trench sizing for one and two 

bedroom residences. The table previously only had sizing for three bedroom residences and up.  

[25] Table 4.1. This table has been adjusted in the footnotes to depict that a long term application 

rate (soil application rate) of .5 gpd/ft
2
 is required for designing dispersal trenches. This 

application rate is a conservative median of the ranges previously provided in these footnotes. It 

is also a rate that has long standing precedent for what has been used throughout the Town and 

shown to be effective for creating long lasting dispersal fields.  

[26] Table 4.2. The amendment to this table is that a maximum leachrock depth of 30 inches is 

prescribed. Prior to this amendment the Manual had no maximum depth prescribed. Because soil 

depth in the Town is very limited, and because of the underlying lava cap, an excessive amount 

of leachrock places a dispersal trench too deep and too close to this impervious layer. Soils 

become less permeable with depth, anaerobic conditions are enhanced and clogging mats occur 

in deep rock trenches more abundantly. The new State Policy prescribes an effective depth of 24 

inches of leachrock and therefore, to remain conservative and within a range of acceptability, 30 

inches is proposed here.  Thirty (30) inches of drainrock is customarily the typical maximum 

depth possible on any project in the because of the relatively shallow soils depths.     

[27] Table 4.2.  Soil backfill on any dispersal trench has been changed from 6 inches to 12 

inches. 6 inches is often not a sufficient amount of soil cover after several years. Erosion from 

excessive rains, landscaping and compaction from vehicles are all reasons why 12 inches of 

backfill is more suitable for leachtrench design in Paradise. Current field practice is that 12 

inches of soil cover is almost always placed.    

[28] Table 4.2. A maximum depth of 48 inches for a dispersal trench is the standard already in 

the Manual. A revision to this requirement will stipulate that this maximum depth is into native 

soils. The distinction made with the insertion of the word "native" is that there are many areas 

where there is soil fill over native soils. By clarifying the maximum trench depth with, "into 

native soil" a site with 2 feet of 'fill' on top of native soil could have a maximum trench depth of 

6 feet total, because only 4 feet of it would be into the native soil. This adjustment allows for 

more versatility for sites with soil fill and increases the opportunity for more effective 

construction or repairs of septic systems.   

4.2 ADVANCED TREATMENT SYSTEMS 

  

[29] Introduction; Advanced treatment systems are no longer called Pre-treatment Systems. See 

prior note [6] for explanation. 

 

[30] Introduction;  Language is inserted that supports the already existing requirements found in 

Chapter 6 of the Manual for gross hydraulic loading rates allowed for primary treated (septic 

tank only) and secondary treated (advanced treatment) effluent. (See note 14 also). 

[31] 4.2.A.  A change is made to the amount of soil necessary beneath a bottomless sand filter 

dispersal system. There are many of these types of systems in the Town and they have become a 

widely used alternative to the more expensive type of advanced treatment systems. They can be 

401



used when there is little room for a dispersal field and a lack of soil depth. Prior regulation 

required 4 feet of permeable soil beneath a bottomless sand filter. This revision changes the 

standard to 3 feet of soil. This revision allows some of those lots that suffer from lack of soil and 

space to be developed or repaired with this less expensive type of advanced treatment system.   

 

[32] 4.2.E. Recirculating gravel, textile or media filters. 

Since this code was originally created textile filters have been created and their use has been 

promoted. Because of that, the addition of the terms "textile" and "media" to the types of 

recirculating filters this section addresses is necessary to keep up with technology. 

 

The dispersal fields that were built to receive effluent from an advanced treatment systems were 

previously required to have the same amount of soil beneath it that a standard system had, which 

is 4 feet. This requirement is now proposed at 2 feet of soil above high groundwater or 

impervious (rock) layers. The reason for this is that wastewater effluent that has undergone 

secondary treatment needs less soil for processing after it is discharged into a dispersal field. 

This revision allows several previously undevelopable lots to have onsite wastewater treatment 

systems constructed on them as well as some previously developed lots to have more effective 

repairs made to failing systems. 

 

Containers for gravel, textile or media filters were previously allowed to be flexible membrane in 

the Manual. This was when the filter was constructed in soil. Flexible membranes are not rigid 

enough to withstand external sidewall and bottom forces such as growing tree roots, rocks in the 

backfill and the hydraulic forces of water. This revision requires rigid, solid construction for the 

filter container.  

 

[33] 4.2.F. Other types of advanced treatment systems. 

A revision is made to this section which addresses the review of advanced treatment systems that 

are not in the Manual and basically unknown by Town staff in regard to their ability to perform. 

As part of the review any system that has certification with the NSF/ANSI standards and testing 

organization will be regarded favorably.   

 

[34] 4.2.G. Advanced treatment system disposal fields 

The soil application rate into dispersal fields serving advanced treatment systems is changed 

from 1.20 gallons/ft
2
/day to 1.0 gallons/ft

2
/day. This revised application rate is more 

conservative and is what has been used in the design of systems in the Town for the past 20+ 

years. This rate is also closer in compliance with standards produced by the State Water 

Resources Control Board, which is the reviewing agency for the Town's LAMP. Those standards 

indicate that the higher rate may not be accepted.  

 

Also an amendment to this section provides direction on how to calculate absorptive surface in a 

dispersal bed (in contrast to a dispersal trench). The calculations will exclude the use of the 

sidewall area of a dispersal bed. The reason for this is that a bed is typically very large compared 

to a trench and receives much more effluent per square foot of total dispersal area. Allowing 

sidewall to be counted as absorptive area in a bed would allow too much wastewater to be 

discharged into an already hyper-saturated dispersal area. 

 

4.3 PRESSURE DISTRIBUTION  

 

[35] 4.3.B. Requirements 

402



Orifice spacing in pressure distribution dispersal trenches is commonly 2 feet for all soils in the 

Town. There are typically no soils that percolate at a slower rate; therefore the discussion 

regarding this is unnecessary and somewhat inaccurate. The text at the end of this section is 

therefore removed.  

 

4.4 NARROW DISPERSAL TRENCHES 

 

[36] 4.4.B Requirements 

Narrow dispersal trench minimum width is changed from 6 inches to 12 inches. Six (6) inches 

has been shown to be too narrow to effectively construct a narrow trench. Soil sloughing into the 

trench during excavation and also during drainrock placement is the primary problem. The 

difficulty in constructing a six inch narrow dispersal trench to a satisfactory standard makes them 

inappropriate to remain in the Manual. 

 

A maximum width for narrow dispersal trench is provided as an amendment where previously 

there wasn’t one. Because 24 inches is the standard trench width and because narrow trenches 

are allowed closer spacing than standard trench spacing a maximum width of 18 inches is 

proposed. 

 

Prior - 4.5 DEEP ABSORPTION TRENCH SYSTEM 

[37] This entire section is proposed to be removed. Deep absorption trenches are not installed in 

the Town because there are few areas where site conditions are so extreme that a standard system 

cannot be installed. Standard systems already allow up a 5 foot trench depth for repairs, if proper 

soil conditions exist, so this section is redundant and unnecessary.   

 

4.6 REDUNDANT SYSTEMS 

 

[38] 4.6.C. Operation and maintenance instructions  

This regulation is revised to stipulate that Redundant Septic Systems are no longer required to be 

inspected by the Town. Redundant systems are not complicated nor require a higher level of 

oversight that would be provided by Town inspections. These systems are also required to be 

inspected by service providers, therefore it is redundant and costly to have the Town inspect 

them as well. This revision will not remove the inspections required by a service provider but 

will remove the unnecessary inspections by the Town.   

 

4.6 STEEP SLOPE SYSTEMS 

 

[39] 4.6.A. General Conditions for approval  

The minimum soil depth on Steep Slope Systems is changed from 6 feet to 6.5 feet. This is done 

because the minimum trench depth for Steep Slope Systems is already prescribed as 30 inches 

(2.5 feet). Typically a minimum trench depth is 2 feet but for steep trenches it is a little deeper 

because of the lack of soil on the downhill side of trench.  Because 4 feet of soil is necessary 

beneath all dispersal trenches, then 6.5 feet (4 + 2.5) of minimum soil depth is necessary for 

Steep Slope Systems.   

 

PRE-CONSTRUCTED ADVANCED TREATMENT SYSTEMS.  

 

[40] 4.14. To maintain the distinction between 'factory made' advanced treatment systems and 

those that are constructed during time of installation (such as a sand filter), the descriptive term 

403



"package" has been used. This term is outdated and no longer conveys the intended meaning. 

Therefore it is replaced with the term "pre-constructed" [advanced treatment systems].  

 

4.15 GRAYWATER SYSTEMS 

[50] 4.16. To more accurately synchronize with State terminology, the term "Graywater Disposal 

System" is changed to "Graywater System". Also, in the description of the type of wastes not 

allowed in graywater systems, liquid waste from "toilets" is added for obvious reasons.  

 

Chapter 5 COMPONENT AND EQUIPMENT SPECIFICATIONS 

 

5.2 DOSING SEPTIC TANK ASSEMBLIES 

[51] More clarity is provided in the introduction of this section by stipulating that a dosing septic 

tank must be a second compartment draw-down tank. It also limits the use of second 

compartment draw-down tanks to systems that are 300 gpd or less and those that do not receive 

wastewater from commercial food operations. The downside to allowing 'dosing' septic tanks is 

that a pump inside a tank reduces the tank's capacity because the on/off levels are set lower than 

the standard liquid operating level in a tank. In addition, a pump inside a septic tank tends to 

create turbulence in the tank, reduces static conditions and promotes more solids to flow out into 

the dispersal field.  

  

Chapter 6 LARGE AND ADVANCED TREATMENT SYSTEMS 

  

[52] 6.1. DEFINITION OF LARGE AND ADVANCED TREATMENT SYSTEMS 

More clarity is provided in this section and chapter regarding what type of systems it is intended 

to address.  The term "Large System" is re-defined to make it compatible with the intent of this 

chapter and definitions found in other chapters of the Manual.  

 

[53] 6.2.1. In accordance with California Code and in a manner consistent with Section 1.2 of the 

Manual, a "Registered Environmental Health Specialist" is added regarding what certified 

professionals can design Large or Advanced Treatment Systems.     

 

[54] 6.2.6. In designing an advanced treatment system a nitrogen loading analysis is required. 

Current groundwater and creek monitoring have not indicated problems with Nitrogen 'pollution' 

from onsite wastewater discharges. Substantial rainfall and soil conditions seem to be effectively 

treating nitrogen influx from septic systems. For this reason it is not necessary to provide a study 

of nitrogen loading for the design of smaller septic systems. The revision proposed is that this 

Nitrogen analysis be only required for projects with wastewater flows over 5000 gallons per day.  

 

[55] 6.2.12.  Prior language in this section required ground water monitoring wells for all 

advanced treatment systems that exceeded 900 gpd. This requirement was initially instigated by 

the State many years ago. History has shown that most of the existing wells do not provide 

measurable levels of groundwater or significant data that assists in the analysis of groundwater 

close to the septic system. Many of these systems are not large and groundwater monitoring is 

not warranted. A revision is proposed that removes the mandatory requirement for these wells 

and allows them to be optional (at the discretion of the Onsite Sanitary Official). 

 

[56] 6.2.15. A new requirement for septic systems is added as required in the new California 

Onsite Wastewater Treatment System Policy (Item 2.4). That requirement is that all systems, 

new and old, that receive high strength wastewater from commercial food service buildings must 

404



have a properly sized grease interceptor. Any system that has wastewater with a BOD level over 

900mg/l must also submit a Report of Waste Discharge with the Regional Water Quality Control 

Board and be regulated by them.   

 

[57] 6.2.A. Septic Tank Sizing. Prior requirements for septic tank sizing in the Manual were 

mathematically incorrect and largely ignored by knowledgeable designers. The sizing criterion is 

proposed to match current industry standards.  Septic tank capacity sizing would be two (2) times 

the design flow for any septic system with the provision that if there is a higher strength 

wastewater it may be increased to three (3) times the design flow.  

 

[58] 6.2.F.  Aesthetics of Alternative and Advanced Treatment Systems. 

The requirement to have aesthetically pleasing septic systems that have above-ground 

components is increased so as to include this requirement for alternative systems and not just 

advanced treatment systems.  Typically, it is only advanced treatment systems that have above-

ground components but it is foreseeable that some alternative treatment systems that don’t 

provide advanced treatment could also have above-ground components that need to be visually 

screened.  

 

Chapter 8 LOCAL AGENCY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 

 

[59] A new chapter is proposed to be added to the Manual: LOCAL AGENCY MANAGEMENT 

PROGRAM. 

This chapter will contain those portions required by the new State Onsite Wastewater Treatment 

System Policy that are not yet in Town regulation. This new chapter will deal mostly with 

required administrative aspects of the Towns Onsite Wastewater program.  This chapter is only 

created as a place mark and future submittals to the Town Council will occur for its' content. 

 

Chapter 9 DEFINITIONS 

 

[60] DEFINITIONS 

Several new definitions are added to this chapter including those for advanced treatment, aerobic 

media system, dispersal field, dispersal trench, media filter, primary treatment, secondary 

treatment and wastewater strength. Some terms with definitions are removed because they are 

not found in the Manual and are seldom used in the industry.  

 

APPENDIX A - SOIL PROFILE TERMINOLOGY 

No substantive revisions are proposed. 

 

APPENDIX B - GROUNDWATER MONITORING GUIDELINES 

No substantive revisions are proposed. 

 

APPENDIX C - HYDRAULIC TESTING OF SOIL 

 

[61] A. Percolation Test. 

The percolation testing procedure has been revised to provide an improved pre-soaking 

procedure for the soil area being tested. It has also been changed to use time as the interval 

between measurements instead of the distance of the descending water level in the percolation 

hole. These changes will provide more accuracy for how soil will behave when a dispersal field 

is built on it.  

405



 

[62] B. Infiltration Test. 

The infiltration testing procedure has been revised to provide an improved pre-soaking procedure 

for the soil area being tested. It has also been changed to use time as the interval between 

measurements instead of the distance of the descending water level in the ring. These changes 

provide more accuracy for how the soil will behave when a dispersal field is built upon it.  

 

APPENDIX D - SURFACE AND GROUNDWATER MONITORING PROGRAM 

No revisions are proposed 

 

FIGURES - Standard Drawings 

Twenty five (25) standard drawings in the Manual, or 'Figures' as they are labeled, have been re-

drawn with slight revisions including additional labeling for better comprehension. A few of the 

code changes as proposed are reflected in these revisions, such as the minimum length of effluent 

pipe as it exits a septic tank. One new drawing has been added; The Downtown Paradise 

Hydraulic Loading Rate Adjustment Area, Figure 4.14.  All other changes are made to provide 

better clarity and understanding. All other Figures in the Manual remain unchanged.  

 

 

   

 

 

406



Attachment C: 

407



408



409



410



411



412



413



414



415


	Top
	2a. 04/12/16 2a Minutes of 2/25/16 Special &amp; 3/8/16 Regular Council Meeting
	2a sm_min_022516.docx
	2a min_030816.docx

	2b. 04/12/16 2b Cash Disbursement Report
	2b Cash Disbursements 041216.pdf

	2c. 04/12/16 2c Res No 16-07 for CalRecycle Payment Programs
	2c Agenda Summary Payment Program Res.doc
	2c Payment Program Resolution.docx

	2d. 04/12/16 2d Quarterly Investment Report 
	2d Agenda Summary - 2nd Q 2016 Inv Rpt.doc
	2d December 31, 2015.pdf
	2d Graph 1 - 123115.pdf
	2d Graph 3 - 123115.pdf
	2d Admin Policy 140 - 041216.pdf

	2e. 04/12/16 2e NCCSIF Annual Report
	2e Agenda Summary - NCCSIF Ann Rprt.doc
	2e 2016 NCCSIF Annual Report.pdf

	2f. 04/12/16 2f Sale of Fire Truck res 16-08
	2f Agenda Summary Sale of Fire Engine.doc
	2h Reso - Fire Truck Surplus.doc

	10g. 04/12/16 2g Building/Onsite Job
	2g Agenda Summary Building Onsite Permit Technician.docx
	2g Building Onsite Permit Technician.docx
	2g Building Onsite Permit Technician Salary schedule.xlsx

	2h. 04/12/16 2h 2nd reading of Ordinance 560
	2h Agenda Summary Ord 560 Admin Citations - 2nd rdg.docx
	2h Ordinance 560 Civil Citations.docx

	6a. 04/12/16 6a CDBG 2016-17 Annual Plan Submission
	6a Agenda Summary 2016-17 FINAL.doc
	6a Final Annual Plan 2016-17.docx

	6b. 04/12/16 6b Paradise Sewer Project Consultant Contract Award
	6b Agenda Summary- Contract Award 041216.doc
	6b Agreement for Professional Services - 04-06-16.pdf

	6c. 04/12/16 6c Measure C Budget 
	6c Agenda Summary - 2016-17 Measure C Appropriation.doc

	6d. 04/12/16 6d Measure C Road Rehabilitation Project 2016 Contract Award
	6d Agenda Summary  - Reject &amp; New PS&amp;E.doc
	6d Resolution - New PS&amp;E.doc

	6e. 04/12/16 6e Measure C Pearson Rd Improvements Reject Bid and Readvertisement
	6e Agenda Summary Pearson Rd Reject Bid and Readvertise.doc
	6e Pearson Rd Resoultion 041216.docx

	6f. 04/12/16 6f Skyway at Black Olive Drive Signalization Grant Agreement
	6f Agenda Summary - Program Supplement Agreement.doc
	6e Reso - Program Supplement Agreement.doc
	6f Reso - Master Agreement.doc
	6e Attachment 1 - HSIPL 5425 (035) Program Supplement Agreement No. F016.pdf
	6e Attachment 2 - HSIPL 5425 (035) Federal Master Agreement No. 03-5425F15 for Town Signature.pdf

	6g. 04/12/16 6g Res No 16-__, Development Impact Fee Annual Report
	6g Agenda Summary - DIF Report 041216.docx
	6g DIF 2014-15 Report.pdf

	6h. 04/12/16 6h Update Onsite Manual
	1 Agenda Summary.doc
	2 Attach A Resolution Change Manual.doc
	Exhibit A.pdf
	Exhibit B.pdf
	3 Attach B Substantive Changes Report.docx
	4 Attach C State LAMP lttr.pdf

	9a. 04/12/16 9a CS Labor Relations
	9b. 04/12/16 9b CS Town v Braun
	9c. 04/12/16 9c CS DixieAnn Hawks
	Bottom

